A copy of this document (the "Prospectus"), which comprises a prospectus relating to IRF European Finance Investments Ltd (the "Company") prepared in accordance with the prospectus rules ("Prospectus Rules") of the UK Listing Authority ("UKLA") made pursuant to Section 73A of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (as amended) ("FSMA"), has been delivered to the UKLA for registration in accordance with Rule 3.2 of the Prospectus Rules. Application has been made for all the common shares (the "Shares") and all of the warrants (the "Warrants") in the Company to be admitted for trading on the Specialist Fund Market ("SFM") of the London Stock Exchange plc ("LSE") (the "Admission"). It is expected that Admission will become effective and that dealings in the Shares and the Warrants (together the "Securities") on the SFM will commence on or around 19 January 2009.

The directors of the Company (the "Directors"), whose names appear on page 16 under the sub-heading "Board of Directors", and the Company, accept responsibility for the information contained in this Prospectus. To the best of the knowledge and belief of the Directors and the Company, who have taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case, the information contained in this Prospectus is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the import of such information.

S Goldman Advisors LLC (the "Financial Adviser") is acting for the Company as its exclusive financial adviser in connection with the Admission and will not be responsible to anyone other than the Company for providing advice in relation to the Admission. The Financial Adviser does not accept any responsibility for the contents of this Prospectus or for any other statement made by it or on its behalf in connection with the Company or the Securities. The Financial Adviser accordingly disclaims all and any liability for this Prospectus or any such statement.

IRF European Finance Investments Ltd

(an exempted company incorporated in Bermuda under the Bermuda Companies Act 1981)



Admission to trading on the Specialist Fund Market of the London Stock Exchange of 124,832,394 common shares of U.S.\$0.0015 per share and 13,596,541 warrants to subscribe for common shares

This Prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or an invitation to subscribe for, or the solicitation of an offer to buy or to subscribe for, the Securities in any jurisdiction in which such an offer or solicitation is unlawful and is not for distribution in or into Canada, Japan, South Africa, New Zealand, the Republic of Ireland, Australia or the United States (the "Prohibited Territories"). The Securities have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933 (as amended) or the Investment Company Act or under the applicable securities laws of any State of the United States or of the other Prohibited Territories and, unless an exemption under such acts or laws is available, may not be offered for sale or subscription or sold or subscribed for directly or indirectly within the United States or the other Prohibited Territories or for the account or benefit of any national, resident or citizen of the United States or the other Prohibited Territories. The distribution of this Prospectus in other jurisdictions may be restricted by law and therefore persons into whose possession this Prospectus comes should inform themselves about and observe any such restrictions. Any failure to comply with these restrictions may constitute a violation of the securities laws of such jurisdictions.

AN INVESTMENT IN THE SECURITIES INVOLVES A HIGH DEGREE OF RISK. RISK FACTORS IN RELATION TO, INTER ALIA, THE COMPANY AND THE SECURITIES ARE BROUGHT TO THE ATTENTION OF PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS IN THE SECTION BEGINNING ON PAGE 6 OF THIS PROSPECTUS. Prospective investors should be aware that if any of these risks materialise, they could lose all or part of their investment. The Shares and the Warrants are of a specialist nature and should normally only be purchased and traded by investors who are particularly knowledgeable in investment matters.

CONTENTS

l.	SUMMARY	1
Ħ.	RISK FACTORS	6
III.	PRESENTATION OF INFORMATION	10
IV.	NOTICE TO INVESTORS	11
٧.	EXPECTED TIMETABLE OF PRINCIPAL EVENTS	12
VI.	INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY	13
VII.	FINANCIAL INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY (WITH ACCOUNTANT'S REPORT THEREON WHERE APPROPRIATE)	
VIII.	TAXATION	22
IX.	ADDITIONAL INFORMATION	31
X.	DEFINITIONS	43
¥Ι	DIRECTORS COMPANY SECRETARY REGISTERED OFFICE AND ADVISERS	45

I. SUMMARY

The following summary information is extracted from, and should be read as an introduction to and in conjunction with, the more detailed information appearing elsewhere in this Prospectus. Any investment decision relating to the Securities should be based on the consideration of this Prospectus as a whole. Where a claim relating to the information contained in this Prospectus is brought before a court, the plaintiff investor might, under the national legislation of the applicable state of the EEA, have to bear the costs of translating this Prospectus before the legal proceedings are initiated. Following the implementation of the relevant provisions of the Prospectus Directive in each member state of the EEA, no civil liability will attach to the responsible persons in any such member state solely on the basis of this summary, including any translation thereof, unless it is misleading, inaccurate or inconsistent when read together with the other parts of this Prospectus.

Background

- The Company was incorporated as an exempted company on 8 September 2005 under the Bermuda Companies Act with the name IRF European Finance Investments Ltd. The Company was incorporated as a special purpose acquisition company with a particular focus on acquiring interests in entities in the financial services industry in Europe. The Company is a closed-ended company with limited liability and does not have a fixed term.
- In November 2005, the Company completed its Initial Public Offering. The Shares and the Warrants were admitted to trading on AIM on 14 November 2005.
- The net proceeds of the Initial Public Offering, which were placed in trust, could only be used
 to finance one or more business combination approved by the Company's shareholders in
 accordance with the terms set out in the Company's AIM admission document.
- In June 2006, the Company acquired approximately 28 per cent. of Proton Investment Bank.
 This acquisition qualified as a business combination and, on completion of the acquisition, all
 of the funds held in trust were released to the Company for use in connection with this
 acquisition and for future use without further restriction.
- Subsequent to the Company's original acquisition of an interest in Proton Investment Bank,
 Proton Investment Bank merged with Omega Bank S.A. resulting in the Company's interest in
 the merged entity, Proton, reducing to approximately 20 per cent. Since its original investment
 in Proton, the Company has made several disposals of Proton shares, ultimately resulting in
 its current shareholding.
- The Company has made investments, and divestitures, in a number of financial institutions
 and currently holds as its principal interests (a) 77,619,467 shares in MIG, representing
 approximately 10.39 per cent. of MIG's issued share capital; and (b) 212,072 shares in Proton,
 representing approximately 0.34 per cent. of Proton's issued share capital.
- As at the date of this Prospectus the Company has 124,832,394 Shares and 13,596,541 Warrants in issue.

Group Structure

The Company has two wholly owned subsidiaries, Mimosa Trading S.A. and Myrtle Trading Company, both of which are Marshall Island incorporated companies. Until the middle of 2007 all investments were made through and held by the Subsidiaries. The Subsidiaries do not, however, currently hold any of the Group's investments and their only assets are cash.

Reasons for the Change of Listing

The Company was initially admitted to trading on AIM because AIM was a leading market for small growing companies allowing a unique community of innovative and entrepreneurial companies. AIM provided the benefit of a public market within a regulatory system designed for smaller companies.

The Company has, however, developed from the original special purpose acquisition company which it was when the original admission was sought and, as such, the Directors have, following a lengthy review of other possible markets and strategic alternatives, determined that the SFM should provide a more suitable platform for the Company to carry out its activities as an investment company.

Fees and Expenses

The fees and expenses associated with Admission are expected to be approximately U.S.\$2 million, and will be borne by the Company.

Directors

The Board of Directors is comprised of Angeliki Frangou, Sheldon Goldman, Alexander Meraclis and Loucas Valetopoulos. With the exception of Loucas Valetopoulos, the Directors have received no cash compensation from the Company for services rendered to date. Loucas Valetopoulos has entered into a service contract with the Company, and his current salary is €100,000 per annum.

Major Shareholders

At the date of this Prospectus, Pershing Nominees Limited holds approximately 33% of the Shares in issue.

Investment Strategy and Objectives

The Company's investment strategy is to seek investment opportunities in the financial sector in Europe with a primary focus on financial institutions, investment funds and insurance companies based in South Eastern Europe. These investment opportunities may include controlling or non-controlling positions in both public and private entities. Given the global credit crisis, the Company intends to broaden the scope of its focus to include financial institutions outside of Europe, select distressed opportunities in other industries in the United States and, generally, companies which previously may have been an investment grade.

The Company intends to reinvest capital realisations and income from its investments with the aim of achieving capital growth. The Company may, however, at the discretion of the Directors, distribute capital and income received from investments on a periodic basis by way of either dividend payments or a repurchase/redemption scheme or similar.

All investment decisions are made by the Directors.

Existing Investments

As at the date of this Prospectus, the Company's principal existing investments are:

- (1) 77,619,467 ordinary shares in the capital of MIG, representing an interest of approximately 10.39 per cent.; and
- (2) 212,072 ordinary shares in Proton representing an interest of approximately 0.34 per cent.

Significant Change

Since 30 September 2008, the Group suffered a change in its financial position caused by a decline in the value of its equity securities, primarily its investment in MIG, and by the disposal of approximately 93% of its investment in Proton.

As at 30 September 2008, the Group held investments in equity securities valued at approximately €450 million. Currently, the Group holds investments in equity securities valued at approximately €250 million, reflecting a reduction in value of approximately €200 million.

Save from this change, there has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Group since 30 September 2008.

Available cash

As at 30 September 2008 the Group had approximately €169.3 million of available cash.

Dividend Policy

To date distributions on the Shares have been made by way of dividend on an annual basis.

In respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2007, the Company paid a dividend on 25 April 2008 of U.S.\$0.28 per Share. In respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2006, the Company paid a dividend on 18 April 2007 of U.S.\$0.26 per Share.

There can be no assurance that the Company will continue to pay dividends on an annual basis. The future payment of any dividend is at the discretion of the Directors.

Corporate Governance

The Company is not subject to and does not currently comply with the combined code on corporate governance (the "Combined Code") applicable to companies listed on the official list of the UKLA (the "Official List"). The Directors recognise, however, the importance of sound corporate governance and intend to continue to develop policies and procedures which, taking into account the size and nature of the Company, will create an effective corporate governance regime.

There is no mandatory corporate governance regime applicable to the Company under Bermuda law.

Summary of Financial Information

The following table summarises the unaudited financial data for the Group for the nine month period ended 30 September 2008 and should be read together with the financial information, which is included in Part VII of this Prospectus¹.

	Amounts in € 000
Income Statement items	
Continuing operations	
Net Income	11,476
Profit after tax	11,058
Attributable to equity holders of the Company	11,058
Minority Interests	-
Basic earnings per share (in euro/share)	0.09
Diluted earnings per share (in euro/share)	0.09
Continuing and discontinued operations	
Loss after tax	(76,082)
Attributable to equity holders of the Company	(34,276)
Minority Interests	(41,806)
Basic earnings (loss) per share (in euro/share)	(0.27)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share (in euro/share)	(0.27)
Balance sheet items	
Cash and cash equivalent	169,264
Trading portfolio	2,500
Investment portfolio	447,485
Total Assets	619,312
	<u> </u>

The table sets out consolidated summary financial information for the Company and its two wholly owned subsidiaries, Mimosa Trading S.A. and Myrtle Trading Company and it includes the results from Proton up to the date it was controlled by the Company (24 September 2008) and the results from the disposal of Proton.

Loans from banks	199,350
Total liability	210,211
Total Equity	409,101

Related Party

Sheldon Goldman, a Director, is the managing director of S Goldman Advisors. The Company has entered into a financial services advisory agreement with S Goldman Advisors in its capacity as financial adviser, including the payment of a fee of U.S.\$1.35 million to S Goldman Advisors.

Auditors

The Company has engaged Grant Thornton in Athens to act as auditors to the Company (the "Auditors"). KPMG were appointed as the Company's initial auditors until their resignation on 29 August 2006. Following such resignation Grant Thornton were appointed as auditors on 24 November 2006 and such appointment was approved by the Shareholders at the Company's annual general meeting in December 2006. It is currently intended that Grant Thornton will be re-appointed as the auditors for the Company for the financial year 2009.

Key Risk Factors

The Company's business, operating results and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected by a number of risks relating to the Company and its business. As a result the value of either the Shares or the Warrants could decline and investors could lose all or part of their investment. The Directors consider the risks to include those set out below but investors should read the whole of this Prospectus, including the section titled "Risk Factors", and should and not rely solely on the summary information set out below.

- Economic depression and economic instability could adversely affect the Company's investments
- Volatility in the institutions in which the Company invests could adversely affect the Company's investments
- The possible lack of investment diversification may adversely affect the results of the Company's operations
- The Company currently invests in countries that may not be as developed as those of Western Europe or the United States, and the Company's business may be affected
- It may be difficult to dispose of privately held investments
- Exchange rate fluctuations may adversely impact the Company's business
- The Company could be considered an "investment company" under the Investment Company Act
- Potential conflicts of interest may adversely affect the Company's business
- The Company is dependent on the Board of Directors
- There is a limitation on enforcement of civil liabilities
- The Securities may have limited liquidity
- The share price of SFM traded companies may be highly volatile

- There can be no guarantee as to future performance
- The Company may not be able to identify, make and realise investments in any particular company or portfolio of companies
- Shareholders have no pre-emption rights and may be subject to significant dilution as a result of any future issue of Shares
- The Company may be a passive foreign investment company which could lead to additional taxes for U.S. holders of Shares or Warrants

II. RISK FACTORS

An investment in the Company involves a high degree of risk, including, but not limited to, the risks in relation to the Company and the Securities set out below. Persons considering an investment in the Company should carefully consider the following information about these risks, together with the information contained elsewhere in this Prospectus. Each of these risks could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, prospects, financial condition or results of operations, and, if any of these were to occur, the trading price of the Securities and/or their Net Asset Value and/or the level of dividends or distributions (if any) received from the Securities could decline significantly and investors could lose all or part of their investment.

Estimates, expectations and plans in this Prospectus are statements of future expectations or intentions of the Company and the Directors. Actual future results could differ materially due to changes in market conditions and regulation. The Company has described the risks and uncertainties that it currently believes are material, but these risks and uncertainties may not be the only risks relating to the Company or an investment in the Company. Prospective investors are urged to consult with their own advisers before deciding to subscribe for Securities. Additional risks and uncertainties, including those the Company currently is not aware of or deems immaterial, could have adverse effects on the performance of the Company. There can be no assurance that the Company's investment objectives will be achieved.

Risks relating to the Company's business

Economic depression and instability could adversely affect the Company's business

The Company's performance is influenced by the economic conditions of the countries in which it invests or plans to invest, including Europe, the United States and the United Kingdom. The current strained global economic conditions and volatility of international markets provide a difficult environment for investing. Further, the stock price of the Company's current investments have been adversely affected due to the recent global economic depression.

Volatility in the institutions in which the Company invests

The financial institutions in which the Company invests, and those in which the Company may target to invest, have been severely affected by the global economic downturn. As a result, this affects the Company's ability to make investments in financial institutions at the current time. Risks affecting these institutions, which in turn affect the Company, include:

- Global economic conditions, particularly in Europe, the United States and the United Kingdom.
 A further deterioration in the financial markets in these countries could result in a general
 reduction of business activity, higher incidence of impairments and losses in lending, trading
 or other portfolios of financial institutions;
- Changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates and bond and equity prices. One of the significant risks which financial institutions face are interest rate, foreign exchange rate and bond and equity price risks. Given the recent turbulence in the market, it is difficult to predict with accuracy changes in the economic or market conditions;
- Access to the debt capital market. Changes in the market, and potential downgrading of a financial institutions credit rating, may negatively affect the ability of financial institutions to borrow or will result in an increase in borrowing costs;
- Borrower credit quality. Risks arise from changes in credit quality and recoverability of loans
 and amounts due from counterparties. Adverse changes in the credit quality of a financial
 institution's borrow or counterparty, or their behaviour, or a general deterioration in global
 economic conditions, could affect the recoverability and require an increase in the provision
 for impairment losses and other provisions;
- Valuations of financial instruments. The valuation of financial instruments is determined using financial models which incorporate assumptions, judgements and estimates which may

change over time. These assumptions, judgements and estimates may need to be updated to reflect changing trends and market conditions. The resulting change could materially affect the valuations of the financial instruments used by financial institutions;

- Depressed asset valuations. Financial markets may be subject to significant stress conditions
 where steep falls in perceived or actual asset values are accompanied by a severe reduction
 in market liquidity. Severe market events are difficult to foresee and, if they continue to occur,
 could result in further losses;
- Liquidity risk. Financial institutions are subject to liquidity risk in that they may be unable to
 meet their obligations as they fall due. This risk is heightened by a number of specific factors
 such as changes in credit ratings or market-wide phenomena; and
- Financial institutions are subject to substantial regulation. Any significant regulatory
 developments, including governmental policies, could have an adverse impact on the
 operation of financial institutions and materially affect their business and value of their assets.

The possible lack of investment diversification may adversely affect the results of the Company's operations

The Company's current investment portfolio is highly concentrated as the Company only participates in a limited number of investments. There is no requirement for the Company to maintain portfolio diversification and there can be no assurance that its portfolio will be diversified beyond its existing investments. The unfavourable performance of a single investment, therefore, may adversely affect the aggregate return of the Company. The Company intends to invest predominantly in the financial sector and will therefore bear the risk of investing in only one sector.

The Company currently makes investments in countries that may not be as developed as those of Western Europe or the United States, and accordingly the Company's business may be affected

The legal, economic and political situations in the jurisdictions where the Company currently invests (including Greece where MIG and Proton principally operate) may not be as stable as those in other parts of Europe or the United States. These circumstances could make an investment in the region subject to greater risks. In addition, such jurisdictions may not use commercially accepted financial accounting principles, such as IFRS, which makes the evaluation of any business more difficult.

It may be difficult to dispose of privately held investments

General movements in local and international stock markets, prevailing economic conditions, investor sentiment and interest rates could have a substantial negative impact on the value of the Company's investments and investment opportunities in general. If an investment is incorrectly valued by the financial markets, the disposition opportunities available for that investment may, in the case of an undervaluation, be unattractive or, in the case of an overvaluation, be limited.

Exchange rate fluctuations may adversely impact the Company's business

The Securities are issued in U.S. dollars. The Company's assets are generally invested in securities and other investments whose income and expenditure are denominated in currencies other than U.S. dollars. Accordingly, the value of an investment may be affected favourably or unfavourably by fluctuations in exchange rates, notwithstanding any efforts made to hedge such fluctuations. In addition, prospective investors whose assets and liabilities are primarily denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar should take into account the potential risk of loss arising from fluctuations in the rate of exchange between the U.S. dollar and such other currency. The Company may utilise derivatives such as forwards, futures, options and other derivatives to hedge against currency fluctuations, but there can be no assurance that such hedging transactions will be effective or beneficial in preventing a loss by a Shareholder on its investment. The Company does not use derivatives for investment purposes.

U.S. Investment Company Act

It is possible that the Company could be considered an "investment company" under the Investment Company Act. The Company has not registered with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") as an investment company pursuant to the Investment Company Act in reliance on an exception under Section 3(c)(1) of that Act for investment companies (i) whose outstanding securities are held by fewer than 100 persons in the United States and (ii) which do not make a public offering of their securities in the United States. By a resolution of the Shareholders passed at a general meeting on 27 June 2006 an amendment to the Company's bye-laws was made to empower the Company to force transfers of shares, in order to avoid exceeding this limit.

If the SEC or a court of competent jurisdiction were to find that the Company was required, but in violation of the Investment Company Act had failed, to register as an investment company, possible consequences include, but are not limited to, the following: (i) the SEC could apply to a U.S. federal district court to enjoin the violation; (ii) investors in the Company could sue the Company and recover any damages caused by the violation; and (iii) any contract to which the Company is party that is made in violation of the Investment Company Act or whose performance involves such violation would be unenforceable by any party to the contract unless a court were to find that under the circumstances enforcement would produce a more equitable result than non-enforcement and would not be inconsistent with the purposes of the Investment Company Act. Should the Company be subjected to any or all of the foregoing consequences, or if the Company should determine that an exception from Investment Company Act registration was unavailable, it is likely that the Company would seek to modify the nature of its business and make or divest investments so as to avoid being subject to such registration requirements. If the Company were unable to do so within a year after Investment Company Act registration was required, it is likely that the Company would liquidate.

Potential conflicts of interest may adversely affect the Company's business

The Directors may engage in activities, including financial advisory activities, that are independent from and may, from time to time, conflict with those of the Company. If a conflict arises, each Director will at all times have regard to its obligations to act in the best interests of the Shareholders and they will each endeavour to ensure that such conflicts are resolved fairly. The potential conflicts of interest that may arise between the Company and the Directors may adversely affect the Company's investments, business, financial condition and prospects and the market price of the Securities, and may lead to a total loss of a Shareholder's investment.

Dependence on the Board of Directors

The investment business of the Company will be managed exclusively by the Directors and therefore the performance of the Company will be materially dependent on the ability of the Directors to source, acquire, manage and realise investments and, notwithstanding any track record they may have in this field, there is no guarantee that they will be able to do so successfully. In addition, the performance of the Company could be adversely affected should one or more Director leave or cease to be associated with the Company's investment activities.

Limitation on enforcement of civil liabilities

The majority of the Directors and officers reside outside the United States and, given the geographical location of the Company's current investments, it may be difficult for investors in the United States to enforce the legal rights, to effect service of process upon the Directors or officers or enforce judgments of United States courts predicated upon civil liberties of the Directors and officers under United States Federal securities laws.

Risks relating to the Securities

The Securities may have limited liquidity

The SFM is a new market of the LSE and, as such, likely liquidity levels on it are unknown. The Company is not required to appoint a market maker to make a market for the Securities traded on the SFM.

In addition, the liquidity of a securities market is often a function of the volume of the underlying securities that are publicly held by unrelated parties. Accordingly, the Securities may not be traded in sufficient volumes to give liquidity to holders of the Securities. Active, liquid trading markets generally result in lower price volatility and more efficient execution of buy and sell orders for investors. If a liquid trading market for the Securities does not develop, the price of the Securities may become more volatile and it may be more difficult to complete a buy or sell order for such Securities.

The share price of SFM traded companies may be highly volatile

The share price of SFM traded companies may be highly volatile. The price at which the Securities are traded on a market and the price at which investors may realise their investment in the Securities is influenced by a large number of factors, some of which may be specific to the Company and its operations and some of which may affect quoted companies generally. These factors could include the performance of the Company, large purchases or sales of the Shares or the Warrants (or the perception that the same may occur), legislative changes and market, economic, political or regulatory conditions.

There can be no guarantee as to future performance

There is no certainty and no representation or warranty is given by any person that the Company will be able to achieve any level of performance referred to in this Prospectus, whether express or implied.

The Company may not be able to identify, make and realise investments in any particular company or portfolio of companies

There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to generate returns for its investors or that the returns will be commensurate with the risks of investing in the type of companies and transactions described herein. There can be no assurance that any Shareholder will receive any future distribution from the Company.

Shareholders have no pre-emption rights and may be subject to significant dilution as a result of future issues of Shares

No pre-emption rights have been incorporated in the Bye-Laws. Shareholders may be subject to significant dilution as a result of additional share issues in the future.

Risks Relating to U.S. Taxation

The Company may be a passive foreign investment company

Based on the composition and nature of the Company's income and existing investments the Company may be classified as a passive foreign investment company for U.S. federal income tax purposes. If the Company is a passive foreign investment company, such classification could have material adverse consequences to U.S. taxable shareholders, including subjecting such shareholders: (i) to greater U.S. tax liabilities than might otherwise apply; (ii) to U.S. taxation in advance of when tax otherwise would be imposed; and (iii) to increased U.S. tax reporting requirements. U.S. taxable shareholders may be able to minimise any adverse tax consequences of the Company's PFIC classification by making a "qualified electing fund" election or a "mark-to market" election with respect to their interest in the Company. For more information, see "Taxation -- U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences -- Tax Consequences if the Company is a Passive Foreign Investment Company".

Prospective investors should consult their own tax advisers regarding the U.S. tax consequences to them of acquiring, holding and/or disposing or interests in the Company.

III. PRESENTATION OF INFORMATION

Forward-looking Statements

This Prospectus includes statements that are, or may be deemed to be, "forward-looking statements". Forward-looking statements are not historical facts and can often be identified by the use of terms like "estimates", "projects", "anticipates", "expects", "intends", "believes", "will", "continue", "may", "should" or the negative or other variations of these terms. All forward-looking statements, including discussions of strategy, plans, objectives, goals and future events or performance, involve risks and uncertainties.

The forward-looking statements contained in this Prospectus are based on sources believed to be reliable and on the Directors' current knowledge and belief. Nonetheless, they are merely estimates or predictions and cannot be relied upon. The Company cannot assure investors that future results will be achieved. The risks and uncertainties that may cause the Company's actual results to differ materially from the results indicated, expressed or implied in the forward-looking statements used in this Prospectus include but are not limited to those summarised on pages 4 and 5 of this Prospectus and described in more detail in Part II of this Prospectus.

The risk factors set out in Part II of this Prospectus are not necessarily all of the important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed in any of the Company's forward-looking statements. Other unknown or unpredictable factors could also harm the Company's future results. Under no circumstances should the inclusion of such forward-looking statements in this Prospectus be regarded as a representation or warranty by the Company with respect to the achievement of results set out in such statements or that the underlying assumptions used will in fact be the case. The Company believes it is important to communicate the Company's future expectations; nevertheless, investors cannot rely upon them. The forward-looking statements included in this Prospectus are made only as of the date of this Prospectus and the Company cannot assure investors that projected results or events will be achieved. The Company is only obliged to publicly update or revise any of these forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, to the extent required by the Prospectus Rules, Disclosure Rules and Transparency Rules of the UKLA.

Financial Accounting Method

The Company has prepared audited consolidated financial information under International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") for the period ended 31 December 2007 and interim financial statements for the nine month period ending 30 September 2008 which are included in Part VII of this Prospectus.

Rounding adjustments

Certain figures included in this Prospectus have been subject to rounding adjustments. Accordingly, figures shown for the same category presented in different tables may vary slightly and figures shown as totals in certain tables may not be an arithmetic aggregation of the figures that precede them.

IV. NOTICE TO INVESTORS

U.S. INVESTORS

The Securities have not been approved or disapproved by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, any State Securities Commission in the United States or any other U.S. regulatory authority, nor have any of the foregoing authorities passed upon or endorsed the merits of the Admission or the accuracy or adequacy of this Prospectus. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offence in the United States. The Securities have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act, and the Company has not been and will not be registered under the Investment Company Act.

UK AND EEA INVESTORS

This Prospectus does not constitute an offer of transferable securities to the public for the purposes of the Prospectus Directive. No person in a member state of the EEA may rely on this Prospectus to buy or subscribe for the Shares or the Warrants.

Securities may be offered or sold in Bermuda only in compliance with the provisions of the Investment Business Act 2003 and the Exchange Control Act 1972 and related regulations of Bermuda which require the sale of securities in Bermuda. In addition, specific permission is required from the Bermuda Monetary Authority (the "BMA") pursuant to the provisions of the Exchange Control Act 1972 and related regulations for all issuances and transfers of securities of Bermuda companies other than in cases where the BMA has granted a general permission. The BMA in its policy dated 1 June 2005 provides that "where any Equity Securities (an equity security is defined as a share issued by a Bermuda company which entitles the holder to vote for or appoint one or more directors) are listed on an Appointed Stock Exchange (the SFM is deemed to be an Appointed Stock Exchange under the Bermuda Companies Act) general permission has been given for the issue and subsequent transfer of any securities of a company from and/or to a non-resident for as long as any Equity Securities of the company remain so listed".

At or shortly after Admission, the Company will deliver to and file a copy of this Prospectus with the Registrar of Companies in Bermuda in accordance with Bermuda law. Approvals or permissions received from the BMA or Registrar of Companies do not constitute a guarantee by the BMA or Registrar of Companies as to the performance or credit-worthiness of the Company in granting such approvals or permissions. The BMA shall not be liable for the performance or default of the Company or for the correctness, or otherwise, of any statements made in or opinions expressed in this Prospectus.

V. EXPECTED TIMETABLE OF PRINCIPAL EVENTS

Date of publication of this Prospectus

2 January 2009

Admission to trading and unconditional dealings in Shares and 19 January 2009 Warrants commence on the SFM

VI. INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY

The Company

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company on 8 September, 2005 under the Bermuda Companies Act, with the name IRF European Finance Investments Ltd. The Company was principally formed to invest in the financial services industry with a primary focus on credit institutions and insurance companies in South Eastern Europe. The Company is closed-ended and does not have a fixed term.

Investment Strategy and Objectives

The Company's current investment strategy is to seek investment opportunities in the financial sector in Europe with a primary focus on financial institutions, investment funds and insurance companies based in South Eastern Europe. These investment opportunities may include controlling or non-controlling positions in both public and private entities. Given the global credit crisis, the Company intends to broaden the scope of its focus to include financial institutions outside of Europe, select distressed opportunities in other industries in the United States and, generally, companies which previously may have been an investment grade.

The Company intends to reinvest capital realisations and income from its investments with the aim of achieving capital growth. The Company may, however, at the discretion of the Directors, distribute capital and income received from investments on a periodic basis through either dividend payments or a repurchase/redemption scheme or similar.

All investment decisions are made by the Directors.

Amendments to the Investment Strategy

The investment strategy summarised herein represents the Company's current strategy as of the date of this Prospectus. Depending on conditions and trends in the financial markets and the global economy in general, the Directors may employ any investment techniques or purchase any type of security that they consider appropriate and in the best interests of the Company, whether or not described in this section, subject always to any applicable law or regulation. There can be no assurance that the Company's investment strategy will achieve profitable results or a return of capital. The Company's investment programme is speculative and involves a high degree of risk, including without limitation the risk of loss of the entire amount invested.

Following Admission the Directors may amend the investment strategy as they deem necessary or appropriate at their discretion without the need for Shareholder approval.

Typical investors in the Company are expected to be institutional and sophisticated investors. An investment in the Company should be regarded as a long-term investment. There can be no assurance that the Company's investment objectives will be achieved.

Existing Principal Investments

Proton

The Company currently holds 212,072 ordinary shares in Proton representing approximately a 0.34 per cent. Interest. The Company disposed of 2,699,869 ordinary shares in Proton in the period from 30 September 2008 to 31 December 2008.

Proton is a full service financial services institution, including retail and investment banking as well as providing specialised corporate advisory and investment services. Proton is listed on the Athens Stock Exchange.

The Company originally acquired approximately a 28 per cent. interest in Proton Investment Bank in June 2006. Proton Investment Bank subsequently merged with Omega Bank S.A. and the Company's interest in the entity arising from the merger, Proton, was reduced to approximately 20 per cent. In

September 2008, the Company disposed of a significant portion of its interest in Proton, resulting in its current shareholding.

MIG

The Company currently holds 77,619,467 ordinary shares in MIG, representing approximately a 10.39 per cent. interest. Further to depreciation in the value of ordinary shares in MIG, the value of the Group's holding in MIG has been reduced from approximately €388 million to approximately €225 million in the period from 30 September 2008 to 31 December 2008.

MIG is an investment company investing in private equity, privatisations and in infrastructure projects and principally operates in Greece, Cyprus and South East Europe. MIG is based in Greece and was incorporated under Greek law in 1998 (registered number 16836/06/B/88/06). Its offices are at 67 Thisseos, Nea Erythrea, 146 71, Greece. MIG is listed on the Athens Stock Exchange.

The Company originally acquired an interest in MIG in April 2008 and has made a series of further acquisitions, ultimately resulting in its current shareholding.

Available cash

As at 30 September 2008 the Group had approximately €169.3 million of available cash.

Working Capital

The Company believes that the working capital available to the Group is sufficient for its present requirements and for its requirements for at least 12 months from the date of this Prospectus.

Capitalisation and Indebtedness

The following table sets out the capitalisation and indebtedness of the Company as at 30 September 2008. The accounts of the Subsidiaries have been consolidated into the information set out below.

CAPITALISATION AND INDEBTEDNESS

	As at 30 September 2008	
	(amounts in '000 Euros)	
Total current debt	-	
Guaranteed	-	
Secured	-	
Unguaranteed / Unsecured	-	
Total non current debt (excluding current portion of long		
term debt)	199.350	
Guaranteed	-	
Secured ²	199.350	
Unguaranteed / Unsecured	-	
Shareholders equity		
Share capital	147	
Share premium	400.443	
Other reserves	(24.293)	
Retained earnings	32.804	
Total	608.451	

² The investment portfolio of IRF has been assigned as collateral to the long term loan by Investment Bank of Greece. The portfolio comprises shares listed on the Athens Stock Exchange.

NET FINANCIAL INDEBTEDNESS

Cash	169.264
Cash equivalents	-
Trading securities	-
Liquidity	169.264
Current financial receivable	
Current Bank debt	_
Current portion of non current debt	-
Other current financial debt	-
Current financial debt	-
Net current financial indebtedness	169.264
Non current Bank Loan	(199.350)
Bonds issued	· · · · ·
Other non current loans	-
Non current financial indebtedness	(199.350)
Net financial indebtedness	(30.086)

Contingent and indirect indebtedness

There were no material contingent liabilities as at 30 September 2008.

All transactions in respect of the Securities are carried out in U.S. dollars. Amounts presented above have been converted into Euro, the functional currency of the Company, by using the exchange rate applicable at each transaction date.

Borrowing

Pursuant to its memorandum, the Company has the ability to borrow for investment purposes and there are no limitations or restrictions on the amount which can be borrowed by the Company.

Hedging

Shares and Warrants are issued in U.S. dollars. The Company's assets will primarily be invested in securities and other investments denominated in, or significantly exposed to, other currencies. Accordingly, the value of a Shareholder's shareholding may be affected favourably or unfavourably by fluctuations in exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and such other currencies. In addition, prospective investors whose assets and liabilities are primarily denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar should take into account the potential risk of loss arising from fluctuations in the rate of exchange between the U.S. dollar and such other currencies.

The Company does not currently intend to seek to hedge the Company's currency risks. It does, however, review this policy from time to time and may seek to hedge such risks at some point in the future. If the Company were to seek to hedge against such risks there can be no assurance that such hedging transactions would be effective or beneficial.

Investment Restrictions

The Company is not subject to any investment restrictions.

Structure

The Company has two wholly owned subsidiaries, Mimosa Trading S.A. and Myrtle Trading Company, both of which are Marshall Island incorporated companies. Until the middle of 2007 all investments were made through and held by the Subsidiaries. The Subsidiaries do not, however, currently hold any of the Group's investments and their only assets are cash.

All of the Company's investments are, and are expected to continue to be, owned directly by the Company.

Management

Board of Directors

The Directors have overall responsibility for the Company's activities. Brief biographies of the Directors are set out below:

Angeliki Frangou - Ms. Frangou has been Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company since its inception. Ms Frangou is also the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Navios Maritime Holdings Inc., Navios Maritime Partners, L.P. and Navios Maritime Acquisition Corporation, all of which are public companies listing on the New York Stock Exchange. Prior to the acquisition of Navios Holdings by International Shipping Enterprises, Inc. ("ISE"), Ms. Frangou was the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President of ISE. Ms. Frangou was the Chief Executive Officer of Maritime Enterprises Management SEA., a company located in Piraeus, Greece, that specialises in the management of dry cargo vessels of various types and sizes, from the time she founded the company in October 2001 until August 2005. Ms Frangou was also a member of the board of directors of Emporiki Bank of Greece, the second largest retail bank in Greece, from April 2004 to July 2005 and was Chairman of the board of directors of Proton Bank, based in Athens, Greece from June 2006 to September 2008. Ms. Frangou is a member of the Mediterranean Committee of the China Classification Society and member of the Hellenic and Black Sea Committee of Bureau Verities. Ms. Frangou received a bachelor's degree in mechanical engineering from Farleigh Dickinson University (summa cum laude) and a master's degree in mechanical engineering from Columbia University.

Sheldon Goldman - Mr. Goldman has been a Director since 15 September 2005 and deputy Chairman since October 2005. Mr. Goldman has been Managing Partner of S. Goldman Advisors LLC, a boutique investment bank, since October 2005. He previously acted on behalf of the placing agent for the Initial Public Offering of the Company. Mr. Goldman has been the chief executive officer of Goldman Strategic Value, LLC since 2002 and has been a director of S Goldman Capital LLC since June 2007. Mr. Goldman has a bachelor of arts from Yeshiva University, a law degree from Benjamin N. Cardozo School of Law and a master's in tax law from Georgetown University Law Center.

Alexander Meraclis - Mr. Meraclis has been a Director of the Company since 15 September 2005. Since 2002, Mr. Meraclis has been director for institutional equity sales and trading for Megatrust-Olympic Securities S.A., the equity arm of DEMKO group based in Athens, Greece. From 1999 to 2002, Mr. Meraclis was an equities and derivatives trader at Sigma Securities, S.A., a company based in Athens, Greece. Mr. Meraclis has a bachelor degree in business administration from Athens University of Economics, Greece and a masters degree in business administration from Nijenrode University, The Netherlands.

Loucas Valetopoulos - Mr. Valetopoulos has been a Director since 29 September 2006. Prior to his appointment with the Company, Mr. Valetopoulos worked for over 21 years in corporate and investment banking positions (with Citibank, BNP Paribas and ABN AMRO) and also in other senior managerial positions (General Manager of the Invest in Greece agency, the Greek Government investment promotion agency which he set up). As Vice-Chairman of a publicly listed company, Electra S.A., that was later acquired by Piraeus Bank and turned into a Real Estate investment trust, he oversaw a €55 million share capital raise on the Athens Stock Exchange. He is a major shareholder of a family-owned real estate consultancy, Valeur S.A., of which he is Chairman.

Potential Conflicts of Directors' Interests

To the best of the Company's knowledge, there are no conflicts of interest between the duties owed to the Company by the Directors and their personal interests.

Employees of the Company

Loucas Valetopoulos is the Company's sole employee.

Compensation of Directors and Employees

To date, none of the Directors, other than Loucas Valetopoulos, has received any compensation in respect of services provided to the Company. Certain of the Directors (together with former directors) received shares in the Company in connection with its Initial Public Offering. All of these shares have since vested.

The Company acknowledges the need, as the Company develops further, to recognise the services of its directors and employees. In doing so, it is the Company's aim to continue to align the interests of the board and management with the interests of the shareholders and expects to achieve this through an appropriate mix of share based incentive compensation and cash remuneration.

Stock Option Plan

In connection with the aims set out above, the Company has implemented a stock option plan for its directors and employees in respect of up to 10 per cent. of Shares in issue from time to time. Pursuant to the plan, holders receive options which vest over a period to be determined by the Board at the date of the granting of each such option.

Related Party

Sheldon Goldman, a Director, is the managing director of S Goldman Advisors. The Company has entered into a financial services advisory agreement with S Goldman Advisors in its capacity as financial adviser, including the payment of a fee of U.S.\$1.35 million to S Goldman Advisors. For further information on this agreement see paragraph 9 of Part IX of this Prospectus.

Regulatory Status

The Company is not (and is not required to be) regulated or authorised by the FSA but, in common with other investment companies admitted to the SFM, is subject to the Prospectus Rules and is bound to comply with applicable law such as the relevant parts of FSMA.

Corporate Governance

As a Bermuda exempted company there is no corporate governance regime applicable to the Company. However, the Company complies with all the provisions of the Bermuda Companies Act to the extent that the same are applicable and relevant to the Company's activities. The Company is not subject to and does not currently comply with the Combined Code. The Directors recognise, however, the importance of sound corporate governance and intend to continue to develop policies and procedures which, taking into account the size and nature of the Company, will create an effective corporate governance regime.

There is no mandatory corporate governance regime applicable to the Company under Bermuda law.

On 9 June 2006 the Company established an audit committee and a remuneration committee. The audit committee, among other things, reviews and approves the Company's financial statements. The current members of the audit committee are Sheldon Goldman and Alexander Meraclis. The remuneration committee determines and agrees with the Board of Directors the framework for the remuneration of the Company's chief executive, chairman, executive directors, company secretary and other members of the Company's management. The current members of the remuneration committee are Sheldon Goldman and Alexander Meraclis.

Takeover Code

As the Company is not resident or incorporated in the UK, the Takeover Code does not apply to the Company. As a result, any takeover of the Company will not be regulated by the UK Takeover Panel.

Distributions

The Company intends to reinvest capital realisations and income from its investments with the aim of achieving capital growth. The Company may, however, at the discretion of the Directors, but subject at all times to the solvency requirements of the Bermuda Companies Act and the Bye-Laws, distribute capital and income received from investments on a periodic basis by way of either dividend payments or a repurchase/redemption scheme or similar. The Board may, in its discretion, determine that any dividend shall be paid in cash or shall be satisfied, in accordance with the Bye-Laws, by means of an issue of Shares.

To date distributions on the Shares have been made by way of dividend on an annual basis.

In respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2007, the Company paid a dividend on 25 April 2008 of U.S.\$0.28 per Share. In respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2006, the Company paid a dividend on 18 April 2007 of U.S.\$0.26 per Share.

There can be no assurance that the Company will continue to pay dividends on an annual basis. The future payment of any dividend is at the discretion of the Directors.

Investment Valuation Methodology and Net Asset Value Calculation Methodology

The Company values its investments in quoted securities based on the closing share price on the relevant exchange as at any particular date.

The Company calculates its net asset value on a quarterly basis and publishes it with its quarterly reports. The net asset values, as calculated by the Directors, are unaudited.

For the quarter ended 30 September 2008 the Company determined that the Shares had a net asset value of U.S.\$4.62 per Share The equity holdings portfolio of the Company are marked to market on the balance sheet as at 30 September 2008. As at this date, the total assets of the Company, including the cash balance of €169.3 million, was €619.3 million. The total liabilities were €210.2 million. Consequently, the equity value was €409.1 million. The Euro/U.S.\$ exchange rate of U.S.\$1.4092 on 30 September 2008 was used to compute the net asset value. As of 30 September 2008, the Company had 124,832,394 common shares outstanding.

Limited Liability of Shareholders

The liability of Shareholders for the Company's debts is limited to the amount, if any, unpaid on their Shares.

Fiscal Year

The Company's fiscal year ends on 31 December of each year.

Reports to Shareholders

The Company publishes statutory financial statements prepared on an IFRS basis up to 31 December in each year. In addition, the Company publishes unaudited quarterly reports prepared on an IFRS basis.

Shareholders are sent updates on the Company's activities as and when deemed appropriate by the Board.

Accounting Policy

The audited accounts of the Company are prepared under IFRS. Under IFRS, the Company prepares an income statement which, unlike a statement of total return, does not differentiate between income and capital and also includes net realised and unrealised investment gains.

Plan of Distribution and Allotment

No applications for new Shares have been received or will be accepted prior to Admission.

Buy-Back of Shares and Warrants

Share Buy-Backs

The Board may, at its discretion and without the sanction of the Shareholders, authorise the purchase by the Company of its own shares, at any price, and any shares to be so purchased may be selected in any manner whatsoever, upon such terms as the Board may in its discretion determine, provided always that such purchase is effected in accordance with the provisions of the Bermuda Companies Act and the Bye-Laws.

From time to time the Company has undertaken share buy-backs. In July 2007 the Company purchased for cancellation 3,500,000 Shares at an average price of U.S.\$4.4625 in the open market for a total cost of U.S.\$15.62 million. In December 2007 the Company purchased for cancellation 1,023,810 Shares at an average price of U.S.\$4.50 in the open market for a total cost of U.S.\$4.6 million.

Warrant Programme

During March and April 2007, the Company modified the terms of its Warrants to encourage the early exercise of its Warrants. Under two programs, a private program offered to certain qualified investors (the "Private Program") and a subsequent public program offer to all warrant holders (the "Public Program"), the Company temporarily (1) increased the number of Shares received upon exercise of a Warrant from one Share to 1.2 Shares upon the payment of U.S.\$5.00 and (2) permitted the exercise of a Warrant such that the holder received one Share in exchange for every 8.75 Warrants surrendered. Warrant holders were permitted to use one or both methods to convert their Shares into Warrants.

The Private Program expired on 23 March 2007. Under this program, 48,214,674 Warrants (representing 52.6 per cent. of the Warrants outstanding at the time of the private program) participated, of which 47,548,029 Warrants were exercised by payment of the U.S.\$5.00 exercise price and 666,645 Warrants were exchanged for Shares. As a result U.S.\$237,740,145 of gross cash proceeds were raised and 57,133,822 new Shares were issued.

The Public Program expired on 26 April 2007. Under this program, 29,855,465 Warrants (representing 68.7 per cent. of the Warrants outstanding at the time of the Public Program (after taking into account the conversion of the Warrants under the Private Program)) participated, of which 11,005,340 Warrants were exercised by payment of the U.S.\$5.00 exercise price and 18,850,125 Warrants were exchanged for Shares. As a result, U.S.\$55,026,700 of gross cash proceeds were raised and 15,360,707 new Shares were issued.

Settlement and Dealing

Application will be made by the Company for all of the Securities to be admitted to trading on the SFM. It is expected that Admission will become effective and that dealings in the Securities will commence on 19 January 2009.

The Securities are in registered form and in certificated form. Given the Company is not a UK entity, the Securities are ineligible for admission to CREST, a paperless settlement procedure enabling securities to be evidenced other than by certificate and transferred otherwise than by written instrument. The Company has facilitated paperless trading by means of Capita IRG Trustees Limited ("Capita") issuing depositary interests in respect of the underlying Securities (the "Depositary

Interests"). These Depositary Interests may be held and transferred within CREST. The Depositary Interests were created and issued pursuant to a deed poll executed by Capita on 16 March 2007 under English law, copies of which are available from Capita.

The Depositary Interests carry the same ISIN in CREST as the Securities.

Unlike transfers of certificated securities, transfers of the Depositary Interests are subject to Stamp Duty Reserve Tax ("SDRT") at the rate of 0.5%. This is because the Depositary Interests do not meet all of the criteria set out for SDRT exemption granted in Statutory Instrument 1999 No. 2383 (as amended) (The Stamp Duty Reserve Tax (UK Depositary Interests in Foreign Securities) Regulations 1999).

CREST is a voluntary system and holders of Securities who wish to receive and retain share certificates will be able to do so.

Securities held by U.S. persons, distributors or any of their respective affiliates (as such terms are defined in Regulation 5, under the Securities Act) are ineligible for conversion into Depositary Interests.

Transfer of Securities

The Securities are freely transferable, save that the Securities will not be transferable where the transfer and subsequent holding of such Shares or Warrants may result in a regulatory, pecuniary, legal, taxation or material administrative disadvantage for the Company or the Shareholders as a whole.

Specific permission is required from the BMA pursuant to the provisions of the Exchange Control Act 1972 and related regulations for all transfers of, and issuances in, securities of Bermuda companies other than in cases where the BMA has granted a general permission. The SFM has been recognised as an "Appointed Stock Exchange" under the Bermuda Companies Act and, as such, the general permission given by the BMA on 1 June 2005 is applicable to the Company. This general permission is revocable by the BMA, but shall otherwise continue to apply to the Company for so long as the Company continues to be quoted on the SFM and the SFM remains recognised as an Appointed Stock Exchange.

In particular, the Securities may only be offered, sold, pledged or otherwise transferred (A) outside the United States to non-U.S. persons in "offshore transactions" not subject to the registration requirements of the Securities Act by virtue of Regulation S thereunder and (B) within the United States only (1) to "qualified institutional buyers" (as defined in Rule 144A) who are also "qualified purchasers" (as defined in the Investment Company Act), in transactions meeting the requirements of Rule 144A and in accordance with all applicable state securities laws in the United States; (2) pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act; or (3) pursuant to another available exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act. In addition, each purchaser and subsequent holder of Securities is required to notify any subsequent purchaser of Securities from it of the transfer restrictions referred to in this paragraph.

Service Providers

Financial Adviser

The Company has engaged S. Goldman Advisors to act as financial adviser to the Company.

Auditor

The Company has engaged Grant Thornton in Athens to act as auditors to the Company. The Auditors may act as auditors to other related entities of the Company.

Counsel to the Company

The Company has engaged Lovells LLP to act as legal counsel to the Company on matters of English and New York law.

The Company has engaged V&P Law to act as legal counsel to the Company on matters of Greek law.

The Company has engaged Appleby Global to act as legal counsel to the Company on matters of Bermuda law.

VII. FINANCIAL INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY (TOGETHER WITH ACCOUNTANT'S REPORT THEREON WHERE APPROPRIATE)

The following section sets out the non-statutory financial information on the Company for the financial period from 8 September 2005 to 30 September 2008. The financial information has been reproduced from the audited financial statements and unaudited quarterly reports of the Company in accordance with paragraph 20.1 and 20.6 of Annex I of the Prospectus Directive Regulation.

IRF EUROPEAN FINANCE INVESTMENTS LIMITED

(A Development Stage Enterprise)

ANNUAL ACCOUNTS

31 December 2005

Contents

Statement of Directors' responsibilities in respect of the annual accounts	3
Report of the independent auditors to the Board of Directors of	
IRF European Finance Investments Limited	4
INCOME STATEMENT	5
Statement of recognised income and expense	6
BALANCE SHEET	7
CASH FLOW STATEMENT	8
Notes	g

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE ANNUAL ACCOUNTS

The Directors are responsible for preparing annual accounts for each financial year which present fairly the financial position and the performance of the Company in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

They have elected to prepare the annual accounts in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU.

In preparing these annual accounts, the Directors:

- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
- state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU; and
- prepare the annual accounts on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and enable them to ensure that its annual accounts comply with applicable laws and regulations. They have general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Company and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

KPMG Audit Plc 8 Salisbury Square London EC4Y 8BB United Kingdom

REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF IRF EUROPEAN FINANCE INVESTMENTS LIMITED

We have audited the annual accounts of IRF European Finance Investments Limited (the "Company") for the period ended 31 December 2005 which comprise the income statement, the balance sheet, the cash flow statement, the statement of changes in equity and the related notes. These accounts have been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein. The Company's Directors are responsible for the preparation of the accounts in accordance with applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRSs") as adopted by the EU. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these accounts based on our audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) and our profession's ethical guidance.

This report has been prepared, on terms that have been agreed, for the Company and the Company's Directors, as a body, solely in connection with their wish to have audited accounts. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company's Directors, as a body, those matters that we have agreed to state to them in our report, in order to assist the Company to meet its obligations under the AIM Rules to procure such a report and for no other purpose. This report was designed to meet the agreed requirements of the Company's Directors determined by their needs at the time. This report should not therefore be regarded as suitable to be used or relied on by any party wishing to acquire rights against us other than the Company or the Company's Directors, as a body, for any purpose or in any context. Any party other than the Company or the Company's Directors who obtains access to this report or a copy and chooses to rely on this report (or any part of it) will do so at its own risk. To the fullest extent permitted by law, KPMG Audit Plc assumes no responsibility and will accept no liability in respect of our audit work, this report or the opinions we have formed to any other party.

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the accounts. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made by the Directors in the preparation of the accounts, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Company's circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the accounts are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the accounts.

Opinion

In our opinion the accounts give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU, of the state of the Company's affairs as at 31 December 2005 and of its loss for the period then ended and have been properly prepared in accordance with the accounting policies described therein.

KPMG Audit Plc June 2006

Chartered Accountants Registered Auditor

INCOME STATEMENT

for the 4 month period from incorporation (8 September 2005) to 31 December 2005

Note

	HOIL	
		4 MONTH
		PERIOD ENDED
		31 DECEMBER
		2005
		€
ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES		(72,441)
OPERATING LOSS		(72,441)
FINANCIAL INCOME	5	5,533
FINANCIAL EXPENSES	5	(1,328,617)
NET FINANCING COSTS		(1,323,084)
LOSS BEFORE TAX		(1,395,525)
TAXATION	6	-
LOSS AFTER TAX FOR THE PERIOD		(1,395,525)
RESULTS PER SHARE (€)		
BASIC	12	(0.05)
DILUTED	12	(0.05)

The results above relate to continuing operations.

STATEMENT OF RECOGNISED INCOME AND EXPENSE

for the 4 month period from incorporation (8 September 2005) to 31 December 2005

4 MONTH
PERIOD ENDED
31 DECEMBER
2005
€

LOSS FOR THE PERIOD

(1,395,525)

TOTAL RECOGNISED INCOME AND EXPENSE FOR THE PERIOD

(1,395,525)

BALANCE SHEET

At 31 December 2005

At 31 December 2005	Nоте	2005 €	2005 €
CURRENT ASSETS			
TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES	9	5,309	
RESTRICTED CASH HELD IN TRUST	7, 13	210,294,081	
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS	-	2,206,324	
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS			212,505,714
CURRENT LIABILITIES			
RELATED PARTY NOTES PAYABLE	10, 15	17,276	
TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES	10	152,550	
COMPOUND INSTRUMENT	8, 13	203,426,153	
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES			203,595,979
NET ASSETS			8,909,735
EQUITY			
SHARE CAPITAL	11		71,418
WARRANT RESERVE	11		10,233,842
RETAINED EARNINGS	11		(1,395,525)
TOTAL EQUITY			8,909,735

These annual accounts were approved by the Board of Directors on 9 June 2006 and were signed on its behalf by:

Georgios Kintis

Director

CASH FLOW STATEMENT

for the 4 month period from incorporation (8 September 2005) to 31 December 2005

	NOTE	2005 €
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES		
LOSS FOR THE PERIOD		(1,395,525)
ADJUSTMENTS FOR:		
FINANCIAL EXPENSE	5	1,328,421
OPERATING LOSS BEFORE CHANGES IN WORKING CAPITAL AND PROVISIONS		(67,104)
INCREASE IN TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES	9	(5,309)
INCREASE IN TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES	10	169,172
INCREASE IN NOTES PAYABLE		655
NET CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES		97,414
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES		
RESTRICTED CASH PLACED IN TRUST	7	(209,493,368)
NET CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES		(209,493,368)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES		
GROSS PROCEEDS FROM INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING	11	228,538,219
PAYMENT OF COSTS OF INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING	11	(16,950,225)
PROCEEDS FROM THE ISSUE OF SHARE CAPITAL	11	14,284
PROCEEDS FROM SHAREHOLDERS LOANS AND ADVANCES	10, 15	237,133
REPAYMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS LOANS AND ADVANCES	10, 15	(237,133)
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES		211,602,278
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS		2,206,324
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 8 SEPTEMBER 2005		-
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER 2005		2,206,324

NOTES

(forming part of the accounts)

1. ORGANISATION AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS

IRF European Finance Investments Ltd. (the "Company") was incorporated in Bermuda on 8 September 2005 as a company with the main objective of acquiring an operating business in the financial services industry. The offering circular for the Company's initial public offering (the "Offering") was declared effective on 7 November 2005. The Company consummated the Offering on 14 November 2005 and received proceeds of €228,538,219 (US\$275,000,040) before offering expenses. The Company's management has broad discretion with respect to the specific application of the net proceeds of the Offering, although substantially all of the net proceeds of the Offering are intended to be generally applied toward consummating a business combination with a company that is engaged in the financial services industry (a "Business Combination").

€209,493,368 (US\$252,083.370) of the net proceeds of the Offering were placed in a trust account (the "Trust Fund") to be held there until the earlier of the completion of a Business Combination, the exercise by any person who acquired common shares and warrants at the offering (a "New Shareholder") of his repurchase rights or the distribution of such funds to the New Shareholders. Under the agreement governing the Trust Fund, funds will only be invested in United States government securities having a maturity of 180 days or less. The market value of investments held in Trust amounted to €210,294,081 (US\$253,046,867) at 31 December 2005. The remaining net proceeds received from the Offering, may be used to pay for business, legal and accounting due diligence on prospective acquisitions and continuing general and administrative expenses.

The Company, after signing a definitive agreement for the acquisition of a target business, will submit such transaction for shareholder approval. All of the Company's shareholders prior to the Offering, which include all of the Officers and Directors of the Company ("Founding Shareholders"), have agreed to vote their 11,458,335 founding shares of common stock in accordance with the vote of the majority in the interest of the New Shareholders of the Company with respect to the Business Combination. After consummation of a Business Combination, these voting provisions will no longer be applicable.

If a business combination has not been consummated within 18 months (or within 24 months if a letter of intent or definitive agreement was entered into prior to the end of the 18 month period or unless extended by majority shareholder approval) after the effective date of the initial registration statement, funds held in the Trust account will be returned to the shareholders of the Company.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items which are material in relation to the financial information of IRF European Finance Investments Limited set out in this report.

The annual accounts are presented in Euros, the functional currency of the Company and are prepared on the historical cost basis except that financial instruments are recorded at their fair value.

Judgements made by the Directors, in the application of these accounting policies that have significant affect on the annual accounts and estimates with a significant risk of material adjustment in the next year are discussed in note 13.

Statement of compliance

The accounts have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union ("Adopted IFRSs") and effective at the reporting date.

3. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies set out below have been used to prepare the annual accounts on pages 4 to 19.

Use of estimates

Estimates and associated assumptions used in the preparation of the accounts are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making judgments about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Offering costs

Offering costs consist principally of legal and underwriting fees related to the offering and incurred up to the offering date of 14 November 2005. These costs have been charged to equity after receipt of the proceeds raised on the issue of capital.

Loss per share

Loss per share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during the period.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are stated at their nominal amount (discounted if material) less impairment losses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Company's cash management are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose only of the statement of cash flows.

Impairment

The carrying amounts of the Company's assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset's recoverable amount is estimated.

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cashgenerating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost. Trade payables are classified as current liabilities unless the Company has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the balance sheet date.

Restricted cash held in Trust

Cash held in Trust is recorded at market value at the balance sheet date.

Foreign currency

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. Foreign

exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the income statement. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated at foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was determined.

Taxation

Tax on the profit or loss for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the period, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The following temporary differences are not provided for: the initial recognition of goodwill; the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit other than in a business combination, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised.

Classification of financial instruments issued by the Company

In accordance with IAS 32, financial instruments issued by the Company are treated as equity (i.e, forming part of shareholders' funds) only to the extent that they meet the following two conditions:

- (a) they include no contractual obligations upon the Company to deliver cash or other financial assets or to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another party under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the Company; and
- (b) where the instrument will or may be settled in the Company's own equity instruments, it is either a non-derivative that includes no obligation to deliver a variable number of the Company's own equity instruments or is a derivative that will be settled by the Company's exchanging a fixed amount of cash or other financial assets for a fixed number of its own equity instruments.

To the extent that this definition is not met, the proceeds of issue are classified as a financial liability and recorded at the discounted fair value of the liability. Where the instrument so classified takes the legal form of the Company's own shares, the amounts presented in these annual accounts for called up share capital and share premium account exclude amounts in relation to those shares.

The shares issued on 14 November 2005 at the Company's initial public offering are considered to be a financial instrument that contains both equity and financial liability components. These components are separated and accounted for individually under the above policy. The finance cost on the financial liability component is correspondingly higher over the life of the instrument.

The debt portion of the compound instrument was recognised initially at fair value, calculated as the original sum paid into the Trust, plus interest for two years at the same rate as that earned during the period then discounted to its present value at a rate representing the cost of borrowing a similar amount secured on the Trust assets. The fair value is then increased to

the amount due over the two year period via an interest charge to the income statement. Rates used are reassessed in each accounting period.

The equity portion of the compound instrument was calculated as the proceeds on issue of shares (net of issue costs) less the amount calculated as the debt portion of the instrument. The equity total was then allocated between the equity accounts by recognising the nominal value of the shares in share capital, and the remainder in the warrant reserve representing the equity portion of the contributed surplus paid for the warrants.

The debt portion of the compound instrument is classified as a current liability because although the amount is payable at the latest after 24 months from the date of the offering if no business combination has taken place, if the business combination does take place within one year, the liability will be reallocated to equity and the Company does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for longer than 12 months.

Finance payments associated with financial liabilities are dealt with as part of finance expenses. Finance payments associated with financial instruments that are classified in equity are dividends and are recorded directly in equity.

Investments in debt and equity securities

Restricted cash held in Trust represents amounts invested in short-term treasury bills which are recorded at market value. These funds will be held in Trust until the earlier of the completion of a business combination, the exercise by a New Shareholder of his Repurchase Rights or the distribution of such funds to the New Shareholders. Income on these investments is recorded in the restricted cash account and as an additional liability within the compound instrument.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recognised at fair value. The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value is recognised immediately in profit or loss, except as described above.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any difference between cost and redemption value being recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings on an effective interest basis.

Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Company that is engaged either in providing products or services (business segment), or in providing products or services within a particular economic environment (geographical segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments. At this time the Company has only one segment which is investment business in Europe.

Adopted IFRS not yet applied

The following Adopted IFRSs were available for early application but have not been applied by the Company in these annual accounts:

 IFRS 7 'Financial instruments: Disclosure' applicable for years commencing on or after 1 January 2007

The application of IFRS 7 in 2005 would not have affected the balance sheet or income statement as the standard is concerned only with disclosure. The Company plans to adopt it in 2006.

4. STAFF NUMBERS AND COSTS

The Company had no employees other than the Directors during the period. No salaries were paid to the Directors for the period.

5. FINANCE INCOME AND EXPENSE

	2005 €
NET EXCHANGE GAIN	5,533
FINANCIAL INCOME	5,533
INTEREST ON COMPOUND INSTRUMENT	1,328,421
BANK CHARGES	196
FINANCIAL EXPENSES	1,328,617

Interest on the compound financial instrument represents the charge for the period to increase the book value of the liability from its initial fair value to the amount payable on the due date.

6. TAXATION

Recognised in the income statement

	2005 €
CURRENT TAX EXPENSE	·
CURRENT PERIOD	
DEFERRED TAX EXPENSE	-
ORIGINATION AND REVERSAL OF TEMPORARY DIFFERENCES	-
BENEFIT OF TAX LOSSES RECOGNISED	-
	-
TOTAL TAX IN INCOME STATEMENT	-
RECONCILIATION OF EFFECTIVE TAX RATE	2005
	€
LOSS BEFORE TAX	(1,395,525)
TAX USING THE BERMUDAN CORPORATION TAX RATE OF 0%	-
Non-deductible expenses	-
TAX EXEMPT REVENUES	•
EFFECT ON TAX LOSSES UTILISED/GENERATED	-
UNDER/(OVER) PROVIDED IN PRIOR YEARS	-
TOTAL TAX IN INCOME STATEMENT	-
	A THE LANGE BLATTA

7. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

	2005 €
CURRENT ASSETS	
RESTRICTED CASH HELD IN TRUST	210,294,081
	210,294,081

€209,493,368 (US\$252,083,370) of the net proceeds of the Offering were placed in a trust account (the "Trust Fund") to be held there until the earlier of the completion of a Business Combination, the exercise by any person who acquired common shares and warrants at the offering (a "New Shareholder") of his repurchase rights or the distribution of such funds to the New Shareholders. Under the agreement governing the Trust Fund, funds will only be invested in United States government securities having a maturity of 180 days or less. The balance is recorded at market value including interest and movements in the value of investments at the balance sheet date. The market value of investments held in Trust amounted to €210,294,081 (US\$253,046,867) at 31 December 2005.

8. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

	2005
	€
CURRENT LIABILITIES	
COMPOUND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT	203,426,153
	203,426,153

The compound financial instrument represents the present value of the cash held in Trust, including estimated interest, which will be payable to shareholders within 24 months following the date of the offering if no qualifying business combination has occurred.

9. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

10.

	2005 €
OTHER TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS	5,309
	5,309
TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES	2005 €

AMOUNTS PAYABLE TO RELATED PARTIES 17,276
TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 152,550

11. CAPITAL AND RESERVES

RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENT IN CAPITAL AND RESERVES	SHARE CAPITAL €	WARRANT RESERVE €	RETAINED EARNINGS €	TOTAL EQUITY €
BALANCE AT 8 SEPTEMBER 2005	-			
TOTAL RECOGNISED INCOME AND EXPENSE FOR THE PERIOD	-		(1,395,525)	(1,395,525)
ISSUE OF COMMON STOCK TO INITIAL STOCKHOLDERS	14,284		-	14,284
ISSUE OF SHARES ON OFFERING, NET OF OFFERING COSTS	57,134	10,233,842	-	10,290,97 6
BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2005	71,418	10,233,842	(1,395,525)	8,909,735

On 15 September 2005, 8,000,000 common shares, having a par value of \$0.0015 each, were issued for a total consideration of \$12,000 and the authorized share capital was increased to 136,500,000 common shares of \$0.0015 each. On 4 November 2005, a further 3,458,335 common shares of \$0.0015 were issued for a total consideration of \$5,187.50 and the authorized share capital was increased to \$148,958,355 common shares of \$0.0015 each.

On 14 November 2005, the Company sold 45,833,340 units in the Offering at a price of \$6.00 per Unit, generating gross offering proceeds of \$275,000,040 (£228,538.220). Each Unit consisted of one share of the Company's common stock (the "Common Stock"), and two warrants ("Warrants"). Each Warrant entitles the holder to purchase from the Company one share of Common Stock at an exercise price of \$5.00 per share. Each warrant will become exercisable on the earlier of (i) our completion of a business combination which, when combined with all of our previous business combinations. has an aggregate transaction value of at least 50 per cent. of the initial amount placed in Trust together with such funds as are deposited in the Trust fund following the stabilization period (a "Qualified Business Combination") and (ii) where a business combination has occurred but a Qualified Business Combination is not completed within 18 months after admission, or within 24 months after admission if a letter or intent, agreement in principle or definitive agreement has been signed by the Company during the initial 18 month period but such acquisition has not been consummated, or unless extended by majority shareholder approval (the date by which such Qualified Business Combination has to occur in any of these circumstances being the "Extended Date") the relevant date shall be the extended date and will expire on the earlier of redemption or the date that is four years after the admission date.

The proceeds received on issue have been allocated between debt and equity according to IAS 32. The total allocated to equity has been allocated to share capital based on the nominal value of the shares, and the remainder to the warrant reserve representing the equity portion of the contributed surplus paid for the warrants.

SHARE CAPITAL	PREFERENCE SHARES OF \$0.0001 EACH 2005	COMMON SHARES 2005 €
In thousands of shares		
At 8 September 2005	-	-
ISSUED FOR CASH	•	57,292
IN ISSUE AT 31 DECEMBER 2005 - FULLY PAID	-	57,292
Authorised	2005 \$	2005 €
148,958,355 COMMON SHARES OF \$0.0015 EACH	223,438	185,687
2,500,000 PREFERENCE SHARES OF \$0.0001 EACH	250	208
	223,688	185,895
ALLOTTED, CALLED UP AND FULLY PAID		
57,291,675 COMMON SHARES OF \$0.0015 EACH	85,938	71,418
NIL PREFERENCE SHARES OF \$0.0001 EACH	-	-
	85,938	71,418
PROCEEDS FROM SHARES IN ISSUE (NET OF OFFERING COSTS)		221,602,278
SHARES CLASSIFIED AS LIABILITIES AT DATE OF OFFERING		201,297,018
SHARES CLASSIFIED IN SHAREHOLDERS FUNDS - SHARE CAPITAL		71,418
SHARES CLASSIFIED IN SHAREHOLDERS FUNDS - WARRANTS RESERVE		10,233,842
		211,602,278

The holders of common shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share on a poll at meetings of the Company.

During the period the Company issued 57,291,675 common shares for a consideration of €228,552,504 (before offering costs), settled in cash.

The Company is authorised to issue 2,500,000 shares of preferred stock with such designations, voting and other rights and preferences as may be determined from time to time by the Board of Directors.

Shareholders voting against a business combination will be entitled at the time they vote against such business combination either to exercise their repurchase rights if the business combination is approved and completed or to maintain their interest in the Company.

12. LOSS PER SHARE

Basic and diluted loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share at 31 December 2005 is based on the net loss attributable to common shareholders of €1,395,525 and a weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period ended 31 December 2005 of 28,134,141, calculated as follows:

Weighted average number of common shares	Number of Shares
ISSUED COMMON SHARES AT 8 SEPTEMBER 2005	JHARES -
EFFECT OF SHARES ISSUED ON 15 SEPTEMBER 2005	7,508,772
EFFECT OF SHARES ISSUED ON 4 NOVEMBER 2005	1,729,168
EFFECT OF SHARES ISSUED ON 14 NOVEMBER 2005	<u> 18,896,201</u>
	28,134,141

13. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Interest rate and exchange rate risk

In managing interest rate and currency risks the Company aims to reduce the impact of short-term fluctuations on the Company's earnings. Over the longer-term, however, permanent changes in foreign exchange and interest rates would have an impact on earnings.

Effective interest rates analysis

In respect of income-earning financial assets and interest-bearing financial liabilities, the following table indicates their effective interest rates at the balance sheet date and the periods in which they mature or, if earlier, are repriced.

2005

	Effective Interest Rate %	Total €000	0 to < 1 year €000
RESTRICTED CASH - HELD IN TRUST	2.97	210,294	210,294
COMPOUND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT (LIABILITY)	5.0	(203,426)	(203,426)
		(9,074)	(9,074)

Fair values

The fair values together with the carrying amounts shown in the balance sheet are as follows:

	CARRYING AMOUNT 2005	FAIR VALUE 2005
	€000	€000
RESTRICTED CASH HELD IN TRUST	210,294	210,294
COMPOUND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT (LIABILITY)	(203,426)	(203,426)
	(9,074)	(9,074)
UNRECOGNISED (LOSSES)/GAINS		-

Restricted cash held in Trust is recorded at fair value based on the market value of investments at the balance sheet date as notified by the bank. The initial fair value of the compound financial instrument was calculated as the original sum paid into the Trust, plus interest for 2 years at the same rate as that earned during the period (2.97%) then discounted to its present value at a rate of 5% representing the cost of borrowing a similar amount secured on the Trust assets, estimated to be the base rate plus 0.5%. The fair value is then increased to the amount due over the two year period via an interest charge to the income statement.

14. LEASE COMMITMENTS

An affiliated company of the Chairman has agreed to provide services (including office space, utilities and secretarial support) to the Company. The Company has agreed to pay \$10,000 per month for these services until a business combination takes place.

15. RELATED PARTIES

Nicos Koulis

Identity of related parties

Directors and Executive Officers

Angeliki Frangou	Chairman and Director
Andreas Vgenopoulos	Deputy Chairman and Director
Georgios Kintis	Chief Executive Officer and Director
Sheldon Goldman	Director
John Karakadas	Director
Alexander Meraclis	Director
Dennis Malamatinas	Director

Transactions with key management personnel

Directors of the Company and their immediate relatives control 31.81 per cent. of the voting shares of the Company.

Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Other related party transactions

Mrs Frangou, a Director and Founding Shareholder, has committed to providing funds to cover the initial costs of the AlM Admission. These funds are provided on a draw down basis. During the period, €237,133 was drawn down and paid back to the Founding Shareholder. This balance bears no interest. The balance due at 31 December 2005 was repaid on 30 May 2006.

16. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

On 31 May 2006, the Company announced that it had entered into a definitive agreement with Antonios Athanasoglou and Ilias Lianos to acquire between 28 per cent. and 30 per cent. of the issued share capital of Proton Investment Bank SA ("Proton") for between €120.1 million and €128.5 million.

Completion of the Acquisition constitutes a reverse takeover under AIM Rules and is conditioned on approval of the Company's shareholders.

The Acquisition will constitute a "Qualified Business Combination" under the Company's bye-laws.

PARTIV

FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR PROTON

(A) PROTON'S UNAUDITED PROFIT AND LOSS AND BALANCE SHEET FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2006

The following financial statements are the audited consolidated financial statements of Proton Investment Bank S.A. as of 31 December 2006 as extracted from the website of Proton Investment Bank S.A. (<u>www.proton.gr</u>).

IRF European Finance Investments Limited Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2006 In accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards The accompanying financial statements of "IRF European Investment Limited" ("the Company") as well as the consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries ("the Group"), for the year ended December 31st 2006 were approved by the Company's Board of Directors on March 16th, 2007.

Contents

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT	25
INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2006	27
BALANCE SHEET	28
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY	29
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (THE COMPANY)	30
CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2006	31
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	32
1. GENERAL INFORMATION	32
2. BASIS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENT PREPARATION	32
3. SUMMARY OF IMPORTANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES	35
4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS	47
5. STRUCTURE OF THE GROUP	49
6. RISK MANAGEMENT	51
7. SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS	56
8. NET INTEREST INCOME	57
9. NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME	57
10. NET INCOME FROM INSURANCE SERVICES	58
11. DIVIDEND INCOME	58
12. NET RESULT FROM FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES	58
13. OTHER OPERATING INCOME	58
14. STAFF COSTS	59
15. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES	59
16. DEPRECIATION	59
17. INSURANCE CLAIMS	60
18. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES	60
19. INCOME TAX EXPENSE	60
20. CASH AND BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANK	61
21. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS	62
22. RESTRICTED CASH HELD IN TRUST	62
23. TRADING PORTFOLIO AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT & LOSS	62
24. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS	63
25. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS	63
26. INSURANCE ASSETS	64
27. INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO	65
28. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES	66
29. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES	66

30. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT PROPERTY	6/
31. NON CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE	67
32. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS	68
33. DEFERRED TAX	68
34. OTHER ASSETS	69
35. DUE TO FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS	69
36. DUE TO CUSTOMERS	70
37. ISSUED DEBT SECURITIES	70
38. COMPOUND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT	71
39. PROVISION FOR INSURANCE CONTRACTS	71
40. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATION	71
41. CURRENT INCOME TAX LIABILITIES	72
42. OTHER LIABILITIES	72
43. SHARE CAPITAL & SHARE PREMIUM	73
44. OTHER RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS	75
45. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - CASH FLOW STATEMENT	76
46. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS	76
47. EARNINGS PER SHARE	79
48. DIVIDEND PER SHARE	80
49. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS	80
50. COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES	82
51. POST-BALANCE SHEET EVENTS	85
52. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	85

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Shareholders of IRF EUROPEAN FINANCE INVESTMENTS LIMITED

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of "IRF European Finance Investments Limited" ("the Company") as well as the consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries ("the Group"), which comprise (for both the Company and the Group), the balance sheet as at December 31, 2006, and the income statement, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards that have been adopted by the European Union. This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Greek Auditing Standards, which are based on the International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the abovementioned financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company and that of the Group as of December 31, 2006, and the financial performance and the cash flows of the Company and those of the Group for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards that have been adopted by the European Union.

Emphasis

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to note 50.2 of the consolidated financial statements. Tax returns of the Greek subsidiaries have not been inspected by Greek Tax Authorities yet, and therefore can not be considered as final. It is possible that additional taxes and penalties will be imposed when Tax Authorities examine the relevant tax returns. The outcome of the tax inspection could not be estimated at this stage and therefore no relevant provision has been made.

Athens, March 16th, 2007 The Certified Chartered Accountant

Vassilis Kazas SOEL Reg. No. 13281

Grant Thornton &

44, Vas. Konstantinou Av. 116 35 Athens, Greece SOEL Reg. No. 127

INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2006

Amounts presented in € '000 Note 01/01- 31/12/2006 08/09- 31/12/2005 01/01- 31/12/2006 08/09- 31/12/2005 Interest and similar income 28,992 6 5,797 6 Interest and similar expenses (12,263) (1,329) (756) (1,329) Net interest income 8 16,729 (1,323) 5,042 (1,323) Fee and commission income 10,296 - - - - Fee and commission income 9 7,286 - - - Income from insurance activities 7,284 - - - Net Income from insurance activities 506 - - - Net result from financial activities 10 7,790 - - - Net result from financial activities 12 28,555 - 15,095 - Net result from financial activities 12 28,555 - 15,095 - Other operating expenses 15 (1,264) (72) (457) (72)			THE GROUP	THE COMPANY			
Net interest and similar expenses (12,263) (1,329) (756) (1,329) Net interest income 10,296 1,323) 5,042 (1,325) 5,042 (1,325) 5,042 (1,325) 5,042 (1,325) 5,042 (1,325) 5,042 (1,323)	Amounts presented in € '000	Note	127 - Capt. 1 Tal. 1	•	•		
Net interest and similar expenses (12,263) (1,329) (756) (1,329) Net interest income 10,296 1,323) 5,042 (1,323)	Interest and similar income		28,992	5.797	6		
Net interest income 8 16,729 (1,323) 5,042 (1,323) Fee and commission income Fee and commission expense 10,296 - - - Net fee and commission income Income Income from insurance activities 9 7,866 (375) - Expense from insurance activities 506 - - - Net Income from insurance activities 10 7,790 - - - Net result from financial activities 12 28,555 - - - - Net result from financial activities 12 28,555 - - - - Net result from financial activities 12 28,555 - - - - Other operating income 13 1,299 - 897 - - Other operating expenses 15 (12,642) (72) (457) (72) Other operating expenses 15 (12,642) (72) (457) - - Insparment losses 18	Interest and similar expenses				(1,329)		
Fee and commission income Fee and commission expenses Ret fee and commission income Income from insurance activities Expense from insurance activities Expense from insurance activities Ret Income from insurance activities I0 I7,790 Income from insurance I1 I,626 I1,790 Income from insurance I1 I,626 I15,095 INCOME III I,626 III III III III III II		8					
Fee and commission expense (2,430) (375) - Net fee and commission income Income from insurance activities 7,286 (375) - Expense from insurance activities 506 - - Net Income from insurance activities 10 7,790 - - Net Income from insurance activities 11 1,626 - 15,095 - Net result from financial activities 12 28,555 - - - Net result from financial activities 12 28,555 - - - Other operating income 13 1,299 - 897 - Total Net Income 15 (1,642) (72) (457) (72) Staff costs 14 (8,233) - (155) - Cher operating expenses 15 (1,642) (72) (457) (72) Depreciation 16 (878) - - - Insurance claims 17 (4,968) - - -	Fee and commission income				-		
Net fee and commission income Income from insurance activities 7,866 (375) - Expense from insurance activities 7,284 - - Net Income from insurance activities 506 - - Net Income from insurance activities 10 7,790 - - - Dividend income 11 1,626 15,095 - - Net result from financial activities 12 28,555 - 897 - Other operating income 13 1,299 - 897 - Other operating income 13 1,299 - 897 - Total Net Income 63,865 (1,323) 20,659 (1,323) Staff costs 14 (8,233) - (155) - Other operating expenses 15 (12,642) (72) (4577) (72) Depreciation 16 (878) - - - Impairment losses 18 (558) - - - Total operating expenses 240 - - -	Fee and commission expense			(375)	-		
Income from insurance activities 506		9			-		
Expense from insurance activities 506 - - - Net Income from insurance activities 10 7,790 - - - Dividend income 11 1,626 15,095 - - Net result from financial activities 12 28,555 - - - - Other operating income 13 1,299 - 897 - - Total Net Income 13 1,299 - 897 - - - Staff costs 14 (8,233) - (155) -	Income from insurance activities			` .	-		
Net Income from insurance activities 10 7,790 -	Expense from insurance activities			-	-		
Dividend income 11 1,626 15,095 - Net result from financial activities 12 28,555 - - - Other operating income 13 1,299 - 897 - - Total Net Income 63,865 (1,323) 20,659 (1,323) -							
Dividend income 11 1,626 15,095 - Net result from financial activities 12 28,555 - - - Other operating income 13 1,299 - 897 - Total Net Income 63,865 (1,323) 20,659 (1,323) Staff costs 14 (8,233) - (155) - Other operating expenses 15 (12,642) (72) (457) (72) Depreciation 16 (878) - - - - Insurance claims 17 (4,968) - - - - Impairment losses 18 (558) - - - - Total operating expenses 240 - - - - Profit before tax 36,825 (1,396) 20,047 (1,396) Income tax expense 19 (2,916) - - - Profit after tax 33,909 (1,396) 20,04	activities	10	2.790 2.790	-	-		
Net result from financial activities 12 Cher operating income 13 1,299	Dividend income	11		15,095	-		
Other operating income 13 1,299 - 897 - Total Net Income 63,865 (1,323) 20,659 (1,323) Staff costs 14 (8,233) - (155) - Other operating expenses 15 (12,642) (72) (457) (72) Depreciation 16 (878) - - - - Insurance claims 17 (4,968) - - - - Impairment losses 18 (558) - - - - Total operating expenses 18 (558) - - - - Total operating expenses 240 - - - - - Profit before tax 240 - - - - - Income tax expense 19 (2,916) - - - - - Profit after tax 33,909 (1,396) 20,047 (1,396)	Net result from financial activities	12		· -	-		
Staff costs 14 (8,233) - (155) - Cther operating expenses 15 (12,642) (72) (457) (72) Depreciation 16 (878) - - - Insurance claims 17 (4,968) - - - - Impairment losses 18 (558) - - - - - Total operating expenses 18 (558) - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -	Other operating income	13		897	-		
Other operating expenses 15 (12,642) (72) (457) (72) Depreciation 16 (878) - - - Insurance claims 17 (4,968) - - - Impairment losses 18 (558) - - - - Total operating expenses (27,280) (72) (612) (72) Share of profits / (losses) of associates 240 - - - - Profit before tax 36,825 (1,396) 20,047 (1,396) Income tax expense 19 (2,916) - - - Profit after tax 33,909 (1,396) 20,047 (1,396) Attributable to: 33,909 (1,396) 20,047 (1,396) Shareholders of the Company 10,338 - - - Minority Interest 10,338 - - - 33,909 (1,396) 20,047 (1,396) Earning per Share (€/share) - - - - - - - <td>Total Net Income</td> <td></td> <td>63,865 (1,323)</td> <td>20,659</td> <td>(1,323)</td>	Total Net Income		63,865 (1,323)	20,659	(1,323)		
Other operating expenses 15 (12,642) (72) (457) (72) Depreciation 16 (878) - - - Insurance claims 17 (4,968) - - - Impairment losses 18 (558) - - - - Total operating expenses (27,280) (72) (612) (72) Share of profits / (losses) of associates 240 - - - - Profit before tax 36,825 (1,396) 20,047 (1,396) Income tax expense 19 (2,916) - - - Profit after tax 33,909 (1,396) 20,047 (1,396) Attributable to: 33,909 (1,396) 20,047 (1,396) Minority Interest 10,338 - - - 33,909 (1,396) 20,047 (1,396) Earning per Share (€/share) - - - -	Staff costs	14	(8,233)	(155)	-		
Depreciation 16 (878) -	Other operating expenses	15			(72)		
Insurance claims Impairment losses Impairment losses Total operating expenses (27,280) (72) (612) (72)		16		` -	` -		
Total operating expenses (27,280) (72) (612) (72) Share of profits / (losses) of associates 240	Insurance claims	17	(4,968)	-	-		
Share of profits / (losses) of associates 240 Profit before tax Income tax expense Income tax expense Profit after tax 36,825 (1,396) 20,047 (1,396) 20,047 (1,396) Attributable to: Shareholders of the Company Minority Interest 23,571 (1,396) 20,047 (1,396) 20,047 (1,396) Earning per Share (€/share) - Basic 47 0,41 (0,05) 0,35 (0,05)	Impairment losses	18	(558)	-	-		
Profit before tax 36,825 (1,396) 20,047 (1,396) Income tax expense 19 (2,916) - - - - Profit after tax 33,909 (1,396) 20,047 (1,396) Attributable to: 23,571 (1,396) 20,047 (1,396) Minority Interest 10,338 - - - 33,909 (1,396) 20,047 (1,396) Earning per Share (€/share) - 0,41 (0,05) 0.35 (0.05)	Total operating expenses		(27,280) (72)	(612)	(72)		
Income tax expense Profit after tax	Share of profits / (losses) of associates		- 240	-	-		
Income tax expense Profit after tax	Profit before tax		36.825 (1.396)	20.047	(1.396)		
Attributable to: 33,909 (1,396) 20,047 (1,396) Shareholders of the Company Minority Interest 23,571 (1,396) 20,047 (1,396) 33,909 (1,396) 20,047 (1,396) Earning per Share (€/share) 33,909 (1,396) 20,047 (1,396) - Basic 47 0,41 (0,05) 0.35 (0.05)		19		-	-		
Shareholders of the Company Minority Interest 23,571 (1,396) 20,047 (1,396) (1,396) 33,909 (1,396) 20,047 (1,396) (1,396) Earning per Share (€/share) 47 (0,05) 0.35 (0.05)				20,047	(1,396)		
33,909 (1,396) 20,047 (1,396) Earning per Share (€/share) - Basic 47 (0,05) 0.35 (0.05)	Shareholders of the Company			20,047	(1,396)		
Earning per Share (€/share) - Basic 47 0.41 0.05 0.35 (0.05)	array array ave		33,909 (1,396)	20,047	(1,396)		
- Basic 47 (0.05) 0.35 (0.05)	Earning per Share (€/share)		(2)		, , , ,		
		47	(0.05)	0.35	(0.05)		

BALANCE SHEET

Amounts presented in € '000			ROUP vo salez	THE COMPANY		
	Note	31/12/2006	31/12/2005	31/12/2006	31/12/2005	
ASSETS						
Cash and balances with Central Bank	20	37,397	Translata	-	-	
Loans and advances to financial institutions	21	181,885	2,206	3,880	2,206	
Restricted cash held in Trust	22		210,294	-	210,294	
Trading Portfolio and other financial assets at fair value	22		til der tradit i de			
through Profit & Loss	23	264,174		•		
Derivative financial intruments	24	2,6114		-	-	
Loans and advances to customers	25	941,214	955 (757) ; -	-		
Insurance Assets	26	18,060		-	-	
Investment Portfolio	27	37,977	3 8 277	-		
Investments in Subsidiaries	28		- 0 30 5005	126,687		
Investments in Associates	29	4,604		· .		
Property, plant and equipment	30	33,402		_		
Investment Property	30	1 (1000)		-	-	
Non current assets held for sale		50 64	in in the state of	-	•	
Goodwill and other intangible assets	31	1. 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	**************************************	-		
Deferred Tax Assets	32	186,216		-	•	
Other Assets	33	3,200		00.516	·	
TOTAL ASSETS	34	34,885	8 A. L. Co L. Co. 5 5	88,516	242 50	
TOTAL ASSETS		1,745,739	212,506	219,082	212,506	
FOURTY AND LIABILITIES		Section 1				
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES		Yas	1 16			
Due to financial institutions	35	90,897	₹	-		
Due to Customers	36	1,042,157	- 3	-		
Derivative financial intruments	24	6,319	•	-		
Issued Debt Securities	37	1,500	-	-		
Compound financial instrument	38		203,426	-	203,426	
Provisions for insurance contracts	39	34,093	-	-		
Retirement benefit obligations	40	1,228	-	-		
Current income tax liabilities	41	1,349	` '.'.;;,,-			
Other liabilities	42	21,445	170	185	170	
Total Liabilities		1,198,987	203,596	185	203,596	
Shareholders equity						
Share Capital	43	71	71	71	7:	
Share Premium	43	200,174	10,234	200,174	10,234	
Revaluation Reserve		•	10,234	200,174	10,23	
Other reserves	44 44	(2).	- `	-		
Retained Earnings / (losses)	44	16,156	(1.300)	10 557	(1.204	
Total equity attributable to shareholders' of the	44	22,208	(1,396)	18,652	(1,396	
Company		238,607	8,910	218,897	8,910	
Minority Interest Total equity		308,145		240.00=	6 64 6	
		546,752	8,910	218,897	8,910	
rotal equity				,	-,-	

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

	Attributable to shareholders of the Company								
Amounts presented in € '000	Note	Share Capital	Share Premium	Revaluation Reserve	Other Reserves	Retained Earnings / (losses)	Total	Minority Interest	Total
Opening balance as at 8th September 2005		-	-			' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' '	, ``	an objective steller	-
Net result for the period 08/09-31/12/2005				•		(1,396)	(1,396)	<u> </u>	(1,396)
Total profit /(loss) recognized for the financial year		<u>-</u>	-	-	- 30 J	(1,396)	(1,396)		(1,396)
Issue of common stock to initial shareholders		14	-	-	ngo rigangg		14		14
Issue of shares on offering, net of offering costs		57	10,234	-	7. S.	7/6000000000000000000000000000000000000	10,291	an Alagani ar swal	10,291
Balance as at 31st December 2005	-	71_	10,234		٠ -	77, 75, 20	10,305		10,305
balance as at 51st December 2005		71	10,234	<u>-</u> _	. •	(1,396)	8,910		8,910
					,	*		£. *	
Opening balance as at 1st January 2006		71	10,234	-		(1,396)	8,910	` _	8,910
Net result for the year 01/01-31/12/2006		-	-	-	- · · -	23,571	23,571	10,338	33,909
Available for sale instruments:					•)		-,-		
 Valuation gains /(losses) taken to equity 		-	-	1,740	· .` -		1,740	(9)	1,731
 Tranferred to Profit & Loss on sale 		-	-	(1,742)	, ; · .•	· ', ' , ' - ,	(1,742)		(1,742)
Exchange Differences on translating foreign operations			-		2		2	· · · · · · 9	11
Total profit /(loss) recognized for the financial year		· ·	-	(2)	2	23,571	23,571	10,337	33,909
Decrease in Share Capital due to the cancelled shares	43	(0.54)	0.54	-			(0)		(0)
Conversion of Compound Financial Instruments to Common	43	` . ·	189,940	-			189,940		189,940
Shares (after the acquisition of PROTON) Acquisition (absorption) of OMEGA BANK by PROTON BANK	43		,-,-,				, , , ,		,
Purchase of Treasury Shares of PROTON BANK		·-	^ -	-	16,153	(2222)	16,153	297,677	313,831
Sale of Treasury Shares of PROTON BANK		•				(322)	(322)	(1,275)	(1,597)
Jaie of Treasury Strates of TROTOR BAIRN	-	· (1)	189,941	<u> </u>	16,153	355 353	355 206,126	1,405 297,808	1,760 503,934
Balance as at 31st December 2006	-	71	200,174	(2)	16,156	22,208	238,607	308,145	546,752
	-	, , , , , ,			A A = 5/200			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	0.0,702

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (THE COMPANY)

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

Amounts presented in € '000	Note	Share Capital	Share Premium	Retained Earnings / (losses)	Total
Opening balance as at 8th September 2005		-	-	-	-
Net results for the period 08/09-31/12/2005		-	-	(1,396)	(1,396)
Total profit /(loss) recognized for the financial year		-	-	(1,396)	(1,396)
Issue of common stock to initial shareholders		14	-	-	14
Issue of shares on offering, net of offering costs		57	10,234	-	10,291
		71	10,234		10,305
Balance as at 31st December 2005		71	10,234	(1,396)	8,910
Opening balance as at 1st January 2006 Net results for the period		71	10,234	(1,396) 20,047	8,910 20,047
Total profit /(loss) recognized for the financial year		-	-	20,047	20,047
Share Capital return to Shareholders due to cancelled shares Conversion of Compound Financial Instruments to Common Shares	43	(0.54)	0.54	-	-
(after the acquisition of PROTON)	43	_	189,940	-	189,940
		(0.54)	189,941	20,047	209,987
Balance as at 31st December 2006		71	200,174	18,652	218,897

CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2006

Cash flows from operating activities Profiles before approach Profile				OUP	THE COMPANY		
Profits before tax		Note	2006	2005	2006	2005	
Adjustments for: Profit /(Loss) from investment activities Profit /(Los) from investment activities				29.40 hugi 47 bib 65 60 cib			
Depredation			36,825	(1,396)	20,047	(1,396)	
Profit / (Loss) from investment activities							
Provision for employee benefit plan 94					-	-	
Impairment loss on investment and loans 558 - -			(16,149)	PART TOTAL	-	-	
Share of profit Joss from disposal of fixed assets (249)					-	-	
Profit	Impairment loss on investment and loans		558	(1)(1)(4)(4)(4)	-	-	
Profit	Share of profit /loss from associates		(240)	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	-	-	
Interest and other non cash income expenses 1,562 3,208 1,562 1,56	, ,		1.5 5 /		_	_	
Dividentis Received from subsidiaries				1,308	(1.567)	1,328	
Cash flows from operating activities before changes in working capital Cash reserves held in Central Bank Cash reserves held in Cash reserves held in Central Bank Cash reserves held in Cash reserves held reserves held in Cash reserves held reserves held in Cash reserves held reserves held reserves held in Cash reserves held reserves held in Cash reserves held rese						1,520	
Changes in working capital Trading portfolio (72,346) -			7 A \$7 S. A. C. S.	271 31 31 31 31 31 31 31 31 31 31 31 31 31			
Changes in working capital Trading portfolio (72,346)	, ,		20,402	(67)	3,390	(67)	
Trading portfolio (22,346)	,						
Cash reserves held in Central Bank Loans and advances to customers Insurance Receivables Insurance Contracts Insurance Ins			(72.346)	1	_	_	
Loans and advances to customers 26,748			// // // // // // // // // // // // //		_	_	
Insurance Receivables 3,455			CONTRACT (1) (2) (1) (2) (2) (2) (2)		_	_	
Reinsurance Receivables			180 VIII 1111 111111 111 111 111 1111111111		_	_	
Derivatives							
Other Assets 38,941 (5) (73,415) Due to financial institutions 14,926 - - Due to customers 92,088 - - Provisions for insurance contracts (1,243) - - Other Liabilities (145,587) 170 61 Cash flows from operating activities before payment of income tax (24,720) 197 (69,964) Income tax paid (24,720) 197 (69,964) Income tax paid (27,768) 97 (69,964) Investing activities 9,727 - - Additions /Disposals of investment securities 9,727 - - Purchase of trangible and intangible assets (1,081) - - Acquisition of subsidiaries and associates 46.3 22,106 (126,687) Proceeds from sale of property, plant & equipment & intangible assets 61 - - Non current assets held for sale (64) - - - Release of cash placed on Trust 201,266 (209,493) 201,266 <td></td> <td></td> <td>100 3 a 10 00 a 1</td> <td></td> <td>-</td> <td>•</td>			100 3 a 10 00 a 1		-	•	
Due to customers 92,088				(E)	/72 A1E\	(E)	
Due to customers 92,088				(0)	(73,413)	(5)	
Provisions for insurance contracts			•		-	-	
Other Liabilities (145,587) 170 61 Cash flows from operating activities before payment of income tax Income tax paid (24,720) 97 (69,964) Net cash flows from operating activities (27,768) 97 (69,964) Investing activities (27,768) 97 (69,964) Additions /Disposals of investment securities 9,727 - - Purchase of tangible and intangible assets (1,081) - - Acquisition of subsidiaries and associates 46.3 22,106 (126,687) - Proceeds from sale of property, plant & equipment & intangible assets 61 - - - Non current assets held for sale Release of cash placed on Trust 201,266 (209,493) 201,266 (209,493) 201,266 (209,493) 201,266 (209,493) 201,266 (209,493) 74,580 (209 Financing activities 2228,538 - 222,538 - 222,538 - 222,538 - 222,538 - 222,538 - 14 - - - -	·		•		-	•	
Cash flows from operating activities before payment of income tax lincome tax paid (3,048) - (69,964) Income tax paid (3,048) - (69,964) Investing activities Additions /Disposals of investment securities 9,727 (126,687) Purchase of tangible and intangible assets (1,081) (126,687) Proceeds from sale of property, plant & equipment & intangible assets Non current assets held for sale (64) (126,687) Release of cash placed on Trust 201,266 (209,493) 201,26			• • • •			170	
Income tax paid Net cash flows from operating activities (27,768) (27,76)			, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	* 1 / 1 / 30 YC // Mass 37 /		170	
Net cash flows from operating activities Investing activities Additions / Disposals of investment securities Purchase of tangible and intangible assets Acquisition of subsidiaries and associates 46.3 22,106 (126,687) Proceeds from sale of property, plant & equipment & intangible assets Non current assets held for sale Release of cash placed on Trust 201,266 (209,493) 201,266 (209,493) 201,266 (209,493) 74,580 (209 Financing activities Gross proceeds from initial public offering - 228,538 - 22 Payment of costs of initial public offering - 228,538 - 22 Payment of costs of initial public offering - 14 - 14 - 15 Amount Repayable to Shareholders of Negative Vote 43 (1,915) 31 (1,915) 32 (1,915) 32 (1,915) 406 75,000 Repayments of other borrowed funds 75,000 Repayments of other borrowed funds (75,000) Net cash flow from financing activities (1,509) 211,602 210,028 Proceeds from other borrowed funds (1,028)	Cash flows from operating activities before payment of income tax		(24,720)	97	(69,964)	97	
Investing activities Additions / Disposals of investment securities Purchase of tangible and intangible assets Acquisition of subsidiaries and associates Acquisition of subsidiaries and ac	Income tax paid		(3,048)		-	-	
Additions / Disposals of investment securities Purchase of tangible and intangible assets Acquisition of subsidiaries and associates Acquisition of	Net cash flows from operating activities		(27,768)	97	(69,964)	97	
Additions / Disposals of investment securities Purchase of tangible and intangible assets Acquisition of subsidiaries and associates Acquisition of			in the light				
Purchase of tangible and intangible assets Acquisition of subsidiaries and associates Acquisition of subsidiaries and associates Proceeds from sale of property, plant & equipment & intangible assets Non current assets held for sale Release of cash placed on Trust Release of cash placed	Investing activities			·			
Acquisition of subsidiaries and associates Proceeds from sale of property, plant & equipment & intangible assets Non current assets held for sale Release of cash placed on Trust Release of C	Additions /Disposals of investment securities		9,727.	•	-	-	
Acquisition of subsidiaries and associates Proceeds from sale of property, plant & equipment & intangible assets Non current assets held for sale Non current assets held for sale Release of cash placed on Trust Release of	Purchase of tangible and intangible assets		(1,081)		-	-	
Proceeds from sale of property, plant & equipment & intangible assets Non current assets held for sale Release of cash placed on Trust Release of cash of trust Release of trust Releas	Acquisition of subsidiaries and associates	46.3		e 5 Ĝ. •	(126,687)	-	
Non current assets held for sale Release of cash placed on Trust Release of cash placed on Tru	Proceeds from sale of property, plant & equipment & intangible			, ; , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	, , ,		
Release of cash placed on Trust Release of cash placed on Trust Net cash flow from investing activities Financing activities Gross proceeds from initial public offering Payment of costs of initial public offering Issuance of common shares Amount Repayable to Shareholders of Negative Vote Sales of treasury shares Proceeds from other borrowed funds Repayments of other borrowed fu	assets		91	•	-	-	
Release of cash placed on Trust Release of cash placed on Trust Net cash flow from investing activities Financing activities Gross proceeds from initial public offering Payment of costs of initial public offering Issuance of common shares Amount Repayable to Shareholders of Negative Vote Sales of treasury shares Proceeds from other borrowed funds Repayments of other borrowed fu	Non current assets held for sale		(64)	-	_	_	
Financing activities Gross proceeds from initial public offering Payment of costs of initial public offering Gross proceeds from initial public offering Financing activities Gross proceeds from initial public offering Financing activities Gross proceeds from initial public offering Financing activities	Release of cash placed on Trust			(209,493)	201.266	(209,493)	
Financing activities Gross proceeds from initial public offering Gross proceeds from observed funds Gross proceeds from observed funds Gross proceeds from observed funds Gross proceeds from other borrowed funds Gross proceeds f						(209,493)	
Gross proceeds from initial public offering Payment of costs of initial public offering Fayment of casts of initial public offering Fayment of costs of initial public offering Fayment of costs of initial public offering Fayment of casts of initial public offering Fayment of costs of in	-			e agree - ree	,	(===,===,	
Gross proceeds from initial public offering Payment of costs of initial public offering Issuance of common shares Amount Repayable to Shareholders of Negative Vote Amount Repayable to Shareholders of Negative Vote Sales of treasury shares Proceeds from other borrowed funds Repayments of other bo	Financing activities			o yik k			
Payment of costs of initial public offering Issuance of common shares Amount Repayable to Shareholders of Negative Vote 43 (1,915) (1,915) Sales of treasury shares Proceeds from other borrowed funds Repayments of other borrowed funds Net cash flow from financing activities Alteria (1,915) (1,915) Topology (1,915) (1,915) Topology (1,915) (1,915) Topology (1,915) (1,915) Topology (1,915) (1,915) (1,9	Gross proceeds from initial public offering			228,538	_	228,538	
Issuance of common shares Amount Repayable to Shareholders of Negative Vote 43 (1,915) (1,915) Sales of treasury shares Proceeds from other borrowed funds Repayments of other borrowed funds Net cash flow from financing activities 14 (- 48 (1,915) (1,915) 75,000 237 75,000 (75,000) (75,000) Net cash flow from financing activities (1,509) 211,602 (1,915) 21 Net increase / decrease in cash and cash equivalents Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held (1,028)			_		_	(16,950)	
Amount Repayable to Shareholders of Negative Vote 43 (1,915) (1,915) Sales of treasury shares 406 - Proceeds from other borrowed funds 75,000 237 75,000 Repayments of other borrowed funds (75,000) (237) (75,000) Net cash flow from financing activities (1,509) 211,602 (1,915) 21 Net increase / decrease in cash and cash equivalents Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 2,206 2,206 Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held (1,028) (1,028)			_		_	14	
Sales of treasury shares Proceeds from other borrowed funds Repayments of other borrowed funds Net cash flow from financing activities Net increase / decrease in cash and cash equivalents Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held A 406 75,000 237 75,000 (75,000) (1,915) 21 21 21 22 22,738 2,206 2,701 2,206 2,206 2,206 2,206 2,206 2,206		43	(1.915)		(1.915)		
Proceeds from other borrowed funds 75,000 237 75,000 (75,000) Repayments of other borrowed funds (75,000) (237) (75,000) Net cash flow from financing activities (1,509) 211,602 (1,915) 21 Net increase / decrease in cash and cash equivalents 202,738 2,206 2,701 Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 2,206 2,206 Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held (1,028) (1,028)					(-,,,	_	
Repayments of other borrowed funds (75,000) (237) (75,000) Net cash flow from financing activities (1,509) 211,602 (1,915) 21 Net increase / decrease in cash and cash equivalents 202,738 2,206 2,701 Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 2,206 2,206 Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held (1,028) (1,028)				237	75.000	237	
Net cash flow from financing activities (1,509) 211,602 (1,915) 21 Net increase / decrease in cash and cash equivalents 202,738 2,206 2,701 Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 2,206 2,206 Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held (1,028) (1,028)			(75,000)			(237)	
Net increase / decrease in cash and cash equivalents Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held 202,738 2,206 2,206 2,206 (1,028) (1,028)	·					211,602	
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 2,206 2,206 Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held (1,028) (1,028)	·			• ••	. ,	,	
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held (1,028) (1,028)	•		202,738	2,206	2,701	2,206	
				1 Sugar	2,206	-	
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 45 203.917 202.206 3.880	Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held		(1,028)	* 1 <u>*</u> *	(1,028)	<u>-</u>	
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 45 203/917 (and \$2.206 3.880				, , ,			
	Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year	45	203,917	2,206	3,880	2,206	

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Country of incorporation

IRF European Finance Investments Ltd. was incorporated on 8th September 2005 under the Bermuda Companies Act. The Company is listed on AIM, a market operated by the London Stock Exchange plc. The Company's registered office is at Canon's Court 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM12, Bermuda.

Principal Activities

The Group, through its subsidiaries, is engaged in the provision of banking, financial and insurance services. IRF was formed as an investing company to serve as a vehicle for the acquisition of an entity in the financial services industry in Europe, with a primary focus on credit institutions and insurance companies in Greece, Bulgaria, Romania and Turkey.

In June 2006, the Company acquired a controlling interest in PROTON BANK, a Greek bank, listed on the Athens Stock Exchange. Proton Bank and its subsidiaries operate in the sectors of retail, corporate and investment banking, portfolio management, insurance and other financial services.

PROTON BANK is licensed by the Bank of Greece to operate as a financial institution in Greece.

PROTON BANK, which is established in Greece and is supervised by the Bank of Greece, operates through a network of 21 branches. On 7th September 2006, the Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders of PROTON BANK decided the merger of the Bank with the companies OMEGA BANK and PROTON SECURITIES. The merger was completed in September 2006.

2. BASIS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENT PREPARATION

2.1 Statement of Compliance

The financial statements of the Company and the Group for the year ended 31 December 2006 have been prepared according to the International Financial Reporting standards (IFRS), which were published by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and in compliance with to their interpretations, which have been published by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) and have been adopted by the European Union.

The Group has adopted all International Accounting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and their interpretations which apply to the Group's activities.

2.2 Basis of Measurement

The financial Statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following items which are measured at fair value:

- Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through Profit & Loss (including derivatives),
- Financial assets available for sale, and
- · Investment Properties, and
- Land and Buildings

2.3 Functional and Presentation Currency

The current financial statements are presented in Euro, which is the functional currency of the Group. The functional currency is the currency of the primary economic environment in which an entity operates and is normally the one in which it primarily generates and expends cash. Management used its judgment to determine the functional currency that most faithfully represents the economic effects of the underlying transactions, events and conditions.

As part of this approach, management considers various factors stated in IAS 21. Priority is given to factors such as the currency that mainly influences costs and sales. This currency is mainly Euro since the Group is and will be engaged in a business combination in Europe. The Company has also issued financial instruments in US\$. However, according to par. 12 of IAS 21, this factor is not given priority.

All amounts are presented in thousand Euro unless mentioned otherwise. It is essential to mention that due to rounding, numbers presented throughout the condensed separate and consolidated financial statements, may not add up precisely to the totals provided in the financial statements, the same applies to percentages.

2.4 Comparative Figures

The Group's financial statements for the year ended December 31st, 2006 are its first consolidated financial statements. Consolidated balance sheet, Consolidated Income statement and Consolidated Cash flow Statement for the year 2006 include the Company's as well as its subsidiaries' items, while the relevant statements for the year 2005 refer only to the Company. Furthermore, Consolidated and Separate Income Statement for the year 2005 covers the four-month period from the incorporation of the Company (8th September 2005) until the year end (31st December 2005), while Income Statement of 2006 covers the whole twelve-month period.

Thereby, the balance sheet, income statement and cash flow of the year for the Company and the Group are not comparable with the respective statements of the prior year.

2.5 Use of Estimates

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make estimates, judgements and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reporting amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.

Assumptions and estimates are reviewed on an ongoing basis and are revised based on experience and other factors. Revisions of the accounting estimated are recognised in the period in which estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. Assumptions and estimates include expectations on future event and outcomes that are considered as reasonable given the current conditions. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Significant areas of estimates uncertainty and items that are significantly affected by judgements in applying accounting policies are presented in paragraph 4.

2.6 Adoption of new and revised IFRS

In the current year, the Group adopted all new and revised International Accounting Standards (IAS) and IFRS, which are relevant to its operations and applicable for annual accounting periods commencing from 1st January, 2006. The adoption of the new and amended standards and interpretations did not have a material effect on the Company's and the Group's financial statements:

- IAS 39 (Amendment): The Fair Value Option
- IAS 39 and IFRS 4 (Amendment): Financial Guarantee Contracts
- IAS 19 (Amendment): Employee Benefits

1. With this amendment, which is compulsory for the financial years commencing as of 01/01/2006, an additional method is introduced for the recognition of actuarial gains or losses. Furthermore, it imposes, in some instances, additional requirements for recognition of benefit programmes in which multiple employers participate. Lastly, it imposes additional disclosures. The Group did not alter its accounting policy for recognition of actuarial gains and losses, nor did it participate in multiple employer programmes. Therefore, the adoption of the amended standard affects only the structure and extent of the disclosures provided. This amendment introduces the option of an alternative recognition approach to

actuarial gains and losses. It also adds new recognition and disclosure requirements for multiemployer plans. The Group did not change the accounting policy adopted for recognition of actuarial gains and losses.

- IAS 21 (Amendment), Net Investment in a Foreign Operation
- IAS 39 (Amendment), Cash flow Hedge Accounting of Forecast Intragroup Transactions
- IFRIC 4, Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease

The amended standards below as well as the new interpretations require compulsory application for the financial year presented, but do not have any effect on the Group's financial statements as they are not relevant to its activities:

- IFRS 1 (Amendment), First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards
- IFRS 6 (Amendment), Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources
- IFRIC 5, Rights to Interests arising from Decommissioning, Restoration and Environmental Rehabilitation Funds
- IFRIC 6, Liabilities arising from Participating in a Specific Market Waste Electrical and electronic Equipment

2.7 New Standards and Interpretations

On the date of approval of these consolidated financial statements, the following accounting standards have been issued but are not applicable in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements:

(a) IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures and IAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements – Capital Disclosures (effective from 1st January, 2007)

IFRS 7 introduces new disclosures to improve the information about financial instruments. It requires the disclosure of qualitative and quantitative information about exposure to risks arising from financial instruments, including specified minimum disclosures about credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including sensitivity analysis to market risk. It replaces IAS 30 Disclosures in the Financial Statements of Banks and similar Financial Institutions, and disclosure requirements in IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation. The amendment to IAS 1 introduces disclosures about the level of an entity's capital and how it manages capital. The Group assessed the impact of IFRS 7 and the amendment to IAS 1 and the additional disclosures required. The Group will apply IFRS 7 and the amendment to IAS 1 from 1 January, 2007.

(b) IFRS 8 Operating Segments (effective from 1st January 2009):

IFRS 8 replaces IAS 14 "Reporting Financial Information by Segment". The new IFRS requires a management approach to information presentation regarding the different operational segments of the Group. The information disclosed is the information that management used in assessing the efficiency of each segment as well as the way financial resources are distributed to each segment. This information will probably differ from the information used in preparing the balance sheet and income statement. Lastly, explanations should be provided on the base of preparation of business segments reporting as well as reconciliations with the financial statement accounts. The Group is studying the consequences of IFRS 8 on the quality of disclosures provided as well as the probability of its prior application.

- (c) IFRIC 7, Applying the Restatement Approach under IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies (effective for annual periods beginning on 1st March 2006):

 This Interpretation is not applicable to the Group's operations.
- (d) IFRIC 8, Scope of IFRS 2 (effective for annual periods beginning on 1st May 2006): The adoption of this interpretation will not affect the Group's financial statements.
- (e) IFRIC 9, Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives (effective for annual periods beginning on 1st June 2006): The Group assesses whether an embedded derivative needs to be separated from the host contract and accounted for as a derivative when the Group first becomes a party to the contract. According to this Interpretation, subsequent reassessment is prohibited unless there is a change in the terms of the contract. The Group applies this Interpretation from 1st January, 2007.

(f) IFRIC 10, Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment (effective for annual periods beginning on 1st November 2006):

This Interpretation requires an entity not to reverse an impairment loss recognized in a previous interim period in respect of goodwill or an investment in either an equity instrument or a financial asset carried at cost. The Group intends to apply this Interpretation from 1^{st} January, 2007.

(g) IFRIC 11, Group and Treasury Share Transactions (effective for annual periods beginning on 1st March 2007):

IFRIC 11 refers to various issues relating to IFRS 2 and in particular to share-based payment arrangements involving an entity's own equity instruments and share-based payment arrangements involving equity instruments of the parent. The Group intends to apply this Interpretation from 1st January, 2008.

(h) IFRIC 12, Service Concession Arrangements (effective for annual periods beginning on 1st January 2008) The specific interpretation is not applicable to the Group's activities.

3. SUMMARY OF IMPORTANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Consolidation

Subsidiaries: Subsidiary are entities controlled by the Company. Control exists when the company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. Control is presumed to exist if the Company has ownership, directly of indirectly, over more than half of the voting rights. The Group has also adopted a policy to consider as a subsidiary an entity over which the Company is in the position to have effective control, even though it has the ownership of less than half of the voting rights. The Group has developed several criteria in order to determine whether it has the "de facto" control over the entity, including the actual representation of the Company in the Board of Directors and the management of the subsidiary and the fact that there is no realistic possibility that all the other shareholders of the subsidiary will be organised and take control over the entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated using the purchase method from the date on which control commences until the date that control ceases. The acquisition cost of a subsidiary is measured at the fair value of the assets given, the shares issued and the liabilities undertaken on the date of the exchange, plus any other cost directly attributable to the acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired, liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured at their fair values on the acquisition date. The excess between the cost of acquisition and the fair value of the net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognized directly in the income statement.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealized gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of impairment of the asset transferred. All Group subsidiaries follow the same accounting policies as those adopted by the Group.

Associates: Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control. Significant influence is presumed to exist if the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights of another company. Investments in associates are initially recognised at acquisition cost and subsequently are accounted under the equity method. At the each balance sheet date, investments carrying amount is increased by the Group's proportion in the associate's changes in equity and decreases by the amount of dividends received from the associate.

The Group's share in the associate's profits or losses, after the acquisition date, is recognised in the Income Statement whereas, the Group's share in changes in reserves, is recognised directly in equity accounts.

In case when the Group's participation in the associate's losses is equal or exceeds its cost of participation, inclusive of any doubtful debts, the Group does not account for any further losses, except if it has covered all liabilities or has made payments on behalf of the associate as well as those arising in the context of the shareholding.

3.2 Foreign Currency

(a) Foreign Operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments due to business combinations, are translated into Euro at exchange rates applicable on the balance sheet date. The income and expenses are translated into Euro at exchange rate at the dates of transactions or, if it is impracticable, based on the average exchange rates during the reporting period. Any differences arising from the translation of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses are recognized into "Other reserves" within equity.

(b) Foreign Currency Transactions

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the respective functional currency of the Group entities at the exchange rates at the dates of transactions. Monetary asset and liability denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated into the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. The non-monetary assets denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined. Foreign currency differences arising on the execution of foreign currency transactions and on the retranslation of monetary assets and liabilities are recognized in profit or loss.

3.3 Interest income and expense

Interest income and expense are recognised on an accrual basis in the income statement for all interest bearing assets and liabilities, based on the effective interest method. Interest income and expense include the amortization of any discount or premium, transaction costs or other differences between the initial cost of an interest bearing financial asset and the amount to be received or paid at maturity using the effective interest rate method.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts any estimated future payment or receipt through the expected life of a financial instrument (or until the next date of interest reset), to the carrying amount of the financial instrument, including any fees or transaction costs incurred.

3.4 Fee and commissions income

Fees and commissions are generally recognised on an accrual basis when the relevant services have been provided. Commission and fees arising from negotiating, or participating in the negotiation of, a transaction for a third party are recognised on completion of the underlying transaction. Portfolio management fees and other advisory and service fees are recognized in the income statement according the applicable service contract, usually on a time-apportionate basis.

3.5 Dividend Income

Dividend income is recognized in the income statement when the right to receive payment is established.

3.6 Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity.

3.6.1 Initial Recognition

Financial assets and liabilities are recognized at the trade date which is the date when the Group becomes a part to the contractual provision of the instruments. The financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset or financial liability not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability.

3.6.2 Classification and Measurement of Financial Assets

Management determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition. Financial assets are classified into the following categories:

(a) Financial Assets and Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit & Loss

This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading and those designated at fair value through profit or loss at inception. A financial asset is classified in the held for trading category if acquired principally for the purpose of generating a profit from short-term fluctuations in price. Derivative financial instruments are also categorised as held for trading unless they are designated as accounting hedges in which case hedge accounting is applied. Financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss at inception are those that are managed and their performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented investment strategy. Information about these financial assets is provided internally on a fair value basis to key management personnel.

(b) Loans and Receivables

These include non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market and which the Group does not indent to sell in the short-term. They arise when the Group provides money, goods or services directly to a debtor with no intention of trading the receivable. Loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

(c) Held to maturity investments

Held-to-maturity financial assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that the management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. When the Group to sell other than an insignificant amount of held-to-maturity assets, then he entire category tainted and reclassified as available-for-sale.

(d) Available for sale investment

Available-for-sale investments are those intended to be held for an indefinite period of time, which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates, exchange rates or equity prices.

Purchases and sales of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, held-to-maturity, and available-for-sale are recognized at trade date – the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Loans are recognized when cash is advanced to the borrowers.

Financial assets are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or where the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

Available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investments are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

3.6.3 Off setting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is presented in the Balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on an net basis, or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Income and expenses are offset only when permitted by the accounting standards, or for gains and losses arising from a group of similar transactions.

3.6.4 Fair value measurement

For the measurement of assets and liabilities at fair value, the Group uses current market prices for every financial instrument. For those assets and liabilities whose current market price was not available, the values that were derived by applying valuation methods do not differ much from their carrying values. In particular:

- The listed securities are valued at fair value, which is determined according to the current market price on the day of the balance sheet date.
- Non listed securities are valued at cost of acquisition less any impairment.
- The fair value of derivative financial instruments that are not quoted in active markets is determined by using valuation techniques. These models, even though dependent on measurable data, may require estimates and judgments (i.e. volatility and credit risk). Those estimates are assessed regulatory and when market conditions change.

3.6.5 Impairment of financial assets

(a) Assets carried at amortized cost

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.

A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a "loss event") and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of assets is impaired includes observable data that comes to the attention of the Group about the following loss events:

- (i) significant financial difficulty of the obligor;
- (ii) a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;
- (iii) the Group granting to the borrower, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower's financial difficulty, a concession that the lender would not otherwise consider;
- (iv) it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or
- (v) observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a group of financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although the decrease cannot yet be identified with the individual financial assets in the group; including:
 - adverse changes in the payment status of borrower in the group; or
 - national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in the group.

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognized are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets has been incurred, the amount of loss is measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the financial asset and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognized in the income statement. If a loan or a held-to-maturity investment has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined under the contract.

The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a collateralized loan reflects the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable.

For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of similar credit risk characteristics (i.e. on the basis of the Group 's grading process that considers asset type, industry, geographical location, collateral type, past-due status and other relevant factors). Those characteristics are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows for groups of such assets by being indicative of the debtors' ability to pay all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the assets being evaluated.

Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated on the basis of the contractual cash flows of the assets in the group and historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to those in the group. Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to reflect the effects of current conditions that did not affect the period on which the historical loss experience is based and to remove the effect of conditions in the historical period that do not exist currently.

The methodology and assumptions used of estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly by the Group to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.

When a loan is uncollectible, it is written-off against the related provision for loan impairment. Such loans are written off after all the necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss has been determined. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off decrease the amount of the provision for loan impairment in the income statement.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account. The amount of the reversal is recognized in the income statement.

(b) Assets carried at fair value

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. In the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered in determining whether the asset is impaired. If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognized in profit or loss is removed from equity and recognized in the income statement. Impairment losses recognized in the income statement on equity instruments are not reversed through the income statement. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available-for-sale increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed through the income statement.

3.6.6 Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

Derivative financial instruments include forward exchange contracts, currency and interest rate swaps, stock, currency and index futures, equity and currency options and other derivative financial instruments. These are initially recognised in the balance sheet at fair value, and subsequently are remeasured at their fair value. Fair values are obtained from quoted market prices, discounted cash flow models and other appropriate pricing models. All derivatives are shown as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss when fair value is positive and as financial liabilities when fair value is negative.

The best evidence of the fair value of a derivative at initial recognition is the transaction price (i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or received).

Certain derivatives embedded in other financial instruments are treated as separate derivatives when their economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contract and the host contracts is not carried at fair value through profit or loss. These embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in the income statement.

The method of recognizing the resulting fair value gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the items being hedged. The Group designates certain derivatives as either (1) hedges of the fair value of recognized assets or liabilities or firm commitments (fair value hedge); or (2) hedges of highly probable future cash flows attributable to a recognized asset or liability, or a forecasted transaction (cash flow hedge). Hedge accounting is used for derivatives designated in this way provided certain criteria are met.

The Group documents, at the inception of the transaction, the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. The Group also documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items.

Fair value hedge – For fair value hedges that meet the criteria for hedge accounting, any profit or loss from the revaluation of the derivative at fair value is recognized in the income statement. Any profit or loss of the hedged instrument that is due to the hedged risk, adjusts the book value of the hedged instrument and is recognized in the income statement, irrespective of the classification of the financial instrument (e.g. available-for-sale financial instruments).

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the adjustment to the carrying amount of a hedged item for which the effective interest method is used is amortised to profit or loss over the period to maturity. The adjustment to the carrying amount of a hedged equity security remains in retained earnings until the disposal of the equity security.

Cash flow hedge – For cash flow hedges that meet the criteria of hedge accounting, the part of the profit or loss from the derivative that is designated as an active hedge is recognized directly in reserves and the part that is designated as a non-active hedge is recognized in the income statement. Any profit or loss that has been recognized directly into reserves is transferred to the income statement in the period when the hedged transaction affects the results.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, is terminated or exercised, or when the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting. In case a hedged transaction is no longer expected to be realized, the net accumulated profit or loss that has been recognized into the reserves will be transferred to the income statement.

When derivative instruments are used for hedges of net investments in foreign operations and the criteria for hedge accounting as set out by IAS 39 are met, changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument are recognized in reserves.

3.6.7 Sale and repurchase agreements

The Group enters into agreements for purchases (sales) of investments and to resell (repurchase) substantially identical investments at a certain date in the future at a fixed price. Investments purchased, on condition that they will be resold in the future (reverse repos), are not recognized in the balance sheet. The amounts paid for purchase thereof are recognized as receivables from other banks or customers. The difference between the sale and repurchase consideration is recognized as interest income or expense during the repurchase agreement period on an accrual basis.

Investments sold under repurchase agreements continue to be recognized in the balance sheet and are measured in accordance with the accounting policy for either assets held for trading or available-for-sale as appropriate. The proceeds from the sale of the investments are reported as liabilities to either banks or customers.

3.7 Insurance contracts

Through its insurance subsidiaries, the Group issues insurance contracts to customers. Under these contracts the Group accepts significant insurance risk, by agreeing to compensate the contract holder on the occurrence of a specified, uncertain future event.

Since January 1st 2005 risk bearing contracts have been separated into insurance contracts and financial contracts (IFRS 4). Group's insurance company issues only insurance contracts covering property and casualty risks up to one year of duration.

Property and casualty insurance contracts are separated in two categories:

- a) Automobile third party liability. This category includes insurance contracts covering the risk of automobile third party liability.
- b) Non-automobile lines. This category includes insurance contracts covering the risk of fire and allied lines, marine, general liability, legal protection, road assistance, etc.

Gross insurance premiums are recognized in the income statement over the period covered by the related insurance contract. The insurance premiums are recognized before the deduction of the relevant commissions.

Contract costs

Costs incurred for the initiation or the renewal of insurance contract, such as brokers commission, are deferred and recognized as an asset. The relevant amounts are amortized to Profit or Loss on a systematic basis over the contractual term of the relevant insurance contract.

Liabilities from insurance contracts

Provisions for outstanding claims are revised at each balance sheet date and any change is recognized in Profit or Loss to the extend that it refers to claim covered by the Group, while any amount covered by reinsurance is recognized as an asset (receivable) according to the reinsurance contracts.

(a) Unearned Premiums

Gross insurance premiums for general insurance business are recognized in the income statement over the period covered by the related insurance contract. The proportion of premiums which relates to periods of risk extending beyond the end of the year is reported as unearned premium and is calculated on a daily basis.

(b) Provisions for claims incurred

Provisions for outstanding claims are based on the estimated ultimate cost of all claims incurred but not settled at the balance sheet date, whether reported or not, together with related claims handling costs. The amount of provisions is estimated based on available information (adjuster reports, court decisions etc.) at the balance sheet date.

Provisions for outstanding claims include reserves for incurred claims, which are not reported to the company at the balance sheet date (I.B.N.R.). Provisions for outstanding claims are reported at the balance sheet date according to the requirements of regulatory authority legislation in force (law 400/1970). Specifically the

decision of The Ministry of Development, forming the greater possible reserve. I.B.N.R. provisions are -3974/11.10.1999 decision of The Ministry of Development.

Provisions for outstanding claims include reserves for incurred claims, which are not reported to the company at the balance sheet date (I.B.N.R.). Provisions for outstanding claims are reported at the balance sheet date according to the requirements of regulatory authority legislation in force (law 400/1970). Specifically the automobile third party liability related claims reserves, are checked according to -3975/11.10.1999 decision of The Ministry of Development, forming the greater possible reserve. I.B.N.R. provisions are -3974/11.10.1999 decision of The Ministry of Development.

The difference in non-life insurance contract liabilities (increase / decrease) related to their previous assessment is transferred to the profit and loss accounts as far as the company's own retention, while the rest is transferred to the reinsurance accounts, according to the reinsurance agreements.

Reinsurance contracts

Reinsurance contracts are contracts entered into by the Group's insurance subsidiaries, under which the Group is compensated for losses incurred under insurance contracts issued by the Group's insurance subsidiaries. The reinsurance contracts entered into by the Group's insurance subsidiaries, in which the issuer of the insurance contract is another insurer (inwards reinsurance) are included in reinsurance contracts.

Any amounts recovered from reinsurers, that derive from the reinsurance contracts of the Group, are recognized in assets. The amounts recovered from or to reinsurers are calculated based on the amounts related with the reinsurance contracts and are based on the terms of each reinsurance contract. The reinsurance liabilities are mainly premiums payable for reinsurance contracts and are recognized as expenses on an accrual basis.

The Group evaluates its reinsurance assets for impairment. If there is objective evidence that the reinsurance assets have incurred an impairment, the Group reduces the carrying amount of the reinsurance asset to its recoverable amount and recognizes the reduction in its value in the income statement.

Liability adequacy test

At each balance sheet date, liability adequacy tests are performed by the Group's insurance companies to ensure the adequacy of liabilities that arise from their operations. In performing these tests, current best estimates of operational and investment income and operational and administration expenses are based on past experience and financial results.

In case when the adequacy test reveals insufficient reserves, provisions are adjusted accordingly. The liability is derecognized when the contract expires, is discharged or is cancelled.

3.8 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with less than three months maturity and include cash and non restricted balances with Central Bank, government bonds and treasury bills and amounts due from other banks and short-term government securities.

3.9 Intangible assets

The Group has included in this category goodwill from acquisitions and software which is carried at amortised cost less accumulated amortization.

(a) Goodwill and other intangible assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the acquired undertaking at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in the balance sheet in "Goodwill and other intangible assets".

Negative goodwill is recognised immediately as gain in the income statement.

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and whenever there are indications of impairment and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing, using the country of operation and economic segment as the allocation bases.

(b) Computer software

Costs that are directly associated with identifiable and unique computer software products controlled by the Group and that will probably generate economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one year are recognised as intangible assets. Subsequently computer software are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Expenditure, which enhances or extends the performance of computer software programmes beyond their original specifications is recognised as a capital improvement.

Costs associated with maintenance of computer software programmes are recognised as an expense when incurred. Computer software costs are amortised using the straight-line method over their useful lives, not exceeding a period of five years. Amortisation commences when the computer software is available for use and is included within "Depreciation" in the income statement.

3.10 Property, plant and equipment

All plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation, except land and buildings which are shown at fair value based on valuations by external independent valuers, less subsequent depreciation for buildings.

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Expenditure for repairs and maintenance of property and equipment is charged to the income statement of the year in which they were incurred. Depreciation on buildings and other tangible assets are calculated using the straight line method to allocate their cost or fair value to their residual values over their estimated useful lives.

The carrying amount of impaired assets is written down to their recoverable amounts. Gains and losses from disposals are recognised in the income statement.

Land is not depreciated but is reviewed for impairment.. Depreciation on other property and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost or revalued amount of each asset less their residual values, over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

- Buildings: 50 years
- Lease hold improvements: depreciated on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease
- Computers: 3 years
- Vehicles: 5-7 years
- Furniture and equipment: 10 years
- The commercial value of leased assets is depreciated over the lease period

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. When the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

Gains and losses on disposal of property and equipment are determined by comparing proceeds to carrying amount and are included in the income statement.

3.11 Assets held for sale

This category includes fixed assets that will be sold within 12 months whose carrying amount will be recovered principally through the sale transaction. Assets held for sale, according to IFRS 5 "Non current assets held for sale and discontinued operations", are valued at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Assets held for sale are not depreciated but are subject to impairment. Gains/ losses from sale of these assets are recognized in the income statement.

3.12 Leases

3.12.1 A Group company is a lessee

(i) Finance lease

The Group has not entered into a finance lease agreement in the capacity of a lessee.

(ii) Operating leases:

Leases where the risks and rewards of ownership remain with the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received by the lessor) are charged to the income statement on a straight line basis over the period of the lease.

3.12.2 A Group company is a lessor

(i) Finance lease

When assets are leased out under finance lease / hire purchase, the present value of the lease payments is recognized as a receivable. Lease income and hire purchase fees are recognized in the income statement in a systematic manner, based on instalments receivable during the year so as to provide a constant periodic rate using the net investment method.

(ii) Operating leases:

Assets leased out under operating leases are carried on the Group's financial statements and are depreciated over their useful economic lives. Payments received under operating leases are recorded in the income statement on a straight line basis.

3.13 Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are treated as held for trading if:

- (a) acquired principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing them in the near term
- (b) a derivative financial instrument (except for a designated and effective hedging instrument)

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value. Subsequently any changes in their fair value are recognised in the income statement.

The Group has classified in this category derivative financial instruments not held and qualifying for hedging purposes.

Derivative financial liabilities that are part of a hedging relationship are measured at fair value. Subsequently, any changes in their fair value are subject to principles described in note 2.13. Liabilities not included in the above categories are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

3.14 Share capital

(a) Share issue costs

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are deducted from equity.

(b) Dividends on ordinary shares

The dividend distribution to ordinary shareholders is recognized in the period in which the dividend is approved by the Company's shareholders. Dividend for the year that is declared after the balance sheet date is disclosed in Note 48.

(c) Treasury Shares

Where the Company or other members of the Group purchase the Company's equity share capital, the consideration paid is deducted from total shareholders' equity as treasury shares. Where such shares are subsequently sold or reissued, any consideration received is included in shareholders' equity.

3.15 Fiduciary activities

Assets and income arising thereon together with related undertakings to return such assets to customers are excluded from these financial statements where the Group acts in a fiduciary capacity such as nominee, trustee or agent.

3.16 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, when it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. If the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money.

Where the Group expects a provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain.

The Group recognises a provision for onerous contracts when the expected benefits to be derived from a contract are less than the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contract.

3.17 Employee benefits

(a) Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a plan under which the Company and the employees pay fixed contributions into a separate fund. The benefits provided to the employees participating in defined contribution plans are based on the return of the fund. Each fund is governed by specified regulations as agreed between the two parties and in compliance with relevant statutory obligations. The contributions of the Group to the defined contribution plans are charged to the income statement in the year in which they arise.

The Group's personnel is insured for its main pension to publicly administered pension insurance funds (i.e Social Security Foundation and other) depending on their specialty. The contributions paid by the Group are included in "Staff costs". The Group's personnel is also insured for medical care in multiemployer funds. In these funds, there are no separate accounts for each company, hence accounting for defined contribution is followed. Once the contribution has been paid, the Group has no further payment obligations.

(b) Defined benefit plans

The Group operates defined contribution and benefit plans in Greece. Provisions for employee retirement, such as compensation defined under Law 2112/20, are determined actuarially using the projected unit credit method. A defined benefit plan is a plan that defines an amount of lump sum or pension benefit to be provided upon retirement which is determined by taking into account factors such as years of service and employee salary. Retirement benefit costs relating to the defined benefit plans and which are those included in staff costs are assessed using the projected unit credit method. Under this method, the cost of providing defined benefit pensions is charged to the income statement so as to spread the regular cost over the service lives of employees in accordance with the advice of professionally qualified actuaries who value the plan at the end of each year.

The obligation for the defined benefit plans is measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of government securities, which have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related liability less the fair value of the plan assets.

Actuarial gains or losses which exceed 10% of the greater of the present value of the Group's obligation and the fair value of the plan assets, are amortised over the expected average remaining working lives of the participating employees. Actuarial gains or losses below the 10% corridor are not recognised.

(c) Share-based compensation

The Group rewards key management executives, according to their efficiency with options on its own shares. At each balance sheet date, the Group revises its estimates for the number of options that are expected to become exercisable. The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant of the options is recognised as an expense (Staff costs) with a corresponding increase in equity during the grand date and exercise date. The proceeds received are credited to share capital and share premium when the options are exercised.

3.18 Income Tax

Current tax liabilities and assets for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid to or recovered from the taxation authorities using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred tax is determined using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred tax liability is settled. The following temporary differences are not provided for: goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable differences.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

In Greece submitted tax returns are not considered as final until tax authorities audit the companies books and records, or until the statute of limitation expires. In Greece the results reported to the tax authorities by an entity are provisional and are subject to revision until the tax authorities examine the books and records of the entity and the related tax returns are accepted as final. Therefore, entities remain contingently liable for additional taxes and penalties which may be assessed on such tax examination. It is common practice in Greece for the tax authorities to audit an entity's books and records and to disallow expenses arbitrarily and to assess additional taxes.

3.19 Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged either in providing products or services (business segment) or in providing products or services within a particular environment (geographical segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments. Segment is analyzed in Note 7.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

Accounting estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates, judgements and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

(a) Impairment losses on loans and advances

The Group reviews its loan portfolio to assess impairment at least quarterly. In determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the income statement, the Group makes judgements as to whether there is sufficient evidence indicating that the balance of a loan or a portfolio of homogenous loans outstanding will not be fully recovered. This evidence includes:

- · violation of the contractual terms resulting in the delay of capital or interest payment,
- significant deterioration in the loan repayment ability,
- legal action,
- · bankruptcy, and
- other objective evidence that leads to the conclusion that the Group will not collect the full amount due.

For a loan that has been characterized as impaired, the realisable value of its securities is considered to be the present value of its future cash flows. In addition, for significant amounts other factors such as the financial status of the customer, the alternative sources of funds available and the extent to which credit worthy guarantors can support the customer are considered. The provision amount is calculated as the difference between the loan's carrying amount and the realisable amount, including all securities and guarantees.

(b) Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are not quoted in an active market is determined using valuation techniques. The Group uses its judgement to select a variety of methods and make assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions existing at each balance sheet date. The valuation techniques used are frequently assessed to ensure their validity and appropriateness. Changes in methods and assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments.

(c) Impairment of available for sale financial assets

The Group follows the guidance in IAS 39 to determine if an investment has been impaired. This decision requires critical judgement. Available for sale equity investments are impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in fair value below its cost. When the declines in fair value are considered significant or prolonged, the fair value reserve is transferred to the income statement. Furthermore, estimates are used to determine the fair value of equity investments which are not quoted in active markets. For those investments, the fair value is determined by using valuation techniques taking under consideration assumptions about industry and sector performances as well as the financial health of the investee.

(d) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income tax according to the tax legislation in Greece. In order to establish the corporation tax, as presented in the balance sheet, significant assumptions are required. For specific transactions and calculations the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

(e) Retirement benefits

The present value of liabilities arising from staff retirement benefits is determined by means of an actuarial valuation using specific assumptions. These assumptions are disclosed in Note 39.

According to the relevant Group's accounting policy for retirement benefits, any changes in the assumptions are likely to have an effect on the level of the unrecognised actuarial gain or loss.

(f) Insurance claims

Insurance liabilities for claims are calculated by using information relating to the claim. The Group assesses each claim separately and the estimated liability is based on the facts of each claim, experience and other relevant factors, on a case-by-case basis. The Group is liable for all events covered by the policy even if the loss is discovered after the policy's expiry date. A provision is made for claims incurred but not yet reported (IBNR). Reserve adequacy test was performed through the link ratio methodology, using last six years data. The methodology assumes persistence of accumulated losses ratios (paid and outstanding claims).

(g) Financial Instruments Classification

The Group's accounting policies require financial assets and liabilities to be classified into different categories at their inception:

- Investments held to maturity. Management judgement is required when applying this classification, which takes into account the Group's intention & ability to hold investment to maturity.
- Financial instruments for trading purposes include Investments and derivatives held to achieve short-term profit.

(h) Control over subsidiaries

The Group has adopted a policy to consider as a subsidiary an entity over which it has the "de facto" power to control its financing and operating activities no matter whether it holds less than half of the voting rights. Management exercises its judgment and has developed certain criteria to determine whether effective control exist, such as representation in the entities governing body, ability to control the General Meeting of Shareholders decision and structure of voting rights of the entity.

5. STRUCTURE OF THE GROUP

The following table indicates the Group structure as at 31/12/2006:

Company Name	insa omie	Piles.				Relation that distance
建 的时期,10岁月至10岁月至15日 排出				ii yyli ii aasii t	panebelding =	the consolidation
IRF European Finance Investments Limited	Bermudes			Parent		
SUBSIDIARIES					iii artiiliat ()	
Mimosa Trading SA	Marshall Islands	100.00%	0.00%	100%		The participation percentage
Myrtle Trading Company	Marshall Islands	100.00%	0.00%	100%		The participation percentage
Proton Group						
Proton Bank AE				Р	arent of Proton	_
TOOK BUILDING	Greece	20.16%	0.00%	20.16%	Group	Control over the entity
Proton Asset Management AEFIEY	Greece	0.00%	20.14%	20.14%	99.90%	Control over the entity
Proton Mutual Funds Mgt Co SA	Greece	0.00%	20.14%	20.14%	99.90%	Control over the entity
First Global Brokers SA	Serbia	0.00%	16.63%	16.63%	82.49%	Control over the entity
Omega Mutual Funds Mgt Co SA	Greece	0.00%	18.76%	18.76%	93.07%	Control over the entity
Omega Insurance & Reinsurance Services SA	Greece	0.00%	13.31%	13.31%	66.00%	Control over the entity
Omega Insurance SA	Greece	0.00%	16.69%	16.69%	82.78%	Control over the entity
Intellectron Systems	Greece	0.00%	11.42%	11.42%	56.64%	Control over the entity
Omega Kahn Financial Services SA	Switzerland	0.00%	16.13%	16.13%	80.00%	Control over the entity
Omega SA Financial Advisors - Investments & Real Estate Mgt	Greece	0.00%	20.16%	20.16%	100.00%	Control over the entity
ASSOCIATES	Calaba vit de Sir					
Omega Porfolio Investment SA	Greece	0.00%	5.80%	5.80%	28.75%	

PROTON BANK is fully consolidated because of the "de facto" power of the Company to control its financial and operating activities. In particular, the Company owns the 20.16% of the voting rights of PROTON while the percentage of voting rights controlled be the Company is increased to 26.14% after taking into consideration the holding of two other shareholders of PROTON who are committed to vote in accordance with IRF's instructions based on an agreement.

Company's directors use their judgment in order to ascertain whether IRF has the effective control of PROTON according to the accounting policy adopted. Based on all relevant information currently available, Company concludes that it has the ability to control PROTON and therefore fully consolidated its financial statements. The following reasons advocate that IRF has control over PROTON:

- (a) IRF has already exercised its effective power and appointed six members in the eleven-member Board of Directors of PROTON, including PROTON's chairman,
- (b) Based on the Purchase Agreement, the vendors, who are currently directors and shareholders of PROTON, agree to vote in such a way that will protect IRF's power to appoint the majority of the PROTON's Board of Directors,
- (c) There is no realistic possibility that all the other shareholders, who represent the 73.86% of the voting rights, will be organized in such a way as to in practice block the exercise of IRF's power. In particular, the 73.86% of the shares of PROTON is held by more than 10.000 investors, the majority of whom do not usually attend the Shareholders' Meeting. Moreover, no one of them controls more than 5% of the entity and d) The relevant judgment is compliance the relevant Greek regulations.

All other subsidiaries comprising PROTON Group are consolidated because of the indirect, through PROTON Bank, ownership of the majority of their voting rights. The method of consolidation is the Purchase Method. Investment in associates is accounted under the equity method.

5.1 Changes in Group Structure during the Year 2006

During the financial year the following changes took place in the Group Structure:

1) PROTON BANK: On 29th June 2006 IRF European Finance Investments Ltd acquired a 28% stake in the share capital of the listed on the Athens Stock Exchange company "PROTON BANK". The range of activities of PROTON Group of Companies covers almost the whole spectrum of the financial industry. More precisely, PROTON Group is specialized in investment banking. The IRF Group consolidated PROTON BANK for the first time at 30/06/2006, date at which control was deemed to be acquired. "Control" is the right to lead the financial and business policies of an entity in order to receive benefits from its operation.

On 7th September 2006, the Extraordinary General Meeting of shareholders of PROTON BANK approved the merger of the Bank with Omega Bank and Proton Securities. According to the Merger Contract, which was approved by the General Assembly, the exchange ratio was 1 share of Omega Bank for 0.90 shares of PROTON BANK. As Proton Bank holds 100% of Proton Securities shares, there was no exchange ratio. Additionally, the General Assembly decided the amendment of article 5 of its Articles of Association in order for the bank's share capital to rise after the merger, to a total amount of € 281,450,360.78 divided into 62,683,822 common voting shares of nominal value € 4.49 each. The merger was completed on 29th September 2006. Following Proton's Bank merger with Omega and taking into account the shares issued therewith, the Company now owns a 20.16% interest in PROTON BANK. For the above merger the provisions of IFRS 3 "Business Combinations" were followed which applies to business combinations after 31st March 2004.

- 2) ARROW ASSET FINANCE SA: The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st December 2006 do not include ARROW ASSET FINANCE SA, since on 30th September the dissolution of ARROW ASSET FINANCE SA was completed, as the Extraordinary General Meeting of the PROTON's shareholders, approved the start up and liquidation balance sheet according to the article 47 of Law 2190/1920 and 35 of the company's Articles of Association. The dissolution and liquidation of the company had no material effect on the Group's net assets since PROTON's investment in the particular subsidiary with a cost of € 369 thous. was written off. The impairment loss of € 369 thous. was charged against the income statement of PROTON of the year 2005. Consolidated P&L for the year 2006, includes the net result 01/07-30/09/2006.
- **3) MIMOSA TRADING SA:** The Company is duly incorporated and has filed articles of incorporation under the provisions of the Marshall islands Business Corporation Act on 6th July 2006. The IRF European Finance Investments Ltd is the owner of five hundred (500) fully paid and non-assessable shares of the capital stock of the corporation. The aggregate number of shares of stock that the Corporation is authorized to issue is five hundred (500) registered and/or bearer shares without par value.
- **4) MYRTLE TRADING COMPANY:** The Company is duly incorporated and has filed articles of incorporation under the provisions of the Marshall islands Business Corporation Act on 6th July 2006. The IRF European Finance Investments Ltd is the owner of five hundred (500) fully paid and non-assessable shares of the capital stock of the corporation. The aggregate number of shares of stock that the Corporation is authorized to issued to issue is five hundred (500) registered and/or bearer shares without par value.

6. RISK MANAGEMENT

For risk management purposes, financial risks are monitored at two different levels: risks faced by Proton Group and risks faced by the Company. The nature of these risks and the ways they are dealt with by management are explained below.

The Proton Group is exposed to several risks, as all financial institutions. These risks are continually monitored through various methods so that the concentration of unreasonable risks is avoided.

On the other hand, the Company (including the wholly owned subsidiaries – Myrtle Trading Company and Mimosa Trading SA) is exposed to a limited level of risks. The Company indents to minimise its exposure to credit, liquidity and interest rate risk, while it is exposed to market risks due to its investments in equity shares.

6.1 Credit Risk

Group is exposed to credit risk, which is the risk of default of a counterparty, regarding its contractual obligations. Specifically in the case of loans, it is the risk of a counterparty to default on part, of its debt. Provisions for losses (impairment) are recognized when it is estimated that losses exist at the balance sheet date. The Group gives great consideration to the proper management of credit risk, due to the fact that significant changes in economy or in business sector represent a material part of the Group's portfolio and might cause losses that exceed existing provisions.

The Group mitigates the level of credit risk it undertakes by setting acceptable risk levels for each counterparty or group of counterparties in each business and geographical segment. The risks are periodically reviewed and adjusted. Limits have been placed on a product and sector level.

The undertaken risk for each borrower including banks, is furthermore reduced by placing sub-limits on and off balance sheet items. Loan balances are compared to credit limits on a daily basis.

The Group controls the exposure to credit risk with regular reviews on the borrowers capability to satisfy their interest and principal obligations by adjusting credit limits when necessary. Credit risk is partially covered with acceptable collaterals.

6.2 Market Risk

The Group takes on exposure to market risks. Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risks arise from open positions in interest rate, currency and equity products, all of which are exposed to general and specific market movements and changes. The Group applies modern methodologies, such as "value at risk", to measure market risk.

VAR is a statistically based estimate of the potential loss on the current portfolio from adverse market movements. It expresses the maximum amount the Bank might lose, but only to a certain level of confidence over a certain period. The method does not estimate the potential loss extreme market movements (non normal). The Group calculates a VAR estimate for a 99% confidence level and a 10 day holding period.

The Group regularly applies on a daily basis a back testing program to control the VAR estimates, by comparing the actual changes in the portfolio with the respective VAR measures.

6.3 Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk arises from the Group's financing process and management of the open positions in the market. Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its payment obligations associated with financing liabilities when they fall due and to replace funds when are withdrawn. The consequence may be the failure, to meet obligations to repay depositors, to fulfil commitments to lend, and to liquidate its financial assets at fair value.

The Group uses a large financing base which is achieved through a wide range of products including, deposits, debt securities and equity. This improves its financing capability, reduces the dependence on a single source, and generally lowers its borrowing cost. The Group tries to balance the need between financing and flexibility, by maintaining a portfolio with different maturities. The Group continually assesses liquidity risk by controlling and monitoring the required changes in order to meet its business goals in the frame of its strategy.

The table below presents the Group's net liquidity gap by taking into consideration the contractual maturity assets and liabilities as well as guidelines issued by the Bank of Greece.

_			THE GR	ROUP		
Amounts presented in € '000	Up to 1 month	1 to 3 months	3 to 12 months	1 to 5 years	Over 5 years	Total
As at 31st December 2006 Asset liquidity						ATTOCHE STANDARD STAN
Cash and balances with Central Bank	37,397	-	-	-	-	37,397
Loans and advances to financial institutions	151,903	16,227	13,755	•	-	181,885
Derivative financial instruments Trading Portfolio and other financial	2,611	-	-	-	-	2,611
intsruments at fair value through Profit & Loss	117,972	134,390	11,812	-	-	264,174
Loans and advances to customers	220,072	65,563	227,536	428,043	-	941,214
Insurance Receivables	-	-	1 6,72 1	-	-	16,721
Investment Portfolio	5,884	-	354	6,739	25,000	37;977
Investments in associates	-	-	-	-	4,604	ية من 4,604 ٪
Property, plant and equipment	-	-	-	-	33,402	ું કેટ્રેટર્ટર ફે 33,402 ્ર
Investment Property	-	-	-	-	50	<u> </u>
Non current assets held for sale	-	-	64	-	-	64
Goodwill and other intangible assets	-	-	-	-	186,216	186,216
Reinsurance contracts	-	-	1,339	•	-	1,339
Deferred tax assets	4	-	-	3,200	-	3,200
Other assets	2,767	2,484	10,400	1,203	18,031	34,885
Total assets	538,606	218,664	281,981	439,185	267,303	1,745,739
	Up to 1 month	1 to 3 months	3 to 12 months	1 to 5 years	Over 5 years	Total
Liability liquidity						Jan var artiklasi
Due to financial institutions	33,934	6,165	35 ,2 35	15,563	-	90,897
Derivative financial intruments	6,319	-	-	-	-	6,319
Due to Customers	90,379	399,953	3 9 8,9 2 2	152 ,90 3	-	1,042,157
Issued Debt Securities	-	-	-	-	1,500	1,500
Provisions for insurance contracts	-	-	34,093	-	-	(34,093)
Retirement benefit obligations	-	-	-	1,228	-	1,228
Current income tax liabilities	-	•	1,349	-	-	1,349
Other liabilities	199	-	7,356	13,889	-	કે કે કે કે 21,444
Total liabilities _	130,831	406,118	476,955	183,583	1,500	1,198,987
Net liquidity gap	407,776	(187,454)	(194,974)	255,602	265,803	546,752
As at 31st December 2005						and the solution of
Total assets	538,606	218,664	281,981	439,185	267,303	1,745,739
Total liabilities	130,831	406,118	476,955	183,583	1,500	1,198,987
Net liquidity gap	407,776	(187,454)	(194,974)	255,602	265,803	546,752

			THE GR	ROUP		
Amounts presented in € '000	Up to 1 month	1 to 3 months	3 to 12 months	1 to 5 years Over 5 years		Total
As at 31st December 2005			-			
Asset liquidity						
Cash and balances with Central Bank	2,206	-	-	-	-	2,206
Restricted cash held in Trust	-	-	210,294	-	-	210,294
Other assets	5	-	· -	-	-	5
Total assets	2,212	-	210,294	-	- ,	212,506
•					**************************************	THE STATE OF THE PARTY OF THE P
	Up to 1 month	1 to 3 months	3 to 12 months	1 to 5 years	Over 5 years	TOTAL COMMENT
Liability liquidity			IIIOIIG			THE PARTY OF THE P
Other liabilities	170	-	-	-	- 3	
Compound financial instrument	-	-	-	203,426	- 2	203,426
Total liabilities	170	-	-	203,426	- 3	203,596
					39	
Net liquidity gap	2,042		210,294	(203,426)	- ()	8,910
•					Ó	
As at 31st December 2005					2	
Total assets	2,212	-	210,294	-	- }	212,506
Total liabilities	170	-		203,426	-	203,596
Net liquidity gap	2,042		210,294	(203,426)	= ;	8,910

6.4 Currency Risk

The Group undertakes currency risk arising from the exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows. The Proton Group sets limits on the level of exposure by currency and in aggregate for both overnight and intra-day positions, which are monitored daily.

The following tables summarize the Groups' exposure to currency risk. The Group's assets and liabilities at carrying amounts, categorized by currency are included in the table).

Amounts presented in € '000	EUR	USD	GBP	JPY	Other Currencies	Total
As at 31st December 2006 Currency risk for assets						
Cash and balances with Central Bank	37,257	129	9	-	2	37,397
Loans and advances to financial institutions	167,957	7,044	2,466	835	3,582	181,885
Derivative financial instruments	(123,901)	(4,525)	(20)	171,523	(40,466)	2,611
Trading portfolio and other financial assets at fair value through Profit & Loss	253 ,5 63	7,504	650	-	2,457	264,174
Loans and advances to customers	849,089	58,168	9	-	33,948	941,214
Investment Portfolio	37,753	224	-	-	-	37,977
Investments in associates	4,550	-	-	-	54	4,604
Goodwill and other intangible assets	186,216	-	-	-	-	186,216
Investment Property	50	-	-	-	-	50
Property, plant and equipment	33,402	-	-	-	-	33,402
Non current assets held for sale	64	-	-	-	-	64
Insurance Receivables	16,721	-	-	-	-	16,721
Reinsurance contracts	1,339	-	-	-	-	1,339
Deferred tax assets	3,200	-	-	-	- ,	3,200
Other assets	32,178	2,338	227	(38)	179	34,884
Total assets	1,499,439	70,882	3,341	172,320	(244)	1,745,739

Amounts presented in € '000					
Currency risk of liabilities	EUR	USD	GBP	JPY	Other Total Currencies
Due to financial institutions	70,016	20,881	-	-	- ` ` <u>` ` ` ` ` ` ` ` ` ` ` ` ` ` ` ` `</u>
Derivative financial instruments	6,312	7	-	-	
Due to customers	811,020	50,825	3,535	175,636	1,141 1,042,157
Issued Debt Securities	1,500	-	-	-	- 1,500
Provision for insurance contracts	34,093	-	-	-	
Retirement benefit obligations	1,228	-	-	-	- : <u></u>
Current income tax liabilities	1,349	-	-	-	- 1249
Other liabilities	21,169	4 94	55	(16)	(257) 21,445
Total liabilities	946,687	72,207	3,590	175,620	884 1,198,987
					The second secon
Net on-balance sheet position	552,752	(1,325)	(249)	(3,300)	(1,128) 546,752
As at 31st December 2006					1
Total assets	1,499,439	70,882	3,341	172,320	(244) 1,745,739
Total liabilities	946,687	72,207	3,590	175,620	884 1,198,987
Net on-balance sheet position	552,752	(1,325)	(249)	(3,300)	(1,128) 546,752

	THE GROUP							
Amounts presented in € '000	EUR	USD	GBP	JPY	Other Currencies	Total		
As at 31st December 2005 Currency risk for assets Loans and advances to financial institutions	_	2,206	-	-	-	2.206		
Restricted cash held in Trust	-	210,294	_	_	-	210,294		
Other Assets	-	´ 5	-	-	-	2.00.00000 .5 50		
Total assets		212,506		-	-	212,506		
Currency risk of liabilities	EUR	USD	GBP	JPY	Other Currencies	Tötal		
Other liabilities	85	(48)	133	-	-	170		
Compound financial instrument		203,426	-	-	-	203,426		
Total liabilities	85	203,378	133	-		203,596		
		_						
Net on-balance sheet position	(85)	9,127	(133)	-	-	8,910		
As at 31st December 2005								
Total assets	-	212,506	-	-	-	212,506		
Total liabilities	85	203,378	133		-	203,596		
Net on-balance sheet position	(85)	9,127	(133)	-	-	8,910		

6.5 Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk of a negative impact on the Group's financial condition due to its exposure to interest rates. Fluctuations in market interest rates significantly affect the present value of expected future cash flows from investments and liabilities.

The following tables summarise the Group's exposure to interest rate risks. Included in the tables are the Group's assets and liabilities at carrying amounts categorized by contractual reprising date for floating rate items and maturity day for fixed rate items.

				THE GROU	P		
Amounts presented in € '000	Up to 1 month	1-3 months	3-12 months	1-5 years	Over 5 years	Non-interest bearing	
As at 31st December 2006							
Assets							
Cash and balances with Central Bank	15,776	-	•	-	•	21,621	37,397
Loans and advances to financial Institutions	15 1,76 5	16,227	13,765	-	-	128	181,885
Derivative financial instruments	-	-	-	-	-	2,611	2,611
Trading portfolio and other financial assets at fair value through Profit & Loss	-	-	3,197	66,026	68,364	126,587	264,174
Loans and advances to customers	116,712	437,380	240,513	146,609		-	941,214
Insurance Receivables	-	•	•	-	-	16,721	16,721
Investment Portfolio Investments in associates	-	-	-	447	31,646	5,884 4,604	37,977 4,604
Property, plant and equipment	-	_	-	-	_	33,402	33,402
Investment Property	-	-	-	-	-	50	2000 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100
Non current assets held for sale Goodwill and other intangible assets	-			-		64 186,216	186,216
Reinsurance contracts	_	-		-	-	1,339	1,339
Deferred tax assets	-	-	-	-	-	3,200	The property of the property o
Other assets Total assets	284,253	453,607	257,475	213,082	100,010	34,885 437,312	34,885 1,745,739
	20-7233	433,007	237,473	225,002	100,010	437,312	:Xeaceureaceacer at Scoots
Liabilities							
Due to financial institutions Derivative financial instruments	34,371	6,165	34,798	15,563	-	6 210	90,897 6,319
Due to customers	768,154	155,005	86,150	32,848	-	6,319	1,042,157
Obligations from bonds	· -	-	•	-	1,500	-	1,500
Provision for insurance contracts Retirement benefit obligations	-	-	-	-	-	34,093 1,228	34,093 1,228
Current income tax liabilities	-	-	-	_	-	1,349	1,349
Other liabilities Total liabilities			<u> </u>	<u>-</u>		21,445	21,445
Total Habilities	802,525	161,170	120,948	48,411	1,500	64,434	1,198,987
Total Interest sensitivity gap	(518,272)	292,437	136,527	164,671	98,510	372,878	546,752
As at 31st December 2005							
Total assets	284,253	453,607	257,475	213,082	100,010	437,312	1,745,739
Total liabilities Net interest sensitivity gap	802,525	161,170	120,948	48,411	1,500	64,434	1,198,987
Net Interest sensitivity gap	(518,272)	292,437	136,527	164,671	98,510	372,878	546,752
				THE GROU	P		0.1.00.4000.1004
Amounts presented in € '000	Up to 1	1-3	3-12	1-5 years	Over 5	Non-interest	Total
As at 31st December 2005 Asset liquidity	month	months	months	<u> </u>	years	bearing	
Cash and balances with Central Bank	2,206	-	-	-	-	-	2,206
Restricted cash held in Trust	-	-	210,294	-	-	-	210, 29 4
Other assets Total assets	2,206	<u>-</u>	210,294	-	-	5	212,506
roun discus	2,200		210,234				ALLIGOUS Charles
	Up to 1	1-3	3-12	1-5 years	Over 5	Non-interest	Total
Liabilia, Basidia.	month	months	months	1-3 y ears	years	bearing	A CONTRACTOR
Liability liquidity Other liabilities	_	_	_	_	_	170	170
Compound financial instrument				203,426	-	-	203,426
Total liabilities		-		203,426	-	170	203,596
Net liquidity gap	2,206	-	210,294	(203,426)	-	(165)	8,910
As at 31st December 2005							
Total assets	2,206		210,294	_	-	5	212,506
Total liabilities			· -	203,426	-	170	203,596
Net liquidity gap	2,206		210,294	(203,426)		(165)	8,910

7. SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS

7.1 By Business segment (primary segment)The Group has defined the following business segments: Investment Banking, Other banking activities and insurance and other activities

Amounts presented in € '000	Investment Banking	Other Banking Activities	Insurance and other activities	Total
Financial year 1st January - 31st December 2006				
Net Income			1	
- from interest	8,535	8,231	(37)	16,729
 from fees and commissions 	(1,698)	9,569	(5)	7,866
 from insurance activities 	-	-	7,790	7,790
- from dividends	1,620	-	6	1,626
- net trading income and other income	28,677	943	234	29,854
Total Net Income	37,133	18,743	7,988	63,864
Profit before tax	27,498	9,699	(372)	36,825
Tax			•	(2,916)
Result after Tax				33,909
Other items by segment				A STATE OF THE STA
Depreciation (Note 16)	(483)	(355)	(40)	(878)
Insurance claims (Note 17)	• •		(4,968)	(4,968)
Impairment Losses (Note 18)	1,809	(2,367)		(558)
Investments in associates	-	-	- `	240
Financial Year 8th September - 31st December 2005			,	
Net Income			2	6) 60 60 60 60 60 60 7 7 7 7 6 6 6 6 6 6 6
- from interest	(1,323)	-	_	(1,323)
Total Net Income	(1,323)	-	- :	(1,323)
Profit before tax	(1,396)		;	(1,396)
Tax				
Result after Tax				(1,396)

Amounts presented in € '000	Investment Banking	Other Banking Activities	Insurance and other activities	Total ()
31st December 2006 Assets Total Liabilities & Equity	1,066,959 822,640	505,359 533,216	1 7 3,422 389,884	1,745,739 1,745,739
31st December 2005 Assets Total Liabilities & Equity	212,506 212,506	:	-	212.506 212.5062 36.034 212,506

7.2 By Geographical segment

A geographical segment is defined as a particular economic environment in which the Group is engaged in providing services and that is subject to different risks and return from those in other economic environments. The substantial part of assets and liabilities are currently held in Greece.

8. NET INTEREST INCOME

Amounts presented in € '000	THEGRO	DUR TO THE	THE CO	MPANY
	31/12/2006 3	1/12/2005	31/12/2006	31/12/2005
Interest and Similar Income				
From loans and advances to banks	8,466		5,797	6
From securities	3,070		5,. 5.	-
From Loans and receivables		J KALDE	_	-
	17,424		-	•
Other Interest related income			-	-
Total	28,992	£ (1./4 6	5,797	6
Interest and Similar Expenses				
Due to financial institutions			-	_
Due to customers	1.00 magains			
	9,281		•	-
Contribution Law 128	1,321		-	
Interest on Compound instrument		1,328	-	1,328
Interest on Borrowing Funds (Financing Loans)	726-5		726	-
Other Interest related expenses	853	0.2	29	0.2
Total	12,263	1 379	756	1,329
	,200	_,	750	_,0_5
Net Interest Income	16,729	(1,323)	5,042	(1,323)

During the year the Company fully utilized a financial facility of € 75 mil. granted by three banks. The relevant funds were raised in October 2006 and were fully repaid in the end of November.

9. NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

Amounts presented in € '000	THE GROUP	THE COMPANY
	31/12/2006 31/12/200	5 31/12/2006 31/12/2005
Fee and commission income from:	× *	•
Loans and advances to customers	989	<u>-</u>
Letters of guarantee	111 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	<u>-</u>
Imports-Exports	106	
Credit Cards	676	<u>-</u>
Foreign Exchange Transactions	86/22/2	<u>.</u>
Securities brokerage	5,840	<u> </u>
Remittance	32	
Management of Securities and Investment		*
Banking	2,456	
Total	<i>10,296</i>	
Fee and commission expense from:		
Guarantees, Credit Cards	275	
Securities brokerage	1,780	<u>-</u> -
Loans Fees and Commissions	17.11 (375 A 17.11)	375 -
Total	2,430	<i>- 375</i> -
	S S SACRAL	
Net fee and commission income	7,866	- (375) -

10. NET INCOME FROM INSURANCE SERVICES

Amounts presented in € '000

Income from insurance activities Expenses from insurance activities **Total**

	, ``ini'	*\$ 73		151	Ċ.	ъĸ	U	Jr.	200		· 2	100
•	31	/1:		20 (rind.	.;3	1	1	2/	2	00	5
			1	233	16	60. 60. 60.			20			
			7,	79	0	,/1			И,	,	77	Ç.

11. DIVIDEND INCOME

Amounts presented in € '000

Dividends from AFS securities Dividends from trading securities Dividends from Subsidiaries (Note 49) **Total**

THE GROUP	THE COMPANY	
31/12/2006 31/12/2005	31/12/2006 31/12/2005	
The state of the s		
20 20 0000014 6035 200 200 200 200 200 200 200 200 200 20		
	15,095 -	
######################################	15,095 -	

12. NET RESULT FROM FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES

Amounts ,	presented	in	€	'000°
-----------	-----------	----	---	-------

Foreign Exchange Differences Purchase and sale of securities Valuation of securities Foreign Exchange Differences Derivative instruments Discount interests **Total**

THE GROUP			
31/12/2006	31/12/2005		
522	, (1		
24,176	-		
11,853	, t 🚗		
177	-		
(8,243)	-		
70	-		
28,555	-		

13. OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Amounts presented in € '000

Building rentals
Non-banking activities
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets
Exchange Differences (other than trading activities)
Other income
Total

THE GROUP	THE CO	
31/12/2006 31/12/2005	31/12/2006	31/12/2005
20	-	-
392	-	-
2	-	-
897 (2)(2)(3)(3)(3)(3)(5)	897	-
100 good	-	-
1,299	897	-

14. STAFF COSTS

Amounts presented in € '000	THE GROUP	
	31/12/2006 31/12/2005	31/12/2006 31/12/2005
Wages and salaries	-	155 -
Social insurance contribution	1.289	
Pension and retirement costs	(8)	
Other employee costs	97°	
Total		155 -

The number of staff is given below:

	THE GROUP	THE COMPANY
	31/12/2006 31/12/2005	31/12/2006 31/12/2005
Number of employees	640	1 -

On 31^{st} December 2006 the Group employed 640 employees, while the Company employed just 1 employee.

15. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

Amounts presented in € '000	THE GROUP		THE COMPANY	
	31/12/2006	31/12/2005	31/12/2006	31/12/2005
Rentals	1,151	-	-	-
Maintainance costs	363	-	-	-
Promotion and advertising costs	247	-	_	_
Telephone expenses and postage	556	-	-	
Other third parties fees	1,484		204	_
Contribution to Hellenic Deposit Guarantee Fund	277	-	-	-
Subscriptions and other contribution expenses	3,238		-	-
Insurance fees	72		-	-
Consumables	259	-	-	_
Taxes (Value Added, Property, etc.)	905	-	-	_
Insurance agency costs	1,994		-	_
Other operating expenses	2.096	72	252	72
Total	12.642	72	457	72

16. DEPRECIATION

Amounts presented in € '000	THE GROUP	
	31/12/2006	31/12/2005
Property, plant & equipment	601	-
Intangible assets	277	_
Total	878	-

17. INSURANCE CLAIMS

Amounts presented in € '000	THE GROUP
Assessabile third south linkits	31/12/2006 31/12/2005
Automobile third party liability Non-motor property and casualty lines	3130
Total	4,968

18. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

Amounts presented in € '000	THE GROUP
	31/12/2006 31/12/2005
Loans and receivables	275
Financial investments	261
Other assets	~
Total impairment charge for credit losses	558

19. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The tax charge for the year is analyzed below:

Amounts presented in € '000	THEGROUP	
Current Year Tax	31/12/2006 31/12/2005	
Current Tax expense	2,285	
Deferred Tax	631	
Total tax charge	2.916	

The reconciliation of the income tax expense for the year is as follows:

Amounts presented in € '000	THE GROUP	
	31/12/2006	31/12/2005
Profit before tax	36,825	. <u>2.0.2.2.2.2.</u>
Less: Taxable profits in other jurisdictions at 0%	(20,047)	
Taxable in Greece at 24%	16,778	
Income tax at normal rates (24%)	4,027	
Adjustments for:		.
Non-taxable income	(3,577)	-
Non-deductible expense	8	· · <u>·</u>
Addition tax on property, plant and equipment	5	· -
Special taxation of prior years' reserves	2,453	
Income tax expense	2,916	
	^	
	• ;	•
Current income tax	2,285	`-
Deferred tax	631	<u> </u>
Total income tax expense	2,916	- 1 40 \$ 4 7 k

The Group operates in a number of different jurisdictions. Income generated by entities established under Greek Law is subject to income tax according to the Greek Income Taxation Code. Profits recorded in the jurisdictions of Bermuda and Marshall Islands are tax free.

Under Greek legislation, normal income tax rates applicable to all entities incorporated in the form of societe anonyme are 29% for the year 2006 and 25% thereafter. PROTON BANK took advantage of the Law 2992/2002 tax incentive scheme, applicable to entities engaged into mergers, and was taxed at a reduced rate of 24% in 2006. In 2007 PROTON BANK will be taxed at the reduced rate of 20%.

Certain types of income, such as profits from trading with securities, are tax-free or taxed at lower rates as long as they are transferred into a special reserve. However, the relevant profits are taxable at normal tax rates in the event of distribution to the shareholders. According to the Ministry of Finance's resolution 1135/22.11.06 a special tax was imposed on those reserves during the year. The relevant income tax charge was € 2.453 thousand. After taking into consideration the above, effective tax rate for the PROTON Group is 17.4%. The Group's effective tax rate is 7.9%.

Income tax liability for Proton Group is not considered as final as it is further analyzed in Note 50.2.

Deferred tax recognized in the income statement is attributable to:

Amounts presented in € '000	NATION OF THE GROUP AND ADDRESS OF THE GROUP.
	31/12/2006 31/12/2005
Loans and receivables	(523) ⁽¹⁾
Employee bonuses	(195)
Accrued income	(214)
Other assets	(43) û (4
Financial receivables	
Retirement benefit obligations	
Financial liabilities	20 20 25
Revaluation on OTC forwards	128
Property, plant & equipment and intangible assets	207
Total deferred tax	(631)

20. CASH AND BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANK

Amounts presented in € '000	THE GROUP
	31/12/2006 31/12/2005
Cash on hand and cash in course of collection	10,014
Cheques receivable	
Included in cash and cash equivalents (Note 45)	22,032 / fy -
Mandatory reserve deposits with Central Bank	※ 4 15,365
Total	37,397

Mandatory reserves with the central bank are not available for everyday use by the Group.

21. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

Amounts presented in € '000	A THE GROUP AND THE GROUP	THE CO	MPANY
·	31/12/2006 31/12/2005	31/12/2006	31/12/2005
Deposits placed in other financial institutions	48,264 2,206	3,880	2,206
Nostro accounts	47,877	-	-
Time deposits	84,367	-	-
Cheques receivables			<u>-</u>
Total	181,885 2,206	3,880	2,206

The Company's cash equivalents refer to sight deposits in other financial institutions.

22. RESTRICTED CASH HELD IN TRUST

Amounts presented in € '000	THE GROUP	
·	31/12/2006 31/12/2005	31/12/2006 31/12/2005
Restricted cash held in Trust	210,294	- 210,294_
Total	210,294	- 210,294

Under the terms of the Offering (Ref. Note 43), the net offering proceeds amounting to € 209,493,368 (\$ 252,083,370) were placed in a trust Account. Under the agreement the Trust Funds would only be invested in United States government securities having a maturity of 180 days or less. The balance recorded at market value, including interest and movements in the value of investments at the balance sheet date at 31st December 2005. The market value of investments held in trust amounted to € 210,294,081 (US \$ 253,046,867) at 31 December 2005.

Following the acquisition of Proton and the relevant decision of the Shareholders the funds held in Trust were released and were available for use by the Company without any restriction.

23. TRADING PORTFOLIO AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT & LOSS

Amounts presented in € '000	THE GROUP	
·	31/12/2006 31/12/200	5
Government bonds	18, 44 1	-
Corporate entities bonds	119,146	-
Mutual funds	23,996	-
Securities	102,591	_
Total	264,174	<u>-</u>

24. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The notional and fair values of derivatives held at 31st December 2006 were:

iall values of delivarises lield of 2T	December 2000				
	A CONTROL OF COMPANY AND A CONTROL OF CONTRO				
	31 ^{rt} December 2006				
	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	FAIR VALUE			
Amounts presented in € '000	Notional amount	Assets	Liabilities		
Derivatives held for trading					
a) trading in Exchanges					
Options	12 ,64 8	224	(100)		
Forwards / Futures	335,751	-	-		
	348,399	224	(100)		
b) OTC					
Interest rate swaps	594,45 2	1,992	(2,427)		
Options	3,037	28	(7)		
FX Forwards	281,187	-	(3,753)		
Credit default swaps	13,417	42	(32)		
Total return swap	10,000	325			
	902,093	2,387	(6,219)		
Total recognised derivative assets /liabilities	1,250,492	2,611	(6,319)		

The notional amount of certain types of derivative financial instruments provide a basis for comparison with instruments recognised on the balance sheet but do not necessarily indicate the amounts of future cash flows involved or the current fair value of the instruments and, therefore, do not indicate the Group's exposure to credit or price risks. The derivative instruments become favourable (assets) or unfavourable (liabilities) as a result of fluctuations in market interest rates or foreign exchange rates relative to their terms. The aggregate contractual or notional amount of derivative financial instruments on hand, to the extent to which instruments are favourable or unfavourable, and thus the aggregate fair values of derivative financial assets and liabilities, can fluctuate significantly from time to time.

The Group does not apply hedge accounting as described in IAS 39, therefore the gains and losses arising on derivative financial instruments are recognised in the income statement.

25. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS

The loan portfolio at a Group level is analyzed as follows:

Amounts presented in € '000	THE GROUP		
	31/12/2006	31/12/2005	
Retail Customers	,		
Mortgages	51,810		
Consumer Loans /Loans to individuals	88,372		
Credit cards	28,197		
Total loans and receivables to individuals	168,379		
Corporate Customers		, the steady of the	
Agriculture	5,259		
Mining	1,149		
Heavy industry	42,37 3	-	
Small Industry	14,957	-	
Building / construction	73,454	-	
Energy	2,163	•	
Commercial / Insurance	202,202	7 1 1 7 A	
Transportation	93,516		
Services	36,954		
Other companies	328,720	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Total loans and receivables to companies	<i>800,745</i>		
Finance lease receivables	<i>11,388</i>		
Total Loans and receivables	980,512		
Less: Allowances for losses (impairment) on loans and			
advances to customers	(39,298)	<u> </u>	
Total	941,214	7 3000 · •	

Loans are measured at amortized cost. Loans fair value is not materially different from their carrying amount.

The movements in the provisions account are as follows:

Amounts presented in € '000	Allowances for Allowances for losses on loans losses on loans Total to individuals to companies
Balance at beginning of year (01.01.2006) Allowances from acquisitions (Proton Bank)	(265) (909) (1,174)
Allowances from acquisitions (Omega Bank)	(16,957) (23,114) (40,071)
Expense for the year	(212)
Loans written-off	1,163
Balance at end of year (31.12.2006)	(16.271) (23.027) (39.298)

Loans and advances to customers include finance lease receivables:

	THE GROUP A S. C.
Amounts presented in € '000	31/12/2006 31/12/2005
Net investment in finance leases	And the second s
Gross Investment in leased equipment	17,185
Less: unearned finance income	(5,797)
Net investments in leased equipment	11,388 AND ARREST
The Net finance leases receivables	
comprises:	
Less than 1 year	1,143
Between 1 to 5 years	3,734
More than 5 years	6,511
Total	11,388

26. INSURANCE ASSETS

Amounts presented in € '000	THE GROUP
	31/12/2006 31/12/2005
Insurance Receivables	
Insurance Debtors	8,498
Past due insurance debtors	1,248 (5,3,5,5,5,6,3,3,6,5,5,6,5,6,5,6,5,6,5,6,
Cheques receivable	/ ` 7,520
Promissory notes and other receivables	
Less: provisions for losses (impairment)	(655) -
	16,721 -
Reinsurance Receivables	
Reinsurance Debtors	1,332
Receivables from reinsurance activities	<u> </u>
Total Insurance Assets	18,060

27. INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO

The Group's investment portfolio comprises financial instruments available for sale and held to maturity.

Amounts presented in € '000	THE GROUP
·	31/12/2006 31/12/2005
Investments held to maturity	
Government bonds	1 1 6,646 His year 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Total investment held to maturity	6,646
Available for sale portfolio (at fair value)	
Corporate bonds	28,458
Equity securities	5.502
Mutual Funds	
Other investments	845 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 -
Less: Provision for losses (impairment)	(3,004)
Total available for sale securities	The first test of the second s
Total Investment Portfolio	` \`37,977 \\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\

H-T-M investments mainly refer to Greek Government Bonds for which the Group has the ability and the intention to hold to maturity. The fair value of the above mentioned financial instruments at 31 December 2006 is calculated at 6.648 thousands euros.

The movement in the investment portfolio for the year ended 31/12/2006 may be summarized as follows:

	THE GROUP AND ADDRESS OF THE GROUP			
Amounts presented in € '000	Investments	inancial assets illable for sale	Total .	
Balance as at 1 st January 2006				
Additions from the acquisition of Proton Bank	-	855	855	
Additions from the acquisition of Omega Bank	-	31,024	31,024	
Additions	6,768	171,317	178,085	
Redemptions		(171,876)	(171,876)	
Gains / (losses) from changes in fair value		11	11.	
Amortization of premium/ discount	(3.5550) (122) 2000 · ·	·	(122)	
Balance as at 31 st December 2006	6,646	31,331	37,977	

During the year the Company, through its wholly owned subsidiaries, MYRTLE TRADING COMPANY and MIMOSA TRADING SA, acquired a stake in Piraeus bank (a company listed to ASE) for a total consideration of € 171 million. The investment in Piraeus Bank was disposed in November 2006 at the total amount of € 185 million, generating a profit of € 13.9 million.

28. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Investments in subsidiaries are analyzed as follows:

Amounts presented in € '000	THE COM	1PANY
·	31/12/2006	31/12/2005
Opening balance	-	-
Acquisitions	126,687	-
Closing balance	126,687	•

Investments in Subsidiaries are measured at acquisition cost.

29. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

Investment in associates refers to a 28.75% holding of Proton Bank to the closed-end fund Omega AEEX, a company listed on ASE.

Some brief financial information on the associates is given below:

Amounts presented in € '000	Domicile	Assets	Liabilities	Profits /(losses)	Participation %
Omega Portfolio Investment SA	Greece	16,122	83	1,695	5.80%

The movement in the investment in associates account for the year 2006 was as follows:

Amounts presented in € '000	THE GROUP		
	31/12/2006	31/12/2005	
Beginning of year			
Additions from acquisitions (Omega Bank)	4,356		
Transfer from trading portfolio Group share of profit /(loss)	8 240		
Total	4,604		

Investments in associates are accounted under the equity method. The market value of the investment in Omega as at 31^{st} December 2006 was \in 3,777 thous.

30. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Amounts presented in € '000
Cost or revaluation at 1st January 2005
Less: Accumulated depreciation Carrying amountat 1st January 2006
Acquisition - PROTON BANK
Acquisition (absorption) - OMEGA BANK
Additions
Write-off /Disposals
Depreciation for the year
Depreciation attributable to disposed - written off Accumulated depreciation of acquired subsidiary (Proton Bank)
Carrying amount at 1st January 2006
Cost or Revalaution at 31st December 2006 Less: Accumulated depreciation

Carrying amount at 31st December 2006

		THE GROUP			
2,83,821,521,912,531,791,1	nanicai nment m	eans or	urniture & other guipment	Total	Investment Property
The second secon	The second secon				1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 -
1246	23	169	2,304	3,742	
24,666	37	50	7,267	32,020	50
	1303			917	
		9444 () <u>1</u> 44	(259)	(259)	
(220)	(4)	(19)	(358)	(601)	
	-	•	200	200	
(545)	(20)	(64)	(1,988)	(2,617)	
25,680	39	136	7,547	33,402	50
AND					
26,445	63 (2)	219	9,693	36,420	1 10 10 10 150
(765)	(24)	ેં (83) .	(2,146)	(3,018)	
25,680	39	136	7,547	33,402	50

31. NON CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

	THE G	ROUP
Amounts presented in € '000	31/12/2006	31/12/2005
Land resulting from foreclosure	64	

The account includes land acquired by means of foreclosure and auctions. According to IFRS 5, the Group must sell any assets of this category within twelve months from the date of acquisition.

32. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

	Goodwill & other	OUP	
Amounts presented in € '000		Mware	Total
Acquisition cost at 31 st December 2005		1	
Less: Accumulated depreciation Carrying amount at 31st December 2005			100000000000000000000000000000000000000
Carrying amount at 31 December 2003			
Acquisition of PROTON BANK Acquisition of OMEGA BANK Impairment Additions Depreciation for the year	68,754 114,211	1,124 3,384 (109) 164 (277)	69,878 117,595 (109) 164 (277)
Accumulated amortization of acquired subsidiary (Proton Bank)		(1,035)	(1,035)
(FIOCOII Balik)	182,965	3,251	186,216
Acquisition cost at 31 st December 2006 Less: Accumulated Amortization	182,965 2007	4,563 -(1,312)	187,528 (1,312)
Carrying amount at 31 st December 2006	182,965	3,251	186,216

"Goodwill and other intangible assets" include business combination differences as described in Note 46. The relevant amount has been determined provisionally, since the process of identifying and measuring the identifiable intangible assets has not been finalised. The significant intangible assets that it is expected to arise are bank customer relationships, brokerage customer relationships, trade name and core deposits. The first impairment test of goodwill and intangible assets will take place when the purchase price allocation is finalised.

33. DEFERRED TAX

Deferred tax has been calculated based on the nominal tax rate applicable for the financial years in which a temporary taxable and deductible difference reversal is expected.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following items:

Amounts presented in € '000		THE GROUP				
•	31/12	/2006	31/1	L2/20	05	
Deferred tax assets						
Retirement benefit obligations		392			-	
Financial liabilities		242	`	,	-	
Staff bonuses and allowances		216			-	
Property, plant & equipment and Intangible assets	,	118		2 3,37	-	
Tax loss	, ,	276	· · ·	b. Jr	÷ `	
Fair value adjustments to loans acquired in						
business combination		2,492	,		-	
Total deferred tax assets	- ;	3,736	`' ;	1700		
Deferred tax liabilities	7			,		
Financial assets	,	(6)			-	
Loan impairment and other credit risk provisions		(37)			-	
Derivatives Listed in ADEX	200	(10)			-	
Deferred income		(440)			_	
Leasing	753 Ja	(43)	,		-	
Total deferred tax liabilities	7-3-10-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-	(536)	,			
	``	, /			ή.	
Total		3,200			<u></u>	

34. OTHER ASSETS

The Group's other assets account is analysed as follows:

Amounts presented in € '000	THE GROUP
Other Assets Advances to employees Advances to third parties	31/12/2006 31/12/2005 26 50
Contributions to Co-Guarantee Fund and	
Supplementary Fund Guarantee fees	4.901 s
Prepayments to third parties	68
Brokerage fees receivables Credit card receivables	
Prepaid Taxes and other tax advances	2,095
Sundry debtors and other receivables	16,904
Bad debts (other than loans and receivables)	1,199
Less:Provisions for losses (impairment) of receivables besides loans	(2,010) 5 34,885 5

The Company's other assets are analyzed as follows:

Amounts presented in € '000	THE COMPANY		
·	31/12/2006	31/12/2005	
Other Assets			
Sundry debtors and other receivables	26	5	
Loans to subsidiaries (Note 49)	73,395	-	
Dividend receivables (Note 49)	15,095	-	
Total	88,516	5	

- a) The Company is financing its wholly owned subsidiaries, MYRTLE and MIMOSA, for their trading activities. The amount of € 73,395 thous. is the amount due from the subsidiaries as at 31st December 2006. The abovementioned subsidiaries have undertaken the obligation to repay the Company any amounts from time to time lent to them, on first demand.
- b) The amount of € 15,095 thous. refers to the dividend receivables of the Company from its wholly owned subsidiaries, MYRTLE (amount of € 4,127 thous.) and MIMOSA (amount of € 10,968 thous.).

35. DUE TO FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

Amounts presented in € '000	THE GROUP
·	31/12/2006 31/12/2005
Interbank deposits	33,933
Short-Term Loans	438 -
Sale and repurchase agreement (REPOS)	56,526
Total	90,897

All the Sale and repurchase agreements (REPOS) have a maturity of one month from the date of 31st December 2006.

36. DUE TO CUSTOMERS

Amounts presented in € '000	THE GROUP 31/12/2006 31/12/2005
Due to Customers	The state of the s
Retail Customers	
Savings account	71. 64.497 A C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C
Sight deposits	
Time deposits	586,410
·	
Corporate Customers	
Sight deposits	72,104
-	
Time deposits:	
Companies	134,417
Public Organizations	1311111117,788
Public companies	4,565
Other time deposits	84,401
Sale and repurchase agreement (REPOS)	920
	304.195
Blocked deposits	\$20 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10
Pledged deposits	- 50,361
Margin accounts	**************************************
Total	1,042,157

All the Sale and repurchase agreements (REPOS) have a maturity of one month from the date of 31st December 2006.

37. ISSUED DEBT SECURITIES

Amounts presented in € '000	THE GROUP
	31/12/2006 31/12/2005
Issued Debt Securities	1,500
Total	1,500

Debt securities refer to a convertible bond issued by Omega Insurance SA and which is hold by the Chief Executive Director of the subsidiary. The basic characteristics of the convertible bond are the following:

I SSUE	DATE	
---------------	------	--

: JUNE 27[™], 2006

PAR VALUE

: **€ 1,500** THOUS.

COUPON RATE

: 5%

TITLE FORM

AND :

500,000 COUPON BONDS WITH PAR VALUE € 3 EACH, CAN BE FORMED IN A

SINGLE OR MULTIPLE CUMULATIVE TITLE.

DURATION

NUMBER

PERPETUITY WITH FIVE-YEAR NOTICE OF PREPAYMENT FROM THE ISSUER, OR

RELEVANT DECISION OF THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF BONDHOLDERS.

CONVERSION RATIO

ONE (1) BOND IS CONVERTIBLE TO ONE (1) ORDINARY SHARE WITH PAR VALUE

€3.

USE OF FUNDS

IMPROVE SOLVENCY AND CAPITAL ADEQUACY RATIO OF OMEGA INSURANCE.

38. COMPOUND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT

Amounts presented in € '000	THE GROUP	THE COMPANY
	31/12/2006 31/12/2005	31/12/2006 31/12/2005
Compound financial instruments	203,426	- 203,426
Total	203,426	- 203,426

The Company's compound financial instruments at 31st December 2005 represented the present value of the cash held in trust, including estimated interest (\$ 244,783 thous.), which would be payable to shareholders within 24 months following the date of the offering if no qualifying business combination had occurred.

In 2006, following the acquisition of Proton Bank, the amount of € 1,915 thous. (\$ 2,425 thous.) was repaid to shareholders and the balance was transferred to share premium account (ref. Note 43).

39. PROVISION FOR INSURANCE CONTRACTS

Amounts presented in € '000	THE GROUP
Total provisions for insurance contracts 01/01/2005	31/12/2006 31/12/2005
Additions through acquisitions (Omega Bank)	(1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1)
Unearned premiums 01/10-31/12/2006	(1,424)
Outstanding claim reserves 01/10-31/12/2006	181
Total provisions for insurance contracts 31/12/2006	34,093

Analyzed as follows:

Amounts in € '000	GROSS PROVISION	******	
UNEARNED PREMIUMS	10,720	975	9,745
OUTSTANDING CLAIMS	23,373	574	22,799
BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2006	34,093	1,549	32,534

40. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATION

The retirement benefit obligations to personnel is described as follows:

Amounts presented in € '000	THE GROUP		
•	31/12/2006 31/12/2005		
Amount recognized in Balance Sheet	, , ,		
Present value of defined benefit obligations	1,382 🔑 🦂		
Unrecognised actuarial profits / (losses)	(154)		
Total Liabilities at the end of period	1,228		

Amounts recognized in Income Statement

Current service cost
Interest cost
Unrecognised actuarial profits / (losses)
Expense recognized in Income Statement

				OUF		
31	/12/	200	6 3	1/1	2/2005	
,0 <u>7</u> ,7,7	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	\$	7			
				33000	09080303753	
	0.234	ŕźò	, 6 ;6;			
	· / /9/		41604			
~3·3		Quáb.S	4			•

The change in liabilities is described below:

Amounts presented in € '000 Change in liabilities:	THE GROUP 31/12/2006 31/12/2005
Opening balance	
Increase due to acquisition of Proton Bank	1903 - 1221 46 66 66 66 66 66 66 66 66 66 66 66 66
Increase due to business combination with Omega	1124
Expense for the period	94
Compensation paid	
Total liability recognized in Balance Sheet	

The main actuarial assumptions used are provided below:

	31/12/2006 31/12/2005
Discount Rate	4.10%
Future salary increases	4.70%
Expected return on plan assets	4.10%

41. CURRENT INCOME TAX LIABILITIES

Amounts presented in € '000	THE GROUP
·	31/12/2006 31/12/2005
Income Tax on Taxable Profits	1,349
Total	1,349

42. OTHER LIABILITIES

Amounts presented in € '000	THE G	ROUP & COURT	THE COMPANY			
	31/12/2006	31/12/2005	31/12/2006	31/12/2005		
Withholding taxes arising from salaries	510		-	-		
Taxes and duties payable from customers' deposits	253	-	-	-		
Otherwithholding taxes and duties	2,332	-	-	-		
Prior year income taxes (from tax audit)	1,320	•	-	-		
Social security contributions	859	-	-	-		
Dividends Payable	34	-	-	-		
Withholdings in favour of third parties	2	· / /0] 0.	-	-		
Salaries Payable	311	-%	-	-		
Brokerage transactions in foreign derivatives	13,782	-	-	-		
Brokerage services securities and derivatives	74		-	-		
Brokerage services -Cyprus	31	"	-	-		
Suppliers and other third party liabilities	1,919	153	167	153		
Amounts payable to related parties (Note 49.4)	.19	17 ,	19	17		
Total	21,445	170	185	170		

43. SHARE CAPITAL & SHARE PREMIUM

		_	Amounts i	in US \$		Amounts in €	
Amounts presented in € '000	Number of shares	Nominal value (US\$)	Share Capital	Share Premium	Share Capital	Share Premium	Total
Balance at 8 September 2005	-	-	-	•	-	-	-
Issue of common stock to initial shareholders (15/09/2005)	8,000,000	0.0015	12	-	10	-	10
Share capital increase by issuing new shares (04/11/2005)	3,458,335	0.0015	5	-	4		4
Issue of shares on offering, net of offering costs	45,833,340	0.0015	69	(69)	57	(57)	-
Expenses related to issue of shares on net offering	-	-	•	12,383	-	10,291	10,291
Balance at 31 December 2005	57,291,675		86	12,314	71	10,234	10,305
Decrease in Share Capital due to the shares cancelled as a result of repurchase rights Conversion of Compound Financial Instruments to Common Shares (after the acquisition of PROTON BANK at	(430,000)	0.0015	(0.6)		(0.54)		-
30th June 2006)	-	•	-	241,449	-	189,940	189,940
Balance at 31 December 2006	56,861,675		85	253,764	71_	200,174	200,245

Year 2005

On 15 September 2005, 8,000,000 common shares, having a par value of \$0.0015 each, were issued for a total consideration of \$12,000 and the authorized share capital was increased to 136,500,000 common shares of \$0.0015 each.

On 4 November 2005, further 3,458,335 common shares of \$0.0015 were issued for a total consideration of \$5,187.50 and the authorized share capital was increased to \$148,958,355 common shares of \$0.0015 each.

On 14 November 2005 the Company consummated its initial public offering (the "Offering"). The Company sold 45,833,340 units in the Offering at a price of \$6.00 per Unit, generating gross offering proceeds of \$275,000,040 (€228,538,220). Each Unit consisted of one share of the Company's common stock (the "Common Stock"), and two warrants ("Warrants"). Each Warrant entitles the holder to purchase from the Company one share of Common Stock at an exercise price of \$5.00 per share.

According to the Offering circular, the net proceeds of the Offering, amounting to € 209,493,368 (US\$252,083,370), were placed in a trust account (the "Trust Fund") to be held there until the earlier of the completion of a Business Combination, the exercise by any person who acquired common shares and warrants at the offering (a "New Shareholder") of his repurchase rights or the distribution of such funds to the New Shareholders. Moreover, if a business combination was not completed within 18 months (or within 24 months if a letter of intent or definitive agreement was entered into prior to the end of the 18 month period or unless extended by majority shareholder approval) after the effective date of the initial registration statement, funds held in the Trust account would be returned to the shareholders of the Company

On this basis and according to IAS 32, the proceeds received on issue of the units were allocated between debt and equity. In particular, the amount of € 201,297,018 (\$ 242,220,702) representing the present value of the cash held in trust, including estimated interest, which would be payable to shareholders within 24 months following the date of the offering if no qualifying business combination had occurred was recognized in liabilities (compound financial instruments). The amount allocated to equity was the difference between the net proceeds and the value of the liability and represented the nominal value of the shares issued and the relative fair market value of each warrant attached to the Unit.

Year 2006

On 27 June 2006 the Special General Meeting of the Company's Shareholders approved the acquisition of PROTON BANK. The respective acquisition qualified as a business combination according to the Offering circular with the following consequences:

- Funds held under the Trust Account were released and were available to the Company for the acquisition of PROTON and for any other use.
- The Company was relieved from the obligation to repay the Offering proceeds to the shareholders, except for the shareholder who elected in the General Meeting to redeem their shares. In particular, shareholders of 430.000 shares elected to have their shares repurchased by the Company.

Based on the decision of the General Meeting of the shareholders:

- 430,000 shares were cancelled and therefore the number of common and fully paid shares was reduced to 56,861,675.
- The amount of € 1,914,672 (\$ 2,425,392) was repaid to these shareholders
- The balance of € 189,940,006 (\$ 241,449,403) was transferred from the liabilities (compound financial instrument) to equity (share premium account).
- Warrants issued during the Offering became exercisable (refer below).

On 20 December 2006 the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders decided the increase of the authorized share capital of the Company from US\$ 223,687.53 to US\$ 300,250 by the creation of an additional 51,041,645 common shares of par value US\$ 0.0015 each and the relevant amendment of the bye-law 3 of the Company's bye-laws in order to reflect the increase.

Warrants

On the Offering the Company issued 45,833,340 Units. Each Unit consisted of one share of the Company's common stock and two warrants. Each Warrant entitles the holder to purchase from the Company one share of Common Stock at an exercise price of \$5.00 per share.

According to the Offering, each warrant would become exercisable on the earlier of (i) completion of a business combination which, when combined with all of previous business combinations, has an aggregate transaction value of at least 50 per cent of the initial amount placed in Trust together with such funds as are deposited in the Trust fund following the stabilization period (a "Qualified Business Combination") and (ii) where a business combination has occurred but a Qualified Business Combination is not completed within 18 months after admission, or within 24 months after admission if a letter or intent, agreement in principle or definitive agreement has been signed by the Company during the initial 18 month period but such acquisition has not been consummated, or unless extended by majority shareholder approval (the date by which such Qualified Business Combination has to occur in any of these circumstances being the "Extended Date"), the relevant date shall be the extended date and will expire on the earlier of redemption or the date that is four years after the admission date.

Following the approval of the acquisition of PROTON BANK by the Special Shareholders Meeting, the 91.666.680 Warrants became exercisable and may be exercised by 14 November 2009.

Amounts presented in €	Preference S	hares of \$ 0.00	01 each	Common Sha	ares of \$ 0.00)15 each
Authorized	Number	Amount in \$	Amount in €	Number	Amount in \$	Amount in €
In issue at 31 December 2005	2,500,000	250	208	148,958,355	223,438	185,687
Increase of authorized share capital according the decision of Annual General Meeting (20 December 2006)	_	_	_	51,041,645	76,562	63,627
Authorized at 31 December 2006	2,500,000	250	208	200,000,000	300,000	249,314
Amounts presented in €	Preference 5	hares of \$ 0.00	001 each	Common Sha	res of \$ 0.00	015 each
Alloted, called up and fully paid	Number	Amount in \$	Amount in €	Number	Amount in \$	Amount in €
In issue at 31 December 2005	-	-	-	57,291,675	85,938	71,418
Decrease in Share Capital due to the shares cancelled as a result of repurchase rights		-	_	(430,000)	(645)	(536)
In issue at 31 December 2006 - fully paid						

The holders of common shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share on a poll at meetings of the Company.

The Company is authorized to issue 2,500,000 shares of preferred stock with such designations, voting and other rights and preferences as may be determined from time to time by the Board of Directors.

44. OTHER RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS

		THE G	ROUP		THE COMPANY
Amounts presented in € '000	Revaluation Reserve	Other Reserves	Total Reserves	Retained Earnings / (losses)	Retained Earnings / (losses)
Opening balance as at 8th September 2005 Net result for the period 08/09-31/12/2005	(<u>.</u> 	-, -, -, -, -	(1,396)	(1,396)
Total profit /(loss) recognized for the financial year			•	(1,396)	(1,396)
Balance as at 31st December 2005	-	-		(1,396)	(1,396)
Opening balance as at 1st January 2006 Net result for the period 01/01-31/12/2006 Fair value gains of a.f.s. financial assets Reversal of Revaluation Reserve due to disposal of a.f.s. financial assets	1,740 (1,742)		1,740 (1,742)	(1,396) 23,571	(1,396) 20,047 - -
Total profit /(loss) recognized for the financial year	(2)	_	(2)	23,571	20,047
Acquisition of the Subsidiary (PROTON BANK) on 30 June 2006		16,153	16,153	(0.43)	-
Exchange Differences on translating foreign operations		₩₩ 2			-
Purchase of Treasury Shares of PROTON BANK Sale of Treasury Shares of PROTON BANK	(1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1)	-	∵. 2-	(322) 355	<u>-</u>
Balance as at 31st December 2006	(2)	16,156 16,156	16,156 16,153	32 22,208	18,652

As mentioned in note 5 "Group Structure" on 7th September 2006 the Extraordinary General Meeting of shareholders of PROTON BANK decided on the merger of the Bank with Omega Bank and Proton Securities. According to the Merger Contract, which was approved by the Proton's General Assembly, the exchange ratio was 1 share of the Omega Bank for 0.90 shares of PROTON BANK. As the Bank held 100% of the shares of Proton Securities, there was no exchange ratio.

Due to the share exchange ration, Proton's shareholders increased their portion in the net assets of the combined entity. The net assets of Proton attributable to the Company increased by \in 16,156 thous. and the relevant amount was transferred from minority rights to Group's reserves.

45. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - CASH FLOW STATEMENT

For the purposes of preparing the Cash Flow Statement of the Group, the short-term placements in other financial institutions, which are either immediately available or available within 90 days, were included in the cash account.

Amounts presented in € '000	THE GROUP	THE COMPANY
•	31/12/2006 31/12/2005	31/12/2006 31/12/2005
Cash and balances with Central Bank (Note 20)	22,032	
Loans and advances to credit institutions (Note 21)	181,885 2,206°	3,880 2,206
Total - Included in cash and cash equivalents	203,917 2,206	3,880 2,206

46. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS

46.1 Acquisition of a 28% stake in the share capital of PROTON BANK

In June 2006 the Company entered into an acquisition agreement which was conditional on approval of the shareholders. At a special shareholders general meeting 75.74% of the votes and 69.67% of the shares voted in favour of the acquisition. On June 29th 2006, the Company acquired a 28.00 per cent stake in the share capital of PROTON BANK, a Greek investment bank, listed on the Athens Stock Exchange. The acquisition was completed after the approval of the Company's shareholders.

Details of net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows:

Amounts presented in € '000	
Purchase consideration:	
- Cash paid	120,061
 Direct costs relating to the acquisition 	6,625
Total purchase consideration	126,687
Less: Fair value of net assets acquired	(57,932)
Goodwill & other intangible assets(Note 32)	68,754

The Group is in the process of completing the fair valuation of the net assets acquired, including intangible assets. The excess between the cost of acquisition and the fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities, will be recognized as Goodwill and will be subject to impairment testing. Consequently the Group has applied initial accounting determined provisionally according to IFRS 3 "Business Combinations". According to the IFRS3, the purchase price allocation should be completed within one year from the acquisition date.

Through the acquisition the Group achieved banking license, trade name, client relationships and web banking licenses in Greece. The abovementioned licenses will allow the Group to take advantage of significant growth margins of the Greek banking sector.

The assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition are as follows:

Amounts presented in € '000	Fair Value recognized on acquisition	Acquiree's carrying amount
Cash and balances with central bank		described and the second of th
Loans and advances to financial institutions	14,739	14,739
Trading Portfolio and other financial intsruments at fair	And the second s	
value through Profit & Loss	151,560	151,560
Loans and advances to customers	276,961	276,961
	The Letter attacement, is at the second control of the second cont	herdouds is 36 is 16 leadeds. Gas Anna is 17 is 17 is anna 17 is 17 is Anna is 17 is 17 is anna 17 is 17 is
Investment Portfolio	. 355	855
Property, plant and equipment	1,125	1,125
Goodwill and Intangible assets	89	422
Deferred tax assets Other assets	420	420
Due to financial institutions	21,985 21,138)	21,985 (44,138)
Due to Customers	(62,705)	(62,705)
Derivative financial intruments	(159)	(159)
Retirement benefit obligations	(221)	(221)
Other liabilities	(155,808)	(155,808)
	206,919	207,253
Equity minority interests	(18)	(18)
Shareholders net assets	206,901	207,235
Acquisition Percentage of the Share Capital	28%	28%
Net Assets Acquired	57,932	58,026
Plus: Goodwill & other intagible assets	68,754	
Total consideration	126,687	

The acquisition resulted in an increase of assets and liabilities by € 469,951 thousands and € 263,032 thousands respectively. Proton's net profits for the period 01/07-31/12/2006 amounting to € 13,528 thous. were fully consolidated to the Group's Income Statement. If the acquisition was completed at 1st January 2006, then Group's net revenues and net profit after tax would be increased by € 42,679 thous. and € 20,485 thous. respectively.

46.2 Acquisition (absorption) of OMEGA BANK by PROTON BANK

On 7th September 2006, the Extraordinary General Assembly of shareholders of Proton Bank decided on the merger of the Bank with Omega Bank and Proton Securities (ref. Note 5.1). The acquisition (merger) of Omega Bank was affected by means of issuing and exchanging shares. The purchase consideration was determined based on the market price of Proton's share at the date of exchange.

Amounts presented in € '000 Purchase consideration:	
Fair value of equity instruments exchanged (17,547,930	
x € 9.36 per share)	164,249
Direct costs relating to the acquisition	601
Total Cost of business combination	164,850
Less: Fair Value of net assets acquired	(50,639)
Goodwill & other intangible assets(Note 32)	114.211

The assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition are as follows:

Amounts presented in € '000	Fäir Value recognized on acquisition	Acquiree's carrying amount
Cash and balances with Central Bank	11,169	11,169
Loans and advances to financial institutions		155,982
Loans and advances to customers	756,641	766,608
Insurance Receivables	20,176	20,176
Trading Portfolio and other financial instruments at fair	adiological property of the state of the sta	
value through Profit & Loss	40.276	40,276
Investment Portfolio	31.024	31,024
Derivative financial instruments	0.000b 1.5d 65 to 20 25 5 5 5 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6	bd:d2.629x6x6x6x6x6x2 bd:d6cbbbddackbbb. 368
Investments in ssociates	4.356	4,356
Property, plant and equipment	32,020	32,632
Property Investment	~ 12. 1 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	% 50°
Intangible assets	3,384	3/384
Reinsurance Receivables	1,641	1,641
Deferred Tax Asset	3,612	1,120
Other Assets	16,860	16,860
Due to financial institutions	(95,417)	(95,417)
Derivative financial instruments	(2,128)	(2,128)
Due to Customers	(877,363)	(877,363)
Issued Debt Securities	(1,500)	(1,500)
Provisions for insurance contracts	### (35,336).	(35,336)
Other liabilities	(13,465)	(13,978)
Retirement benefit obligations	中央の第一章 (1,124)	(1,392)
	51,226	58,532
Equity minority interests	(58 7)	
Net Assets Acquired	50,639	58,532
Plus: Goodwill & other intangible assets	114,211	,
Total consideration	164,850	58,532

According to IFRS3 the above combination was accounted for by applying the purchase method. The acquisition date is the date when control is transferred to the Group. The merger of the two banks was approved by the General Meeting of the Shareholders at 7th September 2006. However the merger was effective since 29th September 2006 when it was approved by all relevant authorities.

The Group is in the process of completing the fair valuation of the net assets acquired, including intangible assets. The excess between the cost of acquisition and the fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities, will be recognized as Goodwill and will be subject to impairment testing. Consequently the Group has applied initial accounting determined provisionally according to IFRS 3 "Business Combinations". According to IFRS3, the Purchase Price Allocation should be completed within one (1) year from the acquisition date.

The acquisition of OMEGA BANK by PROTON BANK resulted in an increase of assets and liabilities by € 1,077,599 thous. and € 1,026,333 thous. respectively. The business combination had effect in the Group's results for the three month period ended at 31/12/2006 since the date of acquisition was the 29th September 2006. If the acquisition had occurred on 1st January 2006, the Group's net revenues would have been increased by € 61,687 thous. and net profit after tax would be have been decreased by € 7.979 thous.

46.3 Net Cash flow from the acquisitions

Net cash flow from the acquisitions	THE GROUP	THE COMPANY
Amounts presented in € '000	01/01 - 31/12/2006	01/01 - 31/12/2006
Net cash outflow from the acquisition of PROTON BANK at		
30/06/2006	(109,730)	(126,687)
Net cash inflow from the absorption of OMEGA BANK by		
PROTON BANK at 29/09/2006	131,836	0_
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired	22,106	(126,687)

The net cash outflow from the acquisition of Proton Bank is analyzed as follows:

Amounts presented in € '000	~ ()	
Cash flow on acquisition:	,	
Cash Paid		(126,687)
Less: "Cash and balances with central bank"		2,217
Less: "Due from Banks"	: ,	14,739
Net cash outflow		(109,730)

The net cash inflow from the acquisition (merger) of Omega Bank is analyzed as follows:

Net cash inflow	131,836
Less: "Elimination of cash and cash equivalents between Omega Bank and Proton Bank"	(23,545)
Plus: "Loans and advances to Credit Institutions"	155,982
Cash Paid (costs directly attributable to the acquisition)	(601)
Cash flow on acquisition:	*
Amounts presented in € '000	

47. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to shareholders by the weighted average number of shares in issue during the year. Diluted earnings per share are calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of common shares outstanding to assume exercise of the warrants (Note 43).

Basic and diluted earnings per share are analysed below:

Amounts presented in €	//THE GROUP	THE COM	PANY
Basic Earnings per share	01/01 - 31/12/06 08/09 31/12/05	01/01 - 31/12/06	08/09 - 31/12/05
Profits / (Loss) attributable to the Company's Shareholders Weighted average number of shares in issue Basic earnings per Share (€/Share)	23,571,472 (1,395,525) 57,118,508 28,134,141 0.41 (0.05)	20,047,191 57,118,508 0.35	(1,395,527) 28,134,141 (0.05)
,			(0.03)
Diluted Earnings per Share			
Profits / (Loss) attributable to the Company's Shareholders according to the Income Statement of the year	23.571,472 (1,795,525)	20,047,191	(1,395,527)
Weighted average number of shares Plus: Shares with no consideration (adjustment in number of shares due to probable exercise of Warrants)	57,118,508 28,134,141 5,990,329	57,118,508 5,990,329	28,134,141
Weighted average number of shares for the purposes of diluted earnings per share	63,108,837 28,134,141	63,108,837	28,134,141
Diluted earnings per Share €/Share)	0.376 5 665 0 (0.05)	0.32	(0.05)

48. DIVIDEND PER SHARE

The Company's Board of Directors decided and will propose, at the Regular General Shareholders Meeting the distribution of \$ 0.26 dividend per share for the year 2006. As the distribution of dividends requires approval of the shareholder's meeting, no liability in this respect is recognized in 2006 financial statements.

49. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS

49.1 Transactions between companies included in Consolidation

Amounts presented in 1,000.00 €	THE COMPANY	
	31/12/2006	31/12/2005
Asset Accounts		
Loans	73,395	-
Receivables from dividends	15,095	
Total	88,490	-
Income		
Dividend Income	15,095	-
Total	15,095	-

The aforementioned balances of the Company with its subsidiaries have been eliminated from the consolidated financial statements.

The Company is financing its wholly owned subsidiaries, MYRTLE TRADING COMPANY and MIMOSA TRADING SA, for their trading activities. The amount of € 73,395 thous. is the amount due from the subsidiaries as at 31st December 2006. The abovementioned subsidiaries have undertaken the obligation to repay the Company any and all amounts from time to time lent to them, on first demand.

The amount of € 15,095 thous. refers to the dividends of the Company from its wholly owned subsidiaries, MYRTLE TRADING COMPANY (amount of € 4,127 thous.) and MIMOSA TRADING SA (amount of € 10,968 thous.). In particular, at 29^{th} December 2006 the Board of Directors of the abovementioned companies decided to distribute the above amounts within the first quarter of 2007, as cash dividend.

49.2 Transactions with Associates

Amounts presented in € '000	THE GROUP 31/12/2006 31/12/2005
Asset Accounts Other amounts due Total	11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11
Liability Accounts Deposits Total	6,574 6,574
Income /Expenses Interest and similar expenses Other income Total	28 26

The aforementioned balances regarding transactions have not been eliminated from the consolidated financial statements.

49.3 Transactions with Management and Members of the Board of Directors

Amounts presented in € '000	ented in € '000 THE GROUP		THE COMPANY	
•	31/12/2006	31/12/2005	31/12/2006	31/12/2005
Asset accounts		33.75		
Loans	8,100	· · · · · ·	-	-
Other assets	375	7	-	-
Total	8,475	-		-
Liability accounts				
Deposits	34,868	-	-	-
Other Liabilities	216	_	-	•
Total	35,084	-	-	-
Letters of Guarantee	127		-	
Income				
Interest and similar income	212	_	-	-
Other income	1,405	_	•	-
Total	1,617	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	-	-
Expenses				
Remuneration	2,436		155	-
Interest and similar expenses	314	-	-	-
Other expenses	1,119	-	-	-
Total	1,433	-	-	-

Directors of the Company and their immediate relatives control 16,40 per cent of the voting shares of the Company.

No salaries or loans were paid to the Directors of the Company for the period, apart from salaries paid to CEO of the Company.

49.4 Other related party transactions

An affiliated company of Mrs Angeliki Frangou, Chairman of the BoD of the Company, provided general and administrative services including office space, utilities and secretarial support (for \$10,000 per month). All sums due in connection with such services ceased to be payable on the completion of the business combination. During the year the expenses that have been recognized in the Income Statement amount to € 56.756. This balance bears no interest. The amount of € 18.550 due at 31^{st} December 2006 was repaid on 11^{th} January 2007.

On 20, July, 2006, the Company paid a success-based advisory fee of € 790,000 to S Goldman Advisors Limited in connection with the acquisition of PROTON BANK. Sheldon Goldman, then a Director of the Company, is also managing director of S Goldman Advisors Limited.

On 30 June 2006, the Company paid IBG a success-based advisory fee of € 3,300,000 on completion of the acquisition of PROTON BANK. IBG is affiliated with Marfin Financial Group ("MFG") and Marfin Bank A.S. Andreas Vgenopoulos, then the Company's Deputy Chairman, was also the Vice Chairman of MFG and Chairman of Marfin Bank S.A.

50. COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

50.1 Contingent Legal Liabilities

As at 31 December, 2006 there were pending litigations against the Group in connection with its activities. Based on legal advice the Board of Directors believes that there is adequate defence against all claims and it is not probable that the Group will suffer any significant damage. Therefore, no provision has been made in the financial statements regarding these cases.

Material litigation settled during the year:

The Company had one claim during the year 2006. In particular, the Amaranth LLC, a shareholder of the Company, issued proceedings against the Company alleging that the Company failed to repurchase shares owned by Amaranth in the Company, in accordance with the Company's bye-laws. On 23rd October 2006, the Supreme Court of Bermuda ordered the legal action previously instituted by Amaranth LLC against the Company to be discontinued. No sums were paid by the Company to Amaranth in connection with this order.

50.2 Contingent Tax Liabilities

Proton Group is subject to Greek tax legislation. Under Greek Law, submitted tax returns are not considered as final and are subject to revision by tax authorities as a result of tax inspection in entities books and records. Tax liabilities are considered as final by stature after the completion of five years from the end of the relevant fiscal year, however it is common that the tax authorities will audit the entity's books and records. The tax authorities commonly seek to disallow expenses on the basis that they are not properly documented or that they do not represent proper business expenses, relying on a substantial degree of subjective judgment on the part of the tax management in order an out-of-court settlement to be reached. In practice, both companies and tax authorities tend to reach an out-of-court settlement at an acceptable level of additional taxes.

The accounting years that have not been inspected yet by the tax authorities for each of the Group's companies are as follows:

Company Name	Domicile	Open tax years
Mimosa Trading SA ¹	Marshall Islands	-
Myrtle Trading Company 1	Marshall Islands	-
Proton Bank AE	Greece	2005-2006
Proton Asset Management AE	Greece	2005-2006
Proton Mutual Funds Management Co AE	Greece	2005-2006
First Global Brokers SA	Serbia	2002-2006
Intellectron Systems SA	Greece	2001-2006
Omega Kahn Financial Services SA	Switzerland	2004-2006
Omega SA Financial advisors – Investments & Real Estate Mgt	Greece	2006
Omega Mutual Funds Mgt Co SA	Greece	2006
Omega Insurance AE	Greece	2006
OMEGA Insurance Services AE	Greece	2006
Omega Portfolio investment SA	Greece	2006

Note 1: Not subject to income tax

As a result of the above the Group's respective tax obligations for periods covering one to six accounting years have not been finalized. No additional provision was recorded as the outcome of the tax audit cannot be reliably estimated at this stage.

50.3 Off balance sheet items

Amounts presented in € '000	THE GROUP	THE COMPANY	
	31/12/2006 31/12/2005	31/12/2006 31/12/2005	
Letters of Guarantee	85.172		
Letters of credit	<u> </u>		
Total	87.976	<u> </u>	

50.4 Assets given as Collaterals

Government and Bank bonds of nominal value \in 5,500 thous. and \in 10,500 respectively have been pledged as securities for liquidity and credit limit purposes.

50.5 Finance lease - Operating lease commitments

- (a) The Group as a lessor, has signed non cancellable operating lease agreements with a value of 1,049 thousand euros.
- (b) The Group leases for its operating purposes, offices for head quarters and branches. The future minimum lease payments under non cancellable operating leases, are as follow:

Amounts presented in € '000	31/12/2006
Less than 1 year	3,712
Between 1 to 5 years	16,206
More than 5 years	39,969
Total	59,887
Monthly lease payment	309
Guarantees which will be offset at the lease termination	1,123

(c) The Group leases vehicles for private use. The future minimum lease payments for cars under non cancellable operating lease arrangements are as follows:

Leased tangible assets: vehicles for private use

Lease term: 4 years per leased vehicle.

Lease guarantees offset at the end of the lease: 14 thousand euros

Accrued lease payments recognised in the income statement during the period: 101 thousand euros.

Amounts presented in € '000	31/12/2006
Less than 1 year	204
Between 1 to 5 years	309
More than 5 years	
Total	513

(d) The amount of unutilized approved finance lease facilities at 31st December 2006 was € 3,935 thous.

50.6 Stock Option Plan of Proton Group

On 24th November 2006, the Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders of Proton Bank approved a share option plan for the members of the Board of Directors, key management, its employees and the Bank's related companies in the form of stock options according to the article 13 of Law 2190/1920 after the proposition of the Board of Directors and the Remuneration Committee. The program has a contractual term of six years ending in December 2012. According to the plan, if all share options are exercised, then a number of up to 6.268.382 shares will be issued on behalf of the plan beneficiaries. The exercise price will be 10.46 euro per share and the options are exercisable for a three year period from the grand date. In the event that not all shares are exercised and the share capital increase is not fully covered, then according to the provisions of the article 13 §1 of Law 2190/1920, the share capital will increase up to the amount of coverage. The above program has not been implemented yet, since the final details of the program have not been set by the Remuneration Committee and approved by the Board of Directors.

50.7 Purchase of treasury shares by Proton Group

On 24 November 2006, the Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders of Proton Bank approved of the acquisition of up to 10% of the Bank's shares (6.268.382), for a price range from five (5) to fifteen (15) euros per share for the twelve month period starting from the date of approval by the General Meeting of Shareholders. No treasury shares were acquired since the decision of the General Meeting of Shareholders.

51. POST-BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

- 1) In the year 2007 the subsidiary of the Company MIMOSA TRADING SA completed the acquisition in the open market of approximately 12,55 million shares in Marfin Popular Bank, a commercial banking group listed on the Athens and Cyprus Stock Exchange, for approximately € 105,1 million. This acquisition was funded through cash balances and a loan facility. The Company's current intention is to retain this minority stake as an investment. Marfin Popular Bank is the result of a merger between Marfin Financial Group, Egnatia and Cyprus Popular Bank which occurred in the last quarter of 2006 and as a result is a significant bank in both Greece and Cyprus, with diversified banking interests in the retail, commercial and investment banking sectors. These shares represent approximately 1.6% of Marfin Popular Bank's outstanding shares as of December 31, 2006.
- 2) On 31 January 2007, Proton Bank and the majority shareholders of the insurance company "International Life SA Life Insurance" agreed to the purchase of 51% of the shares of International Life by the Proton in cash. The agreement provides for the purchase price to be equal to 1.55 the book value of International Life as of 31st December 2006 times the percentage to be acquired. The completion of this agreement is subject to the due diligence on the companies belonging to the International Life Group and the approval of the relevant regulatory authorities. The transaction is expected to be completed within three (3) months by April 30th 2007.

Apart from the events mentioned above there are no other subsequent events, which regard the Company or the Group which, according to the International Financial Reporting Standards, need to be mentioned.

52. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements of "IRF European Finance Investments Limited" ("the Company") as well as the consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries ("the Group"), for the year ended 31 December 2006 were approved by the Company's Board of Directors on March 16th, 2007 and are subject to the final approval of the General Meeting of the Shareholders according the Company's Bye-laws.

Independent Auditors Report on pages 5 to 6.

Athens, March 16th 2007

ANGELIKI FRANGOU LOUKAS VALETOPOULOS

CHAIRMAN, NON — EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER, DIRECTOR



IRF European Finance Investments Ltd Financial Statements

> for the year ended 31 December 2007

In accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of "IRF European Finance Investments Ltd" (the "Company" or "IRF") and its subsidiaries (together the "Group"), for the year ended December 31 2007 were approved by the Company's Board of Directors on 27 March 2008.

Contents

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT	89
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT	91
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET	92
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY	93
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT	95
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	97
1. GENERAL INFORMATION	97
2. BASIS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENT PREPARATION	97
3. SUMMARY OF IMPORTANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES	101
4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS	112
5. STRUCTURE OF THE GROUP	115
6. RISK MANAGEMENT	117
7. SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS	129
8. NET INTEREST INCOME	131
9. NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME	131
10. DIVIDEND INCOME	131
11. NET RESULT FROM FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES	132
12. OTHER OPERATING INCOME	132
13. STAFF COSTS	132
14. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES	132
15. DEPRECIATION	132
16. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES	133
17. INCOME TAX EXPENSE	133
18. CASH AND BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANK	134
19. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS	134
20.TRADING PORTFOLIO AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT & LOSS	134
21. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS	135
22. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS	136
23. INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO	137
24. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES	138
25. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT PROPERTY	139
26. NON CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE	139
27. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS	139
28. DEFERRED TAX	141
29. OTHER ASSETS	142
30. DUE TO FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS	142

31. DUE TO CUSTOMERS	142
32. ISSUED DEBT SECURITIES	143
33. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATION	144
34. CURRENT INCOME TAX LIABILITIES	145
35. OTHER LIABILITIES	145
36. SHARE CAPITAL & SHARE PREMIUM	145
37. OTHER RESERVES	147
38. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS CASH FLOW STATEMENT	148
39. COMPLETION OF INITIAL ACCOUNTING FOR OMEGA ACQUISITION	148
40. EARNINGS PER SHARE	150
41. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS	151
42. PROTON INSURANCE S.A.	152
43. DIVIDEND DECLARED	154
44. COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES	154
45 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES	157
46 CLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES	158
47 SUPPLEMENTARY PROFORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION-THE COMPANY	159
48 POST-BALANCE SHEET EVENTS	160
49 APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	1 61

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Shareholders of "IRF EUROPEAN FINANCE INVESTMENTS LTD"

Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of "IRF EUROPEAN FINANCE INVESTMENTS LTD" (the "Company") and its subsidiaries (the "Group"), which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2007, and the consolidated income statement, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards that have been adopted by the European Union. This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Greek Auditing Standards, which are based on the International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the abovementioned financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Group as of December 31, 2007, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards that have been adopted by the European Union.

Athens, 27 March 2008

The Certified Auditor

Vasilis Kazas



44 Vasileos Constantinou 116 35 Athens . . SOEL 127

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

Amounts presented in € '000	Note	1/1/- 31/12/2007	1/1 - 31/12/2006
Interest and similar income		122,692	28,990
Interest and similar expenses		(78,939)	(12,225)
Net interest income	8	43,753	16,765
Fee and commission income		43,966	10,296
Fee and commission expense		(16,105)	(2,430)
Net fee and commission income	9	27,861	7,866
Dividend income	10	16,217	1,620
Net trading income	11	68,421	28,517
Net income from financial instruments designated at fair value		2,263	-
Other operating income	12	1,480	1,297
Total Net Income	:	159,995	56,065
Staff costs	13	(25,136)	(7,838)
Other operating expenses	14	(25,836)	(10,109)
Impairment of goodwill	27	(7,465)	-
Depreciation	15	(7,225)	(1,893)
Impairment losses	16	(6,981)	(558)
Total operating expenses	,	(72,644)	(20,398)
Share of profits / (losses) of associates		255	240
Profit before tax		87,606	35,907
Income tax expense	17	(9,732)	(2,904)
Profit after tax from continuing operations	:	77,874	33,003
Net profit from discontinued operations	42	152	(136)
Profit after tax		78,026	32,868
Attributable to:			
Shareholders of the Parent Company		61,635	23,361
Minority Interest		16,391	9,507
		78,026	32,868
Earning per Share attributable to parent company's shareholders (E /share)	40		
From continuing and discontinued operations			
- Basic		0.56	0.41
- Diluted		0.53	0.37
From continuing operations			
- Basic		0.56	0.41
- Diluted		0.53	0.37

The accompanying notes constitute an integral part of the financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

Amounts presented in € '000	Note	31/12/2007	31/12/2006
ASSETS	Hote	51, 12, 200,	• •
Cash and balances with Central Bank	18	52,79 6	37,397
Loans and advances to financial institutions	19	527,410	181 ,88 5
Trading portfolio and other financial assets at fair value through			
Profit & Loss	20	179,802	264,174
Derivative financial instruments	21	11,529	2,611
Loans and advances to customers	22	1,368,025	941,214
Insurance assets		-	18,060
Investment portfolio	23	259,944	37,9 77
Investments in associates	24	3,886	4,604
Property, plant and equipment	25	27,880	33,402
Investment property	28		50
Goodwill and other intangible assets	27	1 66 ,784	190,100
Deferred tax assets	28	7,098	-
Other assets	29	91,474	34,886
	_	2,696,628	1,746,360
Non current assets held for sale	26,42	53,727	64
TOTAL ASSETS	=	2,750,355	1,746,424
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES			
Due to financial institutions	30	433,941	90,897
Due to customers	31	1,422,139	1,042,157
Derivative financial instruments	21	14,570	6,319
Issued debt securities	32	25,283	1,500
Provisions for insurance contracts	42		34,093
Retirement benefit obligations	33	1,140	1,228
Current income tax liabilities	34	10,498	1,349
Deferred tax liability	28	6,928	1,727
Other liabilities	35	14,170	21,445
		1,928,669	1,200,714
Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held for sale	42	44,339	-
Total Liabilities	-	1,973,008	1,200,714
Shareholders equity			
Share capital	36	147	71
Share premium	36	400,443	200,174
Revaluation reserve	37	(2,570)	(2)
Other reserves	37	16,587	16,156
Retained earnings / (losses)	٠,	72,491	21,99B
Total equity attributable to shareholders' of parent	-		
company Minority interest	-	487,099	238,397 307,313
Minority interest	-	290,248	
Total equity	=	777,347	545,710
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY	-	2,750,355	1,746,424
	=		

The accompanying notes constitute an integral part of the financial statements

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

	Attributable to shareholders of the Parent Company						Minority Interest	Total
Amounts presented in € '000	Share Capital	Share Premium	Revaluation Reserve	Other Reserves	Retained Earnings / (losses)	Total		
Opening balance as at 1st January 2007, as originally published Restatement due to amortization of intangible assets	71	200,174	(2)	16,156	22,208	238,607	308,145	546,752
Restated Opening Balance as at 1st January 2007	71	200,174	(2)	16,156	(210) 21,998	(210) 238,397	(832)	(1,043) 545,709
Net result for the period 01/01- 31/12/2007	-	-	-	-	61,63 5	61,635	16,391	78,026
Gains/ losses directly recognized in equity:		-	-	-		-	-	-
 on the valuation of available for sale financial assets 		-	(2,564)	-	-	(2,564)	(10,018)	(12,582)
- exchange differences	-	-	(3)	-	-	(3)	(11)	(14)
Total profit /(loss) recognized for the period	<u>-</u>	<u>-</u>	(2,567)	-	61,635	59,067	6,362	65,430
Issue of new shares after the exercise of warrants Expenses related to share capital	81	219,080	-	-	-	219,162	-	219,162
increase	-	(4,287)	•	-	-	(4,287)	-	(4,287)
Dividend relating to 2006	-	-	-	-	(10,911)	(10,911)	(14,045)	(24,956)
Participation in share capital increase (Proton Insurance SA) Acquisition of additional percentage in subsidiary (Proton	-	-	-	-	-	-	96	96
Bank)	-	-	-	-	-	-	(1,603)	(1,603)
Acquisition of minority interests (Omega Mutual Funds SA) Fair value of employee services	-	-	-	-	-	-	(12)	(12)
received	-	-	-	200	-	200	783	983
Purchases of treasury shares	(5)	(14,525)	-	-	-	(14,530)	(8,646)	(23,176)
Capitalization of reserves	-	-	-	231	(231)	-	-	-
Balanca as at 24 Dasset	77	200,268		431	(11,142)	189,634	(23,427)	166,207
Balance as at 31 December 2007	147	400,443	(2,570)	16,586	72,492	487,099	290,248	777,346

The accompanying notes constitute an integral part of the financial statements

Attributable to shareholders of Parent Company

Amounts presented in € '000	Share Capital	Share Premium	Revaluation Reserve	Other Reserves	Retained Earnings / (losses)	Total	Minority Interest	Total
Opening balance as at 1 January 2006	71	10,234	-	-	(1,396)	8,910	-	8,910
Net result as previously reported for the year 01/01-31/12/2006	-	_	-	_	23,361	23,361	9,506	32,867
Available for sale instruments: - Valuation gains /(losses) taken to					•	•		
equity - Transferred to Profit & Loss on	-	-	1,740	-	-	1,740	(9)	1,731
sale Exchange differences on translating	-	-	(1,742)	-	•	(1,742)	-	(1,742)
foreign operations	-			2	-	2	9	11_
Total profit /(loss) recognized for the financial year	-	-	(2)	2	23,361	23,361	9,506	32,867
Conversion of compound financial instruments to common shares (after							_	
the acquisition of PROTON) Acquisition of OMEGA BANK by	-	189,940	-	-	•	189,940	-	189, 94 0
PROTON BANK Purchase of treasury shares of	-	-	-	16,153	-	16,153	297,677	313,831
PROTON BANK Sale of treasury shares of PROTON	-	-	-	-	(322)	(322)	(1,275)	(1,597)
BANK	_ ~	-	-	-	355	355	1,405	1,760
	(1)	189,941		16,153	33	206,126	297,808	503,934
Restated balance as at 31 December 2006	71	200,174	(2)	16,156	21,998	238,397	307,313	545,710
Balance as previously reported at				-				
31 December 2006 Restatement due to amortization of	71	200,174	(2)	16,156	22,208	238,607	30B,145	546,752
intangible assets Restated Balance as at 31	_		-	~	(210)	(210)	(832)	(1,042)
December 2006	71	200,174	(2)	16,156	21,998	238,397	307,313	545,710

The accompanying notes constitute an integral part of the financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Amounts presented in € '000	Note	1/1- 31/12/2007	1/1- 31/12/2006
Cash flows from operating activities			
Profit Before Tax of continuing operations		87,609	36,949
Profit Before Tax of discontinued operations Adjustments for:	42	168	(124)
Add: Depreciation & Amortization		7,361	878
Add: Retirement Benefit Charge		712	94
Add: Impairment Losses on financial assets		6,981	558
Gains (-) /Losses (+) from investment activities Share of profit/loss from measurement of financial assets at fair value through Profit & Loss		(7,993)	(16 ,1 49) -
Gains (-) /losses (+) from sale of trading securities		4,495	-
Impairment losses on goodwill		7,465	-
Fair value employee stock option		983	-
Exchange Differences		13,812	-
Bank Interest Income (trust account)		-	(1,562)
Dividends Received		(12,804)	
Other Cash Flows from operating activities before changes in operating		-	(242)
assets and liabilities		108,790	20,402
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:			
Net (increase) / decrease in trading securities		66,576	(72,346)
Net (increase) / decrease in reserves held in Central Bank		9,298	(4,196)
Net (increase) / decrease in loans and advances to customers		(437,290)	26,748
Net (increase) / decrease in insurance receivables		(2,889)	3,455
Net (increase) / decrease in reinsurance receivables		(293)	302
Net (increase) / decrease in other assets		(60,152)	40,730
Net increase / (decrease) in due to banks		327,962	14,926
Net increase / (decrease) in due to customers		379,983	92,088
Net increase / (decrease) in provisions for insurance contracts		2,001	(1,243)
Net increase / (decrease) in other borrowed funds		-	
Net increase / (decrease) in other liabilities		(3,404)	(145,587)
Cash flows from operating activities before payment of income tax		390,580	(24,720)
Income tax paid		(189)	(3,048)
Net cash flows from operating activities		390,390	(27,768)
Cash flows from investing activities			
Portfolio available for sale and held to maturity		(227,029)	9,727

Amounts presented in € '000	Note	1/1- 31/12/2007	1/1- 31/12/2006
Purchases / (proceeds) of tangible & intangible assets		506	(1,084)
Acquisition of subsidiaries and associates		(2,963)	22,106
Release of cash placed on Trust		-	201,266
Dividends Received from investment activities		13,215	-
Dividends received from financial assets at fair value through P&L		3,453	
Net cash flow from investing activities		(212,818)	232,014
Cash flows from financing activities			
Issuance of common shares		214,874	-
Issuance of common shares in subsidiaries		245	-
Dividend paid		(24,919)	-
Net increase / (decrease) in other borrowed funds		24,671	-
Amount Repayable to Shareholders of Negative Vote		-	(1,915)
Purchases / sales of treasury shares		(23,176)	406
Net cash flow from financing activities		191,696	(1,509)
Net increase / decrease in cash and cash equivalents		369,268	202,739
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period		203,916	2,206
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents		(13,812)	(1,028)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year	38	559,372	203,918

The accompanying notes constitute an integral part of the financial statements.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Country of incorporation

IRF was incorporated on 8th September 2005 under the Bermuda Companies Act. The Company is listed on AIM, a market operated by the London Stock Exchange plc. The Company's registered office is at Canon's Court 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM12, Bermuda.

Principal Activities

The Group, through its subsidiaries, is engaged in the provision of banking, financial and insurance services. IRF was formed as an investing company to serve as a vehicle for the acquisition of one or more businesses in the financial services industry in Europe, with a primary focus on credit institutions and insurance companies in Greece, Bulgaria, Romania and Turkey.

In June 2006, the Company acquired a controlling interest in PROTON BANK, a Greek bank, listed on the Athens Stock Exchange. Proton Bank and its subsidiaries operate in the sectors of retail, corporate and investment banking, portfolio management, insurance and other financial services.

PROTON BANK is licensed by the Bank of Greece to operate as a financial institution in Greece.

PROTON BANK, which is established in Greece and is supervised by the Bank of Greece, operates through a network of 28 branches.

2. BASIS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENT PREPARATION

2.1 Statement of Compliance

The financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2007 have been prepared according to the International Financial Reporting standards (IFRS), which were published by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and in compliance with to their interpretations, which have been published by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) and have been adopted by the European Union.

The Group has adopted all International Accounting Standards, IFRS and their interpretations which apply to the Group's activities.

2.2 Basis of Measurement

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following items which are measured at fair value:

- Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through Profit & Loss (including derivatives),
- Financial assets available for sale, and
- Investment Properties, and
- · Land and Buildings

2.3 Functional and Presentation Currency

The current financial statements are presented in Euro, which is the functional currency of the Group. The functional currency is the currency of the primary economic environment in which an entity operates and is normally the one in which it primarily generates and expends cash. Management used its judgment to determine the functional currency that most faithfully represents the economic effects of the underlying transactions, events and conditions.

As part of this approach, management considers various factors stated in IAS 21. Priority is given to factors such as the currency that mainly influences costs and sales. This currency is mainly Euro since the Group is and will be engaged in a business combination in Europe. Although IRF has issued financial instruments in US dollars, according to paragraph 12 of IAS 21, this factor is not dispositive.

All amounts are presented in thousand Euros unless mentioned otherwise. Due to rounding, percentages and numbers presented throughout the condensed separate and consolidated financial statements may not match the counterparts in the financial statements. All amount expressed in dollars, are US dollars.

2.4 Comparative Figures

Consolidated balance sheet, income statement, cash flow statement and statement of changes in equity for the comparative period have been adjusted for the following changes:

- Completion of initial accounting for the business combinations effected in the prior year. Details of the adjustment are provided in note 42.
- Reclassification of income statement to reflect results of discontinued operations. Details are provided in note 42.

Moreover, the consolidated balance sheet, income statement and the consolidated cash flow for 2007 are not comparable with the respective statements of the prior year Proton was fully consolidated since June 2006, when the Group acquired control of Proton.

2.5 Use of Estimates

The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the IFRS requires management to make estimates, judgements and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reporting amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.

Assumptions and estimates are reviewed on an ongoing basis and are revised based on experience and other factors. Revisions of the accounting estimated are recognised in the period in which estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. Assumptions and estimates include expectations on future event and outcomes that are considered as reasonable given the current conditions. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Significant areas of estimates uncertainty and items that are significantly affected by judgements in applying accounting policies are presented in paragraph 4.

2.6 Adoption of new and revised IFRS

The current financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the IFRS and all amendments which have been adopted by the European Union and are effective as at 1 January 2007 for the preparation of financial statements. Moreover, the Group adopted the same accounting policies for its financial statements for the period ended 31 December 2007 that the Group had used for its financial statements for period ended 31 December 2006, apart from the changes that arose due to the adoption of the standards and interpretations mentioned below.

(i) Standards, amendments and interpretations effective in 2007

The Group has adopted for the first time the following standards and amendments which are effective for the preparation and presentation of financial statements in 2007:

(a) IFRS 7, "Financial Instruments: Disclosures"

IFRS 7 introduces new disclosures for the improvement of information relating to financial instruments. It has replaced IAS 30 "Disclosures in the Financial Statements of Banks and similar Financial Institutions" as well as all IAS 32 provisions on disclosures, while IAS 32 has been revised to IAS 32 "Financial Instruments: Presentation". All disclosures concerning financial instruments, as well as, comparative period financial information have been reformulated in order to respond to the requirements of the new standard.

The most significant additional information presented in the consolidated financial statements of the Group is a sensitivity analysis, for the justification of the Group's exposure to market risks in relation to its financial instruments, an analysis of the maturity of financial obligations which identifies conventional remaining debts, as well as qualitative and quantitative analyses of credit risks that the Group is exposed to.

The aforementioned first implementation of the IFRS 7 standard, has not led to adjustments in prior years' entries as far as cash flows, net results, or any other entry in the Balance Sheet are concerned.

(b) IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: "Capital disclosures"

IAS 1 introduces new disclosures conserning the size and the Bank's policy for capital management.

(c) IFRIC 7, " Applying the Restatement Approach under IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies".

IFRIC 7 provides guidance on how to apply the requirements of IAS 29 in a reporting period in which an entity identifies the existence of hyperinflation in the economy of its functional currency, when the economy was not hyperinflationary in the prior period. As none of the group subsidiaries have a currency of a hyperinflationary economy as its functional currency, IFRIC 7 is not relevant to the Group's operations.

(d) IFRIC 8, "IFRS 2 Share Based Payments"

IFRIC 8 requires consideration of transactions involving the issuance of equity instruments – where the identifiable consideration received is less than the fair value of the equity instruments issued – to establish whether or not they fall within the scope of IFRS 2. The Group has adopted IFRIC 8 since January 1st, 2007, but this does not have any impact on the Group's accounts.

(e) IFRIC 9, "Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives"

According to IFRIC 9, an entity, in general, can assess whether an embedded derivative is required to be separated from the host contract and accounted for as a derivative only at first recognition, while a subsequent reassessment is prohibited. The Group has adopted IFRIC 9 since January 1st, 2007, but this does not have any impact on the Group's accounts.

(f) IFRIC 10, "Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment"

IFRIC 10 prohibits impairment losses to be recognized in an interim period on goodwill, investments in equity instruments as well as investments in financial assets to be carried at cost, and be reversed at a subsequent balance sheet date. The Group applies IFRIC 10 since January 1st, 2007, but this does not have any impact on the Group's accounts.

(ii) New standards, amendments and interpretations that are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group

a) IFRS 8, "Operating segments" (effective from January 1st, 2009).

IFRS 8 replaces IAS 14 "Segment Reporting". The new IFRS requires a "management approach" to the Group's presentation of financial information under segment reporting. Information disclosed is essentially information that the management uses for internal reporting so as to assess the productivity of segments, as well as the manner in which resources are allocated. Such reporting might differentiate from information used during the preparation of the balance sheet and the income statement. Furthermore, the standard requires that explanatory notes on the basis of preparation of segment reporting, as well as traces to entries in financial statements should also be disclosed.

b) IFRIC 11, "Group and treasury share transactions" (effective for accounting periods beginning after March 1 2007)

IFRIC 11 provides guidance on three cases: a) the accounting of share based payment arrangements involving an entity's own equity instruments, b) the accounting of share based payment arrangements involving equity instruments of a subsidiary and c) the accounting of share based payment arrangements involving options over a parent's equity instruments.

Moreover, the following standards, amendments and interpretations have been issued and are subject to endorsement by the European Union.

c) IFRIC 12, "Service concession arrangements" (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008).

This interpretation has no application to the Group's activities.

d) IFRIC 13, "Customer Loyalty Programs (effective for annual accounting periods beginning on or after July 1st, 2008)"

IFRIC 13 is applied on customer loyalty programs. This interpretation is applicable to credit card customer loyalty programs, nevertheless, its adoption will not have a significant impact on the Group's financial position.

e) IFIRC 14: "IAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction" (effective from January 1st, 2008).

This interpretation has no application to Group activities.

f) IAS 23: (Revised 2007) "Borrowing Costs" (effective from January 1st, 2009):

The revised IAS 23 removes the option of immediately expensing borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction, or production of a qualifying asset as part of the cost of that asset. The adoption of the revised IAS will have no significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

q) IAS 1: "Presentation of Financial Statements" – revised 2007 (effective from January 1st, 2009):

The fundamental change in IAS 1 is concerned with the segregation of the presentation of owner changes in equity in those which are due to transactions with owners and because of their capacity as owners (e.g. dividends, capital increase), from those which are due to other changes in equity (e.g. reserves). The revision of the Standard produces changes in both the terminology and the presentation of financial statements.

However, the new terms do not affect the rules of recognition, measurement and disclosure of equity transactions and all other events which are required by other standards. The adoption of the revised standard is expected to transform the structure and description in the presentation of financial statements without, however, causing any alternations to the financial position of an entity.

h) IFRS 3: "Business Combinations" – Revised 2007 and subsequent amendments in IAS 27, 28 and 31 (effective the first annual reporting period beginning on or after July 1st, 2009):

The revised standard introduces significant amendments for the application of the acquisition method for business combinations. Among other changes the standard introduces the possibility of minority interests being measured at fair value. Furthermore, these standards also introduce the following requirements (i) to remeasure interests to fair value when control is obtained or lost, (ii) recognising directly in equity the impact of all transactions between controlling and noncontrolling shareholders where loss of control is not lost and, (iii) focuses on what is given to the vendor as consideration rather than what is spent to achieve the acquisition. More specifically, items such as acquisition-related costs, changes in the value of the contingent consideration, share-based payments and the settlement of pre-existing contracts will generally be accounted for separately from the business combination and will often affect the income statement. The revised IFRS 3 applies for business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after July 1st, 2009, while no consolidation adjustments are required for the period before the revised standard will become effective. Thus, the adoption of the revised standards will have no significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

i) IFRS 2: "Share-based Payment" – Amendment 2008: Vesting Conditions and Cancellations (effective from January 1st, 2009)

This amendment clarifies that only service conditions and performance conditions are vesting conditions, while all other features need to be included in the grant date fair value. The Group is currently assessing the implications from the adoption of the aforementioned amendment.

j) IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – Amendment 2008: Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation (effective from January 1st, 2009)

These amendments address the classifications of some puttable financial instruments as well as instruments or their components that impose to the entity an obligation to deliver to another party a *pro rata* share of the net assets of the entity only on liquidation. The above mentioned amendments are not applicable at present for Group activities.

3. SUMMARY OF IMPORTANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Consolidation

Subsidiaries: Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. Control exists when the company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. Control is presumed to exist if the Company has ownership, directly of indirectly, over more than half of the voting rights. The Group has also adopted a policy to consider as a subsidiary an entity over which the Company is in the position to have effective control, even though it has the ownership of less than half of the voting rights. The Group has developed several criteria in order to determine whether it has the "de facto" control over the entity, including the actual representation of the Company in the Board of Directors and the management of the subsidiary and the fact that there is no realistic possibility that all the other shareholders of the subsidiary will be organised and take control over the entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated using the purchase method from the date on which control commences until the date that control ceases. The acquisition cost of a subsidiary is measured at the fair value of the assets given, the shares issued and the liabilities undertaken on the date of the exchange, plus any other cost directly attributable to the acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired, liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured at their fair values on the acquisition date. The excess between the cost of acquisition and the fair value of the net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognized directly in the income statement.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealized gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of impairment of the asset transferred. All Group subsidiaries follow the same accounting policies as those adopted by the Group.

Associates: Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control. Significant influence is presumed to exist if the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights of another company. Investments in associates are initially recognised at acquisition cost and subsequently are accounted under the equity method. At the each balance sheet date, investments carrying amount is increased by the Group's proportion in the associate's changes in equity and decreases by the amount of dividends received from the associate.

The Group's share in the associate's profits or losses, after the acquisition date, is recognised in the Income Statement whereas, the Group's share in changes in reserves, is recognised directly in equity accounts.

In case when the Group's participation in the associate's losses is equal or exceeds its cost of participation, inclusive of any doubtful debts, the Group does not account for any further losses, except if it has covered all liabilities or has made payments on behalf of the associate as well as those arising in the context of the shareholding.

3.2 Foreign Currency

(a) Foreign Operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments due to business combinations, are translated into Euro at exchange rates applicable on the balance sheet date. The income and expenses are translated into Euro at exchange rate at the dates of transactions or, if it is impracticable, based on the average exchange rates during the reporting period. Any differences arising from the translation of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses are recognized into "Translation reserves" within equity.

(b) Foreign Currency Transactions

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the respective functional currency of the Group entities at the exchange rates at the dates of transactions. Monetary asset and liability denominated in foreign currencies at

the reporting date are retranslated into the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. The non-monetary assets denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined. Foreign currency differences arising on the execution of foreign currency transactions and on the retranslation of monetary assets and liabilities are recognized in profit or loss.

3.3 Interest income and expense

Interest income and expense are recognised on an accrual basis in the income statement for all interest bearing assets and liabilities, based on the effective interest method. Interest income and expense include the amortization of any discount or premium, transaction costs or other differences between the initial cost of an interest bearing financial asset and the amount to be received or paid at maturity using the effective interest rate method.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts any estimated future payment or receipt through the expected life of a financial instrument (or until the next date of interest reset), to the carrying amount of the financial instrument, including any fees or transaction costs incurred.

3.4 Fee and commissions income

Fees and commissions are generally recognised on an accrual basis when the relevant services have been provided. Commission and fees arising from negotiating, or participating in the negotiation of, a transaction for a third party are recognised on completion of the underlying transaction. Portfolio management fees and other advisory and service fees are recognized in the income statement according the applicable service contract, usually on a time-apportionate basis.

3.5 Dividend Income

Dividend income is recognized in the income statement when the right to receive payment is established.

3.6 Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity.

3.6.1 Initial Recognition

Financial assets and liabilities are recognized at the trade date which is the date when the Group becomes a part to the contractual provision of the instruments. The financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset or financial liability not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability.

3.6.2 Classification and Measurement of Financial Assets

Management determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition. Financial assets are classified into the following categories:

(a) Financial Assets and Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit & Loss

This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading and those designated at fair value through profit or loss at inception. A financial asset is classified in the held for trading category if acquired principally for the purpose of generating a profit from short-term fluctuations in price. Derivative financial instruments are also categorised as held for trading unless they are designated as accounting hedges in which case hedge accounting is applied. Financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss at inception are those that are managed and their performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented investment strategy. Information about these financial assets is provided internally on a fair value basis to key management personnel. Financial assets and liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or

loss, are subsequently measured at fair value and any change in the fair value is recorded in the income statement.

(b) Loans and Receivables

These include non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market and which the Group does not indent to sell in the short-term. They arise when the Group provides money, goods or services directly to a debtor with no intention of trading the receivable. Loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

(c) Held to maturity investments

Held-to-maturity financial assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that the management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. When the Group to sell other than an insignificant amount of held-to-maturity assets, then the entire category tainted and reclassified as available-for-sale. Held-to-maturity financial assets are measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method

(d) Available for sale investment

Available-for-sale investments are those intended to be held for an indefinite period of time, which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates, exchange rates or equity prices.

Purchases and sales of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, held-to-maturity, and available-for-sale are recognized at trade date – the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Loans are recognized when cash is advanced to the borrowers.

Financial assets are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or where the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently carried at fair value and any change in fair value is recognized directly into equity.

3.6.3 Off setting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is presented in the Balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on an net basis, or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Income and expenses are offset only when permitted by the accounting standards, or for gains and losses arising from a group of similar transactions.

3.6.4 Fair value measurement

For the measurement of assets and liabilities at fair value, the Group uses current market prices for every financial instrument. For those assets and liabilities whose current market price was not available, the values that were derived by applying valuation methods do not differ much from their carrying values. In particular:

- The listed securities are valued at fair value, which is determined according to the current market price on the day of the balance sheet date.
- Non listed securities are valued at cost of acquisition less any impairment.
- The fair value of derivative financial instruments that are not quoted in active markets is determined by using valuation techniques. These models, even though dependent on measurable data, may require estimates and judgments (i.e. volatility and credit risk). Those estimates are assessed regulatory and when market conditions change.

3.6.5 Impairment of financial assets

(a) Assets carried at amortized cost

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.

A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a "loss event") and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of assets is impaired includes observable data that comes to the attention of the Group about the following loss events:

- (vi) significant financial difficulty of the obligor;
- (vii) a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;
- (viii) the Group granting to the borrower, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower's financial difficulty, a concession that the lender would not otherwise consider;
- (ix) it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or
- (x) observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a group of financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although the decrease cannot yet be identified with the individual financial assets in the group; including:
 - adverse changes in the payment status of borrower in the group; or
 - national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in the group.

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognized are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets has been incurred, the amount of loss is measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the financial asset and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognized in the income statement. If a loan or a held-to-maturity investment has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined under the contract.

The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a collateralized loan reflects the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable.

For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of similar credit risk characteristics (i.e. on the basis of the Group 's grading process that considers asset type, industry, geographical location, collateral type, past-due status and other relevant factors). Those characteristics are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows for groups of such assets by being indicative of the debtors' ability to pay all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the assets being evaluated.

Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated on the basis of the contractual cash flows of the assets in the group and historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to those in the group. Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to reflect the effects of current conditions that did not affect the period on which the historical loss experience is based and to remove the effect of conditions in the historical period that do not exist currently.

The methodology and assumptions used of estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly by the Group to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.

When a loan is uncollectible, it is written-off against the related provision for loan impairment. Such loans are written off after all the necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss has been determined. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off decrease the amount of the provision for loan impairment in the income statement.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account. The amount of the reversal is recognized in the income statement.

(b) Assets carried at fair value

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. In the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered in determining whether the asset is impaired. If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognized in profit or loss is removed from equity and recognized in the income statement. Impairment losses recognized in the income statement on equity instruments are not reversed through the income statement. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available-for-sale increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed through the income statement.

3.6.6 Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

Derivative financial instruments include forward exchange contracts, currency and interest rate swaps, stock, currency and index futures, equity and currency options and other derivative financial instruments. These are initially recognised in the balance sheet at fair value, and subsequently are remeasured at their fair value. Fair values are obtained from quoted market prices, discounted cash flow models and other appropriate pricing models. All derivatives are shown as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss when fair value is positive and as financial liabilities when fair value is negative.

The best evidence of the fair value of a derivative at initial recognition is the transaction price (i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or received).

Certain derivatives embedded in other financial instruments are treated as separate derivatives when their economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contract and the host contracts is not carried at fair value through profit or loss. These embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in the income statement.

The Group has designated all derivatives as trading and has not applied hedging accounting.

3.6.7 Sale and repurchase agreements

The Group enters into agreements for purchases (sales) of investments and to resell (repurchase) substantially identical investments at a certain date in the future at a fixed price. Investments purchased, on condition that they will be resold in the future (reverse repos), are not recognized in the balance sheet. The amounts paid for purchase thereof are recognized as receivables from other banks or customers. The difference between the sale and repurchase consideration is recognized as interest income or expense during the repurchase agreement period on an accrual basis.

Investments sold under repurchase agreements continue to be recognized in the balance sheet and are measured in accordance with the accounting policy for either assets held for trading or available-for-sale as appropriate. The proceeds from the sale of the investments are reported as liabilities to either banks or customers.

3.7 Insurance contracts

Through its insurance subsidiaries, the Group issues insurance contracts to customers. Under these contracts the Group accepts significant insurance risk, by agreeing to compensate the contract holder on the occurrence of a specified, uncertain future event.

Group's insurance company issues only insurance contracts covering property and casualty risks up to one year of duration.

Property and casualty insurance contracts are separated in two categories:

- a) Automobile third party liability. This category includes insurance contracts covering the risk of automobile third party liability.
- b) Non-automobile lines. This category includes insurance contracts covering the risk of fire and allied lines, marine, general liability, legal protection, road assistance, etc.

Gross insurance premiums are recognized in the income statement over the period covered by the related insurance contract. The insurance premiums are recognized before the deduction of the relevant commissions.

Contract costs

Costs incurred for the initiation or the renewal of insurance contract, such as brokers commission, are deferred and recognized as an asset. The relevant amounts are amortized to Profit or Loss on a systematic basis over the contractual term of the relevant insurance contract.

Liabilities from insurance contracts

Provisions for outstanding claims are revised at each balance sheet date and any change is recognized in Profit or Loss to the extend that it refers to claim covered by the Group, while any amount covered by reinsurance is recognized as an asset (receivable) according to the reinsurance contracts.

(a) Unearned Premiums

Gross insurance premiums for general insurance business are recognized in the income statement over the period covered by the related insurance contract. The proportion of premiums which relates to periods of risk extending beyond the end of the year is reported as unearned premium and is calculated on a daily basis.

(b) Provisions for claims incurred

Provisions for outstanding claims are based on the estimated ultimate cost of all claims incurred but not settled at the balance sheet date, whether reported or not, together with related claims handling costs. The amount of provisions is estimated based on available information (adjuster reports, court decisions etc.) at the balance sheet date.

Provisions for outstanding claims include reserves for incurred claims, which are not reported to the company at the balance sheet date (I.B.N.R.). Provisions for outstanding claims are reported at the balance sheet date according to the requirements of regulatory authority legislation in force (law 400/1970). Specifically the -3975/11 10 1999

decision of The Ministry of Development, forming the greater possible reserve. I.B.N.R. provisions are -3974/11.10.1999 decision of The Ministry of Development.

Provisions for outstanding claims include reserves for incurred claims, which are not reported to the company at the balance sheet date (I.B.N.R.). Provisions for outstanding claims are reported at the balance sheet date according to the requirements of regulatory authority legislation in force (law 400/1970). Specifically the automobile third party liability related claims

-3975/11.10.1999

decision of The Ministry of Development forming the greater possible reserve. I.B.N.R. provisions are

decision of The Ministry of Development, forming the greater possible reserve. I.B.N.R. provisions are -3974/11.10.1999 decision of The Ministry of Development.

The difference in non-life insurance contract liabilities (increase / decrease) related to their previous assessment is transferred to the profit and loss accounts as far as the company's own retention, while the rest is transferred to the reinsurance accounts, according to the reinsurance agreements.

Reinsurance contracts

Reinsurance contracts are contracts entered into by the Group's insurance subsidiaries, under which the Group is compensated for losses incurred under insurance contracts issued by the Group's insurance subsidiaries. The reinsurance contracts entered into by the Group's insurance subsidiaries, in which the issuer of the insurance contract is another insurer (inwards reinsurance) are included in reinsurance contracts.

Any amounts recovered from reinsurers, that derive from the reinsurance contracts of the Group, are recognized in assets. The amounts recovered from or to reinsurers are calculated based on the amounts related with the reinsurance contracts and are based on the terms of each reinsurance contract. The reinsurance liabilities are mainly premiums payable for reinsurance contracts and are recognized as expenses on an accrual basis.

The Group evaluates its reinsurance assets for impairment. If there is objective evidence that the reinsurance assets have incurred an impairment, the Group reduces the carrying amount of the reinsurance asset to its recoverable amount and recognizes the reduction in its value in the income statement.

Liability adequacy test

At each balance sheet date, liability adequacy tests are performed by the Group's insurance companies to ensure the adequacy of liabilities that arise from their operations. In performing these tests, current best estimates of operational and investment income and operational and administration expenses are based on past experience and financial results.

In case when the adequacy test reveals insufficient reserves, provisions are adjusted accordingly. The liability is derecognized when the contract expires, is discharged or is cancelled.

3.8 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with less than three months maturity and include cash and non restricted balances with Central Bank, government bonds and treasury bills and amounts due from other banks and short-term government securities.

3.9 Intangible assets

The Group has included in this category goodwill from acquisitions and software which is carried at amortised cost less accumulated amortization.

(a) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the acquired undertaking at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in the balance sheet in "Goodwill and other intangible assets".

Negative goodwill is recognised immediately as gain in the income statement.

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and whenever there are indications of impairment and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing, using the country of operation and economic segment as the allocation bases.

(b) Other intangible assets arisen from business combinations

An intangible acquired in a business combination is recognized if it is identifiable; it is probable that the expected future economic benefits associated with the asset will flow to the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. Identifiable is an asset when it is separable, i.e. is capable of being separated or divided from the entity and transferred individually or together with a related contract, or arises from contractual or other legal rights, regardless of whether those rights are transferable or separable from the entity or from other rights and obligations.

The Group, has recognized the following intangible assets in their fair value that was acquired at the take-over of Omega Bank as part of a business combination on 30 September 2006:

- Intangible asset from conventions of customer loans
- Intangible asset from conventions of customer deposits

Intangible asset from conventions of financial brokerage

Amortisation of other intangible assets arising from business combination is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual values over their estimated useful lives, which extends from 4 to 5 years. Other intangible assets coming from business combination that are subject to amortizations are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Amortisation charge is included within "Depreciation" in the income statement.

(c) Computer software

Costs that are directly associated with identifiable and unique computer software products controlled by the Group and that will probably generate economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one year are recognised as intangible assets. Subsequently computer software is carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Expenditure, which enhances or extends the performance of computer software programmes beyond their original specifications is recognised as a capital improvement.

Costs associated with maintenance of computer software programmes are recognised as an expense when incurred. Computer software costs are amortised using the straight-line method over their useful lives, not exceeding a period of five years. Amortisation commences when the computer software is available for use and is included within "Depreciation" in the income statement.

3.10 Property, plant and equipment

All plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation, except land and buildings which are shown at fair value based on valuations by external independent valuers, less subsequent depreciation for buildings.

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Expenditure for repairs and maintenance of property and equipment is charged to the income statement of the year in which they were incurred. Depreciation on buildings and other tangible assets are calculated using the straight line method to allocate their cost or fair value to their residual values over their estimated useful lives.

The carrying amount of impaired assets is written down to their recoverable amounts. Gains and losses from disposals are recognised in the income statement.

Land is not depreciated but is reviewed for impairment. Depreciation on other property and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost or revalued amount of each asset less their residual values, over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

- Buildings: 50 years
- Lease hold improvements: depreciated on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease
- Computers: 3 years
- Vehicles: 5-7 years
- Furniture and equipment: 10 years
- The commercial value of leased assets is depreciated over the lease period

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. When the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

Gains and losses on disposal of property and equipment are determined by comparing proceeds to carrying amount and are included in the income statement.

3.11 Investment property

Investment property are properties held by the Group either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation. The Group records investment property at fair value as determined by an independent valuation company having an appropriate recognised professional qualification. Initially investment property is recorded at cost including acquisition expenses. Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value is recognised in profit or loss.

3.12 Assets held for sale

The Group classifies an asset as held for sale if it is committed to recover its carrying amount principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. For this to be the case, these assets should be available for immediate sale in their present condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary for sales of such assets and their sale is highly probable. The category of assets held for sale comprises of two type of assets:

- Property acquired from auctions with the intention to recover loans and receivables past due.
- Group of assets forming a disposal group that the Group intends to dispose together at a single transaction. Liabilities associated with this disposal group are also classified separately. As of December 31st, 2007, the Group has classified into this category the assets of its subsidiary PROTON Insurance SA.

Assets held for sale, according to IFRS 5 "Non current assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Assets held for sale are not depreciated but are subject to impairment. Gains/ losses from sale of these assets are recognized in the income statement.

3.13 Leases

3.13.1 A Group company is a lessee

(i) Finance lease

The Group has not entered into a finance lease agreement in the capacity of a lessee.

(ii) Operating leases:

Leases where the risks and rewards of ownership remain with the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received by the lessor) are charged to the income statement on a straight line basis over the period of the lease.

3.13.2 A Group company is a lessor

(i) Finance lease

When assets are leased out under finance lease / hire purchase, the present value of the lease payments is recognized as a receivable. Lease income and hire purchase fees are recognized in the income statement in a systematic manner, based on instalments receivable during the year so as to provide a constant periodic rate using the net investment method.

(ii) Operating leases:

Assets leased out under operating leases are carried on the Group's financial statements and are depreciated over their useful economic lives. Payments received under operating leases are recorded in the income statement on a straight line basis.

3.14 Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are treated as held for trading if:

- (a) acquired principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing them in the near term
- (b) a derivative financial instrument (except for a designated and effective hedging instrument)

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value. Subsequently any changes in their fair value are recognised in the income statement.

The Group has classified in this category derivative financial instruments not held and qualifying for hedging purposes.

Derivative financial liabilities that are part of a hedging relationship are measured at fair value. Subsequently, any changes in their fair value are subject to principles described in note 2.13. Liabilities not included in the above categories are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

3.15 Share capital

(a) Share issue costs

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are deducted from equity.

(b) Dividends on ordinary shares

The dividend distribution to ordinary shareholders is recognized in the period in which the dividend is approved by the Company's shareholders. Dividend for the year that is declared after the balance sheet date is disclosed in Note 43.

(c) Treasury Shares

Where the Company or other members of the Group purchase the Company's equity share capital, the consideration paid is deducted from total shareholders' equity as treasury shares. Where such shares are subsequently sold or reissued, any consideration received is included in shareholders' equity.

3.16 Fiduciary activities

Assets and income arising thereon together with related undertakings to return such assets to customers are excluded from these financial statements where the Group acts in a fiduciary capacity such as nominee, trustee or agent.

3.17 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, when it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. If the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money.

Where the Group expects a provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain.

The Group recognises a provision for onerous contracts when the expected benefits to be derived from a contract are less than the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contract.

3.18 Employee benefits

(a) Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a plan under which the Company and the employees pay fixed contributions into a separate fund. The benefits provided to the employees participating in defined contribution plans are based on the return of the fund. Each fund is governed by specified regulations as agreed between the two parties and in compliance with relevant statutory obligations. The contributions of the Group to the defined contribution plans are charged to the income statement in the year in which they arise.

The Group's personnel are insured for its main pension to publicly administered pension insurance funds (i.e. Social Security Foundation and other) depending on their specialty. The contributions paid by the Group are included in "Staff costs". The Group's personnel are also insured for medical care in multiemployer funds. In these funds, there are no separate accounts for each company, hence accounting for defined contribution is followed. Once the contribution has been paid, the Group has no further payment obligations.

(b) Defined benefit plans

The Group's defined benefit plan regards the legal commitment to pay lump-sum severance grant, pursuant to L.2112/1920. Typically defined benefit plans define an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such as years of service and compensation. The liability recognised in the balance sheet for defined benefit pension plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date less unrecognised actuarial gains or losses and past service costs. The defined benefit obligation is calculated on an annual basis by an independent actuary with the use of the projected unit credit method.

The present value of the liability of the defined benefit plan is calculated by discounting the future cash outflows of the plan with the long-term Greek bonds' rate.

Actuarial gains and losses are not recognised as an expense unless the total unrecognised gain or loss exceeds 10% of the greater of the obligation and related plan assets. The amount exceeding this 10% corridor is charged or credited to profit or loss over the employees' expected average remaining working lives. Actuarial gains and losses within the 10% corridor are disclosed separately. Past-service costs are recognized immediately in the income statement, unless the changes to the pension plan are conditional on the employees remaining in service for a specified period of time (the vesting period). In this case, the past service Costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over the vesting period.

(c) Share based employee remuneration

Group's subsidiary (Proton) operates equity-settled share-based remuneration plans for remuneration of its employees.

All employee services received in exchange for the grant of any share-based remuneration are measured at their fair values at the date at which they are granted. These are indirectly determined by reference to the fair value of the share options awarded. Their value is appraised at the grant date and excludes the impact of any non-market vesting conditions (for example, profitability and sales growth targets).

All share-based remuneration is ultimately recognised as an expense in the income statement with a corresponding credit to "stock option reserve", net of deferred tax where applicable. If vesting periods or other vesting conditions apply, the expense is allocated over the vesting period, based on the best available estimate of the number of share options expected to vest. Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to become exercisable. Estimates are subsequently revised, if there is any indication that the number of share options expected to vest differs from previous estimates.

No adjustment is made to expense recognised in prior periods if fewer share options ultimately are exercised than originally estimated.

Upon exercise of share options, the proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs up to the nominal value of the shares issued are allocated to share capital with any excess being recorded in share premium account.

3.19 Income Tax

Current tax liabilities and assets for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid to or recovered from the taxation authorities using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred income taxes are calculated using the liability method on temporary differences. This involves the comparison of the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements with their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that they will be able to be offset against future taxable income. Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences.

However, in accordance with the rules set out in IAS 12, no deferred taxes are recognised in conjunction with goodwill.

No deferred taxes are recognised to temporary differences associated with shares in subsidiaries if reversal of these temporary differences can be controlled by the Group and it is probable that reversal will not occur in the foreseeable future. In addition, tax losses available to be carried forward as well as other income tax credits to the Group are assessed for recognition as deferred tax assets.

No deferred taxes are recognised from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that are expected to apply to their respective period of realisation, provided they are enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Most changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised as a component of tax expense in the income statement. Only changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities that relate to a change in value of assets or liabilities that is charged directly to equity (such as the revaluation of land, see note 4.8) are charged or credited directly to equity.

In Greece submitted tax returns are not considered as final until tax authorities audit the company's books and records, or until the statute of limitation expires. In Greece the results reported to the tax authorities by an entity are provisional and are subject to revision until the tax authorities examine the books and records of the entity and the related tax returns are accepted as final. Therefore, entities remain contingently liable for additional taxes and penalties which may be assessed on such tax examination. It is common practice in Greece for the tax authorities to audit an entity's books and records and to disallow expenses arbitrarily and to assess additional taxes.

3.20 Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged either in providing products or services (business segment) or in providing products or services within a particular environment (geographical segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments. Segment is analyzed in Note 7.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

Accounting estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates, judgements and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

a) Impairment losses on loans and advances

The Group reviews its loan portfolio to assess impairment at least quarterly. In determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the income statement, the Group makes judgements as to whether there is sufficient evidence indicating that the balance of a loan or a portfolio of homogenous loans outstanding will not be fully recovered. This evidence includes:

- violation of the contractual terms resulting in the delay of capital or interest payment,
- · significant deterioration in the loan repayment ability,
- legal action,
- bankruptcy, and
- other objective evidence that leads to the conclusion that the Group will not collect the full amount due.

For a loan identified as impaired, the recoverable amount is calculated as the present value of the realisable value of any collateral held and any other possible inflow discounted using the loan's effective interest rate. For estimated other inflows factors such as the financial status of the customer, the alternative sources of funds available and the extent to which credit worthy guarantors can support the customer are considered. The provision amount is calculated as the difference between the loan's carrying amount and the realisable amount, including all securities and quarantees.

b) Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are not quoted in an active market is determined using valuation techniques. The Group uses its judgement to select a variety of methods and make assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions existing at each balance sheet date. The valuation techniques used are frequently assessed to ensure their validity and appropriateness. Changes in methods and assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments.

c) Impairment of available for sale financial assets

The Group follows the guidance in IAS 39 to determine if an investment has been impaired. This decision requires critical judgement. Available for sale equity investments are impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in fair value below its cost. When the declines in fair value are considered significant or prolonged, the fair value reserve is transferred to the income statement. Furthermore, estimates are used to determine the fair value of equity investments which are not quoted in active markets. For those investments, the fair value is determined by using valuation techniques taking under consideration assumptions about industry and sector performances as well as the financial health of the investee.

d) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income tax according to the tax legislation in Greece. In order to establish the corporation tax, as presented in the balance sheet, significant assumptions are required. For specific transactions and calculations the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

e) Retirement benefits

The present value of liabilities arising from staff retirement benefits is determined by means of an actuarial valuation using specific assumptions. These assumptions are disclosed in Note 33.

According to the relevant Group's accounting policy for retirement benefits, any changes in the assumptions are likely to have an effect on the level of the unrecognised actuarial gain or loss.

f) Insurance claims

Insurance liabilities for claims are calculated by using information relating to the claim. The Group assesses each claim separately and the estimated liability is based on the facts of each claim, experience and other relevant factors, on a case-by-case basis. The Group is liable for all events covered by the policy even if the loss is discovered after the policy's expiry date. A provision is made for claims incurred but not yet reported (IBNR). Reserve adequacy test was performed through the link ratio methodology, using last six years data. The methodology assumes persistence of accumulated losses ratios (paid and outstanding claims).

g) Financial Instruments Classification

The Group's accounting policies require financial assets and liabilities to be classified into different categories at their inception:

- Investments held to maturity. Management judgement is required when applying this classification, which takes into account the Group's intention & ability to hold investment to maturity.
- Financial instruments for trading purposes include Investments and derivatives held to achieve short-term profit.

h) Control over subsidiaries

The Group has adopted a policy to consider as a subsidiary an entity over which it has the "de facto" power to control its financing and operating activities no matter whether it holds less than half of the voting rights. Management exercises its judgment and has developed certain criteria to determine whether effective control exist, such as representation in the entities governing body, ability to control the General Meeting of Shareholders decision and structure of voting rights of the entity.

i) Impairment test of goodwill

Goodwill is tested for impairment losses at least annually or when there is an evidence of impairment. Goodwill is allocated to groups of cash-generating units (CGUs) for the purpose of impairment testing. Impairment losses are recognized when the recoverable amount of the group of CGUs to which goodwill was allocated is below its carrying amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the fair vale less cost to sell and the value in use. Value in use is the present value of the estimated future cash flow of the group of CGUs. Estimating the recoverable amount of a group of CGUs requires a significant degree of estimates and judgments regarding future events, profitability and other market parameters that are consider in various valuation methodologies. All major assumptions as well as their financial impact are described in note 4.

j) Recognition of intangible assets on business combination

The Group identifies a non-monetary asset without physical substance as an intangible asset if it:

- is separable, i.e. capable of being separated or divided from the Group and sold, transferred, licensed, rented or exchanged, either individually or together with a related contract, asset or liability; or
- arises from contractual or other legal rights, regardless of whether those rights are transferable or separable from the Bank or from other rights and obligations.

The Group exercise judgment in order to identify the intangible assets which were acquired in the form of a business combination. Also, assigning value to an intangible asset requires the estimations and assumptions, such as customer retention rate, cost of funding future profitability etc.

The amortization method being used to allocate the depreciable amount of the identifiable intangible assets acquired from business combinations is the straight-line method, with a finite useful life between 4 to 5 years.

5. STRUCTURE OF THE GROUP

The following table indicates the Group structure as at 31/12/2007:

Name:	Country	Sharehol	Indirect Sharenoidi ng %	Direct and Indirect as Holding	Relation that dictated the consolidation	Note
IRF EUROPEAN FINANCE INVESTMENTS LIMITED	BERMUDAS	ung zen	14 14 10 14 14 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16	Parent	"完善等"。	asaddik j a ja salauh
	MARSHALL			ratent		
MIMOSA TRADING SA	ISLANDS	100.00%	0.00%	100%	Percentage Ownership	Direct Stake
MYRTLE TRADING COMPANY	MARSHALL ISLANDS	100.00%	0.00%	100%	Percentage Ownership	Direct Stake
PROTON BANK GROUP						
PROTON BANK SA	GREECE	20.60%	0.00%	20.60%	Control	Direct Stake
FIRST GLOBAL BROKERS SA						Indirect stake through "PROTON
PIRST GLOBAL BROKERS SA	SERBIA	0.00%	16.63%	16.63%	Control	BANK"
						Indirect stake
PROTON MUTUAL FUNDS SA	GREECE	0.00%	20.58%	20.58%	Control	through "PROTON BANK"
ONECA THE IDANICE PROVEDS	GREECE	0.00%	20.36%	20.36%	Condo	Indirect stake
OMEGA INSURANCE BROKERS SA						through "PROTON
~ .	GREECE	0.00%	13.60%	13.60%	Control	BANK" Indirect stake
PROTON INSURANCE SA						through "PROTON
	GREECE	0.00%	18.80%	18.80%	Control	BANK"
INTELLECTRON SYSTEMS SA						Indirect stake through "PROTON
INTELLECTRON STSTEMS SA	GREECE	0.00%	11.46%	11.46%	Control	BANK"
OMEGA KAHN FINANCIAL						Indirect stake
SERVICES SA	SWITZERLAND	0.00%	16.48%	16.48%	Control	through "PROTON BANK"
	SWITZERLAND	0.0076	10.46%	10.40%	Control	DAINK
ASSOCIATES						医医量管 测量等
Omega Portfolio Investment SA	Greece	0.00%	6.01%	6.01%		

PROTON BANK is fully consolidated because of the "de facto" power of the Company to control its financial and operating activities. In particular, IRF owns 20.60% of the voting rights of PROTON while the percentage of voting rights controlled by the Company is increased to 27.14% after taking into consideration the holding of two other shareholders of PROTON who are committed to vote in accordance with IRF's instructions based on an agreement. IRF has already exercised its effective power and appointed six members in the eleven-member Board of Directors of PROTON, including PROTON's chairman.

Company's directors use their judgment in order to ascertain whether IRF has the effective control of PROTON according to the accounting policy adopted. Based on all relevant information currently available, Company concludes that it has the ability to control PROTON and therefore fully consolidated its financial statements. The following reasons advocate that IRF has control over PROTON:

- (d) IRF has already exercised its effective power and appointed six members in the eleven-member Board of Directors of PROTON, including PROTON's chairman,
- (e) Based on the Purchase Agreement, the vendors, who are currently directors and shareholders of PROTON, agree to vote in such a way that will protect IRF's power to appoint the majority of the PROTON's Board of Directors,
- (f) There is no realistic possibility that all the other shareholders, who represent the 72.86% of the voting rights, will be organized in such a way as to in practice block the exercise of IRF's power. In particular, the 72.86% of the shares of PROTON is held by more than 10,000 investors, the majority of whom do

- not usually attend the Shareholders' Meeting. Moreover, only 3 of them controls more than 5% of the entity and
- (g) The relevant judgment is compliance the relevant Greek regulations.

All other subsidiaries comprising PROTON Group are consolidated because of the indirect, through PROTON Bank, ownership of the majority of their voting rights. The method of consolidation is the Purchase Method. Also associates of Proton Bank (entities where Proton directly owns more than 20%) are consider as associates of IRF as well. Investment in associates is accounted under the equity method.

PROTON GROUP: On 29 June 2006 IRF acquired a 28% stake in the share capital of the listed on the Athens Stock Exchange company "PROTON BANK". The range of activities of PROTON Group of Companies covers almost the whole spectrum of the financial industry. More precisely, PROTON Group is specialized in investment banking. The IRF Group consolidated PROTON BANK for the first time at 30th June 2006, the date at which control was deemed to be acquired. "Control" is the right to lead the financial and business policies of an entity in order to receive benefits from its operation.

On 7 September 2006, the Extraordinary General Meeting of shareholders of PROTON BANK approved the merger of the Bank with Omega Bank and Proton Securities. According to the Merger Contract, which was approved by the General Assembly, the exchange ratio was 1 share of Omega Bank for 0.90 shares of PROTON BANK. As Proton Bank holds 100% of Proton Securities shares, there was no exchange ratio. Additionally, the General Assembly decided the amendment of article 5 of its Articles of Association in order for the bank's share capital to rise after the merger, to a total amount of € 281,450,360.78 divided into 62,683,822 common voting shares of nominal value € 4.49 each. The merger was completed on 29 September 2006. Following Proton's Bank merger with Omega and taking into account the shares issued therewith, the Company now owns a 20.16% interest in PROTON BANK. For the above merger the provisions of IFRS 3 "Business Combinations" were followed which applies to business combinations after 31 March 2004.

MIMOSA TRADING SA: This company is duly incorporated and has filed articles of incorporation under the provisions of the Marshall islands Business Corporation Act on 6 July 2006. IRF is the owner of five hundred (500) fully paid and non-assessable shares of the capital stock of the corporation. The aggregate number of shares of stock that this company is authorized to issued to issue is five hundred (500) registered and/or bearer shares without par value.

MYRTLE TRADING COMPANY: This company is duly incorporated and has filed articles of incorporation under the provisions of the Marshall islands Business Corporation Act on 6 July 2006. IRF is the owner of five hundred (500) fully paid and non-assessable shares of the capital stock of the corporation. The aggregate number of shares of stock that this company is authorized to issued to issue is five hundred (500) registered and/or bearer shares without par value.

Changes in Group Structure during the Year 2007

During the financial year the following changes took place in the Group Structure:

- 5) INCREASE IN SHAREHOLDING IN PROTON: Following the merger with OMEGA BANK, the Company owned a 20.16% interest in PROTON BANK. During the year ended at 31 December 2007, IRF acquired at 28 June 2007, 41,891 shares of PROTON BANK, at 29 June 2007, 220,000 shares and at 3 July 2007 12,000 shares. After these additional acquisitions, IRF now owns a 20.60% interest in PROTON BANK SA. The difference between the cost of acquisition of the additional shareholding and the carring amount of the minority rights acquired, has been recognised to goodwill.
- **6) MERGER OF SUBSIDIARIES:** a) Absorption of Proton Finance by Proton Bank: On 27 September 2007, the Board of Directors of the Bank decided the commencement of merger procedures by absorption of its 100% subsidiary company under the corporate name «PROTON SOCIETE ANONYME PROVISION OF FINANCIAL ADVICE, TECHNOLOGY AND INFORMATION SYSTEMS».
- 7) Decision to sell Proton Insurance S.A: On 28 December 2007, Proton Bank entered into a contractual agreement with the «COMMERCIAL VALUE SOCIETE ANONYME INSURANCE» to transfer 91,29% of the

outstanding common shares of the «PROTON SOCIETE ANONYME PROVISION INSURANCE». The sale was accomplished with the contract signed by both parties involved on 20.3.2008; the relevant cash inflow for the Bank totalled to 19 million Euros. The sale contract will be finalized after obtaining any relevant regulatory permission, as it is prescribed by the Commerce Law, by the local authorities. The Bank and the «PROTON SOCIETE ANONYME PROVISION INSURANCE» has co-signed an exclusive business agreement in bank assurance, whereas the Bank's network will be used to promote and sell PROTON SOCIETE ANONYME PROVISION INSURANCE insurance products.

6. RISK MANAGEMENT

For risk management purposes, financial risks are monitored at two different levels: risks faced by Proton Group and risks faced by the Company. The nature of these risks and the ways they are dealt with by management are explained below.

The Proton Group is exposed to several risks, as all financial institutions. These risks are continually monitored through various methods so that the concentration of unreasonable risks is avoided.

On the other hand, the Company (including the wholly owned subsidiaries — Myrtle Trading Company and Mimosa Trading SA) is exposed to a limited level of risks. The Company indents to minimise its exposure to credit, liquidity and interest rate risk, while it is exposed to market risks due to its investments in equity shares.

6.1 Credit Risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk, which is the risk that the counterparty of a financial instrument will cause losses to the Group by failing to discharge its obligations. Specifically in the case of loans, it is the risk of a counterparty will default to repay part of its debt. Provisions for credit losses (impairment) are recognized when it is assessed that the carrying amount of a loan will not be recovered. The Group gives great consideration to the proper management of credit risk, due to the fact that significant changes in economy or in business sectors which represent a material part of the Group's portfolio might cause losses that exceed existing provisions.

The Group has established credit limits based on the creditworthiness of the counter party in order to minimize the credit risk that the Group undertakes. The creditworthiness analysis for each client is based on the country domicile, the business sector and other qualitative and quantitative characteristics for the client, the nature of the transaction and the collateral. The risks are periodically reviewed and adjusted. Limits have been placed on a product and sector level.

The undertaken risk for each borrower including banks, is furthermore reduced by placing sub-limits on and off balance sheet items. Loan balances are compared to credit limits on a daily basis.

The Group controls the exposure to credit risk with regular reviews on the borrower's capability to satisfy their interest and principal obligations by adjusting credit limits when necessary. Credit risk is partially covered with acceptable collaterals.

Credit risk exposure

a) Loans and receivables

When assessing the credit risk exposure of each individual item of loans and receivables, the Group considers four components (i) borrower's financial position; (ii) qualitative characteristics for the estimation of a 'probability of default' on the existing contractual obligations; (iii) the historical reimbursement and transactional attitude; and (iv) the probable existence of reliable and solvent collaterals held as security and other credit enhancements and their respective fair value.

Loans and receivables that are neither past due nor impaired, as well as impaired loans with insignificant amount are summarized in pools according to their credit risk characteristics, such as credit cards, consumer/personal loans, mortgage loans etc. As a consequence, the Group reassess all these loans for any potential impairment loss on a pool basis. Factors considered at this stage include volume of probable doubtful debts, time-lag, time horizon of the collectability of doubtful debts, the macroeconomic and microeconomic environment, the industry position and any past empirical evidence related with the level of the expected loss.

Whenever loans and receivables is assessed as doubtful their carrying amount is adjusted to its recoverable amount, which is defined as the net present value of all the expected cash flows including the expected realisable amount of any collateral held as security and other credit enhancements. For doubtful debts past due over 180 days no interest calculation takes place, while the respective claim is depicted on off-balance sheet items.

After all necessary judicial and other procedures have been exhausted and once it is highly expected that doubtful and bad debts will not be collected, the Bank proceeds with write-offs against their allowance for impairment.

b) Debt Securities and Financial Institutions

The methods of evaluation of credibility are modified as depending on the nature of the counterpart in the following categories: central governments (for purchase and holdings of debt instruments), financial institutions, corporate customers, small and medium size entities (SME) and retail customers.

As far as evaluation of central governments and financial institutions is concerned, the Group assess the counter parties and the countries' risks. All the countries and international financial institutions are assessed in accordance with size, economic data and country's prospects as well as the credibility degree by international appraising organizations (Moody's, Standard & Poor's). The credit risk exposure of Group attributable to debt securities is measured on the basis of total fair value positions. Investments in securities constitute an instrument of lower credit risk and at the same time ensure a reliable and direct liquidity.

6.1.2 Maximum credit risk exposure before collateral held or other credit enhancements:

The below table presents the maximum credit risk exposure as at 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2006 respectively, without taking into account any collaterals or other credit enhancements pledged. For on-balance-sheet assets, the exposures set out above are based on net carrying amounts as reported in the balance sheet.

Amounts presented in € '000' Total exposure to credit risk

Exposure to credit risk of the Balance Sheet items:	31.12.2007	31.12.2006
Due from other Banks	527,410	181,885
Loans and advances to customers:		
Loans and advances to Banks	45,906	21,516
Loans to retail customers		
-Credit Cards	37,232	28,197
-Consumer / Personal loans	159,010	116,309
-Housing	48,341	51,810
Corporate loans	1,113,216	762,680
Derivative financial instruments	11,529	2,611
Trading portfolio securities	126,792	137, 5B 7
Securities at fair value as at initial recognition	5,421	0
Investing portfolio securities		
-Held to maturity	9,717	6,646
-Available for sale	242,144	28,142
Other assets	91,475	34,885
Exposure to credit risk pertaining to off Balance Sheet items:		
Letters of Guarantee & Letters of Credit	113,358	87,389
Undrawn loans (approved) & other commitments	3,830_	3,935
Total	2,535,381	1,463,592

6.1.2.1 Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are summarized as follows:

Amounts presented in € '000	Loans and receivables	Due from banks	Loans and receivables	Due from banks
Loans neither past due nor impaired	1,265,477	527,410	798,543	181,88 5
Loans past due but not impaired	72,323		111,060	
Loans with impairment losses	65 ,90 5		70,909	
Total loans and receivables without allowance for impairment	1,403,705	527,410	980,512	181,885
Less: Allowance for impairment	(35,680)		(39,298)	
Total loans and receivables after allowance for impairment	1,368,025	527,410	941,214	181,885

a) Loans and receivables neither past due nor impaired:

As at 31 December 2007:

Amounts presented in € '000	Loans to individuals and households			Loans to Banks	Loans to corporate businesses	
Rating	Consumer/personal loans	Credit cards	Mortgage loans		Corporate loans	Total
Standard monitoring	135,243	17,844	39,271	45,907	1,027,212	1,265,477

As at 31 December 2006:

Amounts presented in € '000	Loans to individua	ls and house	holds	Loans to Banks	Loans to corporate businesses	
Rating	Consumer/personal loans	Credit cards	Mortgage loans		Corporate loans	Total
Standard monitori n g	101,714	19,725	44,654	21,515	610,934	798,543

Under this category, restructured claims from loans are also included which, otherwise, would be included in the past due loans and are analyzed as follows:

Amounts presented in € '000	2007	2006
Loans to individuals and households	32	347
Loans to corporate businesses	11,117	3,6 24
	11,149	3,971

b) Due to banks without impairment losses:

Amounts presented in € '000	31.12.2007	31.12.2006
Standard monitoring	527,410	181,885
Total	527,410	181,885

c) Loans and receivables past due but not impaired:

As at 31 December 2007:

	Loans to individ	Loans to individuals and households			
Amounts presented in € '000	Consumer/personal loans	Credit cards	Mortgage loans	Corporate loans	Total
Past due up to 1-90 days	13,111	4,864	4,917	34,107	56,999

Loans to

Past due up to 91-180 days	1,810	761	1,533	6,518	10,622
Past due up to over 180 days	265	29	13_	4,394	4,702
Total	15,186	5,6 55	6,463	45,019	72,323
Fair value of collaterals and other credit enhancements pledged	7,680		5,944	29,791	43,415

As at 31 December 2006:

	Loans to individ	uals and househ	nolds	corporate businesses	
Amounts presented in € '000	Consumer/personal loans	Credit cards	Mortgage Ioans	Corporate loans	Total
Past due up to 1-90 days	9,434	6,412	6,724	72,020	94,590
Past due up to 91-180 days	3,654	1,169	440	2,820	8,083
Past due up to over 180 days	283	893	34	7,177	8,387
Total	13,372	8,473	7,198	82,017	111,060

Loans to

Loans to

Loans to

d) Loans and receivables with impairment losses:

As at 31 December 2007:

	Loans to indiv	iduals and hous	seholds	corporate businesses	
Amounts presented in € '000' Loans and receivables with	Consumer/personal loans	Credit cards	Mortgage loans	Corporate loans	Total
Loans and receivables with impairment losses	8,582	13,733	2,607	40,983	65,905
Fair value of collaterals and other credit enhancements pledged	3,030		1,808	14,860	19,698

As at 31 December 2006:

	Loans to individ	luals and hous	seholds	corporate businesses	
Amounts presented in € '000 Loans and receivables with	Consumer/personal loans	Credit cards	Mortgage loans	Corporate loans	Total
impairment losses	3,181	11,058	1,199	55,471	70,909

6.1.3 Debt securities and other eligible bills

The table below presents an analysis of debt securities, and other eligible bills by rating agency designation at 31 December 2007, based on Standard & Poor's rating system :

Amounts presented in € '000	Due from banks	Trading portfolio	Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss	Held-to-maturity investments	Available-for- sale financial assets	Total
AAA	-	4,735	-	-	51,334	56,069
AA- to AA+	14,579	81,733	-	-	12,402	108,714
A- to A+	6,441	18,684	-	6,659	129,805	161,589
Lower than A-	94,590	15,474	-	-	8,531	118,595
Unrated	411,800	6,166	5,421	3,058	40,072	466,517
Total	527,410	126,792	5,421	9,717	242,144	911,484

Due from unrated financial institutions mainly refer to deposits in subsidiaries of banking groups which have not been rated. The parents of these subsidiaries are included in the bracket "Lower than A-".

6.1.4 Repossessed collateral

During 2007, the Group obtained assets by taking possession of collateral held as security, as follows:

Balance sheet item

Amounts presented in € '000	2007	2006
Land	84	64
Buildings	70	
Total	154	64

6.1.5 Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure: analysis per industry

The here below table breaks down the Group's main credit exposure at their carrying amounts, as categorized by the industry sectors of our counterparties.

Amounts presented in €	Financial institutions	Manuf/r i ng	Transport telecomm	Public sector	Trade	Leasing	Other industries	Individuals and households	Total
Loans and advances to banks Loans and receivables:	527,410								527,410
Loans to other financial institutions Loans to individuals and households:	45,906								45,906
-Credit cards								37,232	37,232
-Consumer / personal loans								159,010	159,010
-Mortgage loans Loans to corporate								48,341	48,341
businesses: Derivative financial	45,906	113,773	205,918		263,905	69,858	459,762		1,113,216
instruments Financial assets at fair value through profit or	11,529								11 , 52 9
loss	63 ,633	6, 602	1,071	23,850	11,247		20,389		126 ,79 2
Financial assets designated	l at fair value				5,421				5,421
Investment securities: -Held-to-maturity									
investments -Available-for-sale				6,659			3,058		9,717
financial assets	96,202	4 45	536	129,805	587		14,569		242,144
Total maximum		_		,					
credit risk as at 31 December 2007	836,155	120,820	207,525	160,314	281,160	69,858	497,778	244,583	2,418,193
Total maximum credit risk as at 31			===70=0			,			
December 2006	299,524	50,616	95,267	25,087	200,489	11,388	385,918	210,575	1,372,268

6.1.6 Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure: analysis per geographical region

The Group has a significant credit risk concentration in Greece:

Amounts presented in € '000	Greece_	Greece Other countries	
Due from banks	434,679	92,731	527,410
Loans and advances to customers	1,107,038	296,667	1,403,705
Derivative financial instruments	0	11,529	11,529
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss	21,039	105,753	126,792
Financial assets designated at fair value	5,421	0	5,421
Investment securities:			
-Held-to-maturity investments	9,717	0	9, 717
-Available-for-sale financial assets	204	241,940	242,144
Other assets	81,907	9,568	9 1,475
Total	1,660,005	758.188	2,418,193

6.2 Market Risk

The Group takes on exposure to market risks. Market risk is the risk of occurring possible losses caused by the fluctuation and volatility of market prices, such as share prices, interest rate and foreign exchange rate fluctuations.

Market risks arise from open positions in interest rate, currency and equity products, all of which are exposed to general and specific market movements and changes. Market risk is measured at two different levels, Proton Group and IRF.

Proton Group

Since the beginning of 2007, ALCO has adopted policies and limits regarding market risk management, which should be monitored on a daily basis. Relevant limits are prescribed and measured utilizing the VAR methodology. Limits pertain to the trading (securities) as well as to and banking (loans and deposits) book of the Group and are set for each product, risk and business unit.

The VAR measure for the overall portfolio of the Group (trading and banking book), as at 31 December 2007, is calculated to € 1,334,940.

VAR methodology used by the Group estimates the possible potential loss within one day on the current portfolio from adverse market movements at a confidence level of 99%. In addition to this methodology and on a daily basis the bank also calculates sensitivity factors for the maximum potential loss under extreme circumstance. The benchmark for the crisis scenario is the historical scenario on 11 September 2001. This scenario has been elected due to the decrease in prices of equity securities in the period under consideration, which represents a primary risk factor for the Group and also for the time proximity of the relevant crisis. The scenario uses the actual historical percentage movements for all variables. With regards with the scenario crisis, based on the aggregate portfolio of the Bank, on 31 December 2007, it has reported a loss of 1.9 millions for price risk, and for interest rate risk and currency risk a gain of \in 21,919 and \in 4,510 Euros.

The Group also applies regularly a back testing program to control the VAR estimates, by comparing the actual changes in the market price of the portfolio with the respective VAR measures.

In details the Value-at-risk results for the securities portfolio are as follows:

VaR review	VaR 99% 1day			
Amounts presented in € '000	31.12.2007	31.12.2006		
Securities-book VAR				
Foreign-exchange risk	66,255	111,449		
Interest-rate risk	290,301	363,089		
Equities risk	1,074,801	2,596,954		
Decrease due to portfolio diversification	(367,127)	(599,944)		
Total VAR	1,064,230	2,471,548		

IRF Company

As of 31st December 2007, the Company is exposed to limited market risk mainly through its placement in the interbank market. Its placements mainly refer to short-term deposits which are exposed to interest rate risk. The table below described the overall Interest rate risk exposure of the whole Group.

6.3 Currency Risk

The Group undertakes currency risk arising from the exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows. The Proton Group sets limits on the

level of exposure by currency and in aggregate for both overnight and intra-day positions, which are monitored daily.

The following tables summarize the Groups' exposure to currency risk. The Group's assets and liabilities at carrying amounts, categorized by currency are included in the table.

Amounts presented in € '000

ASSETS	EUR	USD	GBP	JPY	OTHER	TOTAL
Loans and advances to Central bank	52,796	0	0	0	0	52,796
Due from other Banks	372,863	145,137	4,366	1,566	3,478	527,410
Loans and advances to customers	1,235,071	109,371	12	1,831	21,738	1,368,023
Derivative financial instruments	11,529	0	0	0	0	11,529
Trading portfolio securities	167,413	4,140	178	0	2,650	174,381
Financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss	5,421	0	0	0	0	5,421
Investment portfolio securities	0	0	0	0	0	0
-Held to maturity	9,717	0	0	0	0	9,717
-Available for sale	250,130	0	0	0	97	250,227
Investments in associates and other related parties	3,886	0	0	0	0	3,886
Intangible assets	166,783	0	0	0	1	166,784
Property, plant and equipment	27,828	0	0	0	52	27,880
Non current assets held for trading	53,727	0	0	0	0	53,727
Deferred tax asset	7,098	0	0	0	0	7,098
Other assets	87,620	3,188	44	0	623	91,475
Total assets	2,451,882	261,836	4,600	3,397	28,639	2,750,354
LIABILITIES						
Due to Banks	355,570	78,120	0	0	251	433,941
Due to customers	1,154,236	79,035	4,563	183,144	1,161	1,422,139
Derivative financial instruments	14,570	0	0	0	0	1 4, 570
Bonds issued	25,283	0	0	0	0	25,283
Employee benefits	1,140	0	0	0	0	1,140
Income tax	10,498	0	0	0	0	10,498
Deferred tax liability	6,928	0	0	0	0	6,928
Other liabilities	10,227	627	0	9	17	10,880
Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held for sale	44,486	3,077	67	0	0	47,630
Total liabilities	1,622,938	160,859	4,630	183,153	1,429	1,973,009
Net Balance Sheet position	828,944	100,977	(30)	(179,756)	27,21	777,346
As at December 31, 2006	EUR	USD	GBP	JPY	OTHER	TOTAL
Total Assets	1,500,125	70,882	3,341	172,320	(244)	1,746,424
Total Liabilities	948,413	72,207	3,590	175,620	884	1,200,714
Net Balance Sheet position	551,712	(1,325)	(249)	(3,300)	1,128	545,710

Open currency positions are usually hedged by using forward currency contracts. These contracts are consider as derivatives . The Group does not however apply hedging accounting.

6.4 Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk of a negative impact on the Group's financial condition due to its exposure to interest rates. Fluctuations in market interest rates significantly affect the present value of expected future cash flows from investments and liabilities.

The following tables summarise the Group's exposure to interest rate risks. Included in the tables are the Group's assets and liabilities at carrying amounts categorized by contractual reprising date for floating rate items and maturity day for fixed rate items.

Amounts presented in € '000

As at December 31, 2007 ASSETS	Less than 1 month	From 1 to 3 months	From 3 to 12 months	From 1 to 5 years	More than 5 years	Uncategorized	Total
Cash and balances with Central Bank		-	-	-	-	52,796	52,796
Due from other banks	527,402	-	-	-	-	-	527,402
Loans and advances to customers	739,936	412,781	213,702	39 8	1,207	-	1,368,024
Derivative financial instruments	-	-		-	-	11,52 9	11,529
Trading portfolio securities	81,801	23,079	5,524	4,780	12,424	46,773	174,381
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss		-	-	-	2,223	3,198	5,421
Investment portfolio securities:	-	-	-	-	-	-	0
-Held to maturity	-	•	3,000	6,717	-	-	9,717
-Available for sale	-	-	-	242,144	-	8,083	250,227
Investment in associates	-	-	-	-	-	3 ,88 6	3,886
Intangible assets	-	-	-	-	-	166,784	166,784
Property, Plant and equipment	-	-	~	-	-	27,880	27,880
Held for trading assets	-	-	-	-	-	53,727	53,727
Deferred tax asset	-	_	-	-	-	7,098	7,098
Other assets	70,254		-	-		21,221	91,475
Total assets	1,419,393	435,860	222,226	254,039	15,854	402.975	2,750,347
LIABILITIES							
Due to Banks	290,184	143,757	_	_	_	_	433,941
Due to customers	1,021,836	274,997	109,784	12,405	3,117	-	1,422,139
Derivative financial instruments	14,570		-		-	-	14,570
Bonds issued	-	_	-	-	25,283	-	25,283
Employee benefits	-	-	-	-	~	1,140	1,140
Income tax	-	-	-	-	-	10,498	10,498
Deferred tax liability	-	-	-	-	-	6,928	6,928
Other Liabilities Liabilities directly associated with assets	-	-	-	-	-	14,170	14,170
classified as held for sale Total Liabilities	1,326,590	418,754	109,784	12,405	28,400	44,339 77,076	44,339 1,973,009
Matintage		.=					
Net interest gap	92,803	17,106	114,442	241,634	12,546	325,899	777,347
As at December 31, 2006							
Total assets	284,253	453,607	257,275	21 3,08 2	100,010	437,997	1,746,414
Total liabilities	802,525	161,170	120,948	48,415	1,500	66,160	1,200,714
Net interest gap	(518,272)	292,437	136,527	164,671	98,510	371,837	545,710

6.5 Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk arises from the Group's financing process and management of the open positions in the market. Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its payment obligations associated with financing liabilities when they fall due and to replace funds when are withdrawn. The consequence may be the failure, to meet obligations to repay depositors, to fulfil commitments to lend, and to liquidate its financial assets at fair value.

The Group uses a large financing base which is achieved through a wide range of products including, deposits, debt securities and equity. This improves its financing capability, reduces the dependence on a single source, and generally lowers its borrowing cost. The Group tries to balance the need between financing and flexibility, by maintaining a portfolio with different maturities. The Group continually assesses liquidity risk by controlling and monitoring the required changes in order to meet its business goals in the frame of its strategy.

6.5.1 Non derivative contractual cash flows

The table below presents the cash flows payable by the Group under non-derivative financial liabilities remaining contractual maturities at the balance sheet date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Amounts presented in € '000

31	, ,	•	12	u	u	ø

Other liabilities

Total liabilities

31/12/2007						
LIABILITIES	Less than 1 month	1-3 months	3-12 months	1-5 years	over 5 years	Total
Due to other Banks	288,506	145,435	-	-	-	433,941
Due to customers	1,041,364	278,979	112,359	13,852	3,733	1,450,287
Bonds issued	-	580	984	3,998	30,556	36,118
Other liabilities	260	10,615	-	-	5	10,880
Total liabilities	1,330,130	435,609	113,343	17,850	34,294	1,931,226
31/12/2006						
LIABILITIES	Less than 1 month	1-3 months	3-12 months	1-5 years	over 5 years	Total
Due to other Banks	33,934	6,165	35,235	15,563	-	90,897
Due to customers	90,379	399,953	398,922	152,903	-	1,042,157
Bonds issued	-	-	75	343	1,575	1,993

7,356

441,588

13,889

182,698

21,245

1,156,292

1,575

6.5.2 Derivative contractual cash flows

124,313

The table below analyses the Group's derivative financial liabilities that will be settled on a net basis into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the balance sheet to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

-	Less than 1					Over 5	
	month	1 - 3 months	3 -	12 months	1 - 5 years	years	Total
Derivatives held for trading:							
-Foreign exchange derivatives							
-Interest rate derivatives							
-Other derivative contracts	1,444		-	(297)	-	-	1,147
Total	1,444		-	(297)		_	1,147

406,118

As at 31 December 2007

Derivatives held for trading:

-Foreign exchange derivatives

The table below analyses the Group's derivative financial instruments that will be settled on a gross basis into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the balance sheet to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

As at 31 December 2007	Less than 1					
		- 3 months 3	- 12 months	1 - 5 years	Over 5 years	Total
Derivatives held for trading:	_			-		
-Foreign exchange derivatives						
-Outflow	180,428	46,529	37,258	-	-	264,214
-Inflow	177,738	46,444	36,781	-	-	260,963
-Interest rate derivatives						
-Outflow	197	2,152	6,139	8,943	15,737	33,168
-Inflow	62	1,124	7,730	9,760	15,539	34,215
-Other derivative contracts						
-Outflow						
-Inflow	-	4	13	52	-	70
Total Outflow	180,625	48,681	43,397	8,943	15,737	297,383
Total Inflow	177,800	47,572	44,525	9,812	15,539	295,248

				- -		
Derivatives held for trading:	Up to 1 month 1	- 3 months 3 ·	12 months	1 - 5 years	Over 5 years	Total
_						
-Foreign exchange derivatives						
-Outflow	116,176	107,848	29,299	1,4 9 8	-	254,821
-Inflow	114,447	104,827	28,931	1,430	-	249,635
-Interest rate derivatives						
-Outflow	113	1,585	6,676	16,050	17,615	42,040
-Inflow	-	472	7,719	16,386	18,021	42,598

Total Inflow	114,447	105,301	36,654	17,830	18,022	292,253
Total Outflow	116,290	109,454	36,041	17,833	17,615	297,233
-1nflow		1	3	15	1	20
-Outflow	-	22	66	285	-	372
-Other derivative contracts						
-Inflow	-	472	7,719	16,386	18,021	42,598
-Outflow	113	1,585	6,676	16,050	17,615	42,040
-Interest rate derivatives						
-Inflow	114,447	104,827	28,931	1,430	-	249,635
-Outhow	116,176	107,848	29,299	1,498	-	254,821

6.6 Capital management and capital adequacy

As at 31 December 2006

The Group's objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the "equity" on the face of the balance sheets, are:

- To comply with the capital requirements set by the regulators of the Banking markets where the Group operates;
- To safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and
 - To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.

IRF is not subject to any specific regulatory capital requirements. As of 31 December 2007 IRF has a very strong financial position since there is not any debt outstanding and all of its investments are financed by equity.

Proton Group is subject to the supervision of the Bank of Greece that sets and monitors the demands for capital adequacy as far as the banks are concerned. The Bank of Greece requires that every Financial Institution should have a minimum ratio arising from the proportion between supervisory equity and the assets as well as off balance sheet items weighed as against the risk involved. This ratio has been generally set at 8% and it is designed in order to cover the foreseeable risks (counter parties, market, and currency).

The capital adequacy of the Bank is monitored at regular intervals by the Financial Department of Proton Bank and the results are presented every three months to the Bank of Greece. The basic objective of the Bank, as far as supervisory capital management is concerned, is on one hand, the compliance with the capital requirements of the Bank of Greece and, on the other hand, maintenance of strong and stable capital basis that supports the business plans of the Bank's management.

The supervisory equity of the Bank is divided into two categories:

- Tier 1 capital: share capital (net of any carrying amount of the treasury shares), minority interests, retained earnings and reserves. The carrying of goodwill is deducted in arriving at Tier 1 capital; and
- Tier 2 capital: qualifying subordinated loan capital, collective impairment allowances and unrealised gains arsing on the fair valuation of equity instruments held as available for sale.

The Group's capital adequacy is calculated according to the relevant directive by the Bank of Greece, which is an enforcement of the directive of the European Union for the capital adequacy of financial institutions and investment funds. The basic objective of Proton Bank, as far as supervisory capital management is concerned, is on one hand, the compliance with the capital requirements of the Bank of Greece and, on the other hand, maintenance of strong and stable capital basis that supports the business plans of the Bank's management.

The risk-weighted assets are measured by means of a hierarchy of five risk weights classified according to the nature of and reflecting an estimate of credit, market and other risks associated with-each asset and counterparty, taking into account any eligible collateral or guarantees. A similar treatment is adopted for off-balance exposure, with some adjustments to reflect the more contingent nature of the potential losses.

The table here below summarizes the composition of regulatory capital of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2007 and 2006 respectively.

Amounts presented in € '00t	Amounts	presented	in	€	100
-----------------------------	---------	-----------	----	---	-----

Tier 1	31.12.2007	31.12.2006
Eligible Capital	281,450	281,450
Share Premium	85,478	85,478
Less: Own Shares	7,668	0
Reserves	191	687
Other Reserves	2,656	3,103
Retained Earnings	18,238	15,069
Valuation Differences	12,540	0
Less: Proposed Dividend	12,385	17,551
Less: Balance from air value adjustments of available for sale loans and bonds	12,526	
Less: F/X differences	13	-
Upper Tier 1 capital	367,961	368,236
Less: Intangible Assets	104,271	117,462
Less : Items deducted from Tier I *	17,242	-
Total TIER 1 items	246,449	250,774
Tier 2		
Less: Items deducted from tier 2*	34,282	18,262
Total TIER 2 items	34,282	18,262
Tier 1 + Tier 2 items	212,167	232,512
Risk-Weighted assets	1,807,109	1,581,224

Capital adequacy ratio	11.74%	14.70%
	31.12.2007	31.12.2006
Deductions From Tier 1 and Tier 2		
Less: Equity Investments On Financial Institutions > 10 %	5,236	13,792
Less: Equity Investments On Insurance Companies	17,040	0
Less: Double Gearing	29,247	4,470
TOTAL DEDUCTIONS	51,523	18,262
Analysed as:		
Tier I items	17,242	-
Tier II items	34,282	18,262
	51,523	18,262

7. SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS

7.1 By Business segment (primary segment)The Group has defined the following business segments: Investment Banking, Other banking activities and insurance and other activities.

Amounts presented in € '000 Total ganking Chebre ganking and other and other and other and other and other activities Total and other and other activities Total and other activities Total activities 43,752 43,752 1,6216 Condition for activities 16,216 0 43,752 27,860 16,216 0 16,216 16,216 0 16,216	insurance and other activities.				
Prinarcial year 1st January - 31st December 2007 Continuing operations Net Income	Amounts presented in € '000		Banking	and other	Total
Continuing operations Net Income 3,303 40,722 43,752 - from interest 3,030 40,722 27,863 - from dividends 16,216 0 15,216 - net trading income and other income 70,357 1,052 755 72,161 Total net Income 112,427 46,811 755 159,993 Net segmental profit before tax 96,181 4,602 69 100,852 Impairment of Goodwill 4,602 69 100,852 Operating expresses not allocated 96,181 4,602 69 100,852 Tax 1 4,602 69 100,852 10,786 15,784 Net profit before tax 2 4 5,766 15,784 16,784 16,786 16,784 16,786 16,784 16,786 16,786 16,786 16,786 17,787 17,787 17,787 17,875 17,875 17,875 17,875 17,875 17,875 17,875 17,875 17,875 17,875 17	•		Acciriacs	decivides	
Net Income 3,030 40,722 43,752 - from interest 3,030 40,722 27,860 - from dividends 16,216 0 16,216 - net brading income and other income 70,357 1,052 755 72,164 Total net Income 112,427 46,811 755 159,993 Net segmental profit before tax 96,181 4,602 69 100,852 Impairment of Goodwill 7,4655 7,4650 7,4650 Operating expenses not allocated 8,606 87,606 7,875 Tax 8,7666 7,875 7,875 Total ret tax 2,772 7,7875 Discontinued operations 8,766 7,875 7,875 Net Income 2,770 27,707 7,7875 Net Income 2,790 27,707 27,707 7,615 1,616 1,616 1,616 1,616 1,616 1,616 1,616 1,616 1,616 1,616 1,616 1,616 1,616 1,616 1,616 <					
From fees and commissions 22,823 5,037 27,866 From dividends 16,216 0 16,216 From dividends 10,327 1,052 755 12,164 From dividends 112,427 46,811 755 159,993 From dividends 112,427 46,811 755 159,993 From dividends 96,181 4,602 69 100,852 From dividends 96,181 96,181 96,181 96,181 From dividends 112,427 46,811 28,298 187,536 From dividends 1,006 3,646 140 4,792 From dividends 1,006 1,006 1,006 From dividends 1,006 3,646 1,006 From dividends 1,006 3,006 From dividends 1,006 3,006					
- from fiees and commissions 22,823 5,037 27,860 - from dividends 16,216 0 16,216 - net trading income and other income 70,357 1,052 755 72,164 Total net Income 112,427 46,811 755 159,993 Net segmental profit before tax 96,181 4,602 69 100,852 Impairment of Goodwill 96,181 4,602 69 100,852 Impairment of Goodwill 1 4,602 69 100,852 Impairment of Goodwill 2 8,606 87,606 Net profit before tax 8,606 87,606 Tax 2 2,707 77,875 Discontinued operations 2 27,707 27,707 From insurance activities 27,707 27,707 - from insurance activities 16,6 16,6 - from insurance activities 27,543 27,843 Tax 1 6,8 16,8 Tax 1 6,8 16,8 <td< th=""><th>- from interest</th><th>3.030</th><th>40.722</th><th></th><th>43,752</th></td<>	- from interest	3.030	40.722		43,752
- find dividends 16,216 0 16,216 - net brading income and other income 70,357 1,052 755 72,164 Total net Income 112,427 46,811 755 159,993 Net segmental profit before tax 96,181 4,602 69 107,855 Operating expenses not allocated 1 7,7875 7,7875 Profit after tax 2 2 87,606 Tax 2 2 9,732 Profit after tax 2 27,707 27,707 Other income 2 27,707 27,707 Other income 1 27,543 27,543 27,543 Net segment profit before tax 1 16 168 168 Tax 1 1,61,91 4,611 28,298 187,536 Total segment income 112,427 46,811 28,298 187,536 Total segment income 112,427 46,811 28,298 187,536 Total segment net profit before tax 1 3,646	- from fees and commissions	-	•		•
ret brading income and other income 70,357 1,052 755 72,164 Total net Income 112,427 46,811 755 159,993 Net segmental profit before tax 96,181 4,602 69 100,852 Impairment of Goodwill 96,181 4,602 69 100,852 Operating expenses not allocated 5,764 5,764 Net profit before tax 2 6,732 6,732 Tox 2 7,7875 7,7875 Discontinued operations 8 2,7707 27,707 Net Income 164 164 164 1 from insurance activities 168 168 168 1 cotal net Income 169 169 161 161 Total net Income 18 168 168 168 Tax 1,06 1,06 1,06 1,06 1,06 Total segment income 112,427 46,811 28,298 187,536 Total segment income 1,00 3,646 4 4,00	- from dividends				
Total net Income 112,427 46,811 755 159,993 Net segmental profit before tax 96,181 4,602 69 100,852 Impairment of Goodwill (7,465) (7,465) (5,784) Operating expenses not allocated 87,606 87,606 Tax (9,732) 77,875 Profit after tax 8,000 27,707 27,707 Profit after tax 27,543 27,507 27,707 27,707 27,707 27,707 27,707 27,707 27,543	- net trading income and other income	-	1,052	755	
Total segment income 112,427 46,811 28,298 187,536 104 192 104 192 192 192 193	Total net Income			755	
	Net segmental profit before tax	96,181	4,602	69	100,852
Net profit before tax 87,606 Tax (9,732) Profit after tax 77,875 Discontinued operations Net Income 27,707 27,707 - from insurance activities 27,543 27,543 - other income 168 168 Total net Income 168 168 Tax 169 169 169 Profit after tax 112,427 46,811 28,298 187,536 Total segment income 112,427 46,811 28,298 187,536 Total segment net profit before tax 96,181 4,602 237 101,020 Depreciation - Amortisation 1,006 3,646 14 4,792 Impairment Losses and Provisions 89 6,892 22,335 29,316 Share on profit from associates 255 47 302 31 December 2007 Segment assets 1,161,197 1,361,679 56,306 2,579,182	Impairment of Goodwill				(7,465)
Tax (9,732) Profit after tax (9,732) Discontinued operations Set Income From insurance activities 27,707 27,707 other income (164) (164) Total net Income 168 168 Ret segment profit before tax 168 168 Tax 169 169 169 Profit after tax 112,427 46,811 28,298 187,536 Total segment income 112,427 46,811 28,298 187,536 Total segment net profit before tax 96,181 4,602 237 101,020 Depreciation - Amortisation 1,006 3,646 140 4,792 Impairment Losses and Provisions 89 6,892 22,335 29,316 Share on profit from associates 255 47 302 31 December 2007 Segment assets 1,161,197 1,361,679 56,306 2,579,182	Operating expenses not allocated			_	(5,784)
Profit after tax 77,875 Discontinued operations Net Income 27,707 27,543 27,543 27,543 27,543 27,543 27,543 21,66 1.66 1.66 1.66 1.66 1.66 1.66 1.66 1.66 2.67 2.67 2.67 2.67 2.67 2.67 2.67 2.67<	Net profit before tax				87,606
Discontinued operations Net Income 27,707 27,707 - from insurance activities 27,707 27,707 - other income (164) (164) Total net Income 168 168 Net segment profit before tax 168 168 Tax (16) (16) Profit after tax 152 152 Total segment income 112,427 46,811 28,298 187,536 Total segment net profit before tax 96,181 4,602 237 101,020 Depreciation - Amortisation 1,006 3,646 140 4,792 Impairment Losses and Provisions 89 6,892 22,335 29,316 Share on profit from associates 255 47 302 31 December 2007 Segment assets 1,161,197 1,361,679 56,306 2,579,182				_	(9,732)
Net Income 27,707 27,707 - other income (164) (164) Total net Income 27,543 27,543 Net segment profit before tax 168 168 Tax (16) (16) Profit after tax 152 152 Total segment income 112,427 46,811 28,298 187,536 Total segment net profit before tax 96,181 4,602 237 101,020 Depreciation - Amortisation 1,006 3,646 140 4,792 Impairment Losses and Provisions 89 6,892 22,335 29,316 Share on profit from associates 255 47 302 31 December 2007 Segment assets 1,161,197 1,361,679 56,306 2,579,182	Profit after tax			=	77,875
- from insurance activities 27,707 27,707 - other income (164) (164) Total net Income 27,543 27,543 Net segment profit before tax 168 168 Tax (16) (16) Profit after tax 152 152 Total segment income 112,427 46,811 28,298 187,536 Total segment net profit before tax 96,181 4,602 237 101,020 Depreciation - Amortisation 1,006 3,646 140 4,792 Impairment Losses and Provisions 89 6,892 22,335 29,316 Share on profit from associates 255 47 302 31 December 2007 Segment assets 1,161,197 1,361,679 56,306 2,579,182	Discontinued operations				
- other income (164) (164) Total net Income 27,543 27,543 Net segment profit before tax 168 168 Tax (16) (16) Profit after tax 152 152 Total segment income 112,427 46,811 28,298 187,536 Total segment net profit before tax 96,181 4,602 237 101,020 Depreciation - Amortisation 1,006 3,646 140 4,792 Impairment Losses and Provisions 89 6,892 22,335 29,316 Share on profit from associates 255 47 302 31 December 2007 Segment assets 1,161,197 1,361,679 56,306 2,579,182	Net Income				
Total net Income 27,543 27,543 Net segment profit before tax 168 168 Tax (16) (16) Profit after tax 152 152 Total segment income 112,427 46,811 28,298 187,536 Total segment net profit before tax 96,181 4,602 237 101,020 Depreciation - Amortisation 1,006 3,646 140 4,792 Impairment Losses and Provisions 89 6,892 22,335 29,316 Share on profit from associates 255 47 302 31 December 2007 Segment assets 1,161,197 1,361,679 56,306 2,579,182	- from insurance activities			27,707	27,707
Net segment profit before tax 168 168 Tax (16) (16) Profit after tax 152 152 Total segment income 112,427 46,811 28,298 187,536 Total segment net profit before tax 96,181 4,602 237 101,020 Depreciation - Amortisation 1,006 3,646 140 4,792 Impairment Losses and Provisions 89 6,892 22,335 29,316 Share on profit from associates 255 47 302 31 December 2007 Segment assets 1,161,197 1,361,679 56,306 2,579,182	- other income		_	(164)	(164)
Tax (16) (16) Profit after tax 152 152 Total segment income 112,427 46,811 28,298 187,536 Total segment net profit before tax 96,181 4,602 237 101,020 Depreciation - Amortisation 1,006 3,646 140 4,792 Impairment Losses and Provisions 89 6,892 22,335 29,316 Share on profit from associates 255 47 302 31 December 2007 Segment assets 1,161,197 1,361,679 56,306 2,579,182	Total net Income			27,543	27,543
Profit after tax 152 152 152 Total segment income Total segment net profit before tax 112,427 46,811 28,298 187,536 Total segment net profit before tax 96,181 4,602 237 101,020 Depreciation - Amortisation Impairment Losses and Provisions Impairment Losses and Provisions Share on profit from associates 89 6,892 22,335 29,316 Share on profit from associates 255 47 302 31 December 2007 Segment assets 1,161,197 1,361,679 56,306 2,579,182				168	
Total segment income 112,427 46,811 28,298 187,536 Total segment net profit before tax 96,181 4,602 237 101,020 Depreciation - Amortisation 1,006 3,646 140 4,792 Impairment Losses and Provisions 89 6,892 22,335 29,316 Share on profit from associates 255 47 302 31 December 2007 Segment assets 1,161,197 1,361,679 56,306 2,579,182					
Total segment net profit before tax 96,181 4,602 237 101,020 Depreciation - Amortisation 1,006 3,646 140 4,792 Impairment Losses and Provisions 89 6,892 22,335 29,316 Share on profit from associates 255 47 302 31 December 2007 Segment assets 1,161,197 1,361,679 56,306 2,579,182	Profit after tax		-	152	152
Depreciation - Amortisation 1,006 3,646 140 4,792 Impairment Losses and Provisions 89 6,892 22,335 29,316 Share on profit from associates 255 47 302 31 December 2007 Segment assets 1,161,197 1,361,679 56,306 2,579,182	-	112,427	46,811	28,298	187,536
Impairment Losses and Provisions 89 6,892 22,335 29,316 Share on profit from associates 255 47 302 31 December 2007 Segment assets 1,161,197 1,361,679 56,306 2,579,182	Total segment net profit before tax	96,181	4,602	237	101,020
Impairment Losses and Provisions 89 6,892 22,335 29,316 Share on profit from associates 255 47 302 31 December 2007 Segment assets 1,161,197 1,361,679 56,306 2,579,182	Depreciation - Amortication	1.000	2.646	140	4 700
Share on profit from associates 255 47 302 31 December 2007 Segment assets 1,161,197 1,361,679 56,306 2,579,182	•		•		
31 December 2007 Segment assets 1,161,197 1,361,679 56,306 2,579,182	•		6,892		
Segment assets 1,161,197 1,361,679 56,306 2,579,182	Share on profit from associates	255		4/	302
1,101,101	31 December 2007				
	Segment assets	1,161,197	1,361,679	56,306	2,579,1 8 2
unallocated assets171,173	unallocated assets			_	171,173
Total assets 2,750,355	Total assets			_	2,750,355

Amounts presented in € '000	Investment Banking	Other Banking Activities	Insurance and other activities	Total
Timound prosented in C. ood		Activities	deci vices	
Segment liabilities unallocated liabilities	441,381	1,467,435	46,766	1,955,582 17,426
Total liabilities			=	1,973,008
Investment in associates	3,886		625	4,511
Amounts presented in € '000	Investment Banking	Other Banking Activities	Insurance and other activities	Total
Financial year 1st January - 31st December 2006 Continuing operations				
Net Income				
- from interest	8,534	8,231	0	16,765
- from fees and commissions	(1,698)	9,569	(5)	7 , 866
- from dividends	1,620	0	0	1,620
- net trading income and other income Total net Income	28,677	943	195	29,815
local nec income	37,132	18,743	190	56,065
Net segmental profit before tax Impairment of Goodwill Operating expenses not allocated	26,523	9,632	(248)	35,906
Net profit before tax				35,906
Tax				(2,904)
Profit after tax			-	33,002
Discontinued operations				
Net Income - from insurance activities			7 700	7 700
- other income			7,790 8	7,790 8
Total net Income		-	7,798	7,798
		•	<u>, </u>	<u> </u>
Net segment profit before tax			(124)	(124)
Tax		-	(12)	(12)
Profit after tax		=	(136)	(136)
Total segment income	37,132	18,743	7,988	63,863
Total segment net profit before tax	26,523	9,632	(372)	35,782
Depreciation - Amortisation	483	1,399	40	1,922
Impairment Losses and Provisions	(1,809)	2,367	4,968	5,526
Share on profit from associates	240	-,- :	,,	240
Amounts presented in € '000	Investment Banking	Other Banking Activities	Insurance and other activities	Total
31 December 2006				
Segment assets	594,634	948,636	36,044	1,579,314
unallocated assets Total assets			_	167,115
10tal 035Ct5			=	1,746,429
Segment liabilities	113,244	1,044,706	41,416	1,199,366
unallocated liabilities			-	1,348
Total liabilities			=	1,200,714
Investment in associates 7.2 By Geographical segment	3,646		625	4,604

A geographical segment is defined as a particular economic environment in which the Group is engaged in providing services and that is subject to different risks and return from those in other economic environments. The substantial part of assets and liabilities are currently held in Greece.

8. NET INTEREST INCOME

Amounts presented in € '000	31/12/2007	31/12/2006
Interest and Similar Income		
From loans and advances to banks	19,335	8,466
From securities	15,537	3,070
From Loans and receivables	84,652	17,424
Other Interest related income	3,168	29
Total	122,692	28,990
Interest and Similar Expenses		
Due to financial institutions		
	(6,250)	(81)
Due to customers	(-0 - 10)	(0.004)
Cartifornia I and 130	(52,740)	(9,281)
Contribution Law 128	(4,849)	(1,321)
Interest on Compound instrument	(4,045)	(1,321)
and the composite instrument	-	
Interest on Borrowing Funds (Financing Loans)		
	(11,442)	(726)
Other Interest related expenses	(2.550)	(0.4.4)
	(3,658)	(814)
Total	(78,939)	(12,224)
Net Interest Income	43,753	16,765

9. NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

Amounts presented in € '000	31/12/2007	31/12/2006
Fee and commission income from:		
Loans and advances to customers	2,051	989
Letters of guarantee	878	111
Imports-Exports	486	106
Credit Cards	2,111	676
Foreign Exchange Transactions	332	86
Securities brokerage	21,050	5,840
Remittance	142	32
Management of Securities and Investment Banking	16,915	2,456
Total	43,966	10,296
Fee and commission expense from:		
Guarantees, Credit Cards	(887)	(275)
Securities brokerage & safekeeping	(11,576)	(1,780)
Loans Fees and Commissions	(3,642)	(2,587)
Total	(16,105)	(2,430)
Net fee and commission income	27,861	7,866

10. DIVIDEND INCOME

Amounts presented in € '000	31/12/2007	31/12/2006
Dividends from AFS securities	15	23
Dividends from trading securities	16,202	1,597
Dividends from Subsidiaries		
Total	16,217	1,620

11. NET RESULT FROM FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES

Amounts presented in € '000	31/12/2007	31/12/2006
Foreign Exchange Differences	409	522
Purchase and sale of securities	91,909	23,263
Valuation of securities	(8,844)	12,728
Foreign Exchange Differences	(16,762)	177
Derivative instruments	1,708	(8,243)
Discount interests	_	70_
Total	68.421	28,517

12. OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Amounts presented in € '000	31/12/2007	31/12/2006
Building rentals	74	20
Non-banking activities	59	388
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets	-	2
Exchange Differences (other than trading activities)	_	897
Other income	1,347	(10)
Total	1,480	1,297

13. STAFF COSTS

Amounts presented in € '000	31/12/2007	31/12/2006
Wages and salaries	(18,451)	(6,515)
Social insurance contribution	(4,066)	(1,200)
Pension and retirement costs	(625)	(41)
Other employee costs	(1,012)	(82)
Stock option cost	(983)	
Total	(25,136)	(7,838)
Markey of analysis	31/12/2007	31/12/2006
Number of employees	660	640

On 31^{st} December 2007 the Group employed 669 employees, while the Company employed just 1 employee.

14. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

Amounts presented in € '000	31/12/2007	31/12/2006
Rentals	(4,060)	(1,147)
Maintainance costs	(1,562)	(420)
Promotion and advertising costs	(1,077)	(241)
Telephone expenses and postage	(1,247)	(476)
Other third parties fees	(4,606)	(1,286)
Contribution to Hellenic Deposit Guarantee Fund	(1,455)	(277)
Subscriptions and other contribution expenses	(4,626)	(2,936)
Insurance fees	(338)	(72)
Consumables	(518)	(242)
Taxes (Value Added, Property, etc.)	(2,016)	(877)
Insurance agency costs	- · · · · · · · · -	-
Other operating expenses	(4,331)	(2,135)
Total	(25,836)	(10,109)

15. DEPRECIATION

Amounts presented in € '000	31/12/2007	31/12/2006
Amortization of intangible assets acquired through business combinations	(4,173)	(1,043)
Property, plant & equipment Intangible assets	(2,368) (685)	(574) (275)
Total	(7,225)	(1,893)

16. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

Amounts presented in € '000	31/12/2007	31/12/2006
Loans and receivables	(6,892)	(275)
Financial investments	(36)	(261)
Other assets	(53)	(22)
Total impairment charge for credit losses	(6,981)	(558)
	(0,301)	(556)

17. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The tax charge for the year is analyzed below:

Current Year Tax	31/12/2007	31/12/2006
Current Tax expense	10,258	2,285
Income tax provisions	835	•
Deferred Tax	(1,362)	619
Total tax charge	9,732	2,904

The reconciliation of the income tax expense for the year is as follows:

Amounts presented in € '000	31/12/2007	31/12/2006
Profit before tax	87,606	35,907
Income tax at normal rates (25% / 24%) Adjustments for:	21,902	8,618
Income tax saved on profits generated in other juristictions (tax free)	(14,319)	(4,812)
Non-taxable income	468	(3,577)
Non-deductible expense	272	216
Addition tax on property, plant and equipment	8	5
Tax on tax inspection differences	557	-
Provision for income tax liabilities	844	-
Special taxation of prior years' reserves		2,453
Income tax expense	9,732	2,904

The Group operates in a number of different jurisdictions. Income generated by entities established under Greek Law is subject to income tax according to the Greek Income Taxation Code. Profits recorded in the jurisdictions of Bermuda and Marshall Islands are tax free.

Under Greek legislation, normal income tax rates applicable to all entities incorporated in the form of societe anonyme are 25% for the year 2007 and 29% for the year 2006. PROTON BANK took advantage of the Law 2992/2002 tax incentive scheme, applicable to entities engaged into mergers, and was taxed at a reduced rate of 24% in 2006.

The Proton Bank has been reviewed by the Local Tax Authorities for the years up to and including 2006. The tax audit for the years 2005 and 2006 was finalized on 16 November 2007, where an additional tax expense of 529 thousand Euros was offset in liabilities since the tax calculated exceeds the amount due up to and including 2006. For the un-audited period ended on 31 December 2007 the Bank has charged its profits for potential taxable differences. Due to method according to which tax liabilities are settled in Greece, the Bank remains contingently liable to additional taxes and penalties for un-audited periods.

Income tax liability for Proton Group is not considered as final as it is further analyzed in par. 34.

Deferred tax recognized in the income statement is attributable to:

Amounts presented in € '000	31/12/2007	31/12/2006
Loans and receivables	(769)	(522)
Employee bonuses	(257)	(195)
Accrued income		(214)
Other assets		(43)
Financial assets	1,430	_
Financial receivables	15	(2)
Retirement benefit obligations	23	ź
Financial liabilities	(50)	20
Revaluation on OTC forwards	10	128
Property, plant & equipment and intangible assets	1,235	207
Deferred Tax on taxable loss	(275)	
Total deferred tax	(1,362)	619

18. CASH AND BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANK

Amounts presented in € '000	31/12/2007	31/12/2006
Cash on hand and cash in course of collection	34,384	10,014
Cheques receivable	12,344	12,018
Included in cash and cash equivalents	46,728	22,032
Mandatory reserve deposits with Central Bank	6,068	15,366
Total	52,796	37,398

Mandatory reserves with the central bank are not available for everyday use by the Group.

19. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

Amounts presented in € '000	31/12/2007	31/12/2006
Deposits placed in other financial institutions	356,142	48,264
Nostro accounts	-	47,877
Time deposits	155,133	84,367
Cheques receivables	1,053	1,377
	512,327	181,885
Placements with other banks (over 90 days)	15,082	
Total	527,410	181,8 8 5

The Company's cash equivalents refer to sight deposits in other financial institutions.

20.TRADING PORTFOLIO AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT & LOSS

Amounts presented in € '000		
Trading Portfolio	31/12/2007	31/12/2006
Government bonds	23,850	18,441
Corporate entities bonds	102, 94 2	119,146
Mutual funds	8,903	23,996
Equity securities	38,686	102,591
	174,381	264,174

Other financial instruments at fair value through Profit & Loss

Corporate entities bonds 5,421

Total 179,802 264,174

21. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The notional and fair values of derivatives held at 31st December 2007 were:

Amounts presented in € '000 Derivatives held for trading	Notional amount	31st December 2007 Assets	Liabilities
a) trading in Exchanges			
Options	3,583	-	136
Forwards / Futures	9,418	_	
	13,001		136
ь) отс			
Interest rate swaps	489,672	4,302	4,240
Options	1,770,193	6,861	6,836
FX Forwards	324,064	-	3,358
Credit default swaps	30,000	72	-
Share Swap	10,000	294	
	2,623,929	11,529	14,434
Total recognised derivative assets /liabilities	2,636,930	11,529	14,570
Amounts presented in € '000	Notional amount	31st December 2006 FAIR VALUE Assets	Liabilities
Derivatives held for trading			
a) trading in Exchanges			
Options	12,648	224	100
Forwards / Futures	335,751		
	348,399	224	100
ь) отс			
Interest rate swaps	594,452	1,992	2,427
Options	3,037	28	7
FX Forwards	281,187	-	3,753
Credit default swaps	13,417	42	32
Total return swap	10,000	325	_ _
	902,093	2,387	6,219
Total recognised derivative assets /liabilities	1,250,492	2,611	6,319

The notional amount of certain types of derivative financial instruments provide a basis for comparison with instruments recognised on the balance sheet but do not necessarily indicate the amounts of future cash flows

involved or the current fair value of the instruments and, therefore, do not indicate the Group's exposure to credit or price risks. The derivative instruments become favourable (assets) or unfavourable (liabilities) as a result of fluctuations in market interest rates or foreign exchange rates relative to their terms. The aggregate contractual or notional amount of derivative financial instruments on hand, to the extent to which instruments are favourable or unfavourable, and thus the aggregate fair values of derivative financial assets and liabilities, can fluctuate significantly from time to time.

The Group does not apply hedge accounting as described in IAS 39, therefore the gains and losses arising on derivative financial instruments are recognised in the income statement.

22. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS

The loan portfolio at a Group level is analyzed as follows:

Loans are measured at amortized cost. Loans fair value is not materially different from their carrying amount. The movements in the provisions account are as follows:

Amounts presented in € '000	31/12/2007	31/12/2006
Retail Customers		
Mortgages	48,341	51,810
Consumer Loans /Loans to individuals	159,010	88,372
Credit cards	37,232	28,197
Total loans and receivables to individuals	244,584	<i>168,379</i>
Corporate Customers		
Agriculture	57,847	5,259
Mining	1,309	1,149
Heavy industry	113,773	42,373
Small Industry	12,946	14,957
Building / construction	139,832	73,454
Energy	310	2,163
Commercial / Insurance	259,391	202,202
Transportation	205,918	93,516
Financial institutions	45,906	-
Services	29,752	36,954
Other companies	222,280	328,720
Total loans and receivables to companies	1,089,263	800,745
Finance lease receivables	69,858	11,388
Total Loans and receivables	1,403,705	980,512
Less: Allowances for losses (impairment) on loans and advances		
to customers	(35,680)	(39,298)
Total	1,368,025	941,214

Loans and advances to customers include finance lease receivables. Group's finance lease receivables refer to buildings, machineries and vehicles which are leased under a finance lease agreement to corporations.

Amounts presented in € '000	31/12/2007	31/12/2006	
Net investment in finance leases	•		
Gross Investment in leased equipment			
Less than 1 year	15,947	1,725	
Between 1 to 5 years	61,795	5,635	
More than 5 years	20,968	9,825	
Less: unearned finance income	(28,852)	(5,797)	
Net investments in leased equipment	69,858	11,388	
The Net finance leases receivables comprises:			
Less than 1 year	11,286	1,143	
Between 1 to 5 years	43,733	3,734	
More than 5 years	14,839	6,511	

	69	69,858			
Movement in allowances for credit losses	31/12/2007	31/12/2006	_		
Amounts presented in € '000					
Balance at the beginning of the year	39,298	0			
Allowances from acquisitions (Proton Bank)	0	1,174			
Allowances from acquisitions (Omega Bank)	0	40,071			
Impairment	6,892	275			
Writte-offs	(10,509)	(2,222)	_		
Balance at the end of the year	35,681	39,298			

23. INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO

Total

The Group's investment portfolio comprises financial instruments available for sale and held to maturity.

Amounts presented in € '000	31/12/2007 31/12/2			
Investments held to maturity				
Government bonds	6,659	6,646		
Corporate bonds	3,058	-/		
Total investment held to maturity	9,717	6,646		
Available for sale portfolio (at fair value)				
Corporate bonds	112,339	28,458		
Equity securities	5,991	5,502		
Mutual Funds	-	30		
Other investments	2,092	345		
Government bonds	129,805	-		
Less: Provision for losses (impairment)		(3,004)		
Total available for sale securities	250,227	31,331		
Total Investment Portfolio	259,944	37,977		

Held to maturity investments mainly refer to Greek Government Bonds for which the Group has the ability and the intention to hold to maturity. The fair value of the above mentioned financial instruments at 31 December 2007 is calculated at € 9,785 thousands Euros (plus accrued interest).

The movement in the investment portfolio for the year ended 31/12/2007 may be summarized as follows:

Amounts presented in € '000	Investments held- to-maturity 2007	Financial assets available for sale 2007	Total 2007
Balance as at 1st January 2007	6,646	30,977	37,623
Additions from the acquisition of Proton Bank			-
Additions from the acquisition of Omega Bank			-
Additions	3,000	226,424	229,424
Redemptions			-
Disposal		(238)	(238)
Accruals	71	5,602	5,673
Gains / (losses) from changes in fair value		(13,125)	(13,125)

Balance as at 31st December 2007	9,717	250,227	259,944
Transfer of impairment losses to other assets		3,004	3,004
Transfer		(3,004)	(3,004)
Derecognition of loans and receivables		587	587
Amortization of premium/ discount			-

24. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

Investment in associates refers to a 29.20% holding of Proton Bank to the closed-end fund Omega AEEX, a company listed on ASE, and its fair value as at December 31, 2007 is € 3,426 thousand (December 31, 2006: € 3,777 thousand).

Some brief financial information on the associates is given below:

Amounts presented in € '000	Domicile	Assets	Liabilities	Profits /(losses)	Participation %
Omega Portfolio Investment SA	Greece	15,823	91	1,034	6,01%

Investments in associates are accounted under the equity method.

25. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Amounts presented in € '000	Land	Buildings	Machinery	Vehicles	Furniture	Total	Investment Property
Balance at 1 January 2007							
Cost	11,151	15,294	62	220	9,861	36,588	50
Accumulated depreciation		(765)	(24)	(84)	(2,313)	(3,186)	
Net carrying amount	11,151	14,529	38	136	7,548	33,402	50
Year ended 31December 2007							
Opening currying amount	11,151	14,529	38	136	7,548	33,402	
Transfer to assets held for sale						-	
Cost	(813)	(1,301)	-	(36)	(221)	(2,371)	(50)
Accumulated depreciation	-	43	ü	6	66	115	
Additions	-	1,855	10	4	1,464	3,333	
Disposals - cost of acquisition	(3,105)	(1,053)	-	(3)	(2)	(4,163)	
Disposals - accumulated depreciation	-	22	-	-	1	23	
Depreciation charge	-	(1,018)	(9)	(38)	(1,393)	(2,458)	
Closing net book value	7,233	13,077	39	69	7,463	27,881	(50)
Balance at 31 December 2007							
Cost	7,233	14,795	72	185	11,102	33,387	-
Accumulated depreciation	-	(1,718)	(34)	(116)	(3,639)	(5,507)	
Net book value	7,233	13,077	38	69	7,463	27,880	-

26. NON CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

Amounts presented in € '000	31.12.2007	31.12.2006
Asset of "Proton Insurance' (Note 42)	53,509	-
Land	148	64
Buildings	70	<u>-</u>
Total	53,727	64

The account includes land and building acquired by means of foreclosure and auctions.

27. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Amounts presented in € '000		Customer relations & other intangible assets	Software	Total
Balance at 1 January 2007				
Cost	168,353	19,538	4.564	192,455
Accumulated amortisation	ŕ	(1,043)	(1,312)	(2,355)
Net carrying amount	168,353	18,495	3,252	190,100
Year ended 31 December 2007				
Opening net carrying amount	168,353	18,495	3,252	190,100

Transfer in assets held for sale:	0			0
-Cost	(12,393)		(126)	(12,519)
-Accumulated amortisation	0		46	46
Additions	1,224		309	1,533
Write-off, disposals				
-Cost			(8)	(8)
-Accumulated amortisation			1	1
Amortisation charge		(4,173)	(730)	(4,903)
Impairment charge	(7,465)			(7,465)
Closing net carrying amount	149,719	14,322	2,744	166,785
Balance at 31 December 2007				
Cost	157,184	19,538	4,747	181,469
Accumulated amortisation, impairment	(7,465)	(5,216)	(2,003)	(14,684)
Net carrying amount	149,719	14,322	2,744	166,785
Amounts presented in € '000				
Year ended 31 December 2006				
Opening net carrying amount	_		-	-
Business Combinations effected during the	160 252	10 530	2 472	101 264
period	168,353	19,538	3,473	191,364
Additions			1 64	1 64
Write-off, disposals				-
-Cost				-
-Accumulated amortisation				
Amortisation charge		(1,043)	(386)	(1,429)
Impairment charge				-
Closing net carrying amount	168,353	18,495	3,251	190,099

Additions to goodwill during the year 2007 are attributable to acquisition of additional stake in Proton and other subsidiaries.

"Goodwill and other intangible assets" include business combination differences as described in Note 46. The relevant amount has been determined provisionally, since the process of identifying and measuring the identifiable intangible assets has not been finalised. The significant intangible assets that it is expected to arise are bank customer relationships, brokerage customer relationships, trade name and core deposits. The first impairment test of goodwill and intangible assets will take place when the purchase price allocation is finalised. The entire amount of goodwill has been allocated, for impairment test purposes, to one group of cash-generating units (CGUs) comprising the banking operations in Greece (Proton Group).

The recoverable amount of Proton Group has been determined based on value in use calculations. The cash flows are determined on the basis of maximum dividend available to the parent company after taking into consideration Proton's profitability and its capital requirements. That calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a four-year period. Proton's cash flows beyond the four-year period are extrapolated using a steady 2% growth rate and 16.2% return on equity. This growth rate does not exceed the average growth rate for the market in which Proton operates.

The estimation of future cash flows requires high degree of management judgment and is based on assumptions about future events and market factors. The key assumptions used for the value in use calculations are the following:

Average growth of loan portfolio for the budgeted period	27.8%
Average growth of customer deposits for the budgeted period	24.3%
Average growth of the risk weighted assets for the budgeted period	22.7%
Minimum capital requirements (Tier I)	8.0%
Average net interest margin	2.1%
Weighted average increase in pre-tax profit	31.1%
Discount rate (pre-tax cost of equity)	10.4%

Management determined budgeted increase in loans and deposits as well as interest margins based on past performance and its expectations of market development. The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the Greek banking industry.

The Group has reported an impairment loss of € 7,465 being the excess of Proton's carrying amount before the recognition of the impairment over its recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount is particularly sensitive into various assumptions. If management has used different assumptions for the estimation of the value in use, then the amount of the impairment loss would have been different:

- If the discount rate was 10% greater, then an additional impairment loss of € 12,406 would have been recognized, while if the discount rate was decreased by 10% then no impairment loss would have been recognized.
- If the growth rate was decreased to 1.5% then an additional impairment loss of € 2,606 would have been recognized, while if growth rate was set at 2.5% the impairment loss would have been decreased by € 2,937.
- If future cash flows for the budgeted period were decreased by 5%, then an additional impairment loss
 of € 1,305 would have been recognized, while if future cash flows of the budgeted period are increased
 by 5% the impairment loss would have been decreased by € 1,305.
- If the return on equity after the budgeted period was decreased by 10% then an additional impairment loss of € 12,406 would have been recognized, while if the return on equity was increased by 10% then no impairment loss would have been recognized.

28. DEFERRED TAX

Deferred tax has been calculated based on the nominal tax rate applicable for the financial years in which a temporary taxable and deductible difference reversal is expected.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following items:

Amounts presented in € '000	31/12/200	07	31/12/2000	5
	Deferred Ta	ax	Deferred Tax	(
	Asset	Liability	Asset	Liability
Retirement benefit obligations	296		392	
Financial liabilities	192		242	
Property, plant & equipment		548	118	
Intangible assets		3,581	216	
Staff bonuses and allowances	-			
Tax Deductible losses	-		276	
Commission from loan advances	168			
Finance Leases	567			
Provision for bad depts	1,063			
Financial assets at fair value through profit or				
loss	1,430			2, 44 5
Available for sale financial assets	3,359	2,800		
Other financial assets	9			520
Other assets	16			6
Total	7,095	6,928	1,244	2,971
Amount set-off	(548)	-	(1,244)	(1,244)
Balance at 31 December	6,551	6,928	•	1,727

29. OTHER ASSETS

The Group's other assets and the company's other assets account are analysed as follows:

Amounts presented in € '000	31/12/2007	31/12/2006
Other Assets		
Advances to employees	28	26
Advances to third parties	52	50
Contributions to Co-Guarantee Fund and Supplementary Fund	12,640	4,901
Guarantee fees	621	7,698
Prepayments to third parties	139	68
Brokerage fees receivables	15,539	8
Credit card receivables	1,751	2,095
Prepaid Taxes and other tax advances	8,963	3,946
Sundry debtors and other receivables	17,436	16,904
Bad debts (other than loans and receivables)	4,206	1,199
Loans to related parties	0	-
Receivables from related parties	2	-
Receivables from foreign stock exchange	4,608	-
Bond subscriptions	30,411	
	96,396	36,895
Less:Provisions for losses (impairment) of receivables besides loans	(4,921)	(2,010)
Total	91,474	34,885

30. DUE TO FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

Amounts presented in € '000	31/12/2007	31/12/2006
Interbank deposits	392,371	33,933
Sight deposits	201	-
Short-Term Loans	•	438
Time deposits	28,864	-
Sale and repurchase agreement (REPOS)	12,505	56,526
Total	433,941	90,897

All the Sale and repurchase agreements (REPOS) have a maturity of one month from the date of 31st December 2007.

31. DUE TO CUSTOMERS

Amounts presented in € '000	31/12/2007	31/12/2006
Due to Customers		
Retail Customers		
Savings account	57,700	64,497
Sight deposits	18,175	1,122
Time deposits	794,343	586,410
Deposits under notice	1,738	
	871,956	652,029
Corporate Customers		
Sight deposits	67,898	72,104
	-	
Time deposits:	-	
Companies	319,249	134,417

Total	1,422,139	1,042,157
Margin accounts	40,800	35,543
Pledged deposits	59,534	50,361
Blocked deposits	184	29
	449,665	304,195
Sale and repurchase agreement (REPOS)	986	920
Other time deposits	55 ,69 4	84,401
Public companies	5,838	4,565
Public Organizations	-	7,788

All the Sale and repurchase agreements (REPOS) have a maturity of one month from the date of 31st December 2007.

32. ISSUED DEBT SECURITIES

	31.12.2007	31.12.2006
Eurobond with maturity 2017	25,283	
Proton Insurance Bond		1,500
Total	25,283	1.500

Eurobond with maturity 2017

Standard loan Eurobond with a duration of 10 years, till 13 July 2017, closely related with DBFRB USD Index. The main elements of the debt securities in issue are as follows:

Issue date: 13 July 2007

Principal amount: 25.000.000 euros

Bond coupons: quarterly

Interest rate:

2007-2008	5.15 per cent.
2008-2009	5.15 per cent.
2009-2010	8.75 per cent less the cumulative return of the DBFRB USD Index (max 8,75%, min 0,00%)
2010-2011	9.00 per cent less the cumulative return of the DBFRB USD Index (max 9,00%, min 0,00%)
2011-2012	9.50 per cent less the cumulative return of the DBFRB USD Index (max 9,50%, min 0,00%)
2012-2013	9.50 per cent less the cumulative return of the DBFRB USD Index (max 9,50%, min 0,00%)
2013-2014	10.00 per cent less the cumulative return of the DBFRB USD Index (max 10,00%, min 0,00%)
2014-2015	10.00 per cent less the cumulative return of the DBFRB USD Index (max 10,00%, min 0,00%)
2015-2016	10.00 per cent less the cumulative return of the DBFRB USD Index (max 10,00%, min 0,00%)
2016-2017	10.00 per cent less the cumulative return of the DBFRB USD Index (max 10,00%, min 0,00%)

Form and denomination: The Bond Loan is constituted by five hundred (500) Bonds and the nominal amount of each Bond is EUR 50,000.

The aggregate nominal amount of the Bonds shall be EUR 25,000,000. The Bonds will be issued in Bond Certificates each one of which comprises one or more Bonds.

Duration: 10 years

Scheduled redemption: Unless previously redeemed, or purchased and cancelled, the Bonds will be redeemed at their principal amount on the Final Maturity Date.

Purpose of the issuance: To strengthen solvency.

Proton Insurance Bond

The caption of the balance sheet "Debt securities in issue" as of 31 December 2006 refers to a loan of Proton Insurance. More precisely:

The Managing Director in order to participate in the placement of the bond issued by Omega Insurance S.A., has entered into an equal-amount loan agreement with Omega Bank. Basic characteristics of the bond are the following:

Issue date: June 27, 2006

Par value: 1.500 t Coupon rate: 5%

Title form and number: 500.000 coupon bonds with par value 3 euro each, can be formed in a single or multiple cumulative title

Duration: Perpetuity with five-year notice of prepayment from the issuer, or relevant decision of the general assembly of the bondholders

Use of funds: Strengthening of capital requirements.

The relevant liability for the year ended 31 December 2007 is presented under the caption "Liabilities directly associated with assets held for sale (note 42).

33. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATION

Amounts presented in € '000

The retirement benefit obligations to personnel is described as follows:

Amount recognized in Balance Sheet		
Present value of unfunded benefit obligations	1,317	1,382
Unrecognised actuarial profits / (losses)	(178)	(154)
Total Liabilities at the end of period	1,139	1,228
Amounts recognized in Income Statement	31/12/2007	31/12/2006
Current service cost	277	106
Interest cost	44	10
Net actuarial losses recognized	1	12
Settlements	302	1
Total	624	129
The change in liabilities is described below:		

31/12/2007

31/12/2006

Amounts presented in € '000		
Change in liabilities:	31/12/2007	31/12/2006
Opening balance	1,228	200
Less: transfer in discontinued operations	(275)	<u>-</u>
	953	200
Increase due to acquisition of Proton Bank		
Increase due to business combination with Omega		1,086
Expense for the period	625	129
Compensation paid	(438)	(187)
Total liability recognized in Balance Sheet	1,140	1,228

The main actuarial assumptions used are provided below:

	31/12/2007	31/12/2006
Discount Rate	4.90%	4.10%
Future salary increases	4.70%	4.70%
Personnel turnover rate	0.50%	0.50%
	<u>EVK</u>	<u>EVK</u>
Mortality rates	2,000	2,000

34. CURRENT INCOME TAX LIABILITIES

Amounts presented in € '000	31/12/2007	31/12/2006
Income Tax on Taxable Profits	9,671	1,349
Provision of tax liabilities	828	_
Total	10,498	1,349

35. OTHER LIABILITIES

Amounts presented in € '000	31/12/2007	31/12/2006
Withholding taxes arising from salaries	542	510
Taxes and duties payable from customers' deposits	439	253
Other withholding taxes and duties	188	2,332
Prior year income taxes (from tax audit)	541	1,320
Social security contributions	878	859
Dividends Payable	95	34
Withholdings in favour of third parties	0	2
Salaries Payable	239	311
Brokerage transactions in foreign derivatives	0	13,782
Brokerage services securities and derivatives	266	74
Brokerage services -Cyprus	-	31
Suppliers and other third party liabilities	10,983	1,919
Amounts payable to related parties		19
Total	14,170	21,445

36. SHARE CAPITAL & SHARE PREMIUM

Amounts in €' 000	Number of shares	Nominal value (US\$)	Share capital in US\$	Share capital	Share premium	Total
Opening balance at 31 December 2006	56,861,675	-	85	71	200,174	200,245
Exchange of 666,645 warrants for common shares (Private Program)	76,188	0.0015	0.11	0.09	-	0.09
Exchange of 18,850,125 warrants for common shares (Public Program)	2,154,300	0.0015	3	2	-	2
Exercise of 47,548,029 warrants for the purchase of 1.20 shares for \$ 5.00 each (Private Program)	57,057,634	0.0015	86	64	178,782	178,846
Exercise of 11,005,340 warrants for the purchase of 1.20 shares for \$ 5.00 each (Public Program)	13,206,407	0.0015	20	15	40 ,299	40,313
Less: Expenses directly attributable to the issue of shares	. ,		-	-	(4,287)	(4,287)
Less: Treasury shares buy back and cancellation	(4,523,810)	0.0015	(7)	(4)	(14,525)	(14,529)
Closing balance at 31 December 2007	124,832,394	-	187	147	400,443	400,590

Authorised share capital

	Preference S	Preference Shares of US\$0.0001 each		Common Sh	Common Shares of US\$0.001S each	
	Number	Amount in US\$	Amount in €	Number	Amount in US\$	Amount in €
Authorized at 31 December 2007	2,500,000	250	208	200,000,000	300,000	249,314

Year 2007

Movements in share capital and share premium during 2007

The Company issued and publicly offered 45,833,340 Units on 14 November 2005 ("Offering"). Each Unit consisted of one share of the Company's common stock and two warrants. Each Warrant entitles the holder to purchase from the Company one share of Common Stock at an exercise price of \$5.00 per share.

According to the Offering, each warrant would become exercisable on the earlier of (i) completion of a business combination which, when combined with all of previous business combinations, has an aggregate transaction value of at least 50 per cent of the initial amount placed in Trust together with such funds as are deposited in the Trust fund following the stabilization period (a "Qualified Business Combination") and (ii) where a business combination has occurred but a Qualified Business Combination is not completed within 18 months after admission, or within 24 months after admission if a letter or intent, agreement in principle or definitive agreement has been signed by the Company during the initial 18 month period but such acquisition has not been consummated, or unless extended by majority shareholder approval (the date by which such Qualified Business Combination has to occur in any of these circumstances being the "Extended Date"), the relevant date shall be the extended date and will expire on the earlier of redemption or the date that is four years after the admission date.

Following the approval of the acquisition of PROTON BANK by the Special Shareholders Meeting, the 91.666.680 Warrants became exercisable and may be exercised by 14 November 2009.

During 2007, the Company modified the terms of its Warrants to induce the early exercise of these Warrants. Under two Warrant programs, a private program offered to certain qualified investors (the "Private Program") and a subsequent public program offered to all warrant holders (the "Public Program"), IRF temporarily (1) increased the number of Common Shares received upon exercise of a Warrant from one Common Share to 1.20 Common Shares on payment of \$5.00, and (2) permitted the exercise of a Warrant such that the Holder received one Common Share in exchange for every 8.75 Warrants surrendered. Warrant holders were able to use one or both methods to convert their Warrants into Common Shares.

Movements in share capital and share premium during the year

- The **Private Program** expired on 23 March 2007. Under this program, 48,214,674 Warrants participated, of which 47,548,029 Warrants were exercised by payment of the \$5.00 exercise price and 666,645 Warrants were exchanged for Common Shares. As a result, 57,133,822 new Common Shares were issued and \$237,740,145 of gross cash proceeds was raised.
 - o 666,645 Warrants were exchanged for 76,188 Common Shares with nominal value of \$0.0015. As a result, the amount of \$ 114 (€ 86) was transferred from the share premium account to the share capital account.
 - o 47,548,029 Warrants were exercised by payment of the \$5.00 exercise price and 57,057,634 new Common Shares with \$0.0015 nominal value were issued. Total gross cash of \$237,740,145 (€ 178,846,118) was raised. As a result, share capital was increased by \$85,587 (€ 64,385) and share premium was increased by \$237,654,559 (€178,781,734).
- The **Public Program** expired on 26 April 2007. Under this program, 29,855,465 Warrants participated, of which 11,005,340 Warrants were exercised by payment of the \$5.00 exercise price and 18,850,125 Warrants were exchanged for Common Shares. As a result, 15,360,707 new Common Shares were issued and \$55,026,700 of gross cash proceeds was raised.

- 18,850,125 Warrants were exchanged for 2,154,300 Common Shares with nominal value of \$0.0015.
 As a result, the amount of \$3,231 (€2,368) was transferred from the share premium account to the share capital account.
- 11,005,340 Warrants were exercised by payment of the \$5.00 exercise price and 13,206,407 new Common Shares with \$0.0015 nominal value were issued. Total gross cash of \$55,026,700 (€ 40,315,555) was raised. As a result, share capital was increased by \$23,041 (€ 16,881) and share premium was increased by \$55,003,659 (€40,298,673).
- Fees and expenses incurred in connection with the private and public program are amounted to \$
 5,591,257 (€4,287,287). The relevant amount has been recognized directly in equity as a deduction in
 the share premium account.

The Board of Directors of IRF, in their 24 July 2007 meeting, resolved to purchase up to 11 million treasury common shares for cancellation, having a par value of \$ 0.0015. IRF acquired 3.5 million shares on 26 July 2007 and 1,023,810 shares on 24 December 2007 for a total of \$20.34 million (Euro 14,529 th.). All of these shares were subsequently cancelled.

All transactions with common shares and warrants are denominated into US dollars. Amounts have been translated into Euro, the functional currency of the Group, by using the exchange rate applicable at each transaction date.

After the above movements, IRF' had 124,832,394 common shares and 13,596,541 Warrants outstanding on 31 December 2007.

Year 2006

On 27 June 2006 the Special General Meeting of the Company's Shareholders approved the acquisition of PROTON BANK. The respective acquisition qualified as a business combination according to the Offering circular with the following consequences:

- Funds held under the Trust Account were released and were available to the Company for the acquisition of PROTON and for any other use.
- The Company was relieved from the obligation to repay the Offering proceeds to the shareholders, except for the shareholder who elected in the General Meeting to redeem their shares. In particular, shareholders of 430.000 shares elected to have their shares repurchased by the Company.

Based on the decision of the General Meeting of the shareholders:

- 430.000 shares were cancelled and therefore the number of common and fully paid shares was reduced to 56,861,675.
- The amount of € 1,914,672 (\$ 2,425,392) was repaid to these shareholders
- The balance of € 189,940,006 (\$ 241,449,403) was transferred from the liabilities (compound financial instrument) to equity (share premium account).
- Warrants issued during the Offering became exercisable as follows:

On 20 December 2006 the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders decided the increase of the authorized share capital of the Company from US\$ 223,687.53 to US\$ 300,250 by the creation of an additional 51,041,645 common shares of par value US\$ 0.0015 each and the relevant amendment of the bye-law 3 of the Company's bye-laws in order to reflect the increase.

The holders of common shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share on a poll at meetings of the Company.

The Company is authorized to issue 2,500,000 shares of preferred stock with such designations, voting and other rights and preferences as may be determined from time to time by the Board of Directors.

37. OTHER RESERVES

Amounts presented in € '000	31/12/2007	31/12/2006
Revaluation Reserves		
Translation Reserve	(5)	(2)
Reserve from the revaluation of Available for sale financial assets	(2.564)	

Total	(2,570)	(2)
Other reserves		
Statutory reserves	275	39
Reserve of subsidiary's stock option program	200	-
Other reserves	16,112	16,117
Total	16,587	16,156

38. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - CASH FLOW STATEMENT

For the purposes of preparing the Cash Flow Statement of the Group, the short-term placements in other financial institutions, which are either immediately available or available within 90 days, were included in the cash account.

Amounts presented in € '000	31/12/2007	31/12/2006
Cash and balances with Central Bank (note 18)	46,728	22,032
Loans and advances to financial institutions (note 19)	512,327	181,885
Cash and other equivalents for asset held for sale (note 42)	316	-
Total - Included in cash and cash equivalents	559,371	203,917

39. COMPLETION OF INITIAL ACCOUNTING FOR OMEGA ACQUISITION

39.1 Completion of initial accounting for Omega acquisition

On 7th September 2006, the Extraordinary General Assembly of shareholders of Proton Bank decided on the merger of the Bank with Omega Bank and Proton Securities. The acquisition (merger) of Omega Bank was affected by means of issuing and exchanging shares. The purchase consideration was determined based on the market price of Proton's share at the date of exchange.

According to IFRS 3 "Business Combinations", the above combination was accounted for by applying the purchase method. The acquisition date is the date when control is transferred to the Group. The merger of the two banks was approved by the General Meeting of the Shareholders at 7th September 2006. However the merger was effective since 29th September 2006 when it was approved by all relevant authorities. As of the acquisition date, the Group should, in accordance with IFRS 3allocate the purchase price to all identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired business. Due to the complexity of this procedure, the Group took advantage of IFRS 3 option to determine the initial accounting of a business provisionally. According to IFRS3, the Purchase Price Allocation should be completed within one (1) year from the acquisition date.

During the current year, the Group completed the identification and the measurement of the net assets acquired, including intangible assets. The relevant assets and liabilities were measured at their fair value at the acquisition date. The fair value of the intangible assets has been determined by discounted cash flow models performed by independent appraisals.

The identifiable assets and liabilities acquired on the date of the acquisition are as follows:

	Omega Carrying	Adjustment	Fair value
Amounts presented in € '000	amount		
Cash and balances with the Central Bank	11,169		11,169
Cash and cash equivalents	155,982		155,982
Loans and receivables	766,608	(9,967)	756,641
Insurance receivables	20,176		20,176
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss	40,276		40,276
Derivative financial instruments	368		368
Available-for-sale assets	31,024		31,024
Investments in associates	4,356		4,356

Amounts presented in € '000	Omega Carrying amount	Adjustment	Fair value
Property, plant and equipment	32,632	(612)	32,020
Investment property	50		50
Intangible assets	3,384		3,384
Intangible asset from customer relationships - Loans	-	13,881	13,881
Intangible asset from customer relationships - Deposits	-	2,458	2,458
Intangible asset from customer relationships – Securities brokerage		3,199	3,199
Reinsurance contracts	1,641		1,641
Deferred tax assets/(liabilities)	1,120	(2,435)	(1,315)
Other assets	16,860		16,860
Due to banks	(95,417)		(95,417)
Due to customers	(877,363)		(877,363)
Derivative financial instruments	(2,128)		(2,128)
Debt securities in issue	(1,500)		(1,500)
Provisions for insurance contracts	(35,336)		(35,336)
Other liabilities	(13,978)	513	(13,465)
Retirement benefit obligations	(1,392)	268	(1,124)
Fair value of net identifiable assets acquired	58,532	7,306	65,838
Less: Minority interests			(587)
Fair value of net identifiable assets acquired attributable to the equity holders of Proton Bank	e		65,251

The cost of acquisition amounted to € 164.850 thousands and was determined by the market value of the Bank's shares on 29 September 2006. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the net assets acquired has been recognized as goodwill. Goodwill refers to resourses which do not satisfy the criteria of IFRS for separate recognition as the value of workforce, future sunergies, management experience in retail banking, potential in a growing market

Amounts presented in € '000

Fair value of equity instruments exchanged (17.547.930 x 9,36 € per share)	164,249
Direct costs attributable to the acquisition	601
Total cost of acquisition	164,850
Fair value of net identifiable assets acquired	(65,251)
Goodwill	99,599

39.2 Adjustments as a result of completing the initial accounting of the acquisition of Omega Bank

As described above for the preparation of the financial statements of 2006, the initial accounting of the acquisition of Omega was determined provisionally. During 2007, the Group completed the initial accounting for this acquisition and has finalized the carrying amount of the intangible assets and goodwill. IFRS 3 Business Combinations requires comparative information presented for the periods before the initial accounting for the combination is complete to be presented as if the initial accounting had been completed from the acquisition date. This requires the restatement of the balance sheet and the income statement of the comparative period 2006 in order to reflect, the final carrying amount of intangibles, goodwill and deferred tax and the amount of the additional amortisation attributable to the recognised assets.

In particular adjustments to the balance sheet and income statement for the year 2006 are as follows:

Amounts presented in € '000

Income Statement	
Net profits as they were initially published	33,909
less: Additional amortisation charge	(1,043)
Adjusted Net profits	32,866

Balance sheet items Goodwill and intangible assets Deferred tax asset	Amounts initially recognised 186,216 3,200	Adjustment 3,884 (3,200)	Restated Balance sheet 190,100
Total Assets	1,745,739	685	1,746,424
Deferred tax liability		1,727	1,727
Total Liabilities	1,198,987	1,727	1,200,714
Retained Earnings / (losses)	22,208	(210)	21,998
Total equity attributable to shareholders' of			
the Parent Company	238,607	(210)	238,397
Minority Interest	308,145	(832)	307,313
Total equity	546,752	(1,042)	545,710

40. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to shareholders by the weighted average number of shares in issue during the year. Diluted earnings per share are calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of common shares outstanding to assume exercise of the warrants.

Basic and diluted earnings per share are analysed below:

Amounts presented in €

Basic Earnings per share	1/1 - 31/12/07	1/1 - 31/12/06
Net Profit attributable to the Parent Company's Shareholders	61,634,864	23,571,472
Weighted average number of shares in issue	110,750,694	57,118,508
8asic earnings per Share (€/Share)	0.56	0.41
Net profit from continuing operations attributable to the Parent Company's Shareholders	61,606,262	23,594,149
Weighted average number of shares in issue	110,750,694	57,118,508
Basic earnings per Share (€/Share) Amounts presented in €	0.56 1/1 - 31/12/07	0.41 1/1 - 31/12/06
Diluted Earnings per 5hare		
Net Profit attributable to the Parent Company's Shareholders	61,634,864	23,571,472
Weighted average number of shares	110,750,694	57,118,5 0 8
Plus: Shares with no consideration (adjustment in number of shares due to probable exercise of Warrants)	4,572,520	5,990,329
Weighted average number of shares for the purposes of diluted earnings per share	115,323,214	63,108,837
Diluted earnings per Share €/Share)	0.53	0.37
Net Profit from continuing operations attributable to the Parent Company's Shareholders	61,606,262	23,594,149
Weighted average number of shares	110,750,694	57 , 11 8,5 08
Plus: Shares with no consideration (adjustment in number of shares due to probable exercise of Warrants)	4,572,520	5,990,329

Weighted average number of shares for the purposes of diluted earnings per share	115,323,214	63,108,837
Diluted earnings per Share €/Share)	0.53	0.37

The effect of Proton's stock option plan on diluted earnings per share has not been taken into consideration since, for the year 2007, it is anti-dilutive.

41. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS

41.1 Transactions between companies included in Consolidation

Transactions o	f the parent company	with
Subsidiaries		

	31/12/2007	31/12/2006
Asset Accounts		
Loans		73,395
Time deposit Receivables from dividends	28,864	15,095
Total	28,864	88,490
Income		
Dividend Income	-	15,095
Total	-	15,095
Liability Accounts		
Other liabilities	70,199	
Total	70,199	-

The aforementioned balances of the Company have been eliminated from the consolidated financial statements.

41.2 Transactions with Associates

WILLI MSSUCIALES		
Amounts presented in € '000	31/12/2007	31/12/2006
Asset Accounts		
Other amounts due	28	11
Total	28	11
Liability Accounts		
Deposits	5,188	6,574
Other liabilities	18	•
Total	5,206	6,574
Income /Expenses		
Interest and similar expenses	193	28
Other income	205	26
Total	398	54

The aforementioned balances of the Company with its subsidiaries have been eliminated from the consolidated financial statements

41.3 Transactions with Management and Members of the Board of Directors

Directors of the Company and their immediate relatives control 27,40 per cent of the voting shares of the Company.

No salaries or loans were paid to the Directors of the Company for the period, apart from salaries paid to CEO of the Company.

Transactions with Manag	sement and Members	of the Board of	Directors
THE PROPERTY OF THE PROPERTY O		Of Circ Board of	DII C440.5

Amounts presented in € '000	31/12/2007	31/12/2006
Asset accounts		
Loans	22,467	8,100
Other assets	195	375

Transactions with Management and	l Members of the Board	of Directors
Amounts presented in € '000	31/12/2007	31/12/2006
Total	22,662	8,475
Liability accounts		
Deposits	67,775	34,868
Depts securities in issue	1,539	
Other Liabilities	177	216
Total	69,491	35,084
Letters of Guarantee	18,195	127
Income		
Interest and similar income	1,419	212
Other income	394	1,405
Total	1,813	1,617
Ermanas		
Expenses Remuneration	F 224	2.426
	5,224	2,436
Interest and similar expenses	3,120	314
Other fees & expenses	4,378	1,119
Total	12,722	3,869

42. PROTON INSURANCE S.A.

As further described in note 5, on 28 December 2007 the Group committed to sale its insurance activities. In particular, Proton Bank entered into a contractual agreement with the «COMMERCIAL VALUE SOCIETE ANONYME INSURANCE» (Proton Insurance) to transfer 91,29% of the outstanding common shares of the «PROTON SOCIETE ANONYME PROVISION INSURANCE».

As a result of the above commitment the Group presented all results and cash flows generated from Proton Insurance as discontinued operations. Moreover, as required by IFRS 5, results and cash flows of the comparative year 2006 have been also restated in order to reflect discontinued operations.

Finally assets and liabilities of Proton Insurance have been classified as "Non current assets held for sale" and "Liabilities associated with assets classified as held for sale" respectively.

Details about results, cash flows, assets and liabilities of Proton Insurance are provided below.

42.1 Net Profit from discontinued operations

Net profit from discontinued operation is analyzed as follows:

Amounts presented in € '000	1/1- 31/12/2007	1/1- 31/12/2006
Interest and similar income Interest and similar expenses	106 (312)	(39)
Net interest income	(206)	(37)
Income from insurance activities	3 9 ,643	7,284
Expense from insurance activities	(11,936)	506
Net Income from insurance activities	27,707	7,790
Dividend income	55	6
Net result from financial activities	(15)	39
Other income	2	2
Total Net Income	27,543	7,B00
Staff costs	(1,969)	(395)
Other operating expenses	(2,982)	(2,53 4)

Amounts presented in € '000	1/1- 31/12/2007	1/1- 31/12/2006
Depreciation	(136)	(27)
Insurance claims	(22,335)	(4,968)
Impairment losses	-	-
Total operating expenses	(27,422)	(7,924)
Share of profits / (losses) of associates	47	-
Profit before tax	168	(124)
Income tax expense	(16)	(12)
Profit after tax	152	(136)
Attributable to:		
 Shareholders of the Parent Company 	27	23
- Minority rights	125	113
· -	152	136

42.2 Cash flows from discontinued operations

Cash flows generated from discontinued operations are analysed as follows:

Amounts presented in € '000

CASH FLOW STATEMENT	1.1-31.12.2007	1.1-31.12.2006
Net cash flows from discontinued operating activities	(5,612)	966
Net cash flows from discontinued investing activities	55	21
Net cash flows from discontinued financing activities	(908)	1,760
Net increase/ (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents from discontinued operations	(6,465)	2,747

42.3 Assets held for sale and Liabilities associated with assets classified as held for sale

Assets of Proton Insurance, after eliminating all balances with the other group companies, are as follows:

Amounts presented in € '000	
ASSET	31.12.2007
Cash	10
Loans and advances to banks	306
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss	12,980
Investments in associates	625
Intangible assets	12,473
Property, plant and equipment	2,256
Investment property	50
Insurance receivables	19,610
Reinsurance contracts	1,632
Deferred tax assets	69
Other assets	3,497
Total assets	53,509
LIABILITIES	31,12,2007
Debt securities in issue (note 32)	1,539
Retirement benefit obligations	275
Provisions for insurance contracts	36,093
Deferred tax liabilities	93
Other liabilities	6,339
Total liabilities	44,339

Intangible assets include goodwill of € 12.393 thousand which was originally allocated to Proton Insurance. The total net assets (including goodwill) were measured at their carrying amount which does not exceed the fair value of Proton Insurance less cost to sale. Fair value of Proton Insurance was determined on the basis of the binding agreement between the Group and "COMMERCIAL VALUE SOCIETE ANONYME INSURANCE".

It is noted that the subsidiary has been reviewed by the Local Tax Authorities for the years up to and including 2005.

The subsidiary employs 59 individuals in 31.12.2006

42.4 Provisions for insurance contracts

Amounts presented in € '000

As at 31 December 2007:	
Unearned premiums 1.1.2007	10,721
Reported claims 1.1,2007	23,372
Total provisions for insurance contracts	34,093
Unearned premiums 1.1.2007 – 31.12.2007	962
Reported claims 1.1.2007 – 31.12.2007	1,038
Total provisions for insurance contracts 1.1-31.12.2007	36,093
As at 31 December 2007:	•
Unearned premiums 31.12.2007	11,683
Reported claims 31.12.2007	24,410
Total provisions for insurance contracts	36,093
As at 31 December 2006:	
Unearned premiums 1.1.2006	11 ,4 44
Reported claims 1.1.2006	13,704
Total provisions for insurance contracts	25,148
Unearned premiums 1.1.2007 - 31.12.2006	(723)
Reported claims 1.1.2007 – 31.12.2006	9,668
Total provisions for insurance contracts 1.1-31.12.2006	34,093
As at 31 December 2006:	
Unearned premiums 31.12.2006	10,721
Reported claims 31.12.2006	23,372
Total provisions for insurance contracts	34,093

43. DIVIDEND DECLARED

In March 2008, IRF's Board of Directors declared a \$0.28 dividend per share for 2007 payable on April 2008.

44. COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

44.1 Contingent Legal Liabilities

As at 31 December, 2007 there were pending litigations against the Group in connection with its activities. Based on legal advice the Board of Directors believes that there is adequate defence against all claims and it is not probable that the Group will suffer any significant damage. Therefore, no provision has been made in the financial statements regarding these cases.

44.2 Contingent Tax Liabilities

Proton Group is subject to Greek tax legislation. Under Greek Law, submitted tax returns are not considered as final and are subject to revision by tax authorities as a result of tax inspection in entities books and records.

Tax liabilities are considered as final by stature after the completion of five years from the end of the relevant fiscal year; however it is common that the tax authorities will audit the entity's books and records. The tax authorities commonly seek to disallow expenses on the basis that they are not properly documented or that they do not represent proper business expenses, relying on a substantial degree of subjective judgment on the part of the tax management in order an out-of-court settlement to be reached. In practice, both companies and tax authorities tend to reach an out-of-court settlement at an acceptable level of additional taxes.

The accounting years that have not been inspected yet by the tax authorities for each of the Group's companies are as follows:

Company Name	Domicile	Open tax years
Mimosa Trading SA 1	Marshall Islands	-
Myrtle Trading Company 1	Marshall Islands	-
Proton Bank AE	Greece	2007
Proton Asset Management AE	Greece	2005-2007
Proton Mutual Funds Management Co AE	Greece	2005-2007
First Global Brokers SA	Serbia	2002-2007
Intellectron Systems SA	Greece	2001-2007
Omega Kahn Financial Services SA	Switzerland	2004-2007
Omega Brokerage S.A	Greece	2006-2007
Omega Mutual Funds Mgt Co SA	Greece	2006-2007

Note 1: Not subject to income tax

As a result of the above the Group's respective tax obligations for periods covering one to six accounting years have not been finalized. No additional provision was recorded as the outcome of the tax audit cannot be reliably estimated at this stage.

44.3 Off balance sheet items

The off balance sheet items which represent the Group's commitment to extend credit to its customers are analyzes as follows (in thousands of Euros):

	2007	2006
Letters of guarantee	110,929	84,585
Irrevocable letters of credit	2,480	2,804
Total	113,409	87,389

44.4 Assets given as Collaterals

Greek Government debt securities with a nominal value of 10,500 thousands Euro, have been assigned to HELEX.

Greek Government debt securities with a nominal value of 135,000 thousands of Euro, and DEXIA bond with a nominal value of 50,000 thousands Euros have been assigned to Bank of Greece.

Halcyon debt securities with a nominal value of 12,500 thousands Euros have been assigned to Hypo Vereinsbank.

44.5 Finance lease - Operating lease commitments

a) The Group leases for its operating purposes, offices for head quarters and branches. The future minimum lease payments under non cancellable operating leases, have as follow:

	31.12.2007	31.12.2006
Lease payments no later than 1 year	3,598	3,712
Lease payments later than 1 year and no later than 5 years	15,095	16,206
Lease payments later than 5 years	4,752	39,969
Total	23,446	59,887
Monthly lease payments	300	309
Guarantees which will be offset at lease termination	557	1,123

(b) The Group leases vehicles for private use. The future minimum lease payments for cars under non cancellable operating lease arrangements, have as follow:

Leased tangible assets: vehicles for private use

Lease term: 4 years per leased vehicle

Lease guarantees offset at the end of the lease: 15 thousands of Euros

Accrued lease payments recognized in the income statement during the period: 331 thousands of euros.

	2007_	2006
Lease payments no later than 1 year	289	204
Lease payments later than 1 year and no later than 5 years	594	309
Lease payments later than 5 years		
Total	883	513

(c) As of 31 December 2007, the Group as a lessor, had signed non cancellable lease agreements for the acquisition of equipment for finance lease purposes amounting to 3,830 thousands of euros for which no payment had been made.

44.6 Stock Option Plan of Proton Group

On 24 November 2006, the Extraordinary General Shareholders' Meeting of Proton Bank approved a share option plan for the members of the Board of Directors, key management personnel, its employees and the Bank's related companies in the form of stock options according to the article 13 section 9 of Law 2190/1920 after the proposition of the Board of Directors and the Compensation Committee. The options are conditional on the beneficiaries remaining during the options life under employment or other relationship with the Bank or Group companies (vesting period). The options are exercisable every November starting from the year of the grand and have a contractual option term of three (3) years. The Bank has no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the options in cash.

Share options were granted on 15 June 2007 with an exercise price of 10,46 euro.

The fair value of options granted during the period determined using the Black-Scholes valuation model with the methodology of Monte Carlo simulation to 0.55 per option (0.28 euro for the period A, 0.57 euro for the period B, and 0.80 euro for the period C). The significant inputs into the model were: share price at the grand date (9.96 euro), the exercise price, option life (as described above), expected volatility of share prices (12%), expected dividend yield (2,5%) and the risk free rate (swap rate yield curve). Expected volatility was

determined on the basis of historic volatility of stock index representing European banks. Thus, an analysis of the existing stock option plan is as follows:

Exercise date	Exercise price (in euros)	Fair value (in euros)	31.12.2007	31.12.2006
30.11.2007	10.46	0.28	1,547,618	-
30.11.2008	10.46	0.57	1,547,618	-
30.11.2009	10.46	0.80	1,547,618	
	Outstanding stock options:		4,642,854	

On 30 November 2007 the first exercise period expired without any stock options being exercised. Under the stock option plan, the non exercised stock options, can be exercised during the following 2 years. As a result of there being no options exercised, the share capital of Proton Bank was unaltered.

The change of the number of stock options for this period presents as follows:

	31.12.2007	31.12.2006
Balance as at 1 January 2007	•	-
Options granted	4,943,815	-
Options exercised	-	-
Options forfeited	(300,960)	_
Balance as at 31 December 2007	4,642,855	

44.7 Purchase of treasury shares by Proton Group

On 24 November 2006, the Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders of Proton Bank approved of the acquisition of up to 10% of the Bank's shares (6,268,382), for a price range from five (5) to fifteen (15) euros per share for the twelve month period starting from the date of approval by the General Meeting of Shareholders. No treasury shares were acquired since the decision of the General Meeting of Shareholders.

Till 31 December 2007, the Bank repurchased 760,483 shares totalled to 7,668 thousands euros, which represent the 1,2% of the total authorized and issued number of ordinary shares. Furthermore, the group companies have bought 99,000 shares of the Proton Bank,

45 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The fair value represents the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm's length transaction. Differences might arise between the carrying amount and the fair value of financial assets and liabilities.

The items of transaction portfolio, the derivatives and securities available for sale are presented in the financial statements at their fair value. Loans and other advances, securities held to maturity and financial liabilities are presented at amortized cost. The carrying amount of the aforementioned items, as presented in the financial statements, does not materially differ from their fair value. In particular:

(a) Loans and advances to banks

Loans and advances to bank mainly include short tern interbank placements and other collectibles. The vast majority of the placements have their maturity date within one month and, therefore, their fair value is quite similar to their carrying amount.

(b) Loans and advances to customers

Loans and advances to customers are presented following the deduction of the corresponding provision for their impairment. The vast majority of loans (84%) refer to loans of fluctuating interest that will be reestimated (or the loan will mature) within three months as from the balance sheet date. Thus, the carrying

amount of the loans and advancers to customers does not materially differ from their fair value as at balance sheet date.

(c) Held-to-maturity securities

The fair value of held-to-maturity securities amounts to \leq 9,700 thousand. (2006: \leq 6,648 thousand). The fair value of the aforementioned securities is defined through reference to secondary acquisition or prices provided by brokers/agents. In the event no such information is available, the fair value is calculated using the market price of the securities similar to those in question, maturity period and return characteristics.

(d) Deposits

The fair value of deposits without fixed maturity date (saving and current accounts), is the amount that the Bank should pay when demanded by a customer, equal to their carrying amount. Deposits from customers as well as placements from other banks have average maturity period as that lower than three months. Therefore, their estimated fair value does not materially differ from their carrying amount.

(e) Debt securities

The fair value of the issued debt securities as of 31 December 2007 does not materially differ from its carrying amount.

46 CLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Assets

31/12/2007					
Assets	Fair value through profit or loss	Avaliable for sale	Held to maturity	Loans & advances	Total
Loans & advabces to financial institutions				527,410	527,410
Trading portfolio and other financial assets at fair value through Profit & Loss Derivative financial instruments	179,802 11,529				179,802 11,529
Loans and advances to customers Investment portfolio Other assets		250,227	9,717	1,368,025 91,474	1,368,025 259,944 91,474
Total	191,331	250,227	9,717	1,986,909	2,438,184
31/12/2006					
Assets	Fair value through profit or loss	Avaliable for sale	Held to maturity	Loans & advances	Total
Loans & advabces to financial institutions				181,885	181,885
Trading portfolio and other financial assets at fair value through Profit & Loss	264,174				264,174
Derivative financial instruments Loans and advances to customers	2,611			941,214	2,611 941,214
Investment portfolio Other assets		31,331	6,646	34,886	37,977 34,886
Total	266,785	31,331	6,646	1,157,985	1,462,747

Liabilities

31/:	L2/:	2007
------	------	------

LIABILITIES	At amortized cost	At fair value through profit or loss	Total
Due to financial institutions	433,941		433,941
Due to customers	1,422,139		1,422,139
Derivative financial instruments		14,570	14,570
Issued debt securities	25,283		25,283
Total liabilities	1,881,363	14,570	1,895,933
31/12/2006			

LIABILITIES	At amortized cost	At fair value through profit or loss	Total
Due to financial institutions	90,897		90,897
Due to customers	1,042,157		1,042,157
Derivative financial instruments		6,319	6,319
Issued debt securities	1,500		1,500
Total liabilities	1,134,554	6,319	1,140,873

47 SUPPLEMENTARY PROFORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION-THE COMPANY

IRF was formed to invest in the financial services industry throughout Europe with a primary focus on credit institutions and insurance companies in South Eastern Europe, In 2006, IRF formed two wholly owned subsidiaries in Marshall Islands, Mimosa Trading SA and Myrtle Trading Company, to serve as vehicles for the acquisition of investments in the financial services industry. Assets, liabilities, results and cash flows of these three entities are managed together. Management has prepared proforma financial information, consolidating all items of the three entities and presents them under the term of "Company". According to IAS 27, a parent should consolidate all of its subsidiaries. However, management has prepare these supplementary proforma financial information which do not comply with IAS 27, in order to present the results and the financial position of the "Company" (i.e. the parent and the wholly owned subsidiaries managed together). The financial position and the performance of the "Company", as at 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2006 were as follows:

Amounts presented in € '000	31 December 2007	31 December 2006
ASSETS		
Investments in Subsidiaries	12 9, 514	126,687
Tradica Battalia and attention formal instrument		
Trading Portfolio and other financial instruments		
at fair value through Profit & Loss	0	3,865
Other assets	55	64
Cash and Cash equivalents	350,503	88,481
Total Assets	480,072	219,097
SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY		
Share Capital	147	71
Share Premium	400,443	200,174
Retained earnings	76,192	18 ,652
Total Equity	476,781	218,897
LIABILITIES		
Loans to Banks	0	0

Amounts presented in € '000	31 December 2007	31 December 2006
Other liabilities	3,291	200
Total Liabilities	3,291	200
Total Equity and Liabilities	480,072	219,097

As at 31 December 2007, IRF had made the following major investments:

- Acquisition during 2006 of 20.16% of PROTON BANK and an additional acquisition during 2007 of 0.44% (directly through IRF). Consequently, IRF acquired a 20.60% of PROTON BANK for a total cost of € 122,985 thousand and a current fair market value of € 134,284 thousand.
- Acquisition during the year up to 5.20% of MPB (indirectly through MIMOSA) which has been sold through the open market.

The financial performance of the Company for the period ended at 2007 is presented as follows:

Amounts presented in € '000	1/1 - 31/12/2007	1/1 - 31/12/2006
Net trading income Interest Income	60,209	16,149
Other operating income	11,897	6,464
Dividend Income	-	897
Total Income	16,343 88,449	74 23,584
Personnel expenses		
Other operating expenses	(100)	(155)
Finance cost	(748)	(464)
Total Expenses	(19,151)	(2,903)
• • • •	(19,999)	(3,522)
Profit before tax	68,451	20,062
Less: Income tax		(15)
Profit after tax	68,451	20,047
Earning per Share attributable to the company's shareholders (€/share)		
- Basic	0.62	0.35
- Diluted	0.59	0.32

During the year 2007, the Company sold its entire holding of shares in Marfin Popular Bank in the open market. As a result of these trading activities, the Company realized a net gain of approximately € 69.7 mln.

Also, during the year 2007, the Company received the amount of \leqslant 3,539 thousand as dividend from PROTON BANK and the amount of \leqslant 12,804 thousand as dividend from Marfin Popular Bank. The amount of \leqslant 12,804 thousand has been also recognised in the Group's consolidated income statement.

48 POST-BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

Apart from the events mentioned above there are no other subsequent events, which regard the Company or the Group which, according to the International Financial Reporting Standards, need to be mentioned.

49 APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements of "IRF European Finance Investments Limited" ("the Company") as well as the consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries ("the Group"), for the year ended 31 December 2007 were approved by the Company's Board of Directors on 27th March, 2008 and are subject to the final approval of the General Meeting of the Shareholders according the Company's Bye-laws,

Independent Auditors Report on pages 6 to7,	
Athens, March 27 th 2008	
Angeliki Frangou	Loukas Valetopoulos
Chairman, Non – Executive Director	Chief Executive Officer, Director



Consolidated Interim Financial Statements for the three-month period ended at 31 March 2008

The accompanying consolidated interim financial statements of IRF European Finance Investments Ltd ("IRF") and its subsidiaries (together "the Group"), for the three-month period ended at 31 March 2008 were approved by the Company's Board of Directors on 30 May 2008.

Contents

Report on Review of Interim Financial Information	164
CONSOLIDATED INTERIM INCOME STATEMENT	165
CONSOLIDATED INTERIM BALANCE SHEET	166
CONSOLIDATED INTERIM STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY	168
CONSOLIDATED INTERIM CASH FLOW STATEMENT	170
1. General information	172
2. Basis of Presentation	172
3. Group structure	174
4. Business segment	176
5. Earnings per share	177
6. Cash and balances with Central Bank	178
7. Loans and advances to financial institutions	178
8. Loans and receivables	178
9. Trading portfolio and other financial assets at fair value through profit & loss	179
10. Investment portfolio	179
11. Goodwill and other intangible assets	180
12. Deferred tax assets/liabilities	180
13. Other assets	183
14. Due to financial institutions	183
15. Due to customers	184
16. Current income tax liabilities	184
17. Other liabilities	184
18. Share capital and share premium	184
19. Cash and cash equivalents – Cash Flow Statement	185
20. Related party transactions	185
21. Discontinued operations	187
22. Commitments and contingent liabilities	188
23. Supplementary information – The Company	190
24. Events after 31 March 2008	191

Report on Review of Interim Financial Information

To the Shareholders of "IRF EUROPEAN FINANCE INVESTMENTS LIMITED"

Introduction

We have reviewed the accompanying interim consolidated balance sheet of "IRF EUROPEAN FINANCE INVESTMENT LTD" (the "Company") and the related interim consolidated statements of income, changes in equity and cash flows for the three-month period then ended, and the selected explanatory notes.

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of this interim financial statement in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards that have been adopted by European Union and apply for interim financial information ("IAS 34"). Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on these interim financial statements based on our review.

Scope of Review

We conducted our review in accordance with International Standard on Review Engagements 2410, "Review of Interim Financial Information Performed by the Independent Auditor of the Entity" to which the Greek Auditing Standards indict. A review of interim financial information consists of making inquiries, primarily of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters, and applying analytical and other review procedures. A review is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with Greek Auditing Standards and consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that might be identified in an audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion.

Conclusion

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the accompanying interim financial information is not prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with IAS 34.

Athens, 30 May 2008

VASSILIS KAZAS

PANAGIOTIS CHRISTOPOULOS

SOEL REG. NO 13281

SOEL REG. No 28481



CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS

VASSILEOS KONSTANTINOU 44, 116 35 ATHENS

SOEL REG. No 127

CONSOLIDATED INTERIM INCOME STATEMENT

SOURCE STATEMENT		Three-month period		
Amounts presented in € '000	Note	31 March 2008	31 March 2007	
Interest and similar income	_	34,791	22,418	
Interest and similar expenses		(21,813)	(13,505)	
Net interest income		12,978	8,913	
Fee and commission income		10,428	6,885	
Fee and commission expense		(1,066)	(3,228)	
Net fee and commission income	_	9,362	3,656	
Dividend income		3	3	
Net trading income		(16,880)	17,513	
Net income from financial instruments designated at fair value through profit and loss		7,425	_	
Other operating income		471	554	
Total net income	_	13,358	30,640	
Staff costs		(6,423)	(6,751)	
Other operating expenses		(5,382)	(5,964)	
Depreciation		(1,872)	(1,768)	
Impairment losses		(52)	(1,023)	
Total operating expenses		(13,729)	(15,506)	
Share of profit of associates		(603)	22	
Profit before tax		(974)	15,155	
Income tax expense		(2,139)	(1,752)	
Profit after tax from continuing operations	_	(3,112)	13,404	
Net profit from discontinued operations		76	526	

Profit after tax	(3,036)	13,930
Attributable to: Shareholders of the parent company Minority interest	(7,029) 3,992	4,874 9,056
Total	(3,036)	13,930
Earning per share attributable to the parent company's shareholders (€/share)	5	
From continuing and discontinued operations		
- Basic	(0.06)	0.09
- Diluted	(0.06)	0.08
From continuing operations		
- Basic	(0.06)	0.07
- Diluted	(0.06)	0.06

The notes on the following pages form an integral part of these consolidated interim financial statements

CONSOLIDATED INTERIM BALANCE SHEET

Amounts presented in € '000	Note	31 March 2008	31 December 2007 (as restated)
ASSETS	_		(US FESILE)
Cash and balances with Central Bank	6	51,558	5 2, 7 96
Loans and advances to financial institutions	7	606,333	527,410
Trading portfolio and other financial assets at fair value through Profit & Loss	9	242,214	179,802
Derivative financial instruments		10,485	11,529
Loans and advances to customers	8	1,346,372	1,368,025
Investment portfolio	10	318,332	259,944
Investments in associates	10	3,286	3,886
Property, plant and equipment		27,566	27,880
Goodwill and other intangible assets	11	165,562	166,784
Deferred tax assets	12	8,610	7,098
Other assets	13	47,498	91,474
		2,827,816	2,696,628
Non current assets held for sale	_	56,272	53,727
TOTAL ASSETS	_	2,884,088	2,750,355
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES			
Due to financial institutions	14	604,778	433,941
Due to customers	15	1,389,192	1,422,139
Derivative financial instruments		10,279	14,570
Issued debt securities		25,249	25,283
Retirement benefit obligations		1,269	1,140

Current income tax liabilities	16	12,013	10,498
Deferred tax liability	12	6,951	6,928
Other liabilities	17	40,617	14,170
		2,090,347	1,928,669
Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held for sale		46,182	44,339
Total liabilities Shareholders' equity		2,136,529	1,973,008
Share capital	18	147	147
Share premium	18	400,443	400,443
Revaluation reserve Other reserves Retained earnings / (losses)		(2,315) 16,638 43,353	(2,570) 16,587 72,491
Total equity attributable to shareholders' of IRF		458,266	487,099
Minority interest	_	289,293	290,248
Total equity		747,559	777,347
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY		2,884,088	2,750,355

The notes on the following pages form an integral part of these consolidated interim financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED INTERIM STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Attributable to shareholders of the Parent Company

Amounts presented in € '000	Share Capital	Share Premium	Revaluation Reserve	Other Reserves	Retained Earnings / (losses)	Total	Minority Interest	Total
Opening balance as at 1st January 2008	147	400,443	(2,570)	16,586	72,492	487,099	290,248	777,347
Net result for the period 01/01-31/03/2008	-	-	-	-	(7,029)	(7,029)	3,992	(3,036)
Gains/ losses directly recognized in equity: - on the valuation of available for sale financial assets - exchange differences on translating	-	-	255	-	-	255	(5,128)	(4,874)
foreign operations	_	-	-	-	(4)	(4)	(17) _	(22)
Total recognized income and expense for the period			255	-	(7,033)	(6,778)	(1,153)	(7,932)
Equity share options granted to employees		-		51	-	51	198	249
Dividend declared	<u>.</u>	_	<u>•</u>	-	(22,105)	(22,105)		(22,105)
		<u>-</u>	-	51	(22,105)	(22,054)	198	21,856
Balance as at 31March 2008	147_	400,443	(2,315)	16,637	43,353	458,266	289,293	747,559
Consolidated Statement of Changes in		Attributab	le to sharehold	ers of the Pa	arent Compan	у		
Amounts presented in € '000	Share Capital	Share Premium	Revaluation Reserve	Other Reserves	Retained Earnings / (losses)	Total	Minority Interest	Total
Opening balance as at 1st January 2006, as originally published	71	200,174	(2)	16,156	22,208	238,607	308,145	546,752
Restatement due to amortization of intangible assets					(210)	(210)	(833)	(1,043)
Restated Opening Balance as at 1st January 2006	71	200,174	(2)	16,156	21,998	238,397	307,312	545,709

Net result for the period 01/01-31/03/2007	-	-	-	-	4,874	4,874	9,056	13,930
Gains/ losses directly recognized in equity: - on the valuation of available for sale financial assets - Exchange differences on translating foreign operation	-	-	(0)		- (2)	(0) (2)	(1) (12)	(2) (14)
Total profit /(loss) recognized for the					(2)	(2)	(12)	(11)
period	-	-	(0)	-	4,872	4,871	9,042	13,914
Issue of new shares after the exercise of Warrants	64	178,782	-	-	-	178,846	-	178,846
Share issue expenses	-	(1,815)	-	-	-	(1,815)	-	(1,815)
Capital increase in subsidiaries	-	-	-	-	-	-	96	96
Acquisition of non-controlling interest in subsidiary	-	-	-	-	-	-	(132)	(132)
Transfer within equity	-	-	(0)	(627)	627	-		
_	64	176,967	(0)	(627)	627	177,031	(36)	176,995
Balance as at 31st March 2007	135	377,141	(3)	15,528	27,497	420,299	316,319	736,618

CONSOLIDATED INTERIM CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Amounts presented in € '000	Note	31 March 2008	31 March 2007
Cash flows from operating activities Profit Before Tax	-	(894)	15,688
Adjustments for:			
Add: Depreciation & amortization		1,912	1,801
Add: Retirement benefit charge		138	84
Add: Impairment losses on financial assets		52	1,023
Gains (-) /Losses (+) from investment activities		(951)	(85)
Share of profit/loss from measurement of financial assets at fair value through Profit & Loss		(4,034)	(605)
Fair value employee options		249	-
Exchange differences		8,815	
Cash Flows from operating activities before changes in operating assets and liabilities		5,287	17,907
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:		(61.100)	(222.150)
Net (increase) / decrease in trading securities Net (increase) / decrease in reserves held in Central Bank		(61,180) (11,830)	(323,150) (756)
Net (increase) / decrease in loans and advances to customers		21,653	(67,616)
Net (increase) / decrease in insurance receivables		(3,033)	(5,071)
Net (increase) / decrease in reinsurance receivables		(472)	(700)
Net (increase) / decrease in other assets		44,093	71,700
Net increase / (decrease) in due to banks		(14,580)	288,389
Net increase / (decrease) in due to customers		(32,948)	185,913
Net increase / (decrease) in provisions for insurance contracts		(283)	1,828
Net increase / (decrease) in other borrowed funds		-	115,000
Net increase / (decrease) in other liabilities Cash flows from operating activities before payment of income		6,416	(73,205)
tax		(46,876)	210,238
Income tax paid		٦	(2,042)
Net cash flows from operating activities		(46,876)	208,196

 Amounts presented in € '000
 31 March
 31 March

 Note
 2008
 2007

Cash flows from investing activities

Portfolio available for sale and held to maturity		(63,408)	(50,097)
Acquisition of financial assets at fair value through Profit & Loss		3	-
Purchases / (proceeds) of tangible & intangible assets		(350)	(705)
Acquisition of subsidiaries and associates	10	(3)	(132)
Net cash flow from investing activities Cash flows from financing activities		(63,757)	(50,933)
Issuance of common shares		-	178,942
Net increase / (decrease) in other borrowed funds		184,675	**
Net cash flow from financing activities		184,675	178,942
Net increase / decrease in cash and cash equivalents		74,041	336,205
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period		559,372	203,916
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents		(8,815)	-
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial			
year		624,598	540,121

The notes on the following pages form an integral part of these consolidated interim financial statement

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. General information

Country of incorporation

IRF European Finance Investments Ltd. was incorporated on 8 September 2005 under the Bermuda Companies Act. IRF is listed on AIM, a market operated by the London Stock Exchange plc. IRF's registered office is at Canon's Court 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM12, Bermuda.

IRF conducts its business directly and through two wholly-owned subsidiaries, MIMOSA TRADING SA and MYRTLE TRADING COMPANY, duly incorporated under the provisions of the Marshall Islands Business Corporation Act on 06 July 2006. Collectively, these three entities are referred to as the "Company".

Principal activities

The Group, through all of its subsidiaries, is engaged in the provision of banking, financial and insurance services.

IRF was formed to invest in the financial services industry throughout Europe with a primary focus on credit institutions and insurance companies in South Eastern Europe. In June 2006, IRF completed its acquisition of a controlling interest in PROTON BANK, a Greek bank, listed on the Athens Stock Exchange. PROTON BANK and its subsidiaries operate in the sectors of retail, corporate and investment banking, portfolio management, insurance and other financial services. PROTON BANK is licensed by the Bank of Greece to operate as a financial institution in Greece. PROTON BANK, which is established in Greece and is supervised by the Bank of Greece, operates through a network of 29 branches.

2. Basis of Presentation

Statement of compliance

The consolidated interim financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standard 34 'Interim Financial Reporting' and should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2007.

Presentation currency

The amounts of the consolidated interim financial statements attached are expressed in thousand Euros, which is the functional currency of the Group.

It should be noted that due to rounding the actual sums and percentages presented in the Consolidated Interim Financial Statements may not exactly be the same as those presented in the Notes to the Financial Statements.

Significant accounting polices

The same accounting policies as for the annual financial statements for the year 2007 have been followed in the preparation of the consolidated interim financial statements.

As from 1 January 2008, the Group has adopted the following new IFRIC which have no significant effect in financial statements:

- k) IFRIC 11, "Group and treasury share transactions"
- IFRIC 12, "Service concession arrangements"
- m) IFIRC 14: "IAS 19 The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction"

The financial information set out in this interim report does not constitute statutory financial statements pursuant to Section 84 of Bermuda Companies Act 1981. The Group's statutory financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2007 were approved by the shareholders at the annual general meeting at 31.3.2008. The auditor's report on those financial statements was unqualified.

Accounting estimates

The important assumptions made by the Group for the estimation of several accounting measurements alongside the uncertainty affecting these estimates are the same as those adopted during the preparation of the annual financial statements for the financial year ending 31 December 2007.

Comparatives

For the preparation of the condensed consolidated interim balance sheet and income statement of the period ended 31 March 2008, comparatives as of 31 December and 31 March 2007 respectively, were used. Consolidated Income Statement for the comparative three-month period ended 31 March 2007, has been restated in order to reflect results of discontinued operations (note 21).

3. Group structure

a) Entities consolidated under full consolidation method

Entities consolidated under full consolidation method at 31 March 2008:

Name	Country	Direct and indirect holding	Relation that dictated the consolidation	Note
IRF EUROPEAN FINANCE INVESTMENTS LIMITED	BERMUDA	Parent		
MIMOSA TRADING SA	MARSHALL ISLANDS	100%	Percentage Ownership	Direct Stake
MYRTLE TRADING COMPANY	MARSHALL ISLANDS	100%	Percentage Ownership	Direct Stake
PROTON BANK GROUP				
PROTON BANK SA	GREECE	20.60%	Control	Direct Stake
FIRST GLOBAL BROKERS SA	SERBIA	16.63%	Control	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"
PROTON MUTUAL FUNDS SA	GREECE	20.58%	Control	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"
OMEGA INSURANCE BROKERS SA	GREECE	13.60%	Control	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"
PROTON INSURANCE SA	GREECE	18.80%	Control	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"
INTELLECTRON SYSTEMS SA	GREECE	11.46%	Control	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"

Entities consolidated under full consolidation method at 31 December 2007:

Name	Country	Direct and indirect holding	Relation that dictated the consolidation	Note
IRF EUROPEAN FINANCE INVESTMENTS LIMITED	BERMUDA	Parent		
MIMOSA TRADING SA	MARSHALL ISLANDS	100%	Percentage Ownership	Direct Stake
MYRTLE TRADING COMPANY	MARSHALL ISLANDS	100%	Percentage Ownership	Direct Stake
PROTON BANK GROUP				
PROTON BANK SA	GREECE	20.60%	Control	Direct Stake
FIRST GLOBAL BROKERS SA	SERBIA	16.63%	Control	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"
PROTON MUTUAL FUNDS SA	GREECE	20.58%	Control	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"
OMEGA INSURANCE BROKERS SA	GREECE	13.60%	Control	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"

Name	Country	Direct and indirect holding	Relation that dictated the consolidation	Note
PROTON INSURANCE SA	GREECE	18.80%	Control	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"
INTELLECTRON SYSTEMS SA	GREECE	11.46%	Control	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"
OMEGA KAHN FINANCIAL SERVICES SA	SWITZERLAND	16.48%	Control	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"

b) Entities consolidated under the equity method:

Entities consolidated under the equity method at 31 March 2008:

Name	Country	Participation percentage	Note
OMEGA PORTFOLIO INVESTMENT CO SA	GREECE	6.01%	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"

Entities consolidated under the equity method at 31 December 2007:

Name	Country	Participation percentage	Note
OMEGA PORTFOLIO INVESTMENT CO SA	GREECE	6.01%	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"

Proton Group

On 29 June 2006, the Company acquired a 28% stake in the share capital of PROTON GROUP, listed on the Athens Stock Exchange. The range of activities of PROTON GROUP covered most of the spectrum of the financial industry. On 29 September 2006, PROTON GROUP acquired, by a share to share exchange, 100% of OMEGA BANK and the new merged entity was renamed as PROTON BANK. Following the merger with OMEGA BANK, the Company owned a 20.16% interest in PROTON BANK. During the nine-month period ended at 30 September 2007, IRF acquired at 28 June 2007, 41,891 shares of PROTON BANK, at 29 June 2007, 220,000 shares and at 3 July 2007 12.000 shares. After the additional acquisitions, IRF owns a 20.60% in PROTON BANK SA.

PROTON BANK is fully consolidated because of the "de facto" power of the Company to control its financial and operating activities. In particular, IRF owns the 20.60% of the voting rights of PROTON while the percentage of voting rights controlled by the Company is increased to 27.14% after taking into consideration the holding of two other shareholders of PROTON who are committed to vote in accordance with IRF's instructions based on an agreement. IRF has already exercised its effective power and appointed six members in the eleven-member Board of Directors of PROTON, including PROTON's chairman.

All other subsidiaries comprising PROTON Group are consolidated because of the indirect, through PROTON BANK, ownership of the majority of their voting rights. The method of consolidation is the Purchase Method. Investment in associates is accounted under the equity method.

Decision to sell "Proton Insurance S.A"

On 28 December 2007, Proton Bank entered into a contractual agreement with the «COMMERCIAL VALUE SOCIETE ANONYME INSURANCE» to transfer 91,29% of the outstanding common shares of the «PROTON SOCIETE ANONYME PROVISION INSURANCE». The sale was accomplished with the contract signed by both parties on 20.3.2008 for a total consideration of 19 million euros. The sale contract will be finalized after

receiving the relevant authorization, as it is strictly prescribed by the Commerce Law, by the local authorities. Proton Bank and «COMMERCIAL VALUE SOCIETE ANONYME INSURANCE» have signed a long term exclusive agreement in the bank-assurance activities.

Omega Kahn Financial Services S.A

The Bank, during the period, sold its participation to subsidiary Omega Kahn Financial Services S.A. This disposal had a negative effect of € 54 thous. in Profit & Loss account and equity respectively.

Mimosa Trading SA and Myrtle Trading Company

These two wholly-owned subsidiaries serve as investment vehicles of the Company, Both subsidiaries are duly incorporated and have filed articles of incorporation under the provisions of the Marshall Islands Business Corporation Act on 6 July 2006.

4. Business segment

The Group has defined the following business segments: Commercial Banking, Investment Banking, Bank assurance and other financial services.

Balanced at 31 March 2008	Retail <u>Banking</u>	Investment <u>Banking</u>	Bank-assurance and other financial services	Group	Discontinued <u>activity</u>	Continuing <u>activity</u>
Interest and similar income	31,904	2,887	35	34,826	35	34 ,79 1
Interest expense and similar charges	(21,809)	62	(167)	(21,914)	(101)	(21,813)
Net interest income	10,095	2,949	(132)	12,912	(66)	12,978
Income from insurance activities	-	-	9,641	9,641	9,641	0
Expense from insurance activities	-		(2,019)	(2,019)	(2,019)	-
Net income from insurance activities	-	-	7,622	7,622	7,622	0
Fee and commission income	2,914	7,513	-	10,427	-	10,427
Fee and commission expense	(159)	(906)	_	(1,065)	-	(1,065)
Net fee and commission						
income	2,755	6,607	-	9,362	-	9,362
Dividend income	-	3	-	3	-	3
Net trading income Net income from financial instruments designated at fair	(39)	(16,842)	(434)	(17,315)	(434)	(16,881)
value	-	7,425		7,425		7,425
Other operating income	58	212	201	471		47
Total net income	12,869	354	7,257	20,480	7,122	13,358
Administrative expenses Depreciation expenses	(7,912) (944)	(2, 9 66) (262)	(6,3 9 5) (648)	(17,273) (1,854)	(6,249) (647)	(11,024) (1,207)
Impairment losses on financial assets and non financial assets	. ,	(52)	(40)	(92)	(40)	(52)
Profit before tax	4,013	-2,926	177	1,264	186	1,078
Share of profit of associates	, <u>.</u>	(712)	-	(712)	(109)	(603)
Non-allocated expenses				(1,448)	-	(1,448)
Income tax expense				(2,140)	(1)	(2,139)
Profit after tax				(3,036)	76	(3,112)
Balanced at 31 March 2007	Retail <u>Banking</u>	Investment <u>Banking</u>	Bank-assurance and other financial services	Group	Discontinued <u>activity</u>	Continuing activity

Interest and similar income Interest expense and similar	17,889	4,551	(23)	22,417	-	22,418
charges	(11,738)	(1,813)	-	(13,505)	-	(13,505)
Net interest income	6,151	2,738	(23)	8,913	-	8,913
Income from insurance activities	-	-	11,945	11,945	11, 94 5	0
Expense from insurance activities		-	(3,107)	(3,107)	(3,107)	
Net income from insurance activities	-	-	8,838	8,838	8,838	0
Fee and commission income	1,597	5,293	-	6,890	-	6,890
Fee and commission expense	(170)	(3,059)	(5)	(3,234)	-	(3,234)
Net fee and commission income	1,427	2,234	(5)	3,656	-	3,656
			Bank-assurance and other			
Balanced at 31 March 2007	Retail <u>Banking</u>	Investment Banking	financial services	Group	Discontinued activity	Continuing activity
	Retail <u>Banking</u>		financial	Group 3		
2007	Retail <u>Banking</u> - -	<u>Banking</u>	financial			activity
2007 Dividend income Net trading income Other operating income	- - 161	Banking 3 17,512 180	financial services 72 213	3 17,584 554	activity - 72 -	activity 3 17,512 554
2007 Dividend income Net trading income	-	<u>Banking</u> 3 17,512	financial services	3 17,584	activity -	activity 3 17,512
2007 Dividend income Net trading income Other operating income	- - 161	Banking 3 17,512 180	financial services 72 213	3 17,584 554	activity - 72 -	activity 3 17,512 554
2007 Dividend income Net trading income Other operating income Operating income	161 7,739	Banking 3 17,512 180 22,668 (8,700)	72 213 9,095	3 17,584 554 39,548	activity - 72 - 8,910	activity 3 17,512 554 30,640
2007 Dividend income Net trading income Other operating income Operating income Administrative expenses	161 7,739 (3,210)	Banking 3 17,512 180 22,668	72 213 9,095 (1,597)	3 17,584 554 39,548 (13,507)	activity - 72 - 8,910 (1,365)	3 17,512 554 30,640 (12,142)
2007 Dividend income Net trading income Other operating income Operating income Administrative expenses Depreciation expenses Impairment losses on financial	161 7,739 (3,210) (460)	Banking 3 17,512 180 22,668 (8,700)	72 213 9,095 (1,597) (46)	3 17,584 554 39,548 (13,507) (1,802)	activity - 72 - 8,910 (1,365) (33)	3 17,512 554 30,640 (12,142) (1,769)
2007 Dividend income Net trading income Other operating income Operating income Administrative expenses Depreciation expenses Impairment losses on financial assets and non financial assets	161 7,739 (3,210) (460) (1,023)	Banking 3 17,512 180 22,668 (8,700) (1,296)	72 213 9,095 (1,597) (46) (6,983)	3 17,584 554 39,548 (13,507) (1,802) (8,006)	activity - 72 - 8,910 (1,365) (33) (6,983)	3 17,512 554 30,640 (12,142) (1,769) (1,023)
2007 Dividend income Net trading income Other operating income Operating income Administrative expenses Depreciation expenses Impairment losses on financial assets and non financial assets Profit before tax	161 7,739 (3,210) (460) (1,023)	Banking 3 17,512 180 22,668 (8,700) (1,296) 12,672	72 213 9,095 (1,597) (46) (6,983)	3 17,584 554 39,548 (13,507) (1,802) (8,006) 16,187 26 (525)	activity 72 8,910 (1,365) (33) (6,983) 529 4	3 17,512 554 30,640 (12,142) (1,769) (1,023) 15,658 22 (525)
Dividend income Net trading income Other operating income Operating income Administrative expenses Depreciation expenses Impairment losses on financial assets and non financial assets Profit before tax Share of profit of associates	161 7,739 (3,210) (460) (1,023)	Banking 3 17,512 180 22,668 (8,700) (1,296) 12,672	72 213 9,095 (1,597) (46) (6,983)	3 17,584 554 39,548 (13,507) (1,802) (8,006) 16,187 26	activity - 72 - 8,910 (1,365) (33) (6,983) 529	3 17,512 554 30,640 (12,142) (1,769) (1,023) 15,658 22

5. Earnings per share

Amounts presented in €

Basic Earnings per share	31 March 2008	31 March 2007
Profit from continuing operations and discontinued operations attributable to the Parent Company's		
Shareholders	(7,028,761)	4,874,078
Weighted average number of shares in issue	124,832,395	57,291,675
Basic earnings per Share (€/Share)	(0.06)	0.09
Profit from continuing operations attributable to the Parent		
Company's Shareholders	(7,043,036)	4,775,188
Weighted average number of shares in issue	124,832,395	57,291,675
Basic earnings per Share (€/Share)	(0.06)	0.08
Diluted Earnings per Share		
Net Profit attributable to the Parent Company's Shareholders	(7,028,761)	4,874,078
Weighted average number of shares	124,832,395	57,291,675
Plus: Shares with no consideration (adjustment in number of shares due to probable exercise of Warrants)	1,829,211	16,414,879
Weighted average number of shares for the purposes of diluted earnings per share	126,661,606	73,706,554
Diluted earnings per Share €/Share)	(0.06)	0.07

Diluted earnings per Share €/Share)	(0.06)	0.06
Weighted average number of shares for the purposes of diluted earnings per share	126,661,606	73,706,554
Plus: Shares with no consideration (adjustment in number of shares due to probable exercise of of Warrants)	1,829,211	16,414,879
Weighted average number of shares	124,832,395	57,291,675
Parent Company's Shareholders	(7,043,036)	4,775,188
Net Profit from continuing operations attributable to the		

The effect of Proton's stock option plan on diluted earnings per share has not been taken into consideration since it is anti-dilutive.

6. Cash and balances with Central Bank

Amounts presented in € '000	31 March 2008	31December 2007
Cash on hand and cash in course of collection	11,770	34,384
Cheques receivable	21,890	12,344
Included in cash and cash equivalents	33,660	46,728
Mandatory reserve deposits with Central Bank	17,899	6,068
Total	51,558	52,796

7. Loans and advances to financial institutions

Amounts presented in € '000	31 March 2008	31December 2007
Deposits placed in other financial institutions	462,875	356,142
Time deposits	127,577	155,133
Cheques receivable	383	1,053
Total	590,834	512,327
Placements with other banks (over 90 days)	15,499	15,082
Total	606,333	527,410

8. Loans and receivables

o. Loans and receivables		
Amounts presented in € '000	31 March 2008	31December 2007
Individuals:		
Mortgages	48,549	48,341
Consumer loans /Loans to individuals	155,201	159,010
Credit cards	36,865	37,232
Total loans and receivables to individuals	240,615	244,584
Corporate entities:		
Agriculture	60,927	57,847
Mining	1,303	1,309
Heavy industry	125,637	113,773
Small industry	13,042	12,946
Building / Construction	120,871	139,832
Energy	310	310
Commercial / Insurance	239,764	259,391

Amounts presented in € '000	31 March 2008	31December 2007
Transportation	215,765	205,918
Financial institutions	46,298	45,906
Services	23,254	29,752
Other companies	221,383	222,280
Total loans and receivables to companies	1,068,554	1,089,263
Finance lease receivables	72,883	69,858
Total loans and receivables	1,382,052	1,403,705
Less: Allowances for impairment	(35,680)	(35,680)
Total	1,346,372	1,368,025

9. Trading portfolio and other financial assets at fair value through Profit & Loss

Amounts presented in € '000	31 March 2008	31December 2007
Trading assets	_	
Government bonds	12,792	23,850
Corporate entities bonds	98,144	102,942
Mutual funds	8,239	8,903
Securities	44,713	38,686
	163,889	174,381
Other financial assets designated at fair value		
Corporate bonds	78,325	5,421
Total	242,214	179,802

10. Investment portfolio

Amounts presented in € '000	31 M arch 200 8	31December 2007
Securities held to maturity		
Government bonds	6,736	6,659
Corporate bonds	3,087	3,058
Total	9,823	9,717
Securities available-for-sale		
Corporate bonds	103,793	112,339
Government bonds	131,755	129,805
Equity securities	70,869	5,991
Other investments	2,092	2,092
Total	308,510	250,227
Total investment portfolio	318,332	259,944

Securities held to maturity mainly include Greek Government Bonds, that are held from the issue date and for which the Group intends to hold until maturity. All available-for-sale securities are carried at fair value.

Investment in associates	31 March 2008	31December 2007
Investments in associates	3,286	3,886
Total	3,286	3,886

In the Bank's separate financial information, investments in associates are carried at fair value according to IAS 39, as available for sale financial assets measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in equity.

The Group's interest in associates is analyzed as follows:

At 31 March 2008

Name	Country	% Participation	Assets	Liabilities	Profit	Loss	Carrying value
Omega Portfolio							
Investment Co. SA	Greece	6,01%	13,354	61	(2,337)	(2,439)	3,286

At 31 December 2007

Name	Country	% Participation	Assets	Liabilities	Profit	Loss	Carrying value
Omega Portfolio	_						
Investment Co. SA	Greece	6,01%	15,824	91	1,523	1,034	3,886

During the three-month period, Proton Bank has acquired additional 1,700 shares of "Omega Portfolio Investment Co. SA" for the amount of approximately € 2.6 thousand.

Investments in associates, in the non-consolidated financial information, are reported in their fair value according to IAS 39 as Available-for-sale financial assets at fair value through equity. Its fair value, as at 31 March 2008, is calculated to \in 3,286 thousands euro.

11. Goodwill and other intangible assets

Amounts presented in € '000	Goodwill	Customer relations & other intangible assets	Software	Total
Balance at 1 January 2008				
Cost	157,184	19,538	4,747	181,469
Accumulated amortization, impairment	(7,465)	(5,216)	(2,003)	(14,684)
Net carrying amount	149,719	14,322	2,744	166,785
Period ended 31 March 2008				
Opening net carrying amount	149,719	14,322	2,744	166,785
Transfer in assets held for sale:				
-Cost	-	-	-	-
-Accumulated amortization	-	-	-	-
Additions	-	-	4	4
Write-off, disposals				
-Cost	-	-	-	-
-Accumulated amortization	-	-	-	_
Amortization charge	0	(1,043)	(183)	(1,226)
Closing net carrying amount	149,719	13,279	2,565	165,563

Balance at 31 March 2008

Net carrying amount	149,719	14,322	2,744	166,785
Accumulated amortisation, impairment	(7,465)	(5,216)	(2,003)	(14,684)
Cost	157,184	19,538	4,747	181,469
Balance at 31 December 2007				
Closing net carrying amount	149,719	14,322	2,744	166,785
Impairment charge	(7,465)		_	(7,465)
Amortization charge		(4,173)	(730)	(4,903)
-Accumulated amortization			1	1
-Cost			(8)	(8)
Write-off, disposals				
Additions	1,224		309	1,533
-Accumulated amortization	Ó		46	46
-Cost	(12,393)		(126)	(12,519)
Transfer in assets held for sale:	0	·	•	0
Opening net carrying amount	168,353	18,495	3,252	190,1
Year ended 31 December 2007				
Net carrying amount	168,353	18,495	3,252	190,1
Accumulated amortization		(1,043)	(1,312)	(2,355)
Cost	168,353	19,538	4,564	192,455
Balance at 1 January 2007				
Net carrying amount	149,719	13,279	2,565	165,563
Net carrying amount	(7,465)	(6,259)	(2,186)	(15,910)
Cost Accumulated amortization, impairment	157,184	19,538	4,751	181,473

[&]quot;Goodwill and other intangible assets" include business combination differences. The entire amount of goodwill has been allocated, for impairment test purposes, to one group of cash-generating units (CGUs) comprising the banking operations in Greece (Proton Group).

The recoverable amount of Proton Group has been determined based on value in use calculations. The cash flows are determined on the basis of maximum dividend available to the parent company after taking into consideration Proton's profitability and its capital requirements. That calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a four-year period. Proton's cash flows beyond the four-year period are extrapolated using a steady 2% growth rate and 16.2% return on equity. This growth rate does not exceed the average growth rate for the market in which Proton operates.

The estimation of future cash flows requires high degree of management judgment and is based on assumptions about future events and market factors. The key assumptions used for the value in use calculations are the following:

27.8%
24.3%
22.7%
8.0%
2.1%
31.1%
10.4%

Management determined budgeted increase in loans and deposits as well as interest margins based on past performance and its expectations of market development. The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the Greek banking industry.

The Group on 31 December 2007 has reported an impairment loss of € 7,465 being the excess of Proton's carrying amount before the recognition of the impairment over its recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount is particularly sensitive into various assumptions. If management has used different assumptions for the estimation of the value in use, then the amount of the impairment loss would have been different:

- If the discount rate was 10% greater, then an additional impairment loss of € 12,406 would have been recognized, while if the discount rate was decreased by 10% then no impairment loss would have been recognized.
- If the growth rate was decreased to 1.5% then an additional impairment loss of € 2,606 would have been recognized, while if growth rate was set at 2.5% the impairment loss would have been decreased by € 2,937.
- If future cash flows for the budgeted period were decreased by 5%, then an additional impairment loss of € 1,305 would have been recognized, while if future cash flows of the budgeted period are increased by 5% the impairment loss would have been decreased by € 1,305.
- If the return on equity after the budgeted period was decreased by 10% then an additional impairment loss of € 12,406 would have been recognized, while if the return on equity was increased by 10% then no impairment loss would have been recognized.

12. Deferred tax assets/liabilities

Amounts presented in € '000

Timodia presented in C. dob	31 March 2008	31 December 2007
Deferred tax assets		
Retirement benefit obligations	328	296
Financial liabilities	182	192
Financial assets	22	9
Staff bonuses and allowances	2	-
Commission from loan advances	168	168
Finance Leases	623	567
Provision for bad debts	253	1,063
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss	1,530	1,430
Financial assets at fair value directly through equity	5,474	3,359
Other assets	29	16
Total deferred tax assets	8,610	7,099
Deferred tax liabilities		
Property, plant & equipment	(832)	(548)
Intangible assets	(3,320)	(3,581)
Financial assets at fair value directly through equity	(2,800)	(2,800)
Total deferred tax liabilities	(6,951)	(6,928)
Total	1,659	170

The movement in the deferred taxes during the period had as follows:

Balance at 1 January 2008	170
Deferred tax assets / (liabilities) from:	
Provisions for bad debts less revaluation of loans and receivables of OMEGA BANK	(810)
Provisions for other assets	13
Derivative financial instruments	2,231
Intangible assets	(23)
Leasing	55
Financial assets, at net present value	(1)
Retirement benefit obligations	32
Financial liabilities	(9)
Balance at 31 March 2008	1,659

13. Other assets

Amounts presented in € '000	31 March 2008	31 December 2008
Other assets	-	
Advances to employees	59	28
Advances to third parties	89	52
Contributions to Co-Guarantee Fund and Supplementary		
Fund	10,654	12,640
Guarantee fees	629	621
Prepayments to third parties	232	139
Brokerage fees receivables	7,036	15,539
Credit card receivables	1,899	1,751
Prepaid taxes and other tax advances	8,178	8,963
Sundry debtors and other receivables	14,544	17,436
Bad debts (other than loans and receivables)	4,206	4,206
Loans to related parties	. 0	0
Receivables from related parties	7	2
Receivables from foreign stock exchange		
	4,938	4,608
Bond subscriptions	0	30,411
	52,470	96,396
Less: Provisions for losses (impairment) of receivables besides loans	(4.073)	(4.024)
Total	(4,973)	(4,921)
i vai	47 <u>,498</u>	<u>91,474</u>

14. Due to financial institutions

Amounts presented in € '000	31 March 2008	31 December 2008
Interbank deposits	402,704	392,371
Sight deposits	30	201
Short-term loans	185,000	-
Time deposits Sale and repurchase agreement (REPOS)	17,046 (1)	28,864 12,505
Total	604,778	433,941

15. Due to customers

Amounts presented in € '000	31 March 2008	31 December 2008
Individuals		
Savings account	60,744	57,700
Sight deposits	24,238	18,175
Time deposits	728,438	794,343
Deposits under notice	24,559	1,738
	837,980	871,956
Corporate entities:		
Sight deposits	69,281	67,898
Companies	325,275	319,249
Public companies	21,184	5,838
Other time deposits	43,758	55,694
Sale and repurchase agreement (REPOS)		986
	459,499	449,665
Blocked deposits	81	184
Pledged deposits	59,448	59,534
Margin accounts	32,183	40,800
Total	1,389,192	1,422,139

16. Current income tax liabilities

Amounts presented in € '000	31 March 2008	31 December 2008	
Income tax on taxable profits	11,002	9,671	
Provision of tax liabilities	1,011	828	
Total	12,013	10,498	

17. Other liabilities

Amounts presented in € '000	31 March 2008	31 December 2008
Withholding taxes arising from salaries	297	542
Taxes and duties payable from customers' deposits	387	439
Other withholding taxes and duties	99	188
Prior year income taxes (from tax audit)	309	541
Social security contributions	557	878
Dividends payable	92	95
Salaries payable	524	239
Brokerage services securities and derivatives	5,451	266
Suppliers and other third party liabilities	10,796	10,983
Dividend declared	22,105	-
Total	40,617	14,170

18. Share capital and share premium

During the three month period there has been no move in share capital and share premium.

Share Number of Nominal capital Share Share shares value (US\$) in capital premium (US\$)	otal
---	------

Opening balance at 31 December 2007	124,832,394	-	187	147	400,443	400,590
Closing balance at 31 March 2008	124.832.394	_	187	147	400,443	400,590

Authorized share capital

	Preference S	Preference Shares of US\$0.0001 each		Common Shares of US\$0.0015 each		015 each
	Number	Amount in US\$	Amount in €	Number	Amount in US\$	Amount in €
Authorized at 31 March 2008	2,500,000	250	208	200,000,000	300,000	249,314

Warrants

On 14 November 2005 the Company consummated its initial public offering (the "Offering"). The Company sold 45,833,340 units in the Offering at a price of \$6.00 per Unit. Each Unit consisted of one share of the Company's common stock (the "Common Shares"), and two warrants ("Warrants"). Each Warrant, based on its original terms, entitles the holder to purchase from the Company one share of Common Stock at an exercise price of \$5.00 per share. According to the Offering, the 91,666,680 Warrants become exercisable after the approval of the acquisition of PROTON BANK by the Special Shareholders Meeting on 27 June 2006. All Warrants must be exercised by 14 November 2009 or they will expire.

During 2007, the Company modified the terms of its Warrants to induce the early exercise of these Warrants. Under two Warrant programs, a private program offered to certain qualified investors (the "Private Program") and a subsequent public program offered to all warrant holders (the "Public Program"), IRF temporarily (1) increased the number of Common Shares received upon exercise of a Warrant from one Common Share to 1.20 Common Shares on payment of \$5.00, and (2) permitted the exercise of a Warrant such that the Holder received one Common Share in exchange for every 8.75 Warrants surrendered. Warrant holders were able to use one or both methods to convert their Warrants into Common Shares.

As a result of the two programs, a total of \$292,766,845 of gross cash proceeds were raised, and 78,070,139 Warrants were converted. Following the close of the Public Program on 26 April 2007, the total Common Shares and Warrants outstanding were 129,356,204 and 13,596,541, respectively.

19. Cash and cash equivalents - Cash Flow Statement

For the purposes of preparing the Cash Flow Statement of the Group, the short-term placements in other financial institutions, which are either immediately available or available within 90 days, were included in the cash account.

Amounts presented in € '000	31 March 2008	31 December 2007
Cash and balances with Central Bank	33,660	17,857
Loans and advances to financial institutions	590,834	522,264
Assets held for sale	104	<u>-</u>
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period	624,598	540.121

20. Related party transactions

20.1 Transactions with associates

Amounts presented in E '000	31 March	31 December
Amounts presented in € '000 Assets	2008	2007
Other receivables	15	28
Total	15	28
Liabilities		
Deposits	4,716	5,188
Other liabilities	15	18
Total	4,731	5,206
Amounts presented in € '000	31 March 2008	31 December 2007
Income/Expenses		
Interest and similar income	37	22
Interest expense and similar charges	(47)	(50)
Total	(10)	(28)

20.2 Transactions with management and members of the Board of Directors

Amounts presented in € '000	31 March 2008	31 December 2007
Assets Loans	25,949	22,467
Other receivables	163	195
Total	26,112	22,662
Liabilities Deposits	62,796	67,775
Bond liabilities	02,730	1,539
Other liabilities	•	177
Total	62,796	69,491
Letters of guarantee	1,332	18,195
Amounts presented in € '000	31 March 2008	31 March 2007
Income / Expenses		
Salaries and other remuneration	(1,047)	(1,106)
Share options	(622)	(622)
Interest and similar income	408	57
Interest expense and similar charges	(659)	(712)
Other operating income	388	465
Other operating expenses	(172)	(224)
Total		241

The above figures refer solely to related party transactions of Proton Group except the item of Salaries and other Remuneration in which are also included the Salaries and Remunerations of IRF paid to CEO of the Company amounting to € 17 thousand for the three-month period ended 31 March 2008 and € 34 thousand for the three-month period ended 31 March 2007.

The amount of deposits of € 62,796 thousand refers to normal deposits held by PROTON's Directors and Key Management Personnel. The amounts of loans of € 25,949 thousand refer to loans given to PROTON's Directors and Key Management Personnel.

21. Discontinued operations

On 28 December 2007 the Group committed to sale its insurance activities. In particular, Proton Bank entered into a contractual agreement with the «COMMERCIAL VALUE SOCIETE ANONYME INSURANCE» (Proton Insurance) to transfer 91.29% of the outstanding common shares of the «PROTON SOCIETE ANONYME PROVISION INSURANCE».

As a result of the above commitment the Group presented all results and cash flows generated from Proton Insurance as discontinued operations. Moreover, as required by IFRS 5, results and cash flows of the comparative period ended 31 March 2007 have been also restated in order to reflect discontinued operations. Finally assets and liabilities of Proton Insurance have been classified as "Non current assets held for sale" and "Liabilities associated with assets classified as held for sale" respectively.

Details about results, cash flows, assets and liabilities of Proton Insurance are provided below.

21.1 Net Profit from discontinued operations

Net profit from discontinued operation is analyzed as follows:

Amounts presented in € '000	1/1- 31/3/2008	1/1- 31/3/2007
Interest and similar income	35	_
Interest and similar expenses	(101)	-
Net interest income	(66)	-
Income from insurance activities	9,641	11,9 45
Expense from insurance activities	(2,019)	(3,107)
Net Income from insurance activities	7,622	8,838
Net result from financial activities	(434)	(72)
Total Net Income	7,122	8,910
Staff costs	(689)	(507)
Other operating expenses	(647)	(858)
Depreciation	(40)	(33)
Insurance claims	(5,560)	(6,983)
Impairment losses	<u>-</u> _	
Total operating expenses	(6,936)	(8,381)
Share of profits / (losses) of associates	(109)	4
Profit before tax	77	533
Income tax expense	(1)	(7)_
Profit after tax	76	526

21.2 Cash flows from discontinued operations

Cash flows generated from discontinued operations are analyzed as follows:

Amounts presented in € '000

CASH FLOW STATEMENT	1/1-31/3/2008	1/1-31/3/2007
Net cash flows from discontinued operating activities Net cash flows from discontinued investing	(978) (13)	(1.826)

Net increase/ (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents from discontinued operations	(991)	(1.750)
Net cash flows from discontinued financing activities	<u>-</u>	96
activities		(20)

21.3 Assets held for sale and Liabilities associated with assets classified as held for sale

Assets of Proton Insurance, after eliminating all balances with the other group companies, are as follows:

ASSETS	31 March 2008
Cash	20
Loans and advances to banks	84
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss	12,535
Investments in associates	516
Intangible assets	12,474
Property, plant and equipment	2,531
Investment property	50
Insurance receivables	22,643
Reinsurance contracts	2,105
Deferred tax assets	69
Other assets	3,245
Total assets	56,272
LIABILITIES	31 March 2008
Debt securities in issue	1,558
Retirement benefit obligations	275
Provisions for insurance contracts	35,8 1 1
Deferred tax liabilities	94
Other liabilities	8,444
Total liabilities	46,182

22. Commitments and contingent liabilities

22.1 Pending litigation

As at 31 March 2008, there were some pending litigations against the Group in connection with its activities. Based on legal advice the Board of Directors believes that there is adequate defense against all claims and it is not probable that the Group will suffer any significant damage. Therefore, no provision has been made in the consolidated interim financial statements regarding these cases.

22.2 Contingent tax liabilities

Proton Group is subject to Greek tax legislation. Under Greek Law, submitted tax returns are not considered as final and are subject to revision by tax authorities as a result of tax inspection in entities books and records. Tax liabilities are considered as final by statute after the completion of five years from the end of the relevant fiscal year, however it is common that the tax authorities will audit the entity's books and records. The tax authorities commonly seek to disallow expenses on the basis that they are not properly documented or that they do not represent proper business expenses, relying on a substantial degree of subjective judgment on the part of the tax management in order an out-of-court settlement to be reached. In practice, both companies and tax authorities tend to reach an out-of-court settlement at an acceptable level of additional taxes.

Proton Bank has been reviewed by the tax authorities for the years up to and including 2006. The tax audit for the years 2005 and 2006 was completed on 16 November 2007, while the tax liability incurred of € 529 thousands was compensated for by a relevant provision,. For the un-audited period (01.01.2007-31.03.2008) a relevant provision has been recognized in accordance with the IFRS's.

The accounting years that have not been inspected yet by the tax authorities for each of the Group's companies are as follows:

Сотрапу пате	Domicile	Open tax years
IRF European Finance Investments Limited 1	Bermudas	-
Mimosa Trading SA 1	Marshall Islands	-
Myrtle Trading Company 1	Marshall Islands	-
Proton Bank AE	Greece	2007
Proton Asset Management AE	Greece	2005-2007
Proton Mutual Funds Management Co AE	Greece	2005-2007
First Global Brokers SA	Serbia	2002-2007
Intellectron Systems SA	Greece	2001-2007
Omega Brokerage S.A	Greece	2006-2007
Omega Mutual Funds Mgt Co SA	Greece	2006-2007

Note 1: Not subject to income tax

As a result of the above the Group's respective tax obligations for periods covering one to six accounting years have not been finalized. For the un-audited periods a relevant provision has been recognized in accordance with the IFRS's. Due to the method according to which tax liabilities are settled in Greece, the Group remains contingently liable against any additional taxes or penalties imposed for un-audited periods.

22.3 Letters of guarantee / Irrevocable letters of credit

Amounts presented in € '000	31 March 2008	31 December 2007
Letters of guarantee	117,915	110,878
Irrevocable letters of credit	1,835	2,480
Total	119,750	113,358

22.4 Pledged assets

- 1. Greek Government bonds with a nominal value of € 10,500 thousands, have been pledged by HELEX.
- 2. Greek Government debt securities with a nominal value of € 139,550 thousands, and DEXIA bond with a nominal value of € 50,000 thousands of euros have been pledged by Bank of Greece

22.5 Subsidiary's share option plan

The Extraordinary General shareholders' Meeting of PROTON BANK on 24 November 2006 approved a share option plan for the members of the Board of Directors, key management, its employees and the Bank's related companies in the form of stock options according to the article 13 of Law 2190/1920 after the proposition of the Board of Directors and the Compensation Committee. The options are conditional on the beneficiaries

remaining during the options life under employment or other relationship with the Bank or Group companies (vesting period). The options are exercisable every November starting from the year of the grant and have a contractual option term of three years. The Bank has no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the options in cash.

4,897,510 share options were granted on 15 June 2007 with an exercise price of € 10.46 per share. The fair value of options granted during the period determined using the Black-Scholes valuation model. The significant inputs into the model were: share price at the grand date, the exercise price, option life, volatility of share prices and the risk free rate (swap rate yield curve). Volatility measured at the standard deviation of expected share price returns was based on statistical analysis of daily share prices over the last year.

If the stock option is fully exercised then the company's shareholding in Proton will be diluted from 20,60% to 19.11%

23. Supplementary information - The Company

IRF was formed to invest in the financial services industry throughout Europe with a primary focus on credit institutions and insurance companies in South Eastern Europe, In 2006, IRF formed two wholly owned subsidiaries in Marshall Islands, Mimosa Trading SA and Myrtle Trading Company, to serve as vehicles for the acquisition of investments in the financial services industry. Assets, liabilities, results and cash flows of these three entities are managed together. Management has prepared proforma financial information, consolidating all items of the three entities and presents them under the term of "Company". According to IAS 27, a parent should consolidate all of its subsidiaries. However, management has prepare these supplementary proforma financial information which do not comply with IAS 27, in order to present the results and the financial position of the "Company" (i.e. the parent and the wholly owned subsidiaries managed together). The financial position and the performance of the "Company", as at 31 March 2008, 31 December 2007 and 31 March 2007 were as follows:

Amounts presented in € '000	31 March 2008	31 December 2007
ASSETS		
Non current assets		
Investments in subsidiaries	129,514	129,514
Investment portfolio	65,169	<u>-</u>
Total non current assets	194,683	129,514
Current assets		
Other assets	57	55
Cash and cash equivalents	463,997	350,503
Total current assets	464,054	350 <u>,558</u>
Total assets	658,736	480,072
	31 March	31 December
	2008	2007
SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY	2008	2007
SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY Share capital	2008 147	2007 147
-		
Share capital	147	147
Share capital Share premium	147 400,443	147
Share capital Share premium Revaluation reserve	147 400,443 1,585	147 400,443
Share capital Share premium Revaluation reserve Retained earnings	147 400,443 1,585 46,016	147 400,443 - 76,192
Share capital Share premium Revaluation reserve Retained earnings Total equity	147 400,443 1,585 46,016 448,191 31 March	147 400,443 - 76,192 476,781 31 December
Share capital Share premium Revaluation reserve Retained earnings Total equity LIABILITIES	147 400,443 1,585 46,016 448,191 31 March	147 400,443 - 76,192 476,781 31 December

Total current liabilities	210,546	3,291
Total liabilities	210,546	3,291
Total equity and liabilities	658,736	480,072

Three-month period

Amounts presented in € '000	01/01- 31/03/2008	01/01- 31/03/2007
Net trading income / (Loss)	(10,772)	6,722
Interest income	3,179	618
Total income	(7,593)	7,340
Personnel expenses	(17)	(25)
Other operating expenses	(33)	(2,633)
Finance cost	(428)	(2,074)
Total expenses	(478)	(4,732)
Profit before tax Less: Income tax	(8,071)	2,609
Profit after tax	(8,071)	2,609
Earning per Share attributable to the company's shareholders (€/share)		
- Basic	(0.06)	0.05
- Diluted	(0.06)	0.04

IRF, MIMOSA and MURTLE, have significant amounts of cash and cash equivalents in United States Dollars. Due to the currency appreciation of the USD against the Euro during the recent quarter, IRF has recorded a loss from translating the cash and cash equivalents from USD to Euros. All trading losses of the company were generated from these exchange differences

24. Events after 31 March 2008

As of mid May 2008, the "Company" has acquired the total of 46,737,892 which represents approximately 6.26% of the issued share capital of "Marfin Investment Group".

Beside the aforesaid, there were no significant events subsequent to the interim balance sheet date which are required to be mentioned.

Athens, 30 May 2008

Angeliki Frangou

Loucas Valetopoulos

Chairman, Non – Executive Director

Chief Executive Officer, Director



Consolidated Interim Financial Statements for the six-month period ended at 30 June 2008

The accompanying consolidated interim financial statements of IRF European Finance Investments Ltd ("IRF") and its subsidiaries (together "the Group"), for the six-month period ended at 30 June 2008 were approved by the Company's Board of Directors on 4 September 2008.

Contents

Board of Directors	195
Statement of Directors' responsibilities in respect of the interim accounts	195
Report on Review of Interim Financial Information	196
CONSOLIDATED INTERIM INCOME STATEMENT	197
CONSOLIDATED INTERIM BALANCE SHEET	197
CONSOLIDATED INTERIM STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY	199
CONSOLIDATED INTERIM CASH FLOW STATEMENT	202
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	204
1. General information	204
2. Basis of Presentation	204
3. Group structure	206
4. Business segment	208
5. Earnings per share	209
6. Cash and balances with Central Bank	210
7. Loans and advances to financial institutions	210
8. Loans and advances to customers	210
9. Trading portfolio and other financial assets at fair value through Profit & Loss	211
10. Investment portfolio	211
11. Goodwill and other intangible assets	212
12. Other assets	214
13. Due to financial institutions	214
14. Due to customers	215
15. Current income tax liabilities	215
16. Other liabilities	215
17. Share capital and share premium	216
18. Cash and cash equivalents - Cash Flow Statement	217
19. Related party transactions	217
19.1 Transactions with associates	217
19.2 Transactions with management and members of the Board of Directors	217
20. Discontinued operations	218
20.1 Net Profit from discontinued operations	218
20.2 Cash flows from discontinued operations	219
20.3 Assets held for sale and Liabilities associated with assets classified as held for sale	219
21. Commitments and contingent liabilities	220
21.1 Pending litigation	220
21.2 Contingent tax liabilities	220
21.3 Letters of guarantee / Irrevocable letters of credit	221
21.4 Pledged assets	221

21.5 Subsidiary's share option plan	221
22. Supplementary information – The Company	222
23. Events after 30 June 2008	223

Board of Directors

Name	Position
Angeliki Frangou	Chairman, Non — Executive Director
Sheldon Goldman	Deputy Chairman
Loucas Valetopoulos	Chief Executive Officer, Director
Alexander Meraclis	Secretary of the Company
John Karakadas	Non - Executive Director

Statement of Directors' responsibilities in respect of the interim accounts

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law and in accordance with the AIM regulations the directors have elected to prepare financial statements in accordance International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union.

The financial statements are required by law to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the profit or loss of the Group for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:

- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
- make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
- state whether applicable International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and
- prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the company will continue in business.

The directors, to the best of their knowledge, state that:

 the financial statements, prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit of the Group; and

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

In so far as the directors are aware:

- there is no relevant audit information of which the company's auditors are unaware; and
- the directors have taken all steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the auditors are aware of that information.

Legislation in Bermuda governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Report on Review of Interim Financial Information

To the Shareholders of "IRF EUROPEAN FINANCE INVESTMENTS LIMITED"

Introduction

We have reviewed the accompanying interim consolidated balance sheet of "IRF EUROPEAN FINANCE INVESTMENT LTD" (the "Company") and the related interim consolidated statements of income, changes in equity and cash flows for the six-month period then ended, and the selected explanatory notes.

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of this interim financial statement in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards that have been adopted by European Union and apply for interim financial information ("IAS 34"). Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on these interim financial statements based on our review.

Scope of Review

We conducted our review in accordance with International Standard on Review Engagements 2410, "Review of Interim Financial Information Performed by the Independent Auditor of the Entity" to which the Greek Auditing Standards indict. A review of interim financial information consists of making inquiries, primarily of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters, and applying analytical and other review procedures. A review is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with Greek Auditing Standards and consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that might be identified in an audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion.

Conclusion

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the accompanying interim financial information is not prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with IAS 34.

Athens, 4 September 2008

The Certified Public Accountant Auditor

The Certified Public Accountant Auditor

Vassilis Kazas SOEL Reg. No 13281 Panagiotis Christopoulos SOEL Reg. No 28481



Chartered Accountants
Vassileos Konstantinou 44, 116 35 Athens
SOEL Reg. No 127

CONSOLIDATED INTERIM INCOME STATEMENT

4	Note	01/01 - 30/06/2008	01/01- 30/06/2007	01/04- 30/06/2008	01/04- 30/06/2007	1/1- 31/12/2007
Amounts presented in € '000			(as restated)		(as restated)	
Interest and similar income		68,801	51,439	34,009	29,021	122,692
Interest and similar expenses		(45,375)	(32,519)	(23,562)	(19,014)	(78,939)
Net interest income		23,426	18,919	10,447	10,007	43,753
Fee and commission income		17,135	22,978	6,707	16,094	43,966
Fee and commission expense		(3,168)	(6,591)	(2,102)	(3,363)	(16,105)
Net fee and commission income		13,967	16,387	4,605	12,731	27,861
Income from insurance		-	409	_	409	-
Expense from insurance services			-	-	<u>-</u>	
Net Income from insurance services		-	409	-	409	-
Dividend income		1,801	15,782	1,798	15,778	16,217
Net trading income Net income from financial instruments designated at fair		(1,620)	44,472	15,261	26,959	68,421
value through profit and loss Gains less losses from		7,010	2,451	(415)	2,451	2,263
investment securities		1.050	6	-	6	- 4 400
Other operating income Total net income		1,058 45,641	738 99,165	587 32.283	183 68,525	1,480 159,995
		•	·		•	
Staff costs		(13,791)	(13,683)	(7,368)	(6,932)	(25,136)
Other operating expenses		(11,745)	(14,273)	(6,363)	(8,309)	(25,836)
Impairment of goodwill		(7,720)	-	(7,720)	-	(7,465)
Depreciation		(3,756)	(3,571)	(1,884)	(1,803)	(7,225)
Impairment losses		(3,063)	(1,310)	(3,011)	(287)	(6,981)
Total operating expenses		(40,075)	(32,837)	(26,346)	(17,331)	(72,644)
Share of profit of associates		(761)	208	(158)	187	255
Profit before tax		4,805	66,536	5,778	51,380	87,606
Income tax expense		(1,214)	(3,575)	925	(1,823)	(9,732)
Profit after tax from continuing operations		3,591	62,961	6,703	49,557	77,874
Net profit from discontinued operations		(784)	(448)	(860)	(974)	152
Profit after tax		2,807	62,513	5,843	48,583	78,026
Attributable to: Shareholders of the parent		4,596	45,944	11,624	41,070	61,635
Minority interest		(1,789)	16,569	(5,781)	7,513	16,391
Total		2,807	62,513	5,843	48,583	78,026
From continuing and disconti	nued o	•	02,022	2,012	10,202	70,020
- Basic	naca o,	0.04	0.49	0.09	0.41	0.56
- Diluted		0.04	0.45	0.09	0.37	0.53
From continuing operations					5.27	
- Basic		0.04	0.50	0.10	0.43	0.56
- Diluted		0.04	0.46	0.10	0.39	0.53

The notes on the following pages form an integral part of these consolidated interim financial statements

CONSOLIDATED INTERIM BALANCE SHEET

2008	2007	31 December 2007
		30 June 30 June 2008 2007

ASSETS Cash and balances with Central Bank	6	43,626	32,790	52,796
Loans and advances to financial institutions	7	263,350	476,885	527,410
Trading portfolio and other financial assets at fair value through Profit & Loss	9	243,930	536,304	179,802
Derivative financial instruments		12,578	1,161	11,529
Loans and advances to customers	8	1,316,839	1,216,362	1,368,025
Investment portfolio	10	630,828	225,514	259,944
Investments in associates		2,906	3,831	3,886
Property, plant and equipment		27,341	31,789	27,880
Goodwill and other intangible assets Deferred tax assets	11	156,799 9,834	176,343	166,784
Other assets	42	39,076	59,420	7,098 91,474
odici diseb	12 <u> </u>	2,747,108	2,760,400	2,696,628
Non current assets held for sale		51,129	55,631	53,727
TOTAL ASSETS		2,798,237	2,816,031	2,750,355
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES	_			
Due to financial institutions	13	616,856	521,301	433,941
Due to customers	14	1,337,951	1,300,402	1,422,139
Trading liabilities		-	1,434	-
Derivative financial instruments		16,213	3,299	14,570
Issued debt securities		25,261	-	25,283
Retirement benefit obligations		1,399	1,063	1,140
Current income tax liabilities	15	13,853	3,451	10,498
Deferred tax liability		6,511	2,110	6,928
Other borrowed funds		-	115,000	-
Other liabilities	16	34,818	28,752	14,170
		2,052,861	1,976,847	1,928,669
Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held for sale		43,709	47,495	44,339
Total liabilities Shareholders' equity		2,096,570	2,024,309	1,973,008
Share capital	17	147	152	147
Share premium	17	400,443	414,967	400,443
Revaluation reserve		(43,466)	(6)	(2,570)
Other reserves		16,885	16,430	16,587
Retained earnings / (losses)		54,784 428,793	56,785 488,328	72,491 487,099
Total equity attributable to shareholders' of IRF Minority interest		272,874	303,394	290,248
Total equity		701,667	791,722	777,347
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY		2,798,237	2,816,031	2,750,355

The notes on the following pages form an integral part of these consolidated interim financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED INTERIM STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity	Attributable to shareholders of the Parent Company							
Amounts presented in € '000	Share Capital	Share Premium	Revaluation Reserve	Other Reserves	Retained Earnings / (losses)	Total	Minority Interest	Total
Opening balance as at 1st January 2008	147	400,443	(2,570)	16,587	72,492	487,099	290,248	777,347
Gains/ losses directly recognized in equity: - on the valuation of available for sale financial assets - exchange differences on translating foreign	-	-	(40,897)	-	-	(40,897)	(6,145)	(47,042)
operations Total income/(loss) recognized directly to equity		-	(40,897)	-	(2) (2)	(2) (40,899)	(7) (6,152)	(9) (47,050)
Net result for the period 01/01-30/06/2008		-		-	4,596	4,596	(1,789)	2,807
Total income/(loss) recognized for the period			(40,897)	-	4,594	(36,303)	(7,941)	(44,243)
Equity share options granted to employees	-	-	-	103	-	103	395	498
Dividend relating to 2007	-	-	-	-	(22,105)	(22,105)	(9,829)	(31,935)
Capitalisation to legal reserves		_	-	196	(196)	-	-	-
Balance as at 30 June 2008	147	400,443	(43,466)	16,885	54,784	428,793	272,874	701,667

Amounts	presented	in	€	'000

Attributable to shareholders of the Parent Company

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity	Share Capital	Share Premium	Revaluation Reserve	Other Reserves	Retained Earnings / (losses)	Total	Minority Interest	Total
Opening balance as at 1st January 2007, as originally published	71	200,174	(2)	16,156	22,208	238,607	308,145	546,752
Restatement due to amortization of intangible assets	-	-	-	-	(210)	(210)	(832)	(1,042)
Restated Opening Balance as at 1st January 2007	71	200,174	(2)	16,156	21,998	238,397	307,313	545,710
Gains/ losses directly recognized in equity: - on the valuation of available for sale financial assets - Exchange differences on translating foreign	-	-	(3)	-	-	(3)	(10)	(13)
operation .	-	-	(1)	<u>-</u>	-	(1)	(6)	(7)
Total income/(loss) recognized directly to equity	<u>-</u>	-	(4)	_	-	(4)	(16)	(20)
Net result for the period 01/01-30/06/2007	_	-	-	-	45,944	45,944	16,569	62,513
Total income/(loss) recognized for the period	<u>-</u>	-	(4)		45,944	45,940	16,553	62,493
Issue of new shares after the exercise of Warrants	81	219,080	-	-	-	219,162	-	219,162
Share issue expenses	-	(4,287)	-	-	-	(4,287)	-	(4,287)
Dividend relating to 2006 Participation in share capital increase (Proton	**	-	-	-	(10,911)	(10,911)	(14,013)	(24,924)
Insurance SA) Acquisition of additional percentage in subsidiary	-	-	-	-	-	-	96	96
(Proton Bank) Acquisition of minority interests (Omega Mutual	-	-	-	-	-	-	(1,598)	(1,598)
Funds SA)	-	-	-	-	-	-	(132)	(132)
Fair value of employee services received	-	-	-	27	-	27	107	134
Purchases of treasury shares Capitalization of reserves	-	-	-	247	- (247)	- -	(4,932)	(4,932)
Balance as at 30 June 2007	152	414,967	(6)	16,430	56,785	488,328	303,394	791,722

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity	Attributable to shareholders of the Parent Company								
Amounts presented in € '000	Share Capital	Share Premium	Revaluation Reserve	Other Reserves	Retained Earnings / (losses)	Total	Minority Interest	Total	
Opening balance as at 1st January 2007, as originally published	71	200,174	(2)	16,156	22,208	238,607	308,145	546,752	
Restatement due to amortization of intangible assets	71	200,174	(2)	16,156	(210) 21,998	(210) 238,397	(832) 307,313	(1,043) 545,709	
Gains/ losses directly recognized in equity: - on the valuation of available for sale financial assets		-	(2,564)	-	-	(2,564)	(10,018)	(12,582)	
- exchange differences	-	-	(3)	-	-	(3)	(11)	(14)	
Net result for the period 01/01-31/12/2007	-	-	-	-	61,635	61,635	16,391	78,026	
Total profit /(loss) recognized for the period	_	-	(2,567)	-	61,635	59,067	6,362	65,430	
Issue of new shares after the exercise of warrants	81	219,080	-	-	-	219,162		219,162	
Expenses related to share capital increase	-	(4,287)	-	-	-	(4,287)	-	(4,287)	
Dividend relating to 2006	-		-	-	(10,911)	(10,911)	(14,045)	(24,956)	
Participation in share capital increase (Proton Insurance SA) Acquisition of additional percentage in subsidiary	-	-	-	-	-	-	96	96	
(Proton Bank) Acquisition of minority interests (Omega Mutual Funds SA)	-	-	-	-	-	-	(1,603) (12)	(1,603) (12)	
Fair value of employee services received	_	_	_	200	_	200	783	983	
Purchases of treasury shares	(5)	(14,525)	-	-	-	(14,530)	/83 (8,646)	(23,176)	
Capitalization of reserves	_	-		231	(231)	_	-		
Balance as at 31 December 2007	77 147	200,268 400,443	(2,570)	431 16,586	(11,142) 72,492	189,634 487,099	(23,427) 290,248	166,207 777,346	
Palatice as at 21 Decelline: 5007		700,773	(2,370)	10,300	14,734	40/ ₁ 033	230,240		

CONSOLIDATED INTERIM CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Amounts presented in € '000	Note	30 June 2008	30 June 2007	31 December 2007
Cash flows from operating activities				
Profit Before Tax		4,023	66,097	87,777
Adjustments for:				
Add: Depreciation & amortization		3,816	3,638	7,361
Add: Retirement benefit charge		259	430	712
Add: Impairment losses on financial assets		3,063	1,310	6,981
Gains (-) /Losses (+) from investment activities		(5,475)	(14,378)	(7,993)
Share of profit/loss from measurement of financial assets at fair value through Profit & Loss		655	(34,710)	-
Gains (-) /losses (+) from sale of trading securities		-	1,549	4,495
Proft /loss from sale of a.f.s. portfolio at fair value		(11,048)	-	-
Impairment losses on goodwill		7,720	-	7,465
Dividents Received		1,853	-	(12,804)
Fair value employee options		498	134	983
Exchange differences		8,506	1,933	13,812
Cash Flows from operating activities before changes in operating assets and liabilities	_	13,870	26,003	108,790
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:				
Net (increase) / decrease in trading securities		(61,639)	(255,538)	66,576
Net (increase) / decrease in reserves held in Central Bank		(417)	2,217	9,298
Net (increase) / decrease in loans and advances to customers		44,237	(279,434)	(437,390)
Net (increase) / decrease in insurance receivables		(822)	(4,258)	(2,889)
Net (increase) / decrease in reinsurance receivables		141	(351)	(293)
Net (increase) / decrease in other assets		51,328	(43,474)	(60,152)
Net increase / (decrease) in due to banks		182,915	430,405	327,962
Net increase / (decrease) in due to customers		(84,189)	258,245	379,983
Net increase / (decrease) in provisions for insurance contracts		(840)	2,972	2,001
Net increase / (decrease) in other borrowed funds		-	115,000	-
Net increase / (decrease) in other liabilities		27,532	29,690	(3,404)
Cash flows from operating activities before payment of income tax		172,115	281,478	390,580
Income tax paid	_	(3,640)	(111)	(189)
Net cash flows from operating activities Amounts presented in € '000	Note	168,475 30 June 2008	281,367 30 June 2007	390,390 31 December 2007

Cash flows from investing activities				
Portfolio available for sale and held to maturity		3,000	(183,249)	(227,029)
Acquisition of financial assets at fair value through Profit & Loss		-	-	-
Purchases / (proceeds) of tangible & intangible assets		(953)	(1,947)	506
Proceeds from a.f.s. portfolio		(406,066)	-	-
Other Investments		(4)	-	-
Acquisition of subsidiaries and associates			(2,831)	(2,963)
Dividend Received from investment activities		267	399	13,215
Dividends received from financial assets at fair value through P&L		1,073	15,813	3,453
Net cash flow from investing activities		(402,684)	(171,815)	(212,818)
Cash flows from financing activities				
Issuance of common shares due to exercise of warrants		-	214,865	214,874
Issuance of common shares in subsidiaries		(1)	96	245
Dividend paid		(31,863)	(24,870)	(24,919)
Repayments of other borrowed funds		(710)	-	24,671
Interest paid		(2,394)	-	-
Purchases / sales of treasury shares		-	(4,932)	(23,176)
Net cash flow from financing activities		(34,968)	185,168	191,696
Net increase / decrease in cash and cash equivalents		(269,176)	294,719	369,268
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period		559,372	203,917	203,917
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents	_	(8,506)	(1,933)	(13,812)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year	18 _	281,689	496,703	559,372

The notes on the following pages form an integral part of these consolidated interim financial statements

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. General information

Country of incorporation

IRF European Finance Investments Ltd. was incorporated on 8 September 2005 under the Bermuda Companies Act. IRF is listed on AIM. a market operated by the London Stock Exchange plc. IRF's registered office is at Canon's Court 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM12, Bermuda.

IRF conducts its business directly and through two wholly-owned subsidiaries, MIMOSA TRADING SA and MYRTLE TRADING COMPANY, duly incorporated under the provisions of the Marshall Islands Business Corporation Act on 06 July 2006. Collectively, these three entities are referred to as the "Company".

Principal activities

The Group, through all of its subsidiaries, is engaged in the provision of banking, financial and insurance services.

IRF was formed to invest in the financial services industry throughout Europe with a primary focus on credit institutions and insurance companies in South Eastern Europe. In June 2006, IRF completed its acquisition of a controlling interest in PROTON BANK, a Greek bank listed on the Athens Stock Exchange. PROTON BANK and its subsidiaries operate in the sectors of retail, corporate and investment banking, portfolio management, insurance and other financial services. PROTON BANK is licensed by the Bank of Greece to operate as a financial institution in Greece. PROTON BANK, which is established in Greece and is supervised by the Bank of Greece, operates through a network of 32 branches.

2. Basis of Presentation

Statement of compliance

The consolidated interim financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standard 34 'Interim Financial Reporting' and should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2007.

Presentation currency

The amounts of the consolidated interim financial statements attached are expressed in thousand Euros, which is the functional currency of the Group.

It should be noted that due to rounding the actual sums and percentages presented in the Consolidated Interim Financial Statements may not exactly be the same as those presented in the Notes to the Financial Statements.

Significant accounting polices

The same accounting policies as for the annual financial statements for the year 2007 have been followed in the preparation of the consolidated interim financial statements.

As from 1 January 2008, the Group has adopted the following new IFRIC which have no significant effect in financial statements:

- n) IFRIC 11, "Group and treasury share transactions"
- o) IFRIC 12, "Service concession arrangements"
- p) IFIRC 14: " IAS 19 The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction"

The financial information set out in this interim report does not constitute statutory financial statements pursuant to Section 84 of Bermuda Companies Act 1981. The Group's statutory financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2007 were approved by the shareholders at the annual general meeting at 31.3.2008. The auditor's report on those financial statements was unqualified.

Accounting estimates

The important assumptions made by the Group for the estimation of several accounting measurements alongside the uncertainty affecting these estimates are the same as those adopted during the preparation of the annual financial statements for the financial year ending 31 December 2007.

Comparatives

For the preparation of the condensed consolidated interim balance sheet and income statement of the period ended 30 June 2008, comparatives as of 31 December and 30 June 2007 respectively, were used.

Consolidated Income Statement for the comparative six-month period ended 30 June 2007, has been restated in order to reflect results of discontinued operations (note 20).

3. Group structure

c) Entities consolidated under full consolidation method

Entities consolidated under full consolidation method at 30 June 2008:

Name	Country	Direct and indirect holding	Relation that dictated the consolidation	Note
IRF EUROPEAN FINANCE INVESTMENTS LIMITED	BERMUDA	Parent		
MIMOSA TRADING SA	MARSHALL ISLANDS	100%	Percentage Ownership	Direct Stake
MYRTLE TRADING COMPANY	MARSHALL ISLANDS	100%	Percentage Ownership	Direct Stake
PROTON BANK GROUP				
PROTON BANK SA	GREECE	20.60%	Control	Direct Stake
FIRST GLOBAL BROKERS SA	SERBIA	16.99%	Control	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"
PROTON MUTUAL FUNDS SA	GREECE	20.58%	Control	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"
OMEGA INSURANCE BROKERS SA	GREECE	13.60%	Control	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"
PROTON INSURANCE SA	GREECE	18.80%	Control	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"
INTELLECTRON SYSTEMS SA	GREECE	11.46%	Control	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"

Entities consolidated under full consolidation method at 31 December 2007:

Name	Country	Direct and indirect holding	Relation that dictated the consolidation	Note
IRF EUROPEAN FINANCE INVESTMENTS LIMITED	BERMUDA	Parent		
MIMOSA TRADING SA	MARSHALL ISLANDS	100%	Percentage Ownership	Direct Stake
MYRTLE TRADING COMPANY	MARSHALL ISLANDS	100%	Percentage Ownership	Direct Stake
PROTON BANK GROUP				
PROTON BANK SA	GREECE	20.60%	Control	Direct Stake
FIRST GLOBAL BROKERS SA	SERBIA	16. 9 9%	Control	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"
PROTON MUTUAL FUNDS SA	GREECE	20.58%	Control	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"
OMEGA INSURANCE BROKERS SA	GREECE	13.60%	Control	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"
PROTON INSURANCE SA	GREECE F-206	18.80%	Control	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"

Name	Country	Direct and indirect holding	Relation that dictated the consolidation	Note
INTELLECTRON SYSTEMS SA	GREECE	11.46%	Control	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"
OMEGA KAHN FINANCIAL SERVICES SA	SWITZERLAND	16.48%	Control	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"

Entities consolidated under full consolidation method at 30 June 2007:

Name	Country	Direct and indirect holding	Relation that dictated the consolidation	Note
IRF EUROPEAN FINANCE INVESTMENTS LIMITED	BERMUDA	Parent		
MIMOSA TRADING SA	MARSHALL ISLANDS	100%	Percentage Ownership	Direct Stake
MYRTLE TRADING COMPANY	MARSHALL ISLANDS	100%	Percentage Ownership	Direct Stake
PROTON BANK GROUP				
PROTON BANK SA	GREECE	20.58%	Control	Direct Stake
PROTON ASSET MANAGEMENT CO SA	GREECE	20.56%	Control	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"
PROTON MUTUAL FUNDS MGT CO SA	GREECE	20.56%	Control	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"
FIRST GLOBAL BROKERS SA AD	SERBIA	16.63%	Control	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"
OMEGA MUTUAL FUNDS SA	GREECE	20.58%	Control	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"
OMEGA INSURANCE BROKERS SA	GREECE	13.58%	Control	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"
PROTON INSURANCE SA	GREECE	18.79%	Control	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"
INTELLECTRON SYSTEMS SA	GREECE	11.66%	Control	Indirect stake throug "PROTON BANK"
OMEGA KAHN FINANCIAL SERVICES SA	SWITZERLAND	16.46%	Control	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"
PROTON FINANCE SA	GREECE	20.58%	Control	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"

d) Entities consolidated under the equity method:

Entities consolidated under the equity method at 30 June 2008:

Name	Country	Participation percentage	Note
OMEGA PORTFOLIO INVESTMENT CO SA	GREECE	6.02%	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"

Entities consolidated under the equity method at 31 December 2007:

Name	Country	Participation percentage	Note
OMEGA PORTFOLIO INVESTMENT CO SA	GREECE	6.01%	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"

Entities consolidated under the equity method at 30 June 2007:

Name	Country	Participation percentage	Note
OMEGA PORTFOLIO INVESTMENT CO SA	GREECE	5.99%	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"

Proton Group

On 29 June 2006, the Company acquired a 28% stake in the share capital of PROTON GROUP, listed on the Athens Stock Exchange. The range of activities of PROTON GROUP covered most of the spectrum of the financial industry. On 29 September 2006, PROTON GROUP acquired, by a share to share exchange, 100% of OMEGA BANK and the new merged entity was renamed as PROTON BANK. Following the merger with OMEGA BANK, the Company owned a 20,16% interest in PROTON BANK. During the nine-month period ended at 30 September 2007, IRF acquired at 28 June 2007, 41,891 shares of PROTON BANK, at 29 June 2007, 220,000 shares and at 3 July 2007 12,000 shares. After the additional acquisitions, IRF owns a 20.60% in PROTON BANK SA.

PROTON BANK is fully consolidated because of the "de facto" power of the Company to control its financial and operating activities. In particular, IRF owns the 20.60% of the voting rights of PROTON while the percentage of voting rights controlled by the Company is increased to 27.14% after taking into consideration the holding of two other shareholders of PROTON who are committed to vote in accordance with IRF's instructions based on an agreement. IRF has already exercised its effective power and appointed six members in the eleven-member Board of Directors of PROTON, including PROTON's chairman.

All other subsidiaries comprising PROTON Group are consolidated because of the indirect, through PROTON BANK, ownership of the majority of their voting rights. The method of consolidation is the Purchase Method. Investment in associates is accounted under the equity method.

Decision to sell "Proton Insurance S.A."

On 28 December 2007, Proton Bank entered into a contractual agreement with the «COMMERCIAL VALUE SOCIETE ANONYME INSURANCE» to transfer 91.29% of the outstanding common shares of the «PROTON SOCIETE ANONYME PROVISION INSURANCE». The sale was accomplished with the contract signed by both parties on 20 March 2008 for a total consideration of 19 million euros. The sale contract will be finalized after receiving the relevant authorization, as it is strictly prescribed by the Commerce Law, by the local authorities, Proton Bank and «COMMERCIAL VALUE SOCIETE ANONYME INSURANCE» have signed a long term exclusive agreement in the bank-assurance activities.

Omega Kahn Financial Services S.A.

The Bank, during the period, sold its participation to subsidiary Omega Kahn Financial Services S.A. This disposal had a negative effect of \in 54 thous. in Profit & Loss account and equity respectively.

Mimosa Trading SA and Myrtle Trading Company

These two wholly owned subsidiaries serve as investment vehicles of the Company. Both subsidiaries are duly incorporated and have filed articles of incorporation under the provisions of the Marshall Islands Business Corporation Act on 6 July 2006.

4. Business segment

The Group has defined the following business segments: Commercial Banking, Investment Banking, Bank assurance and other financial services.

Bankassurance

For the six month period ended at 30 June 2008	Retail Banking	Investment Banking	and other financial services	Group	Discontinued activity	Continuing activity
Profit before tax Share of profit of	8,231	464	(551)	8,144	(644)	8,788
associates	-	(899)	-	(899)	(138)	(761)
Non-allocated expenses				(3,222)	-	(3,222)
Income tax expense			_	(1,216)	(2)	(1,214)
Profit after tax			_	2,806	(784)	3,590
Balanced at 30 June 2007						
Profit before tax Share of profit of	9,841	56,938	(928)	65,851	(477)	66,328
associates	-	246	-	246	38	208
Income tax expense			_	(3,584)	(9)	(3,575)
Profit after tax Balanced at 31 December 2007				62,513	(448)	62,961
Profit before tax Share of profit of	4,602	88,634	190	93,426	121	93,305
associates	-	302	-	302	47	255
Non-allocated expenses				(5,778)		(5,778)
Income tax expense				(9,923)	(16)	(9,907)
Profit after tax			-	78,027	152	77,875

5. Earnings per share

Amounts presented in €

Basic Earnings per share	01/01 -	01/01 -	1/1-
	30/06/08	30/06/07	31/12/2007
Profit from continuing operations and discontinued operations attributable to the Parent Company's Shareholders	4,596	45,944	61,635
Weighted average number of shares in issue	124,832	93,315	110,751
Basic earnings per Share (€/Share)	0.04	0.49	0.56
Profit from continuing operations attributable to the Parent Company's Shareholders Weighted average number of shares in issue Basic earnings per Share (€/Share)	5,297	46,392	61,606
	124,832	93,315	110,751
	0.04	0.50	0.56
Diluted Earnings per Share Net Profit attributable to the Parent Company's Shareholders Weighted average number of shares Plus: Shares with no consideration (adjustment in number of shares due to probable exercise of Warrants)	4,596	45,944	61,635
	124,832	93,315	110,75 1
	2,329	8,185	4,573

Weighted average number of shares for the purposes of diluted earnings per share	127,162	101,499	115,323
Diluted earnings per Share €/Share)	0.04	0.45	0.53
Net Profit from continuing operations attributable to the Parent Company's Shareholders	5,379	46,392	61,606
Weighted average number of shares	124,832	93,315	110,751
Plus: Shares with no consideration (adjustment in number of shares due to probable exercise of Warrants)	2,329	8,185	4,573
Weighted average number of shares for the purposes of diluted earnings per share	127,162	101,499	115,323
Diluted earnings per Share €/Share)	0.04	0.46	0.53

The effect of Proton's stock option plan on diluted earnings per share has not been taken into consideration since it is anti-dilutive.

6. Cash and balances with Central Bank

Amounts presented in € '000	30 June 2008	30 June 2007	31 December 2007
Cash on hand and cash in course of collection	9,690	8,612	34,384
Cheques receivable	27,450	11,029	12,344
Included in cash and cash equivalents	37,141	19,641	46,728
Mandatory reserve deposits with Central Bank	6,485	13,149	6,068
Total	43,626	32,790	52,796

7. Loans and advances to financial institutions

Amounts presented in € '000	30 June 2008	30 June 2007	31 December 2007
Deposits placed in other financial institutions	134,159	84,686	356,142
Time deposits	108,218	-	155 ,1 33
Restricted balances held in other banks	-	166,711	-
Interbank deposits	-	225,214	-
Cheques receivable	1,948	274	1,053
Total	244,326	476,885	512,327
Placements with other banks (over 90 days)	19,024	0	15,082
Total	263,350	476,885	527,410

8. Loans and advances to customers

Amounts presented in € '000	30 June 2008	30 June 200 <i>7</i>	31 December 2007
Individuals:			
Mortgages	46,415	83,583	48,341
Consumer loans /Loans to individuals	150 ,44 3	72,215	159,010
Credit cards	36,849	37,559	37,232
Total loans and receivables to individuals	233,707	193,357	244,584
Corporate entities:			
Agriculture	60,912	6,701	57,847
Mining	1,243	1,278	1,309
Heavy industry	159,605	95,437	113,773

Small industry	13,902	13,192	12 ,94 6
Building / Construction	127,215	100,439	139,832
Energy	327	2,343	310
Commercial / Insurance	223,442	268,867	259,391
Transportation	198,209	140,252	205,918
Financial institutions	35,602	-	45,906
Services	25,854	26,500	29,752
Other companies	196,912	374,716	222,280
Total loans and receivables to companies	1,043,222	1,029,724	1,089,263
Finance lease receivables	78,598	33,868	69,858
Total loans and receivables	1,355,526	1,256,949	1,403,705
Less: Allowances for impairment	(38,687)	(40,587)	(35,680)
Total	1,316,839	1,216,362	1,368,025

9. Trading portfolio and other financial assets at fair value through Profit & Loss

Amounts presented in € '000	30 June 2008	30 June 2007	31 December 2007
Trading assets	2000		
Government bonds	11,718	37,726	23,850
Corporate entities bonds	93,390	62,546	102,942
Mutual funds	8,113	9,431	8,903
Securities	52,003	420,992	38,686
_	165,224	530,695	174,381
Other financial assets designated at fair value			
Corporate bonds	78,706	5,609	5,421
Total	243,930	536,304	179,802

10. Investment portfolio

Amounts presented in € '000	30 June 2008	30 June 2007	31 December 2007
Securities held to maturity			
Government bonds	6,661	6,651	6,659
Corporate bonds	-	3,000	3,058
Total	6,661	9,651	9,717
Securities available-for-sale		-	
Corporate bonds	145,571	76,104	112,339
Government bonds	148,015	133,705	129,805
Equity securities	328,503	5,643	5,991
Mutual fund shares	0	50	0
Other investments	2,079	360	2,092
Total	624,167	215,863	250,227
Total investment portfolio	630,828	225,514	259,944

Securities held to maturity solely include Greek Government Bonds, that are held from the issue date and for which the Group intends to hold until maturity. All available-for-sale securities are carried at fair value.

Investment in associates	30 June 2008	30 June 2007	31 December 2007
Investments in associates	2,906	3,831	3,886
Total	2,906	3,831	3,886

In the Bank's separate financial information, investments in associates are carried at fair value according to IAS 39, as available for sale financial assets measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in equity.

The Group's interest in associates is analyzed as follows:

At 30 June 2008

Name	Country	% Participation	Assets	Liabilities	Profit	Loss	Carrying value
Omega Portfolio							
Investment Co, SA	Greece	6.02%	11,842	96	(2,871)	(3,077)	3,349

The carrying value presented above, presents \in 2,906 thous. from continuing operations and \in 443 thous. from discontinued operations.

At 31 December 2007

Name	Country	% Participation	Assets	Liabilities	Profit	Loss	Carrying value
Omega Portfolio							
Investment Co, SA	Greece	6.01%	15,824	91	1,523	1,034	3,886

During the six-month period, Proton Bank has acquired additional 2,926 shares of "Omega Portfolio Investment Co, SA" for the amount of approximately \leq 4,2 thousand.

Investments in associates, in the non-consolidated financial information, are reported in their fair value according to IAS 39 as Available-for-sale financial assets at fair value through equity. Its fair value, as at 30 June 2008, is calculated to € 2,985 thousands euro

11. Goodwill and other intangible assets

		Other intangible		
Amounts presented in € '000	Goodwill	assets	Software	Total
Balance at 1 January 2008				
Cost	157,184	19,538	4,747	181,469
Accumulated amortization, impairment	(7,465)	(5,216)	(2,003)	(14,684)
Net carrying amount	149,719	14,322	2,744	166,785
Period ended 30 June 2008				
Opening net carrying amount	149,719	14,322	2,744	166,785
Transfer in assets held for sale:				
-Cost				
-Accumulated amortization				
Additions			194	194
Write-off, disposals				
-Cost				
-Accumulated amortization				
Amortization charge		(2,086)	(374)	(2,460)
Impairment charge	(7,720)			(7,720)
Closing net carrying amount	141,999	12,236	2,564	156,799

		Other intangible		
Amounts presented in € '000	Goodwill	assets	Software	Total
Balance at 30 June 2008				
Cost	157,184	19,538	4,942	181,664
Accumulated amortization, impairment	(15,185)	(7,302)	(2,378)	(24,864)
Net carrying amount	141,999	12,236	2,564	156,799

Amounts presented in € '000 Balance at 01 January 2007	Goodwill	Other intangible assets	Software	Total
Cost	168,353	19,349	4,563	192,265
Accumulated amortization	. 0	(1.106)	=	(2,290)
Net book value	168,353	18,371		189,975
Period ended 30 June 2007		_		
Opening net book value Transfer in assets held for sale:	168,353	18,371	3,251	189,975
-Cost -Accumulated amortization	(12,393)	-	- -	(12,393)
Additions Disposals	1,106	-	74	1,180
Amortization charge		(2,063)	(356)	(2,419)
Closing net book value	157,066	16,308	2,969	176,343
At 30 June 2007				
Cost	157,066	18,371	3,325	178,762
Accumulated amortization	-	(2,063)	·	(2,419
Net book value	157,066	16,308		176,343
Ilance at 1 January 2007 st cumulated amortization		(1,043)	(1,312)	(2,355)
et carrying amount	168,353	18,495	3,252	190,100
ear ended 31 December 2007 Dening net carrying amount Densfer in assets held for sale:	168,353	18,495	3,252	190,100
-Cost -Accumulated amortization	(12,393)		(126) 46	(12,519) 46
ditions rite-off, disposals	1,224		309	1,533
-Cost -Accumulated amortization			(8) 1	(8) 1
nortization charge		(4,173)	(730)	(4,903)
pairment charge	(7,465)			(7,465)
osing net carrying amount	149,719	14,322	2,744	166,785
lance at 31 December 2007				
st	157,184	19,538	4,747	181,469
cumulated amortisation, impairment	(7,465)	(5,216)	(2,003)	(14,684)
et carrying amount	149,719	14,322	2,744	166,785

[&]quot;Goodwill and other intangible assets" include business combination differences. The entire amount of goodwill has been allocated, for impairment test purposes, to one group of cash-generating units (CGUs) comprising the banking operations in Greece (Proton Group).

The Group on 30 June 2008 has reported an impairment loss of \in 7,720 thousand being the excess of Proton's carrying amount. The recoverable amount of Proton Group has been determined based on value in use calculations

12. Other assets

Amounts presented in € '000	30 June 2008	30 June 2007	31 December 2007
Other assets			
Advances to employees	39	68	28
Advances to third parties	75	66	52
Contributions to Co-Guarantee Fund and Supplementary Fund	10,363	9,272	12,640
Guarantee fees	642	654	621
Prepayments to third parties	103	59	139
Brokerage fees receivables	3,701	19,485	15,539
Credit card receivables	1,707	1,925	1,751
Prepaid taxes and other tax advances	13,078	4,977	8,963
Sundry debtors and other receivables	3,689	23,723	17,436
Bad debts (other than loans and receivables)	4,204	4,198	4,206
Receivables from related parties	5	(129)	2
Receivables from foreign stock exchange	6,438	-	4,608
Bond subscriptions	-	-	30,411
	44,043	64,299	96,396
Less: Provisions for losses (impairment) of receivables besides loans	(4,968)	(4,878)	(4,921)
Total	39,076	59,420	91,474

13. Due to financial institutions

Amounts presented in € '000	30 June 2008	30 June 2007	31 December 2007
Interbank deposits	448,671	152,588	392,371
Sight deposits	1,591	4,019	201
Overdraft facilities from other banks	140,000	156,287	-
Time deposits	11,973		28,864
Short-term loans	0	200	0
Sale and repurchase agreement (REPOS)	14,621	208,207	12,505
Total	616,856	521,301	433,941

14. Due to customers

Amounts presented in € '000	30 June 2008	30 June 2007	31 December 2007
Individuals			
Savings account	56,968	56,205	57,700
Sight deposits	14,912	6,571	18,175
Time deposits	763,151	695,882	794,343
Deposits under notice	9,891	-	1,738
·	844,922	758,658	871,956
Corporate entities:			<u> </u>
Sight deposits	79,723	69,525	67,898
Time deposits			
Companies	190,4 4 6	217,772	319,249
Public companies	13,909	38,258	5,838
Other time deposits	33,776	75,083	55,694
Sale and repurchase agreement (REPOS)		-	986
	317,855	400,638	449,665
Blocked deposits	15,160	201	184
Pledged deposits	54,070	52 ,29 7	59,534
Margin accounts	105,944	88,608	40,800
Total	1,337,951	1,300,402	1,422,139

15. Current income tax liabilities

Amounts presented in € '000	30 June 2008	2007	31 December 2007
Income tax on taxable profits	12,664	3,451	9,671
Provision of tax liabilities	1,189	-	828
Total	13,853	3,451	10,498

16. Other liabilities

Amounts presented in € '000	20 Julie	30
Amound presented in e 000	2008	2
Withholding taxes arising from salaries	308	

30 Juпе	30 June	31 December
2008	2007	2007
308	424	542

Taxes and duties payable from customers' deposits	461	444	439
Other withholding taxes and duties	132	152	188
Prior year income taxes (from tax audit)	77	1,010	541
Social security contributions	662	642	878
Dividends payable	162	265	95
Salaries payable	760	447	239
Brokerage services securities and derivatives	25,305	10,423	266
Suppliers and other third party liabilities	6,952	11,747	10,983
Other		3,199	-
Total	34,818	28,752	14,170

17. Share capital and share premium

During the three month period there has been no moves in share capital and share premium.

	Number of shares	Nominal value (US\$)	Share capital in (US\$)	Share capital	Share premium	Total	
Opening balance at 31 December 2007	124,832,394	-	187	147	400,443	400,590	
Closing balance at 30 June 2008	124,832,394	-	187	147	400,443	400,590	

Authorized share capital

	Preference S	Preference Shares of US\$0,0001 each		Common Shares of US\$0,0015 ea		015 each
	Number	Amount in US\$	Amount in €	Number	Amount in US\$	Amount in €
Authorized at 30 June 2008	2,500,000	250	208	200,000,000	300,000	249,314

Warrants

On 14 November 2005 the Company consummated its initial public offering (the "Offering"). The Company sold 45,833,340 units in the Offering at a price of \$6.00 per Unit. Each Unit consisted of one share of the Company's common stock (the "Common Shares"), and two warrants ("Warrants"). Each Warrant, based on its original terms, entitles the holder to purchase from the Company one share of Common Stock at an exercise price of \$5.00 per share. According to the Offering, the 91,666,680 Warrants become exercisable after the approval of the acquisition of PROTON BANK by the Special Shareholders Meeting on 27 June 2006. All Warrants must be exercised by 14 November 2009 or they will expire.

During 2007, the Company modified the terms of its Warrants to induce the early exercise of these Warrants, Under two Warrant programs, a private program offered to certain qualified investors (the "Private Program") and a subsequent public program offered to all warrant holders (the "Public Program"), IRF temporarily (1) increased the number of Common Shares received upon exercise of a Warrant from one Common Share to 1.20 Common Shares on payment of \$5.00, and (2) permitted the exercise of a Warrant such that the Holder received one Common Share in exchange for every 8.75 Warrants surrendered. Warrant holders were able to use one or both methods to convert their Warrants into Common Shares.

As a result of the two programs, a total of \$292,766,845 of gross cash proceeds were raised, and 78,070,139 Warrants were converted. Following the close of the Public Program on 26 April 2007, the total Common Shares and Warrants outstanding were 129,356,204 and 13,596,541, respectively.

18. Cash and cash equivalents - Cash Flow Statement

For the purposes of preparing the Cash Flow Statement of the Group, the short-term placements in other financial institutions, which are either immediately available or available within 90 days, were included in the cash account.

Amounts presented in € '000	30 June 2008	30 June 2007	31 December 2007
Cash and balances with Central Bank	37,141	19,641	46,728
Loans and advances to financial institutions	244,326	476,885	512,327
Assets held for sale	223	177	316
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period	281,689	496,703	559,372

19. Related party transactions

19.1 Transactions with associates

Amounts presented in € '000	30 June 2008	30 June 2007	31 December 2007
Assets			
Other receivables	9	156	28
Total	9	156	28
Liabilities			
Deposits	3,934	4,550	5,188
Other liabilities	40	-	18
Total	3,974	4,550	5,206

Amounts presented in € '000	30 June 2008	30 June 2007	31 December 2007
Income/Expenses			
Other operating income	70	146	205
Interest expense and similar charges	(95)	(98)	(193)
Total	(25)	48	12

19.2 Transactions with management and members of the Board of Directors

Amounts presented in € '000	30 June 2008	30 June 2007	31 December 2007
Assets			
Loans	32,326	39,166	22,467
Other receivables	72	149	195
Total	32,398	39,315	22,662
Liabilities			
Deposits	68,256	137,789	67,775
Bond liabilities	· •	-	1,539
Other liabilities	183	1,636	177
Total	68,439	180,853	69,491

Amounts presented in € '000	30 June 2008	30 June 2007	31 December 2007
Letters of guarantee	1,310	127	18,195
Amounts presented in € '000	30 June 2008	30 June 2007	31 December 2007
Income / Expenses			
Salaries and other remuneration	(2,458)	(2,581)	(5,224)
Interest and similar income	862	543	1,419
Interest expense and similar charges	(1,326)	(1,994)	(3,120)
Stock option	(344)	(81)	-
Other operating income	674	401	394
Other operating expenses	(139)	(226)	(4,378)
Total	(2,731)	(4,798)	(10,909)

The above figures refer solely to related party transactions of Proton Group except the item of Salaries and other Remuneration in which are also included the Salaries and Remunerations of IRF paid to CEO of the Company amounting to \leqslant 50 thousand for the six-month period ended 30 March 2008 and \leqslant 50 thousand for the six month period ended 30 June 2007.

The amount of deposits of \in 67,353 thousand refers to normal deposits held by PROTON's Directors and Key Management Personnel. The amounts of loans of \in 29,488 thousand refer to loans given to PROTON's Directors and Key Management Personnel.

20. Discontinued operations

On 28 December 2007 the Group committed to sale its insurance activities. In particular, Proton Bank entered into a contractual agreement with the «COMMERCIAL VALUE SOCIETE ANONYME INSURANCE» (Proton Insurance) to transfer 91.29% of the outstanding common shares of the «PROTON SOCIETE ANONYME PROVISION INSURANCE».

As a result of the above commitment the Group presented all results and cash flows generated from Proton Insurance as discontinued operations. Moreover, as required by IFRS 5, results and cash flows of the comparative period ended 31 March 2007 have been also restated in order to reflect discontinued operations.

Finally assets and liabilities of Proton Insurance have been classified as "Non current assets held for sale" and "Liabilities associated with assets classified as held for sale" respectively.

Details about results, cash flows, assets and liabilities of Proton Insurance are provided below.

20.1 Net Profit from discontinued operations

Net profit from discontinued operation is analyzed as follows:

20.2 Cash flows from discontinued operations

Cash flows generated from discontinued operations are analyzed as follows:

Amounts presented in € '000

	Six mont	th period	Three me	onth period	
Amounts presented in € '000'	1/1- 30/6/2008	1/1- 30/6/2007	1/4- 30/6/08	1/4- 30/6/07	1/1- 31/12/2007
Interest and similar income	45	15	10	15	106
Interest and similar expenses	(40)	-	(21)		(312)
Net interest income	5	15	(11)	15	(206)
Income from insurance					
activities	17,251	20,979	7.610	9.033	39,643
Expense from insurance		·			·
activities	(4,209)	(8,517)	(2.190)	(5.410)	(11,936)
Net Income from					
insurance activities	13,042	12,462	5.420	3.623	27,707
Net result from financial					
activities	(504)	224	(70)	152	42
Total Net Income	12,543	12,701	5.339	3.790	27,543
Staff costs	(1,104)	(1,076)	(415)	(569)	(1,969)
Other operating expenses	(1,451)	(1,674)	(723)	(817)	(2,982)
Depreciation	(59)	(67)	(19)	(34)	(136)
Insurance claims	(10,572)	(10,360)	(5.012)	(3.377)	(22,335)
Total operating expenses	(13,186)	(13,178)	(6.169)	(4.797)	(27,422)
Share of profits / (losses) of					
associates	(138)	38	(29)	34	47
Profit before tax	(781)	(439)	(859)	(973)	168
Income tax expense	(2)	(9)	(1)		(16)
Profit after tax	(783)	(448)	(860)		152
ASH FLOW STATEMENT		_ 3	1/1- 30/6/2008 3	1/1- 0/6/2007 31	1/1- /12/2007
et cash flows from discontinued op	erating activities		1,028	(4,929)	(5,612)
et cash flows from discontinued inv	esting activities		44	59	55
et cash flows from discontinued fin			(87)	(2,210)	(908)
et increase/ (decrease) in cash scontinued operations	n and cash equiv	alents from	986	(7,081)	(6,465)

20.3 Assets held for sale and Liabilities associated with assets classified as held for sale

Amounts presented in € '000

Amounts presented in € '000	30/06/2008	30/06/2007	31/12/2007
Asset of "Proton Insurance"	50,825	55,457	53,509
Land	148	148	148

Buildings	156	-	70
Shares	-	26	-
Total	51,129	55,631	53,727

Assets of Proton Insurance, after eliminating all balances with the other group companies, are as follows:

ASSETS	30 June
Cash	2008 10
Loans and advances to banks	213
Trading portfolio and other Financial assets at fair value	10,429
through profit or loss	445
Investments in associates	443
Intangible assets	12,469
Property, plant and equipment	2,203
Investment property	50
Insurance receivables	20,432
Reinsurance contracts	1,491
Deferred tax assets	69
Other assets	3,017
Total assets	50,825
	30 June
LIABILITIES	2008
Debt securities in issue	1,501
Retirement benefit obligations	27 5
Provisions for insurance contracts	35,253
Deferred tax liabilities	94
Other liabilities	6,586
Total liabilities	43,709

21. Commitments and contingent liabilities

21.1 Pending litigation

As at 30 June 2008, there were some pending litigations against the Group in connection with its activities. Based on legal advice the Board of Directors believes that there is adequate defense against all claims and it is not probable that the Group will suffer any significant damage. Therefore, no provision has been made in the consolidated interim financial statements regarding these cases.

21.2 Contingent tax liabilities

Proton Group is subject to Greek tax legislation. Under Greek Law, submitted tax returns are not considered as final and are subject to revision by tax authorities as a result of tax inspection in entities books and records. Tax liabilities are considered as final by statute after the completion of five years from the end of the relevant fiscal year, however it is common that the tax authorities will audit the entity's books and records. The tax authorities commonly seek to disallow expenses on the basis that they are not properly documented or that they do not represent proper business expenses, relying on a substantial degree of subjective judgment on the part of the tax management in order an out-of-court settlement to be reached. In practice, both companies and tax authorities tend to reach an out-of-court settlement at an acceptable level of additional taxes.

Proton Bank has been reviewed by the tax authorities for the years up to and including 2006. The tax audit for the years 2005 and 2006 was completed on 16 November 2007, while the tax liability incurred of € 529 thousands was compensated for by a relevant provision. For the un-audited period (01.01.2007-30.06.2008) a relevant provision has been recognized in accordance with the IFRS's.

The accounting years that have not been inspected yet by the tax authorities for each of the Group's companies are as follows:

Company name	Domicile	Open tax years
IRF European Finance Investments Limited ¹	Bermuda	-
Mimosa Trading SA 1	Marshall Islands	-
Myrtle Trading Company 1	Marshall Islands	-
Proton Bank AE	Greece	2007
Proton Mutual Funds Management Co AE	Greece	2005-2007
First Global Brokers SA	Serbia	2002-2007
Intellectron Systems SA	Greece	2001-2007
Omega Brokerage S,A	Greece	2006-2007

Note 1: Not subject to income tax

As a result of the above the Group's respective tax obligations for periods covering one to six accounting years have not been finalized. For the un-audited periods a relevant provision has been recognized in accordance with the IFRS's. The total tax provision amounts to \in 1,186 thous. for Proton Bank and \in 1,189 for Proton's Bank Group. Due to the method according to which tax liabilities are settled in Greece, the Group remains contingently liable against any additional taxes or penalties imposed for un-audited periods.

21.3 Letters of guarantee / Irrevocable letters of credit

Amounts presented in € '000	30 June 2008	30 June 2007	31 December 2007
Letters of guarantee	109,629	100,522	110,929
Irrevocable letters of credit	1,999	2,037	2,480
Total	111,628	102,559	113,409

21.4 Pledged assets

- Greek Government bonds with a nominal value of € 10,500 thousands, have been pledged by HELEX.
- 4. Greek Government debt securities with a nominal value of € 136,630 thous., a DEXIA bond with a nominal value of € 50,000 thous. and non Greek issued bonds with nominal value of € 46,600 thous. have been pledged by Bank of Greece.

21.5 Subsidiary's share option plan

The Extraordinary General shareholders' Meeting of PROTON BANK on 24 November 2006 approved a share option plan for the members of the Board of Directors, key management, its employees and the Bank's related companies in the form of stock options according to the article 13 of Law 2190/1920 after the proposition of the Board of Directors and the Compensation Committee. The options are conditional on the beneficiaries remaining during the options life under employment or other

relationship with the Bank or Group companies (vesting period). The options are exercisable every November starting from the year of the grant and have a contractual option term of three years. The Bank has no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the options in cash.

4,897,510 share options were granted on 15 June 2007 with an exercise price of € 10.46 per share. The fair value of options granted during the period determined using the Black-Scholes valuation model. The significant inputs into the model were: share price at the grand date, the exercise price, option life, volatility of share prices and the risk free rate (swap rate yield curve). Volatility measured at the standard deviation of expected share price returns was based on statistical analysis of daily share prices over the last year.

If the stock option is fully exercised then the company's shareholding in Proton will be diluted from 20.60% to 19.11%

22. Supplementary information - The Company

IRF was formed to invest in the financial services industry throughout Europe with a primary focus on credit institutions and insurance companies in South Eastern Europe. In 2006, IRF formed two wholly owned subsidiaries in Marshall Islands, Mimosa Trading SA and Myrtle Trading Company, to serve as vehicles for the acquisition of investments in the financial services industry. Assets, liabilities, results and cash flows of these three entities are managed together. Management has prepared proforma financial information, consolidating all items of the three entities and presents them under the term of "Company". According to IAS 27, a parent should consolidate all of its subsidiaries. However, management has prepared this supplementary proforma financial information which does not comply with IAS 27, to present the results and the financial position of the "Company" (the parent and the wholly owned subsidiaries managed together). The financial position and the performance of the "Company", as at 30 June 2008, 31 December 2007 and 30 June 2007 were as follows:

Associate accepted in C1999	30 June 2008	30 June 2007	31 December
Amounts presented in € '000	2008	2007	2007
ASSETS			
Non current assets	120 514	120 200	100 514
Investments in subsidiaries	129,514	129,390	129,514
Investment portfolio	322,602	120 200	120 514
Total non current assets	452,116	129,390	129,514
Current assets			
Cash and cash equivalents	138,776	89,498	350,503
Blocked deposits	-	166,711	-
Trading portfolio	-	363,848	-
Other assets	47	12	55
Total current assets	138,823	620,069	350,558
Total assets	590,939	749,459	480,072
SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY			
Share capital	147	152	147
Share premium	400,443	414,967	400,443
Revaluation reserve	(39,303)	-	-
Retained earnings	69,386	53,034	76,192
Total equity	430,673	468,153	476,781
LIABILITIES			
Current liabilities			
Loans to Banks	140,000	271,285	-
Other liabilities	20,266	10,021	3,291
	F 000		

Amounts presented in € '000	30 June 2008	30 June 2007	31 December 2007
Total current liabilities	160,266	281,306	3,291
Total liabilities	160,266	281,306	3,291
Total equity and liabilities	590,939	749,459	480,072
	Six-mon	th period	
Amounts presented in € '000 Net trading income / (Loss)	01/01- 30/06/2008 10,018	01/01- 30/06/2007 36,901	01/01- 31/12/2007 60,209
Interest income	5,518	3,381	11,897
Dividend Income	3,312	16,343	16,343
Total income	18,848	56,625	88,449
Personnel expenses	(50)	(50)	(100)
Other operating expenses	(219)	(2,659)	(748)
Finance cost	(3,279)	(8,623)	(19,151)
Total expenses	(3,548)	(11,332)	(19,999)
Profit before tax	15,300	45,293	68,451

Earning per Share attributable to the company's shareholders (€/share)

(€/snare)			
- Basic	0.12	0.49	0.62
- Diluted	0.12	0.45	0.59

15,300

45,293

68,451

For the six month period as of 30 June 2008, the "Company" has made the following major investments:

 Acquisition of the total of 60,988,496 shares, which represents approximately 8.16% of the issued share capital of "Marfin Investment Group".

23. Events after 30 June 2008

Less: Income tax

Profit after tax

At 3 July 2008, "Marfin Investment Group" refunded constructive dividends to its shareholders through payment of \in 0.38 per share. As a result, the "Company" received the amount of approximately \in 21,526 thousand, for the total of 56,647,438 shares (participation at cut-off date).

As of end of July 2008, the "Company" holds the total of 70,300,641 shares, which represents approximately 9.41% of the issued share capital of "Marfin Investment Group".

Beside the aforesaid, there were no significant events subsequent to the interim balance sheet date which are required to be mentioned.

Athens, 4 September 2008

Angeliki Frangou

Loucas Valetopoulos

Chairman, Non – Executive Director

Chief Executive Officer, Director



Consolidated Interim Financial Statements for the nine-month period ended at 30 September 2008

The accompanying consolidated interim financial statements of IRF European Finance Investments Ltd ("IRF") and its subsidiaries (together "the Group"), for the nine-month period ended at 30 September 2008 were approved by the Company's Board of Directors on 17 December 2008.

Contents

Management Report for the Nine Month Period ended 30 September 2008	226
Statement of Directors' responsibilities in respect of the interim accounts	228
Report on Review of Interim Financial Information	229
CONSOLIDATED INTERIM INCOME STATEMENT	230
CONSOLIDATED INTERIM BALANCE SHEET	231
CONSOLIDATED INTERIM CASH FLOW STATEMENT	235
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	237
1. General information	237
2. Basis of Presentation	237
3. Significant events	238
4. Group structure	238
5. Business segment	241
6. Earnings per share	241
7. Impairment losses from financial assets	242
8. Cash and other equivalents	242
9. Investment portfolio	242
10. Due to financial institutions	243
11. Current income tax liabilities	243
12. Share capital and share premium	243
13. Dividend paid	244
14. Cash and cash equivalents – Cash Flow Statement	244
15. Related party transactions	244
15.1 Transactions with associates	244
15.2 Transactions with management and members of the Board of Directors	245
15.3 Employees of the Company	245
16. Discontinued operations	245
16.1 Net Profit from discontinued operations	245
16.2 Loss on disposal of PROTON BANK	247
17. Commitments and contingent liabilities	248
17.1 Pending litigation	248
18. Events after 30 September 2008	248

Management Report for the Nine Month Period ended 30 September 2008

Financial Highlights

Amounts in € 000	IRF Group
Income Statement items	
Continuing operations	
Net Income	11,476
Profit after tax	11,058
Attributable to equity holders of the Company	11,058
Minority Interests	-
Basic earnings per share (in euro/share)	0.09
Diluted earnings per share (in euro/share)	0.09
Continuing and discontinued operations	
Loss after tax	(76,082)
Attributable to equity holders of the Company	(34,276)
Minority Interests	(41,806)
Basic earnings (loss) per share (in euro/share)	(0.27)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share (in euro/share)	(0.27)
Balance sheet items	
Cash and cash equivalent	169,264
Trading portfolio	2,500
Investment portfolio	447,485
Total Assets	619,312
Loans from banks	199,350
Total liability	210,211
Total Equity	409,101

Major Events during the Period

Commencing during the third quarter of this year, the global markets experienced a seemingly coordinated series of meltdowns. Virtually all industries globally suffered significantly given the pause in economic activity which resulted from the absence of credit. To date, central banks have responded by significantly easing monetary conditions, and we expect further monetary and fiscal stimulus during the balance of 2008 and throughout 2009. We also anticipate that markets will continue to be unsettled for the near to medium term, and that public market valuations will trade without regard to intrinsic value of the related enterprise.

Given the significant volatility affecting financial institutions, IRF decided to dispose of a significant portion of its investment in Proton Bank. IRF was able to take advantage of an opportunity to sell these shares at a 10% premium to the then market price. Consequently, on 25 September 2008 IRF sold 10 million shares in Proton Bank for gross sales proceeds of 65.0 million, paid in the form of cash. The disposal of these Proton shares resulted in a loss of 26.9 million, as presented under results from discontinued operations.

Results of the Proton Group for the nine-month period ended 30 September 2008 have been consolidated in the financials. Total net income for the nine-month period ended 30 September 2008 was €11.5 million. Profit after tax from continuing operations for the period was €11.1 million. Proton Group suffered significant losses due to the adverse economic conditions and the dislocation in the capital markets, especially as it related to the credit markets. Proton's losses for the period was €52.5 million, while total losses from discontinued operations, including the loss from the disposal of Proton shares and the impairment losses on goodwill

recognized before the disposal, was €87.1 million. The loss after tax attributable to IRF shareholders for the period was €34.3 million.

As of 30 September 2008 IRF held approximately 2.9 million shares in Proton Bank, representing an interest of approximately 4.65%. The Company has recognized an impairment loss of €10.3 million on these shares. A majority of these shares were subsequently sold.

During the nine-month period IRF acquired approximately 10.1% shares of Marfin Investment Group ('MIG'). MIG invests in private equity, privatisations and infrastructure projects and principally operates in Greece, Cyprus and South East Europe. For the financial year ended 2007, MIG had assets of €6.87 billion and a post tax profit of €330.4 million. During the period ended 30 September 2008, IRF received a cash dividend of approximately €21.5 million from MIG. This amount has not been recognised in the income statement and has been deducted from the cost of these securities.

IRF has reported a profit of €23.1 million from trading in securities during the quarter. As at September 30 2008, IRF had cash and cash equivalents of €169.3 million.

IRF held investments in equity securities valued at about €450.0 million, including 77.6 million shares in MIG and 2.9 million shares in Proton Bank as at 30 September 2008. All equity holdings are publicly listed on the Athens Stock Exchange.

In September 2008, IRF modified the terms of its loan facility. Under the revised terms, the maturity of the loan facility of €200.0 million has been extended to September 2011. This has strengthened the liquidity position of the company significantly. Securities have been pledged as collateral for this medium-term facility.

Other Events

In March 2008, IRF's Board of Directors declared a \$0.28 dividend per share for 2007. The total amount of €22.1 million was paid in the second guarter of 2008.

Statement of Directors' responsibilities in respect of the interim accounts

The directors are responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

The interim financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IAS 34 "Interim Financial Reporting" as adopted by the European Union. In accordance with the AIM regulations the directors have elected to prepare interim financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union.

In preparing these interim financial statements, the directors are required to:

- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
- make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
- state whether applicable International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and
- prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the company will continue in business.

The directors, to the best of their knowledge, state that:

 the financial statements, prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit of the Group; and

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Whilst the interim financial statements have not been audited, in so far as the directors are aware:

- there is no relevant information of which the company's auditors are unaware in preparing their review opinion; and
- the directors have taken all steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any relevant information and to establish that the auditors are aware of that information.

Legislation in Bermuda governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Report on Review of Interim Financial Information

To the Shareholders of "IRF EUROPEAN FINANCE INVESTMENTS LIMITED"

Introduction

We have reviewed the accompanying interim consolidated balance sheet of "IRF EUROPEAN FINANCE INVESTMENT LTD" (the "Company") as of September 30, 2008 and the related interim consolidated statements of income, changes in equity and cash flows for the nine-month period then ended, and the selected explanatory notes.

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of this interim financial statement in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards that have been adopted by European Union and apply for interim financial information ("IAS 34"). Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on these interim financial statements based on our review.

Scope of Review

We conducted our review in accordance with International Standard on Review Engagements 2410, "Review of Interim Financial Information Performed by the Independent Auditor of the Entity" to which the Greek Auditing Standards indict. A review of interim financial information consists of making inquiries, primarily of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters, and applying analytical and other review procedures. A review is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with Greek Auditing Standards and consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that might be identified in an audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion.

Conclusion

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the accompanying interim financial information is not prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with IAS 34.

Athens, 17 December 2008

The Certified Public Accountant Auditor

The Certified Public Accountant Auditor

Vassilis Kazas SOEL Reg. No 13281 Panagiotis Christopoulos SOEL Reg. No 28481

Grant Thornton

Chartered Accountants
Vassileos Konstantinou 44, 116 35 Athens
SOEL Reg. No 127

CONSOLIDATED INTERIM INCOME STATEMENT

Amounts presented in € '000	Note	01/01 - 30/09/2008	01/01- 30/09/2007	01/07- 30/09/2008	01/07- 30/09/2007	1/1- 31/12/2007
Interest and similar income		6,829	4,650	1,744	1,789	10,498
Interest and similar expenses		(8,171)	(8,920)	(5,435)	(3,634)	(11,406)
Net interest income		(1,342)	(4,270)	(3,691)	(1,844)	(909)
Fee and commission income		86	-	86	-	-
Fee and commission expense		(874)	(7,451)	(332)	(4,114)	(7,745)
Net fee and commission income		(789)	(7,451)	(246)	(4,114)	(7,745)
Dividend income		729	12,804	-	-	12,804
Net trading income Impairment losses from		23,158	76,973	13,139	40,072	60,209
financial assets	7	(10,281)	-	(10,281)	-	
Total net income/(expense)		11,476	78,057	(1,078)	34,114	64,360
Staff costs		(75)	(75)	(25)	(25)	(100)
Other operating expenses		(343)	(11,371)	(123)	(8,712)	(748)
Total operating expenses		(418)	(11,446)	(148)	(8,737)	(848)
Share of profit of associates			-	-	-	
Profit (loss) before tax		11,058	66,611	(1,226)	25,377	63,513
Income tax expense Profit (loss) after tax from continuing operations		11,058	66,611	(1,226)	25,377	63,513
Net profit (loss) from discontinued operations	16	(87,139)	28,551	(77,662)	7,271	14,513
Profit (loss) after tax		(76,082)	95,161	(78,889)	32,648	78,026
Attributable to: Shareholders of the parent		(34,276)	73,199	(38,872)	27,254	61,635
Minority interest		(41,806)	21,962	(40,017)	5,394	16,391
Total						
Earnings per share						
From continuing and disconti	•			(0.54)		
- Basic	6	(0.27)	0.70	(0.31)	0.21	0.56
- Diluted From continuing operations	6	(0.27)	0.66	(0.31)	0.21	0.53
- Basic	e	0.00	0.62	(0.04)	0.10	0.53
- basic - Diluted	6 6	0.09 0.09	0.63 0.60	(0.01) (0.01)	0.19 0.19	0.57 0.55
	9	0.05	0.00	(0.01)	0.19	0.55

The notes on the following pages form an integral part of these consolidated interim financial statements

CONSOLIDATED INTERIM BALANCE SHEET

Amounts presented in € '000	Note	30 September 2008	30 September 2007	31 December 2007
ASSETS			24.540	E0 706
Cash and balances with Central Bank Cash and other equivalents	8	169,264	24,548 363,894	52,796 322,355
Loans and advances to financial institutions	•	109,204	184,198	205,055
Trading portfolio and other financial assets at fair		2,500	219,302	179,802
value through Profit & Loss Derivative financial instruments			E 200	11 520
Loans and advances to customers		-	5,290 1,332,538	11,529 1,368,025
Insurance Assets		-	22,641	-
Investment portfolio	9	447,485	217,568	259,944
Investments in Subsidiaries		-	-	-
Investments in associates		-	4,521	3,886
Property, plant and equipment		-	29,996	27,880
Investment property		-	50	166 704
Goodwill and other intangible assets Deferred tax assets		-	187,747	166,784 7,098
Other assets		63	178,519	91,474
	-	619,312	2,770,810	2,696,628
Non current assets held for sale	-	-	148	53,727
TOTAL ASSETS	-	619,312	2,770,958	2,750,355
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES	-			
Due to financial institutions	10	199,350	352,295	433,941
Due to customers		-	1,399,276	1,422,139
Derivative financial instruments		-	4,174	14,570
Issued debt securities		-	26,786	25,283
Provisions for insurance contracts		-	36,864	-
Retirement benefit obligations		-	1,296	1,140
Current income tax liabilities	11	-	4,619	10,498
Deferred tax liability		-	2,659	6,928
Other borrowed funds		_	115,000	-
Other liabilities		10,861	20,480	14,170
Series induinces	-	210,211	1,963,451	1,928,669
Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as	-			44,339
held for sale Total liabilities		210,211	1,963,451	1,973,008
Shareholders' equity		210,211	1,503,431	1,973,000
Share capital	12	147	148	147
Share premium	12	400,443	403,666	400,443
Revaluation reserve		(24,293)	(729)	(2,570)
Other reserves		-	16,503	16,587
Retained earnings		32,804	84,056	72,491
Total equity attributable to shareholders' of IRF		409,101	503,645	487,099
Minority interest		400 101	303,862	290,248
Total equity	-	409,101 619,312	807,507 2,770,958	777,347 2,750,355
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY		019,312	2,770,938	2,730,333

The notes on the following pages form an integral part of these consolidated interim financial statements.

Attributable to shareholders of the Parent Company

		Share	Share	Revaluation	Other	Retained Earnings /		Minority	
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity	Note	Capital	Premium	Reserve	Reserves	(losses)	Total	Interest	Total
Amounts presented in € '000									
Opening balance as at 1st January 2008		147	400,443	(2,570)	16,587	72,492	487,099	290,248	777,347
Available for sale:									
Gains/ losses directly recognized in equity:		-	-	(26,611)	-	-	(26,611)	(8,935)	(35,546)
transferred to income statement on disposal	16	-	-	4,888	-	-	4,888	18,964	23,852
Net result for the period 01/01-30/09/2008		-	-	0	-	(34,276)	(34,276)	(41,806)	(75,975)
Total income/(loss) recognized for the period	_	0	0	(21,723)	0	(34,276)	(55,999)	(31,776)	(87,776)
Dividend relating to 2007		-	-	-	-	(22,105)	(22,105)	(9,829)	(31,935)
Sale of subsidiary	16	-	_	-	(16,587)	16,693	106	(248,643)	(248,643)
Balance as at 30 September 2008	=	147	400,443	(24,293)	0	32,804	409,101	0	409,101

Amounts presented in € '000	Share capital	Share premium	Revaluation reserve	Employee share option plan	Other reserves	Retained earnings / (losses)	Total		
			Attributable to s	hareholders of the	Parent Compan	у		Minority Interest	Total
Opening balance as at 1 January 2007, as previously reported	71	200,174	(2)	-	16,156	22,208	238,607	308,145	546,752
Restatement due to amortization of intangible assets	-	-	-	-	-	(210)	(210)	(832)	(1,042)
Restated opening balance as at 1 January 2007 (note 16)	71	200,174	(2)	-	16,156	21,998	238,397	307,313	545,710
Net result for the period 01/01-30/09/2007	-	-	-	-	-	73,199	73,199	21,962	95,161
Gains/ losses directly recognized in equity: - on the valuation of available for sale financial assets		-	(726)		-	-	(726)	(2,847)	(3,573)
- exchange differences	-	-	(1)	-	-	-	(1)	(8)	(10)
Total profit /(loss) recognized for the period		-	(727)	-		73,199	72,472	19,107	91,579
Issue of new shares after the exercise of warrants	81	219,080	-	-	-	-	219,162	-	219,162
Expenses related to share capital increase	-	(4,287)	-	-	-	-	(4,287)	-	(4,287)
Dividend relating to 2006	-	-	-	-	-	(10,911)	(10,911)	(14,045)	(24,956)
Participation in share capital increase (Proton Insurance SA) Acquisition of additional percentage in subsidiary	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	96	96
(Proton Bank) Acquisition of minority interests (Omega Mutual	-	-	-	•	-	-	-	(1,677)	(1,677)
Funds SA)	-	-	-	-	_	_	-	(132)	(132)
Fair value of employee services received	-	-	-	119	-	-	119	467	586
Purchases of treasury shares	(4)	(11,301)	-	-	-	-	(11,305)	(7,268)	(18,573)
Capitalization of reserves	-	-	-	-	229	(229)	-	-	
	78_	203,492	-	119	229	(11,140)	192,778	(22,559)	170,219
Balance as at 30 September 2007	148	403,666	(729)	119	16,384	84,056	503,645	303,862	807,507

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity		Attributa	able to shareholde					
Amounts presented in € '000	Share Capital	Share Premium	Revaluation Reserve	Other Reserves	Retained Earnings / (losses)	Total	Minority Interest	Total
Opening balance as at 1st January 2007, as originally published	71	200,174	(2)	16,156	22,208	238,607	308,145	546,752
Restatement due to amortization of intangible assets	71	200,174	(2)	16,156	(210) 21,998	(210) 238,397	(832) 307,313	(1,043) 545,709
Gains/ losses directly recognized in equity: - on the valuation of available for sale financial assets	-	-	(2,564)	-		(2,564)	(10,018)	(12,582)
- exchange differences	i -	-	(3)	.		(3)	(11)	(14)
Net result for the period 01/01-31/12/2007	-	-	-	-	61,635	61,635	16,391	78,026
Total profit /(loss) recognized for the period	-		(2,567)	•	61,635	59,067	6,362	65,430
Issue of new shares after the exercise of warrants	81	219,080	-	-	-	219,162	-	219,162
Expenses related to share capital increase	-	(4,287)	•	-	•	(4,287)	-	(4,287)
Dividend relating to 2006	-	-	-	•	(10,911)	(10,911)	(14,045)	(24,956)
Participation in share capital increase (Proton Insurance SA) Acquisition of additional percentage in subsidiary	-	-	•	-	-	-	96	96
(Proton Bank) Acquisition of minority interests (Omega Mutual	-	-	-	-	-	-	(1,603)	(1,603)
Funds SA)	-	-	-	-	-	-	(12)	(12)
Fair value of employee services received	-	•	•	200	-	200	783	983
Purchases of treasury shares	(5)	(14,525)	-	-	-	(14,530)	(8,646)	(23,176)
Capitalization of reserves	<u>-</u>	-		231	(231)	-	<u>•</u>	<u>-</u>
Balance as at 31 December 2007	77 147	200,268 400,443	(2,570)	431 16,586	(11,142) 72,492	189,634 487,099	(23,427) 290,248	166,207 777,346

CONSOLIDATED INTERIM CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Amounts presented in € '000 Cash flows from operating activities	Note	30 September 2008	30 September 2007	31 December 2007
Profit Before Tax of continuing operations		11,058	66,611	63,513
Adjustments for:				
Add: Impairment losses on loans, financial and non financial assets		10,281	-	-
Share of profit/(loss) from revaluation of financial assets at fair value through Profit & Loss		72	-	-
Gains/(losses) from sale of trading securities		-	(70.790)	-
Profit/(loss) from sale of a.f.s. portfolio at fair value		(11,048)	-	-
Interest and other non cash expenses		2,103	-	-
Dividends received		(729)	(12,804)	(12,804)
Exchange differences		(2,468)	8,838	13,812
Cash Flows from operating activities before changes in working capital		9,178	(8,147)	64,521
Changes in working capital:		/2 F74\	74.555	2.065
Net (increase)/decrease in trading securities		(2,571) (1,372)	74,656 (94,927)	3,865 98
Net (increase)/decrease in other assets Net increase/(decrease) in due to banks		199,350	(31,327)	30
Net increase/(decrease) in other liabilities		8,935	19,336	3,002
Cash flows from operating activities before payment of income tax		213,519	(9,082)	71,486
Net cash flows from operating activities of discontinued operations		(69,445)	231,461	319,080
Net cash flows from operating activities		144,074	222,378	390,565
Cash flows from investing activities				
Proceeds from a.f.s. portfolio		(441,803)	-	-
Interest received		6,092	-	-
Acquisition/Sale of subsidiaries and associates	16	(1,877)	(2,827)	(2,827)
Dividend Received from investment activities		729	-	12,804
Dividends received from financial assets at fair value through P&L		-	12,804	-
Net cash flows from investing activities of discontinued		(58,776)	(172,844)	(222,796)
Net cash flow from investing activities		(495,635) 30 September	(162,866) 30 September	(212,818) 31 December
Amounts presented in € '000 Cash flows from financing activities	Note	2008	2007	2007
Issuance of common shares		-	214,874	214,874

	(22,105)	(10,911)	(10,911)
	-	-	(287,929)
	(8,105)	-	-
	-	(11,305)	(14,530)
	-	115,000	287,929
	(10,804)	3,793	2,087
	(41,015)	311,452	191,521
	(392,576)	370,965	369,268
	559,372	203,916	203,917
	2,468	(8,838)	(13,812)
14	169,264	566,043	559,372
	14	(8,105) - (10,804) (41,015) (392,576) 559,372 2,468	(8,105) - (11,305) - 115,000 (10,804) 3,793 (41,015) 311,452 (392,576) 370,965 559,372 203,916 2,468 (8,838)

The notes on the following pages form an integral part of these consolidated interim financial statements

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. General information

Country of incorporation

IRF European Finance Investments Ltd. was incorporated on 8 September 2005 under the Bermuda Companies Act. IRF is listed on AIM, a market operated by the London Stock Exchange plc. IRF's registered office is at Canon's Court 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM12, Bermuda.

IRF conducts its business directly and through two wholly-owned subsidiaries, MIMOSA TRADING SA and MYRTLE TRADING COMPANY, duly incorporated under the provisions of the Marshall Islands Business Corporation Act on 06 July 2006. Collectively, these three entities are referred to as the "Company".

Principal activities

The Group, through all of its subsidiaries, is engaged with the provision of banking, financial and insurance services.

IRF was formed to invest in the financial services industry throughout Europe with a primary focus on credit institutions and insurance companies in South Eastern Europe. In June 2006, IRF completed its acquisition of a controlling interest in PROTON BANK, a Greek bank listed on the Athens Stock Exchange. PROTON BANK and its subsidiaries operate in the sectors of retail, corporate and investment banking, portfolio management, insurance and other financial services. On 24 September 2008, IRF sold 15.95% stake in PROTON BANK out of its 20.6% percent holding in PROTON BANK.

2. Basis of Presentation

Statement of compliance

The consolidated interim financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standard 34 'Interim Financial Reporting' and should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2007.

Presentation currency

The amounts of the consolidated interim financial statements attached are expressed in thousand Euros, which is the functional currency of the Group.

It should be noted that due to rounding, the actual sums and percentages presented in the Consolidated Interim Financial Statements may not be exactly the same as those presented in the Notes to the Financial Statements.

Significant accounting polices

The same accounting policies as for the annual financial statements for the year 2007 have been followed in the preparation of the consolidated interim financial statements.

As from 1 January 2008, the Group has adopted the following new IFRIC which have no significant effect in financial statements:

- q) IFRIC 11, "Group and treasury share transactions"
- r) IFRIC 12, "Service concession arrangements"
- s) IFRIC 14: " IAS 19 The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction"

The financial information set out in this interim report does not constitute statutory financial statements pursuant to Section 84 of Bermuda Companies Act 1981. The Group's statutory financial

statements for the year ended 31 December 2007 were approved by the shareholders at the annual general meeting at 31.3.2008. The auditor's report on those financial statements was unqualified.

Accounting estimates

The important assumptions made by the Group for the estimation of several accounting measurements alongside the uncertainty affecting these estimates are the same as those adopted during the preparation of the annual financial statements for the financial year ending 31 December 2007.

Comparatives

For the preparation of the condensed consolidated interim balance sheet and income statement of the period ended at 30 September 2008, comparatives as of 31 December and 30 September 2007 respectively, were used.

Consolidated Income Statement and Cash Flow Statement for the comparative nine-month period ended at 30 September 2007, have been restated in order to reflect results of discontinued operations.

Presentation of the financial statements

The management prepares the financial statements in the format of "order of liquidity" according to IAS 1 due to the nature of the operations of IRF, despite the disposal of PROTON BANK. The management will re-examine the format of the presentation of financial statements, from the period starting 1 January 2009, in order to adopt all the new changes and stipulations of the revised IAS 1.

3. Significant events

On 3 July 2008, IRF received dividend of € 0.38 per share from "Marfin Investment Group". The dividends were generated from the profits of "Marfin Investment Group" for the period ended at 31 December 2007. As a result, the "Company" received the amount of approximately € 21,526 thousand, for the total of 56,647,438 shares (participation at cut-off date). All shares of "Marfin Investment Group" were acquired in 2008. According to IAS 18, when dividends on equity securities are declared from pre-acquisition profits, those dividends are deducted from the cost of the securities. Therefore, the aforementioned amount was not recognised in the profit and loss accounts of IRF and it was deducted from the acquisition cost of the shares of "Marfin Investment Group".

4. Group structure

e) Entities consolidated under full consolidation method

Entities consolidated under full consolidation method at 30 September 2008:

Name	Country	Direct and indirect holding	Relation that dictated the consolidation	Note
IRF EUROPEAN FINANCE INVESTMENTS LIMITED	BERMUDA	Parent		
MIMOSA TRADING SA	MARSHALL ISLANDS	100%	Percentage Ownership	Direct Stake
MYRTLE TRADING COMPANY	MARSHALL ISLANDS	100%	Percentage Ownership	Direct Stake

On 24 September 2008, IRF has sold 10 million shares in PROTON BANK for a gross sales price of €65 million. The consideration for this disposal is in the form of cash. Following IRF's disposal of these shares in Proton Bank, the related parties of IRF resigned from the Board of Directors of PROTON. As of 30 September 2008, IRF held approximately 2.9 million shares in Proton Bank, representing an interest of approximately 4.65%. The results of PROTON BANK's Group are consolidated in the financial statements of IRF, as discontinued operations, up to the date of the disposal (note 15). IRF has disposed another 2,165,334 shares of Proton Bank after 30 September 2008.

Entities consolidated under full consolidation method at 31 December 2007:

Name	Country	Direct and indirect holding	Relation that dictated the consolidation	Note
IRF EUROPEAN FINANCE INVESTMENTS LIMITED	BERMUDA	Parent		
MIMOSA TRADING SA	MARSHALL ISLANDS	100%	Percentage Ownership	Direct Stake
MYRTLE TRADING COMPANY	MARSHALL ISLANDS	100%	Percentage Ownership	Direct Stake
PROTON BANK GROUP				
PROTON BANK SA	GREECE	20.60%	Control	Direct Stake
FIRST GLOBAL BROKERS SA	SERBIA	16.99%	Control	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"
PROTON MUTUAL FUNDS SA	GREECE	20.58%	Control	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"
OMEGA INSURANCE BROKERS SA	GREECE	13.60%	Control	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"
PROTON INSURANCE SA	GREECE	18.80%	Control	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"
INTELLECTRON SYSTEMS SA	GREECE	11.46%	Control	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"
OMEGA KAHN FINANCIAL SERVICES SA	SWITZERLAND	16.48%	Control	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"

Entities consolidated under full consolidation method at 30 September 2007:

Name	Country	Direct and indirect holding	Relation that dictated the consolidation	Note
IRF EUROPEAN FINANCE INVESTMENTS LIMITED	BERMUDA	Parent		_
MIMOSA TRADING SA	MARSHALL ISLANDS	100%	Percentage Ownership	Direct Stake
MYRTLE TRADING COMPANY	MARSHALL ISLANDS	100%	Percentage Ownership	Direct Stake
PROTON BANK GROUP				
PROTON BANK SA	GREECE	20.60%	Control	Direct Stake
PROTON ASSET MANAGEMENT CO SA	GREECE	20.58%	Control	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"
PROTON MUTUAL FUNDS MGT CO SA	GREECE	20.58%	Control	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"
FIRST GLOBAL BROKERS SA AD	SERBIA	16.63%	Control	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"
OMEGA MUTUAL FUNDS SA	GREECE	20.60%	Control	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"
OMEGA INSURANCE BROKERS SA	GREECE	18.32%	Control	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"
PROTON INSURANCE SA	GREECE	18.80%	Control	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"
INTELLECTRON SYSTEMS SA	GREECE	11.46%	Control	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"
OMEGA KAHN FINANCIAL SERVICES SA	SWITZERLAND	16.48%	Control	Indirect stake throug "PROTON BANK"

f) Entities consolidated under the equity method:

Entities consolidated under the equity method at 31 December 2007:

Name	Country	Participation percentage	Note
OMEGA PORTFOLIO INVESTMENT CO SA	GREECE	6.01%	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"

Entities consolidated under the equity method at 30 September 2007:

Name	Country	Participation percentage	Note
OMEGA PORTFOLIO INVESTMENT	CO SA GREECE	5.08%	Indirect stake through "PROTON BANK"

Proton Group

On 29 June 2006, the Company acquired a 28% stake in the share capital of PROTON GROUP, listed on the Athens Stock Exchange. The range of activities of PROTON GROUP covered much of the spectrum of the financial industry. On 29 September 2006, PROTON GROUP acquired, by a share to share exchange, 100% of OMEGA BANK and the new merged entity was renamed as PROTON BANK. Following the merger with OMEGA BANK, the Company owned a 20.16% interest in PROTON BANK. During the nine-month period ended at 30 September 2007, IRF acquired at 28 June 2007, 41,891 shares of PROTON BANK, at 29 June 2007, 220,000 shares and at 3 July 2007 12,000 shares. After the additional acquisitions, IRF owned a 20.60% in PROTON BANK SA.

For the comparative periods, PROTON BANK is fully consolidated because of the "de facto" power of the Company to control its financial and operating activities. In particular, IRF owned the 20.60% of the voting rights of PROTON while the percentage of voting rights controlled by the Company was increased to 27.14% after taking into consideration the holding of two other shareholders of PROTON who were committed to vote in accordance with IRF's instructions based on an agreement. IRF had exercised its effective power and appointed six members in the eleven-member Board of Directors of PROTON, including PROTON's chairman. All other subsidiaries comprising PROTON Group are consolidated because of the indirect, through PROTON BANK, ownership of the majority of their voting rights. The method of consolidation is the Purchase Method. Investment in associates is accounted under the equity method.

Due to the disposal of the shares of PROTON BANK (note 4a), for the period ended 30 September 2008, the results of PROTON BANK's Group, are consolidated in the financial statements of IRF, as discontinued operations, up to the date of the disposal.

Mimosa Trading SA and Myrtle Trading Company

These two wholly owned subsidiaries serve as investment vehicles of the Company. Both subsidiaries are duly incorporated and have filed articles of incorporation under the provisions of the Marshall Islands Business Corporation Act on 6 July 2006.

5. Business segment

Before the sale of Proton, the Group had defined the following business segments: Commercial Banking, Investment Banking, Bank assurance and other financial services.

For the nine month period ended at 30 September 2008	Retail Banking	Investme nt Banking	Bank-assurance and other financial services	Group	Total discontinued activity	Continuing activity (investmen)
(Loss)/Profit before tax	(6,462)	7,616	(665)	484	(10,574)	11,058
Share of loss of associates				(1,274)	(1,273)	
Non-allocated expenses				(4,449)	(4, 44 9)	
Impairment loss from participation in associate				(10,698)	(10,698)	
Loss from disposal of Proton Bank				(58,523)	(58,523)	
Income tax expense				(1,621)	(1,621)	
(Loss)/Profit after tax				(76,081)	(87,139)	11,058
Balanced at 30 September 2007						
Profit/(Loss) before tax	3,516	101,488	(4,692)	100,286	33,675	66,611
Share of profit of associates				318	318	
Income tax expense				(5, 44 3)	(5, 4 43)	
Profit after tax				95,161	28,551	66,611
Balanced at 31 December 2007						
Profit before tax	4,602	88,634	190	93,426	121	93,305
Share of profit of associates	-	302	-	302	47	255
Non-allocated expenses				(5,778)		(5,778)
Income tax expense			_	(9,923)	(16)	(9,907)
Profit after tax				78,027	152	77,875

6. Earnings per share

Amounts presented in € `000

Amounts presented in E 000	0.10.	0.4.0.	
Basic Earnings per share	01/01 - 30/09/08	01/01 - 30/09/07	1/1- 31/12/2007
Net Profit/(Loss) attributable to the Parent Company's Shareholders	(34,276)	73,176	61,635
Weighted average number of shares in issue	124,832	105,139	110,751
Basic (loss)/earnings per Share (€/Share)	(0.27)	0.70	0.56
Profit from continuing operations attributable to the Parent Company's			
Shareholders	11,058	66,611	63,513
Weighted average number of shares in issue	124,832	105,139	110,751
Basic earnings per Share (€/Share)	0.09	0.63	0.57

Diluted Earnings per Share

Net Profit/(Loss) attributable to the Parent Company's Shareholders	(34,276)	73,176	61,635
Weighted average number of shares	124,832	105,139	110,751
Plus: Shares with no consideration (adjustment in number of shares due to probable exercise of Warrants) Weighted average number of shares for the purposes of diluted earnings per	2,300	5,637	4,573
share	127,133	110,776	115,323
Diluted (loss)/earnings per Share (€/Share)	(0.27)	0.66	0.53
Mat Back San and B			
Net Profit from continuing operations attributable to the Parent Company's Shareholders	11,058	66,611	63,513
Weighted average number of shares	124,832	105,139	110,751
Plus: Shares with no consideration (adjustment in number of shares due to probable exercise of Warrants) Weighted average number of shares for the purposes of diluted earnings per	2,300	5,637	4,573
share	127,133	110,776	115,323
Diluted earnings per Share (€/Share)	0.09	0.60	0.55

7. Impairment losses from financial assets

After the initial disposal of the 10 mil shares in PROTON BANK, the remaining 2,911,941 shares in the portfolio of IRF have been submitted to an impairment test by the management, due to the negative trends in the Greek market. The impairment loss of approximately \in 10,281 thousand represents the irrecoverable amount between the acquisition cost and the disposal price of the 10 mil shares, for the outstanding number of shares.

8. Cash and other equivalents

Amounts presented in € '000	30 September 2008	30 September 2007	31 December 2007
Petty Cash	1	-	1
Deposits placed in other financial institutions	137,472	363,893	322,354
Time deposits	31,791	-	_
Total	169,264	363,894	322,355

The amounts in the table above, present the consolidated cash and cash equivalents of IRF, MIMOSA and MYRTLE.

9. Investment portfolio

Amounts presented in € '000	30 September 2008	30 September 2007	31 December 2007
Securities held to maturity			
Government bonds	-	6,719	6,659
Corporate bonds	-	3,002	3,058
Total	-	9,721	9,717
Securities available-for-sale			
Corporate bonds	-	72,011	112,339
Government bonds	-	127,855	129,805
Equity securities	447,485	6,229	5,991
Mutual fund	, <u>.</u>	50	0
Other investments	-	1,702	2,092
Total	447,485	207,847	250,227
Total investment portfolio	447,485	217,568	259,944

All available-for-sale securities are carried at fair value and as of 30 September 2008, represent shares of companies listed in Athens Stock Exchange.

10. Due to financial institutions

Amounts presented in € '000	30 September 2008	30 September 2007	31 December 2007
Interbank deposits	-	331,852	392,371
Sight deposits	-	19,015	201
Time deposits	-	-	28,864
Long-term loans	199,350	-	-
Short-term loans	-	2	0
Sale and repurchase agreement (REPOS)	-	-	12,505
Other liabilities to financial institutions		1,426	0
Total	199,350	352,295	433,941

The long term loans for 30 September 2008 present IRF's loan facility of € 200 mil. in Investment Bank of Greece (IBG). In September 2008, IRF and IBG have modified the terms of the loan facility, and the loan capital will be fully repaid in September 2011. The investment portfolio of IRF amounting to € 450 mil. has been assigned as collateral, to the long term loan by Investment Bank of Greece.

11. Current income tax liabilities

Amounts presented in € '000	30 September 2008	30 September 2007	31 December 2007
Income tax on taxable profits	-	4,619	9,671
Provision of tax liabilities	-	0	828
Total	-	4,619	10,498

12. Share capital and share premium

During the three month period there has been no movement in share capital or share premium.

	Number of shares	Nominal value (US\$)	Share capital in (US\$)	Share capital	Share premium	Total	
Opening balance at 1 January 2008	124,832,394	-	187	147	400,443	400,590	
Closing balance at 30 September 2008	124,832,394	•	187	147	400,443	400,590	

Authorized share capital

	Preference Shares of US\$0,0001 each		Common Shares of US\$0,0015 each			
	Number	Amount in US\$	Amount in €	Number	Amount in US\$	Amount in €
Authorized at 30 September 2008	2,500,000	250	208	200,000,000	300,000	249,314

Warrants

On 14 November 2005 the Company consummated its initial public offering (the "Offering"). The Company sold 45,833,340 units in the Offering at a price of \$6.00 per Unit. Each Unit consisted of one share of the Company's common stock (the "Common Shares"), and two warrants ("Warrants"). Each Warrant, based on its original terms, entitles the holder to purchase from the Company one share of Common Stock at an exercise price of \$5.00 per share. According to the Offering, the 91,666,680 Warrants become exercisable after the approval of the acquisition of PROTON BANK by the Special Shareholders Meeting on 27 June 2006. All Warrants must be exercised by 14 November 2009 or they will expire.

During 2007, the Company modified the terms of its Warrants to induce the early exercise of these Warrants, Under two Warrant programs, a private program offered to certain qualified investors (the "Private Program") and a subsequent public program offered to all warrant holders (the "Public Program"), IRF temporarily (1) increased the number of Common Shares received upon exercise of a Warrant from one Common Share to 1.20 Common Shares on payment of \$5.00, and (2) permitted the exercise of a Warrant such that the Holder received one Common Share in exchange for every 8.75 Warrants surrendered. Warrant holders were able to use one or both methods to convert their Warrants into Common Shares.

As a result of the two programs, a total of \$292,766,845 of gross cash proceeds were raised, and 78,070,139 Warrants were converted. Following the close of the Public Program on 26 April 2007, the total Common Shares and Warrants outstanding were 129,356,204 and 13,596,541, respectively.

13. Dividend paid

In March 2008, IRF's Board of Directors declared a \$0.28 dividend per share for 2007. The total amount of € 22,105 thousand was paid in the second quarter of 2008.

14. Cash and cash equivalents - Cash Flow Statement

For the purposes of preparing the Cash Flow Statement of the Group, the short-term placements in other financial institutions, which are either immediately available or available within 90 days, were included in the cash account.

Amounts presented in € '000	30 September 2008	30 September 2007	31 December 2007
Cash and balances with Central Bank	-	17,952	46,728
Petty cash	1	-	1
Deposits placed in other financial institutions (note 8)	137,472	363,893	322,354
Time deposits	31,791	-	-
Loans and advances to financial institutions	-	184,198	189,974
Asset held for sale	-	-	316
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period	169,264	566,043	559,372

30 Sentember

30 Sentember

31 December

15. Related party transactions

15.1 Transactions with associates

Amounts presented in € '000 Assets	2008	2007	2007
Other receivables	-	41	28
Total	-	41	28
Liabilities			
Deposits	-	4,673	5,188
Other liabilities		-	18
Total		4,673	5,206
Amounts presented in € '000	30 September 2008	30 September 2007	31 December 2007
,			
Income/Expenses			
Other operating income	88	188	205
Interest expense and similar charges	(143)	(141)	(193)

Total	(55)	47	12
-------	------	----	----

15.2 Transactions with management and members of the Board of Directors

Amounts presented in € '000	30 September 2008	30 September 2007	31 December 2007
Assets			
Loans	24,705	18,871	22,467
Other receivables	86	193	195
Total	24,791	19,064	22,662
Liabilities			
Deposits	80,024	77,998	67,775
Bond liabilities	-	-	1,539
Other liabilities	69	136	177
Total	80,093	78,134	69,491
Letters of guarantee	247	135	18,195

Amounts presented in € '000	30 September 2008	30 September 2007	31 December 2007
Income / Expenses			
Salaries and other remuneration	(3,694)	(3,267)	(5,224)
Interest and similar income	1,178	570	1,419
Interest expense and similar charges	(2,094)	(4,741)	(3,120)
Stock option	(853)	(359)	-
Other operating income	1,186	1,147	3 94
Other operating expenses	(283)	(385)	(4,378)
Total	(4,560)	(7,035)	(10,909)

The above figures refer solely to related party transactions of Proton Group except the item of Salaries and other Remuneration in which are also included the Salaries and Remunerations of IRF paid to CEO of the Company amounting to \in 75 thousand for the nine-month period ended at 30 September 2008 and \in 75 thousand for the six month period ended at 30 September 2007.

The amount of deposits of € 80,024 thousand refers to normal deposits held by PROTON'S Directors and Key Management Personnel. The amounts of loans of € 24,705 thousand refer to loans given to PROTON'S Directors and Key Management Personnel.

15.3 Employees of the Company

Loucas Valetopoulos is IRF's sole employee.

16. Discontinued operations

16.1 Net Profit from discontinued operations

On 24 September 2008, IRF sold 15.95% stake in PROTON BANK out of its 20.6% percent holding in PROTON BANK. The results of PROTON BANK's Group are consolidated in the financial statements of IRF, as discontinued operations, up to the date of the disposal and for the comparative periods.

Net profit from discontinued operation is analyzed as follows:

	Nine mont	th period	Three mo	nth period	
	1/1- 30/9/08	1/1- 30/09/07	1/7- 30/9/08	1/7- 30/9/07	1/1- 31/12/2007
Amounts presented in € '000					
Interest and Similar Income	98,772	80,233	35,011	31,641	112,301

	Nine mont 1/1- 30/9/08	th period 1/1- 30/09/07	Three moi 1/7- 30/9/08	1th period 1/7- 30/9/07	1/1- 31/12/2007
Interest and Similar Charges	(65,261)	(46,037)	(22,582)	(18,803)	(67,845)
Net Interest Income	33,511	34,197	12,429	12,837	44,456
Fee and Commission Income	21,569	34,578	4,434	11,600	43,966
Fee and Commission Expense	(7,451)	(3,901)	(4,825)	(647)	(8,360)
·	() ,	()	.,,	,	(1,711)
Net Fee and Commission Income	14,118	30,677	(392)	10,953	35,606
Income from insurance services	24,045	31,801	6,794	10,413	39,643
Expenses from insurance services	(7,119)	(11,375)	(2,910)	(2,858)	(11,936)
Net Income from insurance services	16,926	20,426	3,884	7,555	27,707
Dividend Income	1,872	3,377	799	354	3,468
Net trading income Loss on investment portfolio	(20,455)	6,967	(8,291)	(781)	8,196
recognised in profit and loss due to disposal of subsidiary.	(23,852)	-	(23,852)	-	-
Net income from financial instruments designated at fair value	4,425	2,082	(2,585)	(369)	2,263
Gains less losses from investment securities	(40)	11	(40)	4	1,482
Other operating income	1,648	1,266	569	527	-
	(36,402)	13,703	(33,399)	(265)	15,409
Total Net Income	28,152	99,003	(17,477)	31,080	123,178
Staff costs	(20,851)	(21,465)	(6,006)	(6,755)	(27,004)
Other operating expenses	(19,078)	(20,343)	(6,101)	(7,055)	(28,071)
Write-off of goodwill	(5,757)	-	1,962	-	(7,465)
Depreciation	(14,323)	(5,497)	(10,507)	(1,859)	(7,361)
Insurance claims	(17,716)	(16,081)	(7,145)	(5,721)	(22,335)
Impairment losses on financial assets and non financial assets	-	(1,942)	3,063	(633)	(6,981)
Total operating expenses	(77,726)	(65,327)	(24,734)	(22,021)	(99,219)
Share of profits / (losses) of associates	(1,273)	318	(374)	71	302
(Loss)/Profit before tax	(50,804)	33,994	(42,585)	9,131	24,261
Less: Income tax	(1,621)	(5,443)	(406)	(1,860)	(9,747)
(Loss)/Profit after tax from discontinued operations	(52,468)	28,551	(42,991)	7,271	14,513
Loss from disposal of discontinued operations Impairment of goodwill	(26,952)	-	(26,952)	-	-
previously recognised	(7,720)	-	(7,720)	-	-

Nine mon	th period	Three mo	nth period	
1/1-	1/1-	1/7-	1/7-	1/1-
30/9/08	30/09/07	30/9/08	30/9/07	31/12/2007

Net profit from disc	ontinued
operations	

perations (87,139) 28,551 (77,662) 7,271 14,513

The amount of \in 23,852 thousand in the nine month period of 2008, refers to losses from the valuation of Proton's available-for-sale portfolio, recognised directly to equity. Because of the disposal of the subsidiary the relevant amount is recognised as a loss in the income statement.

The amount of \in 7,720 thousand in the nine month period of 2008, refers to an impairment loss recognised during the second quarter of the year, before the sale of the subsidiary.

16.2 Loss on disposal of PROTON BANK

The assets and the liabilities of PROTON as of the disposal date are as the Amounts presented in ϵ '000	follows:
Cash and balances with the Central Bank	60,270
Loans and advances to banks	55,646
Loans and receivables	1,316,680
Derivative financial instruments	28,208
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss	147,123
Financial assets designated at fair value	44,524
Investment portfolio	319,943
Investments in associates	2,617
Intangible assets	155,656
Property, plant and equipment	27,325
Deferred tax assets	12,728
Other assets	47,048
Non-current assets held for sale	41,568
Total assets	2,259,336
less	_,,
Due to banks	354,658
Due to customers	1,419,834
Derivative financial instruments	19,952
Debt securities in issue	25,219
Retirement benefit obligations	1,528
Current income tax liabilities	9,144
Deferred tax liabilities	4,262
Other liabilities	9,634
Liabilities related to non-current assets held for sale	45,163
Total liabilities	1,889,394
Total net assets	369,942
less: Minority rights	(249,055)
Total net assets disposed	120,887
The loss from the disposal of Proton Group is analysed as follows:	
Amounts presented in € '000	
Cash consideration	64,727
Cost of remaining investment transferred to available for sale portfolio	29,208
Total consideration	93,935
Less: Total net assets disposed	(120,887)
Loss on disposal	(26,952)
The net cash flow from the sale of Proton Group is analysed as follows:	
Amounts presented in € '000	
Consideration paid in cash	64,727
less: cash & cash equivalent of Proton at the date of disposal	(66,604)
Cash received from the sale of Proton, net of cash disposed	(1,877)
and one of the said at the second most of property and before the second	, ,,

17. Commitments and contingent liabilities

17.1 Pending litigation

As at 30 September 2008, there were no significant pending litigations against the Group in connection with its activities.

18. Events after 30 September 2008

There are no other significant events after 30 September 2008.

Athens, 17 December 2008

Angeliki Frangou

Loucas Valetopoulos

Chairman, Non – Executive Director

Chief Executive Officer, Director

VIII. TAXATION

U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences

TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS IMPOSED BY U.S. INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE (THE "IRS") IN TREASURY DEPARTMENT CIRCULAR 230, YOU ARE HEREBY NOTIFIED THAT (A) ANY DISCUSSION OF FEDERAL TAX ISSUES CONTAINED OR REFERRED TO IN THIS PROSPECTUS IS NOT INTENDED OR WRITTEN TO BE USED, AND CANNOT BE USED, BY INVESTORS FOR THE PURPOSE OF AVOIDING PENALTIES THAT MAY BE IMPOSED ON THEM UNDER THE U.S. INTERNAL REVENUE CODE OF 1986, AS AMENDED (THE "CODE"), (B) SUCH DISCUSSION IS WRITTEN TO SUPPORT THE PROMOTION OR MARKETING OF THE TRANSACTIONS OR MATTERS ADDRESSED HEREIN, AND (C) PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS SHOULD SEEK ADVICE BASED ON THEIR PARTICULAR CIRCUMSTANCES FROM AN INDEPENDENT TAX ADVISER.

The following discussion is for general information purposes only and presents a summary of certain material U.S. federal income tax consequences of the acquisition, ownership and disposition of the Shares and Warrants by a U.S. holder. This discussion is based on current provisions of the Code, its legislative history, current and proposed U.S. Treasury Regulations (the "Regulations") promulgated thereunder, and administrative and judicial decisions as of the date hereof, all of which are subject to change, possibly on a retroactive basis. Future legislative, judicial or administrative changes or interpretations could be retroactive and could affect the information, beliefs and conclusions set forth in this summary. For the purposes of this discussion, a U.S. holder is a beneficial owner of the Shares and Warrants that is, for U.S. federal income tax purposes:

- an individual who is a citizen or resident of the United States:
- a corporation (or other entity taxed as a corporation) created or organised under the laws of the United States or its political subdivisions;
- an estate whose income is includible in gross income for U.S. federal income tax purposes regardless of its source; or
- a trust if (i) a court within the United States is able to exercise primary supervision over the
 administration of the trust and one or more "United States persons" (within the meaning of the
 Code) have the authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust, or (ii) it has a valid
 election in effect under applicable Treasury regulations to be treated as a United States
 person.

This discussion does not address all aspects of U.S. federal income taxation that may be relevant to any particular U.S. holder based on such holder's individual circumstances. In particular, this discussion considers only U.S. holders that own Shares and Warrants as capital assets under Section 1221 of the Code and, unless otherwise indicated, does not address the U.S. federal income tax consequences to U.S. holders that are subject to special treatment, including:

- broker-dealers or traders who elect to mark-to-market;
- private foundations;
- insurance companies;
- taxpayers who have elected mark-to-market accounting;
- tax-exempt organisations;
- regulated investment companies;
- financial institutions or "financial services entities";
- taxpayers who hold the Shares or Warrants as part of a straddle, hedge, conversion transaction or other integrated transaction;
- certain expatriates or former long-term residents of the United States;
- holders owning directly, indirectly or by attribution at least 10 per cent. of the Company's voting power; and
- taxpayers whose functional currency is not the U.S. dollar.

This discussion does not address ERISA law, foreign, state, local, or other tax laws or U.S. federal tax consequences (for example, estate and gift tax) other than those pertaining to the federal income tax

(but not including the alternative minimum tax). Additionally, the discussion does not consider the tax treatment of partnerships or other pass-through entities or persons who hold Shares or Warrants through such entities. If a partnership (or other entity classified as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes) is the beneficial owner of the Shares or Warrants, the U.S. federal income tax treatment of a partner in the partnership will generally depend on the status of the partner and the activities of the partnership.

You are advised to consult your tax advisers regarding the specific U.S. tax consequences of acquiring, holding or disposing of Shares and Warrants.

The Company has not sought a ruling from the IRS or any other U.S. federal, state or local agency, nor has it obtained an opinion of counsel, with respect to any U.S. tax issue affecting the Company. There can be no assurance that the IRS will not challenge one or more of the tax consequences discussed herein.

Taxation of Shares and Warrants

Taxation of Dividends Paid on Shares. In the event the Company pays a dividend, subject to the discussion of the PFIC rules below, a U.S. holder will be required to include in gross income as ordinary income the amount of any distribution paid on Shares to the extent the distribution is paid out of the Company's current or accumulated earnings and profits as determined for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Distributions in excess of such earnings and profits will be applied against and will reduce the U.S. holder's basis in the Shares and, to the extent in excess of such basis, will be treated as gain from the sale or exchange of Shares.

We will not compute earnings and profits under U.S. federal income tax principles and therefore (i) financial intermediaries through which our distributions are made will be required to report amounts distributed as dividends and (ii) U.S. holders will not have sufficient information to take an alternative position.

In the case of a U.S. holder that is a corporation, a dividend from a non-U.S. corporation will generally be taxable at regular corporate rates of up to 35 per cent. and generally will not qualify for a dividends-received deduction. In the case of certain non-corporate U.S. holders, dividends will not be eligible for the reduced tax rate that applies to certain dividends from U.S. corporations or qualified non-U.S. corporations and will generally be subject to tax at ordinary income rates of up to 35 per cent..

Distributions of current or accumulated earnings and profits paid in a non-U.S. currency to a U.S. holder will be includible in the income of a U.S. holder in a U.S. dollar amount calculated by reference to the exchange rate on the day the distribution actually or constructively is received. A U.S. holder that receives a non-U.S. currency distribution will have a tax basis in the amount so received equal to the U.S. dollar value of such amount on the day actually or constructively received. A U.S. holder that receives a non-U.S. currency distribution and converts the non-U.S. currency into U.S. dollars on the date of receipt will realise no foreign currency gain or loss. If the U.S. holder converts the non-U.S. currency to U.S. dollars on a date subsequent to receipt, such U.S. holder will have foreign exchange gain or loss based on any appreciation or depreciation in the value of the non-U.S. currency against the U.S. dollar from the date of receipt to the date of conversion, which will generally be U.S. source ordinary income or loss.

U.S. holders will have the option of claiming the amount of any non-U.S. income taxes withheld at source either as a deduction from gross income or as a dollar-for-dollar credit against their U.S. federal income tax liability. Individuals who do not claim itemised deductions, but instead utilise the standard deduction, may not claim a deduction for the amount of the non-U.S. income taxes withheld, but such amount may be claimed as a credit against the individual's U.S. federal income tax liability. The amount of foreign income taxes which may be claimed as a credit in any year is subject to complex limitations and restrictions, which must be determined on an individual basis by each Shareholder. These limitations include, among others, rules which limit foreign tax credits allowable with respect to specific classes of income to the U.S. federal income taxes otherwise payable with respect to each such class of income.

The total amount of allowable foreign tax credits in any year cannot exceed regular U.S. tax liability for the year attributable to foreign source taxable income. Dividends paid by the Company will generally be foreign source passive income for U.S. foreign tax credit purposes. A U.S. holder will be denied a foreign tax credit with respect to non-U.S. income tax withheld from dividends received on the Shares to the extent such U.S. holder has not held the Shares for at least 16 days of the 31-day period beginning 15 days before the ex-dividend date or to the extent such U.S. holder is under an obligation to make related payments with respect to substantially similar or related property. Any days during which a U.S. holder has substantially diminished its risk of loss on the Shares are not counted toward meeting the 16-day holding period required by the statute.

Taxation of the Disposition of Shares. Subject to the discussion of the PFIC rules below, upon the sale, exchange or other disposition of Shares, a U.S. holder will recognise capital gain or loss in an amount equal to the difference between such U.S. holder's tax basis in its Shares, and the amount realised on the disposition. A U.S. holder's basis in its Shares is usually the cost of such Shares. See "Exercise or Lapse of the Warrant" below for a discussion regarding a U.S. holder's basis in Shares acquired pursuant to the exercise of a warrant.

A U.S. holder that uses the cash method of accounting calculates the U.S. dollar value of the proceeds received on the sale date as of the date that the sale settles, while a U.S. holder that uses the accrual method of accounting is required to calculate the value of the proceeds of the sale as of the "trade date," unless such U.S. holder has elected to use the settlement date to determine its proceeds of sale. Capital gain from the sale, exchange or other disposition of Shares held more than one year is long-term capital gain, and is eligible for a reduced rate of taxation for individuals. Longterm capital gains recognised by certain non-corporate holders before 1 January 2011 may qualify for a reduced rate of taxation of 15 per cent. or lower. See "Exercise or Lapse of the Warrant" below for a discussion regarding a U.S. holder's holding period in Shares acquired pursuant to the exercise of a warrant. Gains recognised by a U.S. holder on a sale, exchange or other disposition of Shares generally will be treated as U.S. source income for U.S. foreign tax credit purposes. A loss recognised by a U.S. holder on the sale, exchange or other disposition of Shares generally is allocated to U.S. source income for U.S. foreign tax credit purposes. The deductibility of a capital loss recognised on the sale, exchange or other disposition of Shares is subject to limitations. A U.S. holder that receives a non-U.S. currency upon the sale, exchange or other disposition of Shares will realise an amount calculated by reference to the exchange rate on the date of sale, exchange or other disposition (or, if the Shares are regularly traded on SFM, an established securities market, and the U.S. holder is a cash basis taxpayer or an electing accrual basis taxpayer, the settlement date). The U.S. holder will have a tax basis equal to the U.S. dollar amount realised. Generally, any gain or loss realised upon a subsequent conversion of the non-U.S. currency to U.S. dollars will be U.S. source ordinary income or loss.

Exercise or Lapse of the Warrant. Subject to the discussion of the PFIC rules below, a U.S. holder generally will not recognise gain or loss upon the exercise of a Warrant, except with respect to any cash received in lieu of a fractional share. Shares acquired pursuant to the exercise of a Warrant will have a tax basis equal to the U.S. holder's tax basis in the Warrant, increased by the premium paid to exercise the Warrant, less the portion of such basis allocable to the fractional share (if any). The holding period of such share would begin on the date of exercise of the Warrant. If the terms of a Warrant provide for any adjustment to the number of Shares for which the Warrant may be exercised or to the exercise price of the Warrants, such adjustment may, under certain circumstances, result in constructive distributions that could be taxable as a dividend to the holder of the Warrants. Conversely, the absence of an appropriate adjustment may result in a constructive distribution that could be taxable as a dividend to the U.S. holders of the Shares. See "Taxation of Dividends Paid on Shares". If a Warrant is allowed to lapse unexercised, a U.S. holder would have a capital loss equal to such holder's tax basis in the Warrant. Holders who elect to exercise a Warrant other than by paying the exercise price in cash should consult their tax advisers regarding the tax treatment of such an exercise, which may vary from that described above.

Tax Consequences if the Company is a Passive Foreign Investment Company. Special U.S. federal income tax rules apply to U.S. holders who own, directly or indirectly, shares of a passive foreign investment company ("PFIC").

The Company will generally be a PFIC in any taxable year in which 75 per cent. or more of the Company's gross income, including the pro rata share of the gross income of any subsidiaries in which it owns 25 per cent. or more of the shares by value, is passive income. Alternatively, the Company will be a PFIC in any taxable year in which at least 50 per cent. of the Company's assets, averaged over the year and ordinarily determined based on fair market value, including the pro rata share of the assets of any subsidiary in which the Company owns 25 per cent. or more of the shares by value are held for the production of, or produce, passive income.

Passive income generally includes dividends, interest, rents, royalties, and gains from the disposition of passive assets. Passive income also includes the excess of gains over losses from some commodities transactions. Net gains from commodities transactions will not be included in the definition of passive income if they are active business gains or losses from the sale of commodities, but only if substantially all of a corporation's commodities are stock in trade or inventory, depreciable or real property used in trade or business, or supplies used in the ordinary course of the trade or business of a corporation. Net gains from commodities transactions will also not be included in the definition of passive income if they arise out of commodity hedging transactions entered into in the ordinary course of a corporation's trade or business.

PFIC status cannot be determined until the close of the year in question and is determined annually. Consequently, the determination as to the Company's status as a PFIC will be made at the end of each taxable year. However, based on the composition and nature of the Company's income and existing investments, the Company may be classified as a PFIC for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

If the Company is a PFIC, each U.S. holder, upon certain excess distributions by the Company and upon disposition of Shares or Warrants at a gain, would be liable to pay tax at the highest then prevailing income tax rate on ordinary income plus interest on the tax, as if the distribution or gain had been recognised rateably over the taxpayer's holding period for the Shares or Warrants. Additionally, if the Company is a PFIC, a U.S. holder who acquires Shares or Warrants from a deceased person who was a U.S. holder would not receive the step-up of the income tax basis to fair market value for such Shares or Warrants. Instead, such U.S. holder would have a tax basis equal to the deceased's tax basis, if lower.

If a U.S. holder who makes a qualifying electing fund ("QEF") election, distributions and gains from the disposition of Shares or Warrants will not be taxed as described above for the years in which the QEF election is in effect, nor will the denial of a basis step-up at death described above apply. Instead, a U.S. holder that makes a QEF election is required for each taxable year to include in income the holder's pro rata share of the ordinary earnings of the QEF as ordinary income and a pro rata share of the net capital gains of the QEF as long-term capital gain, regardless of whether such earnings or gains have in fact been distributed.

Undistributed income is subject to a separate election to defer payment of taxes. If deferred, the taxes will be subject to an interest charge. U.S. holders may not make a QEF election with respect to Warrants. As a result, if a U.S. holder sells Warrants, any gain will be subject to the special tax and interest charge rules treating the gain as an excess distribution, as described above, if the Company were a PFIC at any time during the period in which the U.S. holder held the Warrants.

If a U.S. holder sells Warrants, any gain will be subject to the special tax and interest charge rules treating the gain as an excess distribution, as described above, if the Company were a PFIC at any time during the period the U.S. holders held the Warrants. If a U.S. holder that exercises Warrants properly makes a QEF election with respect to the newly acquired Shares, the adverse tax consequences relating to PFIC Shares will continue to apply with respect to the pre-QEF election period, unless the holder makes the "purging election" discussed below. The application of the PFIC and QEF rules to Warrants and to Shares acquired upon exercise of Warrants is subject to significant uncertainties. Accordingly, U.S. holders should consult their tax advisers concerning the PFIC consequences of holding Warrants or of holding Shares acquired through the exercise of such Warrants.

In order to comply with the requirements of a QEF election, a U.S. holder must receive certain information from the Company. The QEF election is made on a U.S. holder-by-U.S. holder basis and can be revoked only with the consent of the IRS. A U.S. holder makes a QEF election by attaching a completed IRS Form 8621, including the information provided in the PFIC annual information statement, to a timely filed U.S. federal income tax return and by filing a copy of the form with the IRS. The Company will endeavor to provide such information as the IRS may require to enable U.S. holders to make the QEF election. However, there is no assurance that the Company will have timely knowledge of the Company's status as a PFIC in the future. Even if a U.S. holder in a PFIC does not make a QEF election, such U.S. holder must annually file with the U.S. holder's tax return a completed Form 8621 in any tax year in which the U.S. holder receives certain distributions from the Company, recognises gain on the disposition of the Shares or makes a mark-to-market election with respect to its Shares. Certain U.S. holders may be able to make retroactive QEF elections for prior taxable years in which the Company was a PFIC.

A U.S. holder who makes a QEF election (an "electing shareholder") may or may not continue to be subject to the excess distribution rules discussed above. If the electing shareholder makes a QEF election covering all taxable years during which the holder held the Shares and during which the Company was a PFIC, the electing shareholder will not be subject to the excess distribution rules with respect to such Shares, but rather will be subject to the QEF rules discussed above. If an electing shareholder properly makes a QEF election after the year in which the electing shareholder acquired the Shares, the excess distribution rules relating to the PFIC Shares will continue to apply with respect to the pre-QEF election period, unless the electing shareholder makes a "purging election". The purging election creates a deemed sale, and the gain recognised by the purging election would be subject to the special tax and interest charge rules, treating the gain as an excess distribution, as described above. Loss, however, is not recognised. As a result of the purging election, the U.S. holder would have a new basis and holding period in the Shares that were treated as having been sold when the purging election was made.

Where a U.S. holder has elected the application of the QEF rules to its PFIC Shares, and the excess distribution rules do not apply to such Shares (because of timely election or a purge of the PFIC taint as described above), any gain realised on the appreciation of the PFIC Shares is taxable as capital gain (if the Shares are a capital asset in the hands of the investor) and no interest charge is imposed. U.S. holders of a QEF are currently taxed on their pro rata Shares of the fund's earnings and profits. Where earnings and profits that were included in income under this rule are later distributed, the distribution is not a dividend. The basis of a U.S. holder's Shares in a QEF is increased by amounts that are included in income, and decreased by amounts distributed but not taxed as dividends, under the above rules.

If the Company's Shares became "regularly traded" on a "qualified exchange or other market," as provided in applicable Treasury regulations, a U.S. holder of Shares may elect to mark the Shares to market annually, recognising as ordinary income or loss each year an amount equal to the difference between the U.S. holder's adjusted tax basis in such Shares and their fair market value. Losses would be allowed only to the extent of net mark-to-market gain previously included by the U.S. holder under the election in previous taxable years. As with the QEF election, a U.S. holder who makes a mark-to-market election would not be subject to general PFIC regime and the denial of basis step-up at death described above. However, it is unclear whether Shares will qualify for the mark-to-market election and prospective investors should not assume that Shares will qualify for the mark-to-market election.

The rules dealing with PFICs and with the QEF and mark-to-market elections are very complex and are affected by various factors in addition to those described above. As a result, U.S. holders of Shares or Warrants are strongly encouraged to consult their tax advisers about the PFIC rules in connection with their purchasing, holding or disposing of Shares or Warrants.

If the Company is a PFIC and, at any time, has a non-U.S. subsidiary that is classified as a PFIC, U.S. holders of Shares generally would be deemed to own, and also would be subject to the PFIC rules with respect to, their indirect ownership interests in that lower-tier PFIC. If the Company is a PFIC and a U.S. holder of Shares does not make a QEF election in respect of a lower-tier PFIC, the U.S. holder could incur liability for the deferred tax and interest charge described above if either (1) the Company

receives a distribution from, or disposes of all or part of the Company's interest in, the lower-tier PFIC or (2) the U.S. holder disposes of all or part of its Shares. Upon request, the Company will endeavour to cause any lower-tier PFIC to provide to a U.S. holder no later than ninety days after the request the information that may be required to make a QEF election with respect to the lower-tier PFIC. A mark-to-market election under the PFIC rules with respect to Shares would not apply to a lower-tier PFIC, and a U.S. holder would not be able to make such a mark-to-market election in respect of its indirect ownership interest in that lower-tier PFIC. Consequently, U.S. holders of Shares could be subject to the PFIC rules with respect to income of the lower-tier PFIC the value of which already had been taken into account indirectly via mark-to-market adjustments. Similarly, if a U.S. holder made a mark-to-market election under the PFIC rules in respect of the Shares and made a QEF election in respect of a lower-tier PFIC, that U.S. holder could be subject to current taxation in respect of income from the lower-tier PFIC the value of which already had been taken into account indirectly via mark-to-market adjustments. U.S. holders are urged to consult their own tax advisers regarding the issues raised by lower-tier PFICs.

Tax Consequences for Non-U.S. Holders of Shares or Warrants

Except as described in "Information Reporting and Back-up Withholding" below, a non-U.S. holder of Shares or Warrants will not be subject to U.S. federal income or withholding tax on the payment of dividends on Shares and the proceeds from the disposition of Shares or Warrants unless:

- such item is effectively connected with the conduct by the non-U.S. holder of a trade or business in the United States and, in the case of a resident of a country which has a treaty with the United States, such item is attributable to a permanent establishment or, in the case of an individual, a fixed place of business, in the United States; or
- the non-U.S. holder is an individual who holds the Shares or Warrants as a capital asset and
 is present in the United States for 183 days or more in the taxable year of the disposition,
 certain other conditions are met, and such non-U.S. holder does not qualify for an exemption.

If the first exception applies, the non-U.S. holder generally will be subject to U.S. federal income tax with respect to such item in the same manner as a U.S. holder unless otherwise provided in an applicable income tax treaty; a non-U.S. holder that is a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes may also be subject to a branch profits tax with respect to such item at a rate of 30 per cent. (or at a reduced rate under an applicable income tax treaty). If the second exception applies, the non-U.S. holder generally will be subject to U.S. federal income tax at a rate of 30 per cent. (or at a reduced rate under an applicable income tax treaty) on the amount by which such non-U.S. holder's capital gains allocable to U.S. sources exceed capital losses allocable to U.S. sources during the taxable year of disposition of the Shares or Warrants.

Information Reporting and Back-up Withholding

U.S. holders generally are subject to information reporting requirements with respect to dividends paid on Shares and on the proceeds from the sale, exchange or disposition of Shares or Warrants. In addition, U.S. holders are subject to back-up withholding (currently at 28 per cent.) on dividends paid on Shares, and on the sale, exchange or other disposition of Shares or Warrants, unless the U.S. holder provides a taxpayer identification number and a duly executed IRS Form W-9 or otherwise establishes an exemption.

Non-U.S. holders generally are not subject to information reporting or back-up withholding with respect to dividends paid on Shares, or the proceeds from the sale, exchange or other disposition of Shares or Warrants, provided that such non-U.S. holder provides a taxpayer identification number and certifies to its foreign status on the applicable duly executed IRS Form W-8 or otherwise establishes an exemption.

Back-up withholding is not an additional tax and the amount of any back-up withholding will be allowed as a credit against a U.S. or non-U.S. holder's U.S. federal income tax liability and may entitle such holder to a refund, provided that certain required information is timely furnished to the IRS.

United Kingdom Tax Consequences

The following is a general description of certain UK tax consequences relating to the acquisition, ownership and disposal of Shares and Warrants based on current law and practice in the UK. It is not a complete analysis of all potential UK tax consequences for holders of Shares or Warrants. It addresses the position of a person resident in the UK for UK tax purposes who is the absolute beneficial owner of the Shares and the Warrants. It may not apply to certain categories of persons such as dealers, or to persons who (together with associates) own 10 per cent. or more of the Company's voting power. A Shareholder's taxation position may be affected if certain anti-avoidance provisions apply. Shareholders should consult their own advisers as to the consequences of the purchase, ownership and disposition of the Shares and the Warrants in light of their particular circumstances.

Taxation of dividends paid on Shares. No UK withholding tax is payable in respect of any dividends the Company may pay on Shares. Holders of Shares who are resident in the UK will in general be subject to UK corporation tax or income tax on dividends paid in respect of Shares. No such liability will arise for individual Shareholders who, though UK resident, are either not domiciled in the UK, or are not ordinarily resident in the UK and who have been resident in the UK for less than seven out of the preceding nine years, except to the extent that amounts are remitted to the UK (or treated for UK tax purposes as remitted to the UK). Such individuals may have to make a claim in order for the remittance basis to apply.

Taxation on the disposition of Shares or Warrants. A holder of Shares who is neither resident nor ordinarily resident in the UK will not be subject to UK tax on capital gains on a disposal of the Shares or Warrants unless the holder of Shares or Warrants is carrying on a trade or profession in the UK through a permanent establishment, branch or agency and the Shares or Warrants are used or acquired for use in or held for the purposes of that trade or profession.

Holders of Shares or Warrants who are either resident or ordinarily resident in the UK will, in general, be subject to UK tax on capital gains on a disposal of Shares or Warrants. In addition, any holders of Shares or Warrants who are individuals and who dispose of Shares or Warrants while they are temporarily non-resident or temporarily not ordinarily resident may be treated as disposing of them in the tax year in which they again become resident in the UK. The Warrants, if unexercised, will be wasting assets for tax purposes and accordingly their base cost will be treated as written off over the life of the Warrant in computing a chargeable gain on disposal of the Warrant. If Warrants are exercised, no capital gains tax will be payable on the exercise, and the full amount of their cost will form part of the base cost in the Shares acquired as a result of the exercise of the Warrants. The taxation of persons holding Warrants within the charge to UK corporation tax may however be determined by the appropriate accounting treatment of the holding. Any profit accruing in such circumstances may as a result be taxed as income of those holders (such amounts then forming part of the base cost of any Shares acquired on exercise).

For corporation tax payers indexation may apply to reduce any such gain. Shareholders who are individuals and resident or ordinarily resident in the UK but who are not domiciled in the UK will not be subject to UK tax on capital gains arising on a disposal of Shares or Warrants unless they remit (or are deemed for UK tax purposes to remit) the proceeds to the UK. Individuals who are not domiciled in the UK but who have been resident or ordinarily resident in the UK for seven out of the preceding nine years will be subject to an optional charge in order to be taxed on the remittance basis, or they will be charged on their worldwide income and gains on an arising basis, (unless their unremitted foreign income and gains are less than £2,000 in the relevant year).

Inheritance tax. No liability to UK inheritance tax will generally arise in respect of Shares or Warrants held by a person who is neither domiciled nor deemed to be domiciled in the UK. UK domiciliaries should seek their own advice as to inheritance tax.

Stamp duty and Stamp Duty Reserve Tax. No charge to SDRT will arise in respect of any agreement to transfer the Shares or Warrants. For holders of Depositary Interests, transfers will be subject to SDRT at the rate of 0.5%.

An instrument effecting or evidencing the issue of the Shares or the issue or transfer of the Warrants and executed in the UK or executed outside the UK and which relates to any matter or thing done or to be done in the UK may not, except in criminal proceedings, be given in evidence or be available for any other purpose in the UK unless it is duly stamped. The late presentation of a document for stamping may give rise to interest and/or penalties.

Bermuda Tax Consequences

Taxation. As a Bermuda exempted company and under current Bermuda law, the Company is not subject to tax on profits, income or dividends nor is there any capital gains tax, estate duty or death duty applicable in Bermuda. Profits can be accumulated and it is not obligatory for a company to pay dividends.

Furthermore, the Company has obtained from the Minister of Finance of Bermuda under the Exempted Undertakings Tax Protection Act 1966 (as amended), an undertaking that, in the event that Bermuda enacts any legislation imposing tax computed on profits, income, any capital asset, gain or appreciation, or any tax in the nature of estate duty or inheritance tax, then the imposition of such tax will not be applicable to the Company or to any of the Company's operations, or Shares, until 28 March 2016. It is possible that this exemption will not be extended beyond that date or if extended, that it will be extended on less favourable terms. This undertaking does not, however prevent the imposition of property taxes on any company owning real property or leasehold interests in Bermuda.

All Bermudian companies are required to pay an annual government fee (the "Government Fee"), which is determined on a sliding scale by reference to a company's authorised share capital and share premium account, with the minimum fee being B.D.\$1,995 and the maximum B.D.\$31,120 (the B.D.\$ is treated at par with the U.S.\$). The Government Fee is payable in the month of January in every year and is based on the authorised share capital and share premium account as they stood at 31 August in the preceding year.

Stamp Duty. In Bermuda, stamp duty is not chargeable in respect of the incorporation, registration or licensing of an exempted company, nor, subject to certain minor exceptions, on their transactions. Accordingly, no stamp duty will be payable on the increase in or the issue or transfer of the share capital of the Company.

ERISA

The following general discussion summarises the applicability of the United States Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended ("ERISA") and section 4975 of the Code to any assets the Company owns and any activities the Company undertakes, as well as the material consequences if such laws applied to the Company's assets and activities. This summary does not purport to be a complete discussion of all of the considerations under ERISA or section 4975 of the Code relating to the acquisition or holding of Shares or Warrants. Moreover, governmental plans, church plans, non-United States benefit plans and other similar investors that are not subject to the fiduciary standards of ERISA or the prohibited transaction rules of ERISA or section 4975 of the Code (collectively, "Other Plans") may be subject to substantially similar laws ("Similar Laws"). Accordingly, any person considering the acquisition or holding of Shares or Warrants with the assets of any employee benefit plan (whether or not subject to ERISA or section 4975 of the Code) should consult with legal counsel regarding the applicability of ERISA, section 4975 of the Code or Similar Laws.

The United States Department of Labor (the "DOL") has issued a regulation, 29 C.F.R. 2510.3-101, (the "Plan Assets Regulation") defining what constitutes the assets of an employee benefit plan or other plan subject to the fiduciary standards of ERISA or the prohibited transaction rules of ERISA or section 4975 of the Code. Under a "look-through" rule set forth in the Plan Assets Regulation, the underlying assets owned by an entity in which any such plan owns an equity interest will be treated as if they were "plan assets" of such plans unless an exception applies. The look-through rule does not apply to an entity (i) that qualifies as an "operating company" or (ii) in which participation by "benefit plan investors" is not significant, as determined under the Plan Assets Regulation. Although there are other exceptions to the look-through rule, they are unlikely to apply to the Company.

The Plan Assets Regulation defines an "operating company" as including an entity that is primarily engaged in the production or sale of a product or service (other than the investment of capital). Following the Acquisition the Company should qualify as an "operating company" within the meaning of the Plan Assets Regulation such that the look-through rule will not apply to the Company's assets or the Company's activities thereafter.

IX. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

1. THE COMPANY

- 1.1 The Company was incorporated as an exempted company on 8 September 2005 under the Bermuda Companies Act. By a resolution effective as of 4 November 2005 the Company adopted new bye-laws and by resolutions effective 27 June 2006, 20 December 2006 and 31 March 2008, the Company made certain amendments to those bye-laws, which are reflected in this Prospectus.
- 1.2 The registered office of the Company is:

Canon's Court 22 Victoria Street Hamilton HM 12 Bermuda

Telephone number: +1 441 295 2244

Facsimile number: +1 441 292 8666

- 1.3 The Company is limited by shares and as such the liability of Shareholders for the Company's debts is limited to the amount, if any, unpaid on their Shares.
- 1.4 The Company's current principal investments are a 10.39 per cent. interest in MIG and a 1.00 per cent. interest in Proton. All of the Company's investments are, and are expected to continue to be, owned directly by the Company.
- 1.5 The principal legislation governing the Company is the Bermuda Companies Act and any regulations issued thereunder.
- The Company's current auditors are Grant Thornton. KPMG were appointed as the Company's initial auditors until their resignation on 29 August 2006. Following such resignation Grant Thornton were appointed as the Company's auditors on 24 November 2006 and such appointment was approved by the Shareholders at the Company's annual general meeting in December 2006. It is currently intended that Grant Thornton will be re-appointed as the auditors for the Company for the financial year 2009.
- 1.7 The Auditors and KPMG are both certified accountants and registered auditors.

2. SHARE CAPITAL

- 2.1 The Company was incorporated with an authorised share capital of U.S.\$12,000, divided into 8,000,000 common shares of par value U.S.\$0.0015. All of the authorised shares were issued to Angeliki Frangou, the Company's chairman, who subsequently made various transfers of these initial Shares to the other members of the board of Directors.
- 2.2 In connection with the Initial Public Offering, the authorised share capital was increased in September 2005 and November 2005 to U.S.\$223,687.53 by the creation of an additional 140,958,355 Shares and 2,500,000 preference shares.
- 2.3 On 14 November 2005, the Company issued 45,833,340 Shares and 91,666,680 Warrants to various holders in a placing for cash, at a price of U.S.\$6.00 for one unit comprising of one Share and two Warrants.
- 2.4 On 20 December 2006, the Company's authorised share capital was increased from U.S.\$223,687.53 to U.S.\$300,250 by the creation of an additional 51,041,645 common shares of par value U.S.\$0.0015 each.
- 2.5 On 23 March 2007, pursuant to the Private Program, 48,214,674 Warrants were exercised, of which 47,548,029 Warrants were exercised by payment of the U.S.\$5.00 exercise price and

- 666,645 Warrants were exchanged for Shares. As a result U.S.\$237,740,145 of gross cash proceeds was raised and 57,133,822 new Shares were issued.
- 2.6 On 26 April 2007, pursuant to the Public Program, 29,855,465 Warrants were exercised, of which 11,005,340 Warrants were exercised by payment of the U.S.\$5.00 exercise price and 18,850,125 Warrants were exchanged for Shares. As a result of these exercises U.S.\$55,026,700 of gross cash proceeds were raised and 15,360,707 new Shares were issued.
- 2.7 On 25 July 2007 the Company purchased for cancellation 3,500,000 Shares of U.S.\$0.0015 each at an average price of U.S.\$4.4625 in the open market, for a total cost of approximately U.S.\$15.62 million.
- 2.8 On 24 December 2007 the Company purchased for cancellation 1,023,810 Shares of U.S.\$0.0015 each at an average price of U.S.\$4.50 in the open market, for a total cost of approximately U.S.\$4.6 million.
- 2.9 The authorised and issued share capital of the Company, and the issued Warrants, as at the date of this Prospectus is:

	AUTHORISED	ISSUED
Shares	200,000,000	124,832,394
Preference Shares	2,500,000	0
Warrants	N/A	13,596,541

- 2.10 Pursuant to and in accordance with the Bye-Laws, the Board is generally and unconditionally authorised to allot all unissued Shares of the Company to such persons, at such times, for such consideration and upon such terms and conditions as the Board may determine.
- 2.11 The Bye-Laws authorise the issuance of 2,500,000 Preference Shares which are liable to be redeemed on the happening of a specified event or events or on a given date or dates and/or are liable to be redeemed at the option of the Company and/or at the option of the holder. Subject to the foregoing and to any special rights conferred on the holders of any share or class of shares, any share in the Company may be issued with or have attached thereto such preferred, deferred, qualified or other special rights or such restrictions, whether in regard to dividend, voting, return of capital or otherwise, as the Company may by resolution of the Shareholders determine, or if there has not been such determination or so far as the same shall not make specific provision, as the Board may determine. No Preference Shares have been issued to date. Accordingly, providing the Shareholder have not already resolved as such, the Directors are empowered, without shareholder approval, to issue up to 2,500,000 preference shares with dividend, liquidation, conversion, voting or other rights which could adversely affect the voting power or other rights of the holders of Shares. In particular, the preference shares could be utilised as a method of discouraging, delaying or preventing a change in control of the Company.
- 2.12 No Shares are being issued in connection with Admission and accordingly the share capital of the Company at Admission will be as shown in paragraph 2.9 above.
- 2.13 Save in respect of the exercise of the Warrants, no share or loan capital of the Company has been issued or agreed to be issued or is now proposed to be issued, for cash or other consideration and no commission, discounts, brokerages or other specific terms have been agreed or granted by the Company in connection with the issue or sale of any of its share or loan capital since the Initial Public Offering.
- 2.14 The Shares and the Warrants have been created under the Bermuda Companies Act and have been assigned the ISIN codes BMG493831058 and BMG493831132 respectively.
- 2.15 The Shares and Warrants are denominated in U.S. dollars.

2.16 The Shares may not be redeemed at the option of holders.

3. WARRANTS

- 3.1 Each Warrant entitles the holder to purchase one Share at a price of U.S.\$5.00. The Warrants became exercisable in June 2006.
- 3.2 The Warrants will expire on 14 November 2009 at 5.00 p.m. New York City time.
- 3.3 The Company at any time may call the Warrants for redemption in whole but not in part, at a price of U.S.\$0.01 per Warrant, upon a minimum of 30 days' prior written notice, if, and only if: (i) the last independent bid price of the Shares equals or exceeds U.S.\$8.50 per Share for any 20 trading days within a 30 trading day period ending three business days before the Company sends the notice of redemption; and (ii) the weekly trading volume of the Shares has been at least 800,000 Shares for each of the two calendar weeks before the Company sends the notice of redemption.
- 3.4 The Company has established these criteria to prevent a call for redemption unless there is, at the time of the call, a significant premium to the Warrant exercise price as well as a sufficient degree of liquidity to cushion the market reaction, if any, to any such redemption caused. If the foregoing conditions are satisfied and the Company calls the Warrants for redemption, each Warrant holder shall then be entitled to exercise for cash its Warrants prior to the date scheduled for redemption. However there can be no assurance that the price of the Shares will exceed the call trigger price or the Warrant exercise price after the redemption call is made.
- 3.5 The Warrants are issued under a Warrant Deed between Capita IRG (Offshore) Limited as Warrant agent, and the Company. The exercise price and number of Shares issuable on exercise of the Warrants may be adjusted in certain circumstances, including in the event of a share dividend, or a recapitalisation, reorganisation, merger or consolidation involving the Company. However, the Warrants will not be adjusted for further issues of Shares at a price below their exercise price.
- 3.6 The Warrant holders do not have the rights or privileges of Shareholders nor any voting rights until they exercise their Warrants and receive Shares.
- 3.7 No Warrants will be exercisable by a U.S. Warrant holder unless at the time of exercise, the exercise of the Warrants for Shares has been registered under the Securities Act or is exempt from registration. U.S. Warrant holders will be required to provide appropriate representations, warranties and legal opinions to support any applicable exemption and, if received in an exempt transaction, the Shares received upon exercise of such Warrants will be restricted securities with a certificate bearing a restrictive legend and not saleable in the United States unless registered under the Securities Act or exempt from registration.
- 3.8 No fractional shares will be issued upon exercise of the Warrants. If, upon exercise of the Warrants, the holder would be entitled to receive a fractional interest in a Share, the Company will, upon exercise, round down to the nearest whole number, the number of Shares to be issued to the Warrant holder.

4. SUMMARY OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE COMPANY

4.1 Bye-Laws

(a) The Board shall consist of at least three Directors, which may be increased by a resolution of the Directors. The Directors shall serve staggered three-year terms. Directors will usually be elected by resolution of a majority of the votes cast by shareholders present in person or by proxy (if by proxy, provided that a poll vote is requested) in general meeting, although the Board may appoint a new Director to fill a casual vacancy as long as a quorum of Directors remain in office. The quorum for

meetings of the Board is a majority of the Directors then appointed (excluding any vacancies) unless the quorum is fixed by the Board at another number.

Pursuant to the Bermuda Companies Act and the Bye-Laws, the Board is responsible for managing the Company's business. The Directors have wide powers of management, including hiring employees, borrowing funds and giving security for such borrowings, paying expenses and appointing agents, but may delegate their powers to individuals or committees as they see fit. The Board may appoint one or more of its body to be the managing director or to hold any other employment or executive office with the Company for such period and on such terms as it may determine.

The Directors' fees for their services as directors will be such sums (if any) as the Board may from time to time determine. Directors may also be paid all reasonable travel, hotel and incidental expenses properly and reasonably incurred by them in connection with the Company's business or in performing their duties as Directors generally.

The Directors may (by the establishment of schemes or otherwise) provide additional benefits for any past or present director or employee of the Company or any subsidiary and for any member of such person's family or any person who is or was dependent on him.

Subject to the provisions of the Bermuda Companies Act and the Bye-Laws, a Director may, notwithstanding his office, be a party to, or otherwise interested in, any transaction or arrangement with the Company or in which the Company is otherwise interested; and be a director or other officer of, or employed by, or a party to any transaction or arrangement with, or otherwise interested in, any body corporate promoted by the Company or in whom the Company is interested.

A Director who is interested in a contract or arrangement or proposed contract or arrangement with the Company shall declare the nature of his interest at a meeting of Directors, and if he or she does so, may vote and be counted in the quorum for the meeting.

So long as, where it is necessary, such Director declares the nature of his interest at the first opportunity at a Board meeting or by writing to the Directors as required by the Bermuda Companies Act, a Director shall not by reason of his office be accountable to the Company for any benefit which he derives from any office or employment to which the Bye-Laws allow him to be appointed or from any transaction or arrangement in which the Bye-Laws allow him to be interested, and no such transaction or arrangement shall be liable to be avoided on the ground of any interest or benefit.

(b) Subject to the Bermuda Companies Act and other shareholders' rights, the Board may issue all unissued shares with such rights, preferences and restrictions as they shall in their sole discretion decide.

Subject to the Board deciding otherwise, the rights attaching to the Shares shall be:

(i) <u>Dividends and other distributions</u> - the Company may, subject to the Bermuda Companies Act, by resolution of the Board, declare a dividend to be paid to the Company's shareholders, in accordance with their respective rights, and their interests, from the profits available for distribution. Under the Bermudian Companies Act, a dividend may not be declared or paid if there are reasonable grounds for believing that (A) a company is, or after the payment would be unable to pay its liabilities as they become due, or (B) the realisable value of a company's assets would by the payment be made less than the aggregate of its liabilities and issued share capital and share premium accounts. A dividend may be paid in cash or wholly or partly by the distribution of specific assets and the directors may fix the value for distribution for dividend purposes of any such specific assets. The board of

Directors has a discretion to pay Shareholders in respect of all or part of their holdings of Shares additional Shares, credited as fully paid, instead of cash in respect of all or part of a dividend.

- (ii) <u>Voting</u> The holders of Shares (subject to the Bye-Laws and any voting restrictions attached to such Shares) are:
 - (1) entitled on a poll to one vote per common share;
 - entitled to receive notice of, and attend and vote at, general meeting of the Company;
 - (3) subject to provision being made for payment of any deferred dividend on preference shares, entitled to dividends or other distributions; and
 - (4) in the event of a winding-up or dissolution, entitled to be paid pro rata out of any surplus assets remaining after payment of the Company's liabilities (subject to the rights of any preference shareholders (if any)).
- (iii) <u>Liquidation</u> The Company may enter liquidation or voluntary winding-up by a resolution of its shareholders. If the Company is wound up, the liquidator may, with the sanction of a resolution of its shareholders and any other sanction required by the Bermuda Companies Act and subject to the prior rights of creditors of the Company as detailed therein, divide amongst the shareholders in specie or kind the whole or any part of the Company's assets (whether they shall consist of property of the same kind or not) and may for such purposes set such values as it deems fair upon any property and may determine how such division shall be carried out as between the shareholders or different classes of shareholders.
- (iv) Transfer of Shares - All transfers of shares may be effected by an instrument of transfer in writing in any usual or common form or in such other form as the Board may approve. An instrument of transfer shall be signed by or on behalf of the transferor and (where any share is not fully paid) the transferee. Transfer of shares to U.S. persons is restricted by U.S. securities laws and the Bye-Laws (including but not limited to, Bye-Laws 50.1(x) and 50.2(x)). The Directors may, in their absolute discretion and without assigning any reason therefore, decline to register any transfer of any share which is not a fully-paid share and are required to decline to register a transfer that is not accompanied by a certificate and/or an opinion certifying that the transfer restrictions have not been breached. Save for the foregoing, the Bye-Laws do not contain any restriction on the transferability of fully-paid shares provided that the Company has no lien over such shares, the instrument of transfer is in favour of not more than five joint transferees and is in respect of only one class of share, is duly stamped (if so required) and the Directors are satisfied that all applicable approvals under Bermuda law (and the law of any other applicable jurisdiction) required to be obtained prior to such transfer have been obtained.
- (v) <u>Pre-emption on new issues of Shares</u> Shareholders do not have pre-emption rights under the Bye-Laws or the Bermuda Companies Act over further issues of any class of shares in the Company, and have not resolved otherwise.
- (vi) Return of capital The Board may resolve to capitalise all or any part of any amount standing to the credit of any reserve or fund which is available for distribution or to the credit of any share premium account and that such amount be set free for distribution amongst the Company's shareholders who would be entitled thereto if distributed by way of dividend and in the same proportions towards paying up amounts for the time being unpaid on any shares in the Company or in payment up in full of unissued shares,

debentures or other obligations, to be allotted and distributed credited as fully paid amongst such shareholders, or partly in one way and partly in the other. Capital may also be returned by way of a reduction of capital pursuant to Section 46 of the Bermuda Companies Act, or by way of a distribution of contributed surplus pursuant to section 54 of the Bermuda Companies Act. Further, the Company has the power pursuant to section 42 of the Bermuda Companies Act and its constitution to issue redeemable preference shares, and pursuant to section 42A of the Bermuda Companies Act, to repurchase its shares.

- (c) The rights attaching to any class of the Company's shares may be altered or abrogated with the consent in writing of the holders of not less than 75 per cent. of the issued shares of that class, or by a resolution passed at a separate general meeting of the holders of the shares of such class voting in person or by proxy.
- (d) Annual general meetings can be called by not less than 20 clear days notice in writing, and special general meetings can be called by not less than 10 clear days notice in writing. Notice shall be given to all shareholders entitled to receive notice from the Company and to each Director and to any resident representative who has delivered a written notice to the Company's registered office and shall specify the place, day and time of the meeting and the nature of the business to be considered. A notice may specify several venues for the same meeting, provided that shareholders attending at each meeting place shall be able to communicate simultaneously with the persons present at the other meeting places and shall have access to all documents which are required to be made available at the meeting. The Board may, from time to time, make any such arrangements as it sees fit for the purpose of controlling the level of attendance at any such simultaneous meetings. The quorum for any general meeting shall be two shareholders present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote representing the holders of not less than 25 per cent, of the issued shares entitled to vote at such meeting.
- (e) As the Company is incorporated in Bermuda, it is subject to Bermuda law. Bermuda law does not contain any provisions similar to those applicable in the United Kingdom which are designed to regulate the way in which takeovers are conducted. It is therefore possible that an offeror may gain control of the Company in circumstances where the non-selling shareholders do not receive, or are not given the opportunity to receive, the benefit of any control premium paid to the selling shareholder(s). Sections 102 and 103 of the Bermuda Companies Act allow for dissenters to seek court ordered appraisals.
- (f) The Company may increase its share capital by such sum to be divided into shares of such class and par value as its shareholders by resolution shall prescribe. The Company may also, by resolution of its shareholders, divide its shares into classes, consolidate all or any of its share capital into shares of larger par value than the Initial Shares, sub-divide its shares or any of them into shares of smaller par value than is fixed by the Company's memorandum, make provision for the issue and/or allotment of shares which do not carry any voting rights, cancel shares which at the date of such resolution have not been taken or agreed to be taken by any person, and change the currency denomination of its share capital.
- (g) To the extent permitted by applicable law:
 - (i) if the aggregate amount of the Shares or Warrants in which a person is interested: (A) exceeds three per cent. by nominal value of the entire issued class of Shares or Warrants; or (B) changes from an aggregate amount which exceeded three per cent. by nominal value of the then issued Shares or Warrants so as to increase or decrease through any single percentage, then in either case such person shall make a notification to us (within the period and including any particulars the Company may specify); or

 on written request, a registered holder of Shares or Warrants is obliged to notify the Company (within the period and including any particulars the Company may specify) of any person interested in such Shares or Warrants;

and, unless otherwise directed by the Board, for so long as a person is in default of his obligations under (i) or (ii) he shall not be entitled to vote at any meeting nor receive dividends in respect of his common shares, and shall not be entitled to exercise his warrants; and, for the purposes of (i) and (ii) above, interest shall be construed in accordance with the provisions of section 208 of the UK Companies Act 1985.

(h) The Company may, by a simple majority vote of the Board and a simple majority of the votes cast at a general meeting, resolve to discontinue the place of incorporation out of Bermuda and continue into such other jurisdiction as may from time to time be approved by the Minister of Finance, at which time the laws in respect of Bermuda companies will cease to apply to the Company.

4.2 Memorandum of Association

The objects of the Company are set out in full in the memorandum of association. Among other standard objects, the Company is formed for the object of carrying on the business of an investment holding company.

5. U.S. SECURITIES LAW RESTRICTIONS AND BERMUDA LAW RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER OF THE SHARES AND THE WARRANTS

The Shares and Warrants have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act, and neither may be offered, sold, pledged or otherwise transferred within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons, except in transactions exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Accordingly, the Securities may only be transferred (A) outside the United States to non-U.S. persons in "offshore transactions" not subject to the registration requirements of the Securities Act by virtue of Regulation S thereunder and (B) within the United States only (1) to "qualified institutional buyers" (as defined in Rule 144A) who are also "qualified purchasers" (as defined in the Investment Company Act), in transactions meeting the requirements of Rule 144A and in accordance with all applicable state securities laws in the United States; (2) pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act; or (3) pursuant to another available exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act.

The Shares and the Warrants initially offered and sold in the United States are restricted securities for the purposes of Rule 144, in that they were issued in private transactions not involving a public offering. In addition, unless registered, the Shares underlying the Warrants will, upon exercise of such Warrants, be restricted securities under Rule 144. The Company has no current intention to register the Shares or the Warrants under the Securities Act. None of the Shares will be eligible for sale in the Unites States under Rule 144 unless the conditions under Rule 144 are met.

As codified in the SEC's December 2007 amendments to Rule 144, the SEC has taken the position that promoters or affiliates of a blank check company and their transferees, both before and after a business combination, would act as an "underwriter" under the Securities Act when reselling the securities of a blank check company. Accordingly, those securities can be resold in the United States only through a registered offering and Rule 144 would not be available for those resale transactions despite technical compliance with the requirements of Rule 144.

Specific permission is required from the BMA pursuant to the provisions of the Exchange Control Act 1972 and related regulations for all transfers of, and issuances in, securities of Bermuda companies other than in cases where the BMA has granted a general permission. The SFM has been recognised as an "Appointed Stock Exchange" under the Bermuda Companies Act and, as such, the general permission given by the BMA on 1 June 2005 is applicable to the Company. This general permission is revocable by the BMA, but shall

otherwise continue to apply to the Company for so long as the Company continues to be quoted on the SFM and the SFM remains recognised as an Appointed Stock Exchange.

6. DIRECTORS

- 6.1 The Directors and their respective functions are set out in the section headed "Management" in Part VI of this Prospectus.
- 6.2 In accordance with the Bye-Laws, the directors have been designated as follows:

Class I directors	Loucas Valetopoulos
	Alexander Meraclis
Class II director	Sheldon Goldman
Class III director	Angeliki Frangou

6.3 Details of any directorship that is or was in the last five years held by each of the Directors, and any partnership in which each of the Directors is or was in the last five years a partner (excluding the Company and wholly-owned subsidiaries of any company listed below) are set out below:

NAME	CURRENT DIRECTORSHIPS AND PARTNERSHIPS	PREVIOUS DIRECTORSHIPS AND PARTNERSHIPS
Angeliki Frangou	Navios Maritime Holdings Inc. Navios Maritime Partners L.P. Navios Maritime Acquisition Corp.	International Shipping Enterprises, Inc. Maritime Enterprises Management S.A Franser Shipping S.A Emporiki Bank of Greece Proton Bank S.A.
Sheldon Goldman S Goldman Advisors LLC Goldman Strategic Value, LLC S Goldman Capital LLC		Sunrise Goldman Special Opportunities Fund, LP
		Goldman Strategic Value LLC
		51 Crossway LLC

Alexander Meraclis Megatrust-Olympic Securities

S.A.

Loucas Valetopoulos Valeur S.A.

Electra S.A.

Proton Bank S.A.

- 6.4 At the date of this Prospectus none of the Directors named in this Prospectus:
 - (a) has any unspent convictions in relation to indictable offences;
 - (b) has been declared bankrupt or has entered into an individual voluntary arrangement;
 - (c) save as disclosed in paragraph 6.5 below, was a director of any company at the time of or within the 12 months preceding any receivership, compulsory liquidation, creditors' voluntary liquidation, administration, company voluntary arrangement or any composition or arrangement with its creditors generally or any class of its creditors with which such company was concerned;
 - (d) was a partner in a partnership at the time of or within the 12 months preceding a compulsory liquidation, administration or partnership voluntary arrangement of such partnership;

- has had his assets the subject of any receivership or was a partner in a partnership at the time of or within the 12 months preceding any assets thereof being the subject of a receivership; or
- (f) has been the subject of any public criticisms by any statutory or regulatory authority (including any recognised professional body) nor has he ever been disqualified by a court from acting as a director of a company or from acting in the management or conduct of the affairs of any company.
- 6.5 In October 2000, Sheldon Goldman resigned from being a director and officer of Viatel, Inc. (and its subsidiaries). Subsequently, in May 2001, Viatel, Inc. filed a voluntary petition for relief under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. Viatel, Inc. emerged from bankruptcy in June 2002 under the name Viatel Holding (Bermuda) Limited.
- 6.6 The Directors intend to hold their Board meetings in different locations, which may include Bermuda.

7. DIRECTORS' AND OTHER INTERESTS

7.1 The interests in the Shares of the Company, which are beneficial unless otherwise stated, of the Directors and their related parties are as follows:

NAME	NUMBER OF ISSUED SHARES HELD	APPROXIMATE PERCENTAGE OF ISSUED SHARES
Angeliki Frangou	29,245,110	23.43%
Sheldon Goldman	79,628	0.06%
Alexander Meraclis	10,000	0.01%
Loucas Valetopoulos	0	0%

- 7.2 The Directors of the Company do not have any interests in the Warrants.
- 7.3 The interests in the Shares, which are beneficial unless otherwise stated, and which represent three per cent. or more of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this Prospectus are (save as set out at paragraph 7.1 above) as follows:

NAME	NUMBER OF ISSUED SHARES HELD	APPROXIMATE PERCENTAGE OF ISSUED SHARES
Pershing Nominees Limited	41,328,279	31.11%
Andreas Vgenopolous and his related persons	16,652,992	13.34%
The Bank of New York (nominees)	5,578,275	4.47%

7.4 The interests in the Warrants, which are beneficial unless otherwise stated, which represent three per cent. or more of the issued class of Warrants as at the date of this Prospectus are as follows:

NAME	NUMBER OF ISSUED WARRANTS HELD	APPROXIMATE PERCENTAGE OF ISSUED WARRANTS
Goldman Sachs Securities Nominees Limited	1,000,000	7.35%
Mariner LC	630,000	4.63%
Riva Ridge Master Fund Ltd.	770,000	5.66%
York Capital Management LP	569,932	4.19%
York Global Value Partners LP	854,904	6.29%
York Select LP	701,460	5.16%
York Select Unit Trust	657,622	4.84%
York Investment Limited	2,466,076	18.14%
Barclayshare Nominees Limited	500,000	3.68%
Vidacos Nominees Limited	4,764,424	35.04%

- 7.5 Save as disclosed in paragraphs 7.1 to 7.4, the Company is not aware of any person who is at present, either directly or indirectly, interested in three per cent. or more of the issued class of Shares or Warrants of the Company or can, either directly or indirectly, jointly or severally, exercise control over the Company.
- 7.6 Those persons listed at paragraphs 7.1 and 7.3 above do not have different voting rights.
- 8. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION AND SERVICE AGREEMENTS
- 8.1 To date the Directors, excluding Loucas Valetopoulos, have not received any cash compensation from the Company for services rendered, although they are reimbursed for all out of pocket expenses incurred in connection with their activities on the Company's behalf. The Company recognises the need to incentivise the Directors going forward and has implemented a stock option plan. For further information relating to the compensation of the Directors refer to page 16 of Part VI of this Prospectus.
- 8.2 Other than with Loucas Valetopoulos, the Company has not entered into service contracts with any of the Directors.
- 8.3 Loucas Valetopoulos entered into a service contract with the Company, effective from 2 October 2006 (the "Service Agreement"). Pursuant to the Service Agreement, Loucas Valetopoulos was appointed as chief executive officer of the Company.

Loucas Valetopoulos' initial remuneration was €100,000, such sum to be reviewed by the Company on an annual basis in each October. His current salary is €100,000 per annum. There is provision in the Service Agreement for the Company to pay a discretional bonus to Loucas Valetopoulos, although no bonus has been paid to date.

The Service Agreement contains a restrictive covenant preventing Loucas Valetopoulos from engaging in any activity which the Company considers may be harmful to the interests of the Company or which might adversely affect the performance of his duties under his employment. Furthermore, Loucas Valetopoulos cannot be directly or indirectly employed, engaged or interested in any other business or undertaking without prior authority from the Board.

The Service Agreement may be terminated by either party serving three months written notice on the other. The Company may also terminate the Service Agreement immediately, and without paying to Loucas Valetopoulos any compensation, for cause.

- 8.4 The non-executive directors of the Company are Angeliki Frangou, Sheldon Goldman and Alexander Meraclis. Letters of appointment have been entered into with each of these non-executive directors.
- 8.5 The Company has put in place directors' and officers' liability insurance to cover all Directors.

9. MATERIAL CONTRACTS

Save as set out in this Prospectus, the following are the only contracts (being contracts otherwise than in the ordinary course of business) which have been entered into by the Company within the two years immediately preceding the date of this Prospectus and which are or may be material or have been entered into by the Company at any time and contain any provision under which the Company and its Subsidiaries has any obligation or entitlement which is material to the Company and its Subsidiaries at the date of this Prospectus.

9.1 Depositary Agreement

Pursuant to an agreement entered into between the Company and Capita dated 16 March 2007, the Company appointed Capita to issue, from time to time, uncertificated depositary interests with a view to facilitating the indirect holding of the Securities in CREST. The fees payable to Capita under the terms of this agreement are a basic fee of £2 per Depositary Interest holder account per annum and a depositary and custodian fee of £5,000 per annum. There are additional fees in relation to transfers and dealings of the Warrants. Generally, either party may terminate the agreement upon 30 days written notice if there has been an event of default (as defined therein) or upon 45 written days notice for any other reason.

9.2 Financial Advisory Services Agreement - Related Party

Pursuant to an agreement entered into between the Company and the Financial Adviser dated 1 December 2008, the Company appointed the Financial Adviser as its financial adviser in connection with the cancellation of the Company's admission to AlM and its admission to the SFM. The terms of this engagement are that the Financial Adviser shall provide financial advisory services to the Company as are customary and appropriate. The fee payable to the Financial Adviser is U.S.\$1.35 million. The agreement may be terminated by either party upon service of written notice to the other.

9.3 Dealer Management Agreements - Private and Public Programmes

Pursuant to dealer management agreements entered into between the Company and S Goldman Advisors Ltd dated 28 March 2007 and 21 March 2007, the Company appointed S Goldman Advisors Ltd and certain other persons, including Collins Stewart, as its advisers in connection with the Company's Public Program and Private Program. For further information on the Private Program and the Public Program see the details set out on page 19 of Part VI of this Prospectus.

The compensation payable in connection with the Public Program and the Private Program was on an arms length basis and customary for deals of this nature.

10. LITIGATION

The Group is not, nor has at any time in the 12 months immediately preceding the date of this Prospectus been, engaged in any governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings, and the Group is not aware of any governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings pending or threatened by or against it, nor of any such proceedings having been pending or threatened at any time in the 12 months preceding the date of this Prospectus in each case which may have, or have had in the recent past, a significant effect on the Group's financial position or profitability.

11. SIGNIFICANT CHANGE

- 11.1 Since 30 September 2008, the Group suffered a change in its financial position caused by a decline in the value of its equity securities, primarily its investment in MIG, and by the disposal of approximately 93% of its investment in Proton.
- As at 30 September 2008, the Group held investments in equity securities valued at approximately €450 million. Currently, the Group holds investments in equity securities valued at approximately €250 million, reflecting a reduction in value of approximately €200 million.
- 11.3 Further details relating to the devaluation of the Group's investment in MIG and the disposal of a significant portion of its holding in Proton are set out in the section "Existing Principal Investments" on pages 13 and 14 of this Prospectus.
- 11.4 Save from this change, there has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Group since 30 September 2008.

12. AVAILABILITY OF THIS PROSPECTUS

- 12.1 Copies of this Prospectus are available for viewing only during normal business hours, free of charge, at the Document Viewing Facility, the Financial Services Authority, 25 North Colonnade, Canary Wharf, London E14 6HS.
- 12.2 Copies of this Prospectus may be collected, free of charge, from Lovells LLP, Atlantic House, Holborn Viaduct, London, EC1A 2FG during normal business hours on any day (except Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays) until Admission.

13. DOCUMENTS FOR INSPECTION

- 13.1 Copies of the following documents are available for viewing only during normal business hours on any day (except Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays) from Lovells LLP, Atlantic House, Holborn Viaduct, London, EC1A 2FG during normal business hours on any day (except Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays) until Admission:
 - (a) the Memorandum and Bye-Laws of the Company; and
 - (b) the material contracts referred to in paragraph 9 above.

X. DEFINITIONS

The following definitions apply throughout this Prospectus unless the context requires otherwise:

"Admission" admission of the Securities to trading on the SFM pursuant to this

Prospectus

"AIM" a market operated by the LSE

"Auditors" Grant Thornton S.A. of 44, Vas, Konstantinou Av., 116 35 Athens,

Greece, being chartered accountants registered in the Institute of Certified Public Accountants of Greece's official Auditing Firms

Registry

"BMA" the Bermuda Monetary Authority

"Bermuda Companies Act" the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 (as amended)

"Board" or "Directors" the directors of the Company named on page 16

"Business Day" any day (except Saturday or Sunday) on which banks in London

are open for business

"Bye-Laws" the bye-laws of the Company as adopted on 4 November 2005 and

last amended on 31 March 2008

"Code" the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended

"Combined Code" the UK combined code on corporate governance

"Company" IRF European Finance Investments Ltd

"EEA" the European Economic Area

"ERISA" the United States Employee Retirement Income Security Act of

1974, as amended

"EU" the European Union

"Financial Adviser" or "S S Goldman Advisors LLC

Goldman Advisors"

"FSA" the Financial Services Authority of the United Kingdom

"FSMA" the Financial Services Markets Act 2000 (as amended)

"Group" the Company together with the Subsidiaries

"IFRS" International Financial Reporting Standards

"Initial Public Offering" the initial public offering in which 45,833,340 units were sold to

institutional and other sophisticated investors at a price of U.S.\$6.00 per unit in November 2005. Each unit consisted of one

Share and two Warrants

"Investment Company Act" the U.S. Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended

"KPMG" KPMG Audit plc of 8 Salisbury Square, London, EC4Y 8BB, being

chartered accountants and registered auditors

"LSE" London Stock Exchange plc

"MIG" Marfin Investment Group Holdings S.A.

"Net Asset Value" or the value of the assets of the Company less its liabilities, calculated

"NAV" in accordance with the valuation guidelines adopted by the Board

"Official List" the official list of the UKLA

"PFIC" passive foreign investment company

"Prohibited Territories" Canada, Japan, South Africa, New Zealand, the Republic of

Ireland, Australia and the United States

"Prospectus" this document

"Prospectus Directive" Directive 2003/71/EC of the European Parliament, dated 4

November 2003

"Prospectus Rules" the prospectus rules of the UK Listing Authority

"Proton" Proton Bank S.A.

"Proton Investment Bank" Proton Investment Bank S.A.

"Registrar" Capita Registrars Limited

"Rule 144A" Rule 144A under the Securities Act

"Rule 144" Rule 144 under the Securities Act

"SDRT" stamp duty reserve tax

"Securities" the Shares and the Warrants

"Securities Act" the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended

"SFM" the Specialist Fund Market of the LSE

"Shares" the common shares of U.S.\$0.0015 each in the capital of the

Company

"Shareholders" the holders of Shares listed in the Company's Register of

Shareholders as held by the Registrar and the Company Secretary

"Subsidiaries" the Company's two wholly owned subsidiaries, being Mimosa

Trading S.A. and Myrtle Trading Company, both of which are

Marshall Island incorporated companies

"UK" the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

"UKLA" the UK Listing Authority

"United States" or "U.S." the United States of America, its territories and possessions, any

State of the United States, and the District of Columbia

"U.S. Person" as defined in Regulation S of the Securities Act

"U.S.\$" or "U.S. dollar United States dollars, the lawful currency for the time being of the

United States

"Warrants" the warrants in the Company to subscribe for Shares

XI. DIRECTORS, COMPANY SECRETARY, REGISTERED OFFICE AND ADVISERS

Directors: Angeliki Frangou, of Monte Carlo Sun Building, 74 Boulevard

d'Italia, Monte Carlo, 98000 Monaco

Sheldon Myles Goldman, of 641 Lexington Avenue, 18th Floor,

New York, NY, 10022 U.S.

Alexander Meraclis, of Taxiarhon 59, Alimos, 16455, Greece

Loucas Valetopoulos of 25, Troados Street, Athens, 15342,

Greece

Company Secretary:

Alexander Meraclis

Bermuda Resident Company

Secretary:

Louisa Barbosa

Appleby Services (Bermuda) Ltd.

Canon's Court 22 Victoria Street

HM12 Bermuda

Resident Representative:

Appleby Services (Bermuda) Ltd.

Canon's Court 22 Victoria Street

HM12 Bermuda

Registered Office:

Canon's Court

22 Victoria Street

Hamilton HM12 Bermuda

Financial Adviser:

S Goldman Advisors LLC

18th Floor

641 Lexington Avenue

New York NY10022

Counsel to the Company:

UK/U.S. Counsel

Lovells LLP Atlantic House 50 Holborn Viaduct London EC1A 2FG United Kingdom

Bermuda Counsel
Appleby Global
Canon's Court
22 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM12
Bermuda

Greek Counsel

V & P Law Firm

15 Filikis Eterias Square

10673 Athens Greece

Auditors: Grant Thornton A.E.

44 Vas. Konstantinou Str.

116 35 Athens

Greece

Branch Registrar: Capita IRG (Offshore) Limited

Victorian Chambers Liberation Square 1/3 The Esplanade

St Helier Jersey

Principal Registrar: Appleby Management (Bermuda) Ltd

Argyle House 41A Cedar Avenue Hamilton HM12 Bermuda

Warrant Agent: Capita IRG (Offshore) Limited

Victorian Chambers Liberation Square 1/3 The Esplanade

St. Helier Jersey